### Western University Scholarship@Western

**Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository** 

10-13-2022 10:45 AM

# Second/Foreign Language Learners and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

Natalie Killick, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Shelley Taylor, The University of Western Ontario

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Education

© Natalie Killick 2022

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd



Part of the Language and Literacy Education Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Killick, Natalie, "Second/Foreign Language Learners and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study" (2022). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. 8942. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/8942

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

# Second/Foreign Language Learners and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

#### Natalie Killick

#### Abstract

Sociocultural concepts (Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976) and a constructivist narrative film theory (Bordwell, 1985) offer interdisciplinary insights for a study exploring second/foreign language (L2/FL) interpretations of two intercultural films (films made in linguistically and socioculturally diverse contexts) with English audio/dubbing (Chafe, 1980; Desilla, 2014; Erbaugh, 2010). A qualitative reception study examined the potential of intertextual (i.e., knowledge of other texts) and cultural information as learning scaffolds as well as style and narrative cues as forms of comprehensible input used by post-secondary international Chinese and domestic Canadian students as they watched sequences from Shaolin Soccer (Chow, 2001) (English-dubbed) and Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Thurber, 2004). Sociocultural concepts highlight the interdependent, collaborative, and mediating relationship between intercultural narrative cinematic systems and the viewer's prior textual and personal experiences used to scaffold their comprehension (Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). A constructivist theory of film narration is informed by sociocultural concepts to describe film's narrative structures and stylistic devices as multiple forms of comprehensible input (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Krashen, 1981). Findings demonstrated that while the Chinese and domestic Canadian audiences did not always interpret audio-visual information the way the filmmakers intended, overall comprehension of the U.S. and Chinese film clips (with English audio) was

nevertheless effectively achieved using a personal mixture of prior knowledge and narrative information. For instance, groups relied heavily on intertextual knowledge and cultural information from their background as resources for comprehension. Additionally, while some of the participants felt they could not describe the function of the narrative film elements using technical film language, they nonetheless used narrative and stylistic cues to justify their interpretations of the film sequences. These findings highlight the need for more intercultural media literacy pedagogy within the L2/FL classroom.

#### Keywords

ESL; L2/FL listening comprehension; intercultural communicative competence; sociocultural theory; comprehensible input; scaffolding; constructivist narrative film theory; film comprehension; audience reception; audio-visual education; media literacy; social schema theory; diversity

### Summary for Lay Audience

A film viewing study examined the use of cultural information, prior engagement with other popular cultural texts, and narrative and stylistic cues to interpret Chinese and U.S. films (all using English audio) by a group of post-secondary international Chinese and domestic Canadian students. This study highlights a need for second/foreign language (L2/FL) teachers and researchers to consider the various ways in which the social and cultural context of film production and viewer's backgrounds influences interpretations and comprehension of audio-visual resources. Additionally, this research highlights ways that L2/FL teachers can implement media literacy strategies to help students understand how media texts from diverse cultural spaces construct information aimed at specific audiences, so students can

recognize how their own cultural backgrounds contributes to their film comprehension skills, both inside and beyond the classroom. Findings show that both groups relied heavily on intertextual knowledge (i.e., knowledge of other movies) and cultural information from their cultural background for comprehension of both the U.S. and Chinese films. In relation to L2/FL narrative film comprehension, these findings highlight how the Chinese ESL viewers were active, creative participants in interpreting the two films and made use of their background knowledge of other cultural texts and the film's narrative and stylistic cues to reinforce understanding. These findings support the need for more media literacy that includes instruction about media's form and content made in diverse cultural spaces within the L2/FL classroom.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my supervisor most especially, Dr. Shelley Taylor for her guidance and encouragement throughout my research process. I would also like to thank my committee member, Dr. Zheng Zhang for providing such helpful suggestions as I edited this document. My gratitude is also extended to Wenmin Liang for her help translating the data.

I would also like to thank my thesis examiners Dr. Suzanne Majhanovich, Dr. Anton Puvirajah, Dr. Natalie Rublik, and Dr. Jeff Tennant for their thoughtful engagement with this document and their thought-provoking questions and comments during the defense.

Thank you as well to my academic peers who have provided me with a place to develop academically and who have become my friends. I also would like to thank my friends Mark, Sharon, and Kenna for always supporting me.

Thank you to my family for their constant encouragement. First, my mom Diane and my dad Steve have supported me with their love and generosity. My twin sister Erica deserves a special thank you for always being there to support me. I am grateful to my brother Brian, my sister-in-law Shirin, and my nephews for helping me in every way that they could. I also want to thank my niece puppy, Bijoux, for her quiet but unwavering love and support.

Finally, I would like to thank the students who took their time to participate in this study. Without them, it would not have been possible to complete this thesis.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Summary for Lay Audience	iii
Acknowledgments	V
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	xi
List of Appendices	xii
Chapter 1	1
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Benefits of Audio-visual Resources on L2/FL Acquisition	1
1.2 Media Literacy in the Ontario Curriculum	3
1.3 Film Reception for L2/FL Education	4
1.4 Sociocultural Concepts of Learning and Narrative Film Theori	es 6
1.4.1 Sociocultural Approach	6
1.4.2 Constructivist Narrative Film Theory	14
1.5 Breaking Down Interdisciplinary Boundaries	18
1.6 Coming to the Research	20
1.7 Research Questions	21
1.8 Summary	22
Chapter 2	24
2 Film as an Educational Tool and the Learner Experience	24
2.1 Film as an Educational Tool: Theoretical Approaches	24
2.1.1 Schema and Film Comprehension	25
2.1.2 Story Construction Schema Used by Audiences	26

		2.1.3	Narration and Film Comprehension.	34
	2.2	The L	earner Experience: Theoretical Approaches	38
		2.2.1	Vygotsky's Sociocultural Theory	39
		2.2.2	Media Literacy	45
		2.2.3	Decolonizing L2/FL Education: Audio-Visual Resources	47
	2.3		ng ZPD, Scaffolding, Comprehensible Input and a Constructivist Film	48
	2.4	Film a	s an Educational Tool: Research	51
		2.4.1	Cognitive Film Theory	51
		2.4.2	Film Reception Theory and Audience Research for Intertextual Knowledge	54
		2.4.3	Film Genre Theory for Intertextual Knowledge	56
		2.4.4	Translation Studies and Film Comprehension as an Intercultural Experience	58
	2.5	The L	earner Experience: Research	61
		2.5.1	Sociocultural Theory for Second Language Acquisition	61
		2.5.2	Comprehensible Input and the L2/FL Learner	64
		2.5.3	Intercultural Communicative Competence by Watching Film/TV	70
		2.5.4	Narrative and Storytelling Across Cultures	74
	2.6	Summ	ary	75
Cl	hapte	er 3		77
3	Me	thodolo	gy	77
	3.1 Participants		pants	79
		3.1.1	Rationale for Participant Selection	80
		3.1.2	Participant Recruitment and the Pandemic	80
	3.2	Mater	ials	82
		3.2.1	Rationale for Materials Selection	82

	3.3	Data (	Collection	83
		3.3.1	Film Reception Study	83
		3.3.2	Questionnaire	84
		3.3.3	Interviews	86
	3.4	Trustv	vorthiness	87
	3.5	Analy	sis	88
		3.5.1	Theoretical Framework for Analysis	89
		3.5.2	Method of Analysis	90
	3.6	Summ	ary	95
C	hapte	er 4		97
4	Fine	dings		97
	4.1	Film A	Analysis	99
		4.1.1	Narrative Structures in the Chinese and U.S. Film Texts	99
		4.1.2	Stylistic Structures in the Chinese and U.S. Film Texts	103
		4.1.3	Summary	108
	4.2	Questi	ionnaire	109
		4.2.1	Comprehension Assessment	109
		4.2.2	Chinese Intragroup Response Analysis	115
		4.2.3	Canadian Intragroup Response Analysis	122
		4.2.4	Summary	130
	4.3	Interv	iews	131
		4.3.1	Chinese Intragroup Interview Findings	132
		4.3.2	Canadian Intragroup Interview Findings	143
	4.4	Overa	ll Themes: Intercultural Film Comprehension Activities	153
		4.4.1	Film Meaning	155
		4.4.2	Intertextual and Cultural Knowledge	156

		4.4.3	Film Narrative and Style	157
		4.4.4	Film Detail and Recall	157
		4.4.5	Film Language	158
	4.5	Summ	ary	159
C1	hapte	er 5		160
5	Dis	cussion	, Significance of Study, Implications, and Conclusion	160
	5.1	Strateg	gies for Narrative Film Comprehension	162
		5.1.1	Story-Construction Schemata	164
		5.1.2	Using Story-Construction Schemata	165
		5.1.3	Culturally Bound Story-Construction Schemata	166
		5.1.4	Culturally Bound Film Narrative Modes	167
		5.1.5	Using Film Language	168
	5.2	Strates	gies L2/FL Learners use for Film Interpretation	169
		5.2.1	L2/FL Listening Comprehension Research	170
		5.2.2	Sociocultural Theories for L2/FL Learning	172
		5.2.3	L2/FL Intercultural Communicative Competency Research	174
		5.2.4	Reading Comprehension Research	176
		5.2.5	Audio-Visual Media Literacy	179
	5.3		ultural Films, Interpretation, and Language Education (Gaps in the ure)	180
	5.4	Break	ing Down Disciplinary Boundaries	181
	5.5	Pedag	ogical Implications	183
		5.5.1	Suggestions for Intercultural Media Literacy Pedagogy	185
	5.6	Study	Summary	192
	5.7	Contri	butions to Research	200
	5.8	Limita	ations and Implications for Future Research	203

5.9 Final Thoughts	
Bibliography	207
Appendices	246
Curriculum Vitae	1

## List of Tables

Table 1 Theoretical Framework	50
Table 2 Narrative Structures in SS and DB	99
Table 3 Stylistic Structures in SS and DB	104
Table 4 Comprehension Scores from SS and DB	110
Table 5 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in SS Scene 2 Q1	111
Table 6 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in SS Scene 2 Q2	112
Table 7 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in DB Scene 3 Q1	114
Table 8 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in DB Scene 3 Q2	114
Table 9 Questionnaire Themes (CHN)	116
Table 10 CHN and CAN Cinematic Resources used for Comprehension	117
Table 11 Questionnaire Themes (CAN)	123
Table 12 Chinese Interviewees	132
Table 13 Interview Themes (CHN)	135
Table 14 Canadian Interviewees	144
Table 15 Interview Themes (CAN)	146
Table 16 Intercultural Film Comprehension Themes	154

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Film Genre Preferences of Chinese Post-Secondary Students (by a show of	
hands)	. 246
Appendix B: Reception Study Overall Format	246
Appendix C: Reception Study Format: Questionnaire (Group A and B)	. 247
Appendix D: Reception Study Format: Interviews (Group A and B)	. 247
Appendix E: Questionnaire - Sample Open-ended Questions (5 per film sequence)	. 248
Appendix F: Questionnaire - Scale for Measuring Film Comprehension	. 251
Appendix G: Questionnaire – Chinese Language Response Translation	. 251
Appendix H: Film Analysis - Sample Plot Segmentation	. 253
Appendix I: Film Analysis - Shot-by-Shot	. 256
Appendix J: Interviews – Semi-structured Questions Guide (Canadian)	. 265
Appendix K Interviews – Semi-structured Questions Guide (Chinese)	267
Appendix L: Ethics Documents	269
Appendix M: Online Study Materials	288

#### Chapter 1

#### 1 Introduction

While enrollment of Canadian students within post-secondary schools has declined since 2012, international student enrollment has almost doubled (Statistics Canada, 2020). In particular, students coming from China are the largest group of international students enrolled in Canadian post-secondary programs (Statistics Canada, 2020). To be accepted into most post-secondary institutions in Ontario, international students must often pass an English language proficiency test such as the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TEFL) or the International English Language Testing System (IELTS) (Settlement.Org, 2020). Postsecondary English as a second language (ESL) programs often provide support or act as an equivalency for these tests. Therefore, there is a need to support international students' language development as they progress through these programs and into their post-secondary studies. Effective and culturally appropriate audio-visual content within these language learning centers can play an important role in creating a learning environment for international students that fosters inclusivity and celebrates the diverse academic value they bring to the classroom to develop media literacy, academic competency, and achieve successful integration into post-secondary programs (Bueno, 2009; Duff, 2002; Jenkins et al., 2009; Quinlisk, 2003; Thompson, 2016).

# 1.1 Benefits of Audio-visual Resources on L2/FL Acquisition

Research has shown that television and film can support second and foreign language (L2/FL) vocabulary acquisition, comprehension, pronunciation, and grammar skills (Cintrón-Valentín et al., 2019; d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Kuppens, 2010; Wisniewska & Mora, 2020). Television and film provide a level of authenticity, entertainment, and a combination of text, sounds, and visuals that offer motivation and multiple modes of input

(Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Additionally, studies have shown audio-visual resources to be an emotionally engaging part of L2/FL learning activities (Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019; Reinhardt, 2019; Xiang, 2018). Research has also found that viewing foreign films can support the development of intercultural communicative competencies which promotes an informed understanding of different cultures as an integral aspect of L2/FL learning (Chao, 2013; Corbett, 2003; Yang & Fleming, 2013). In this study, I use the term intercultural in relation to the Chinese and U.S. films and Chinese and Canadian participants. By this term, I am referring to the similarities and differences between the audiences own cultural background, that of another culture, and the movement between the two (Corbett, 2003). This term is appropriate for this study as it involves reflecting on L2/FL students' intercultural knowledge, as well as language skills. A goal of intercultural education is to understand the language and behaviour of a target community. This includes a community's cultural objects, like film. In this study, participants were asked to describe their understanding of the cultural similarities and differences within a Chinese and U.S. film. Finally, even when students are exposed to film and television without formal instruction, research has shown positive impacts on L2/FL students' incidental learning (learning as a bi product of another activity) (Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Peters et al., 2019).

The aim of this study is to highlight how the sociocultural context of film narrative modes and viewers' background knowledge influence their interpretations and comprehension of intercultural audio-visual resources. For teachers who are interested in using audio-visual media in their classroom, this study provides information about what types of media to choose by highlighting the role sociocultural context plays in the production of audio-visual media. Additionally, this study provides insights into how to use media made in diverse sociocultural environments more effectively for language development by harnessing the sophisticated and academically relevant background knowledge of their students (Harris et al., 2002; Sipe, 2000).

#### 1.2 Media Literacy in the Ontario Curriculum

In their ESL secondary curriculum, the Ontario government has recognized media literacy as an important aspect of educating students who identify with cultures and/or languages other than English, stating that "the plethora of print, screen, and electronic mass media messages directed at adolescents and youth makes the development of media literacy especially important" (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007, p. 21). The government has also unambiguously stated that there is a "significant influence that implicit and overt media messages can have on students" (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007, p. 21).

The Ontario government has placed media literacy curriculum within a sociocultural strand. This is due to the media's use of culturally contextualized messaging. The government has stated that "because media texts tend to use idioms, slang, and Canadian and North American cultural contexts and references with which English language learners may not be familiar, media literacy is highly relevant to a strand that focuses on socio-cultural competence" (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007, p. 21). Since audio-visual resources for L2/FL learning are often produced in and include content, formal characteristics, and textual organization from foreign linguistic and cultural contexts, they may influence the film comprehension processes of L2/FL students (Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2019; Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007; Rost, 2016).

As audio-visual messaging becomes an increasing aspect of L2/FL students' classroom and real-world experiences (Reinhardt, 2020), it is important to examine how exposure to audio-visual media may influence students' comprehension and interpretive skills. If L2/FL teachers hope to make effective use of these materials, it is crucial to examine the impacts they have on practices of meaning-making. It is, therefore, essential to engage in studies that provide descriptive, subjective, and culturally contextualized feedback from L2/FL students about the ways in which they consume audio-visual media. This study highlights the important relationship between culturally produced audio-visual media and the cultural and

linguistic perspective of L2/FL students. This research supports a more informed integration of media literacy and sociocultural competence within L2/FL pedagogy by recognizing the value of language students' prior intertextual and cultural knowledge and the sociocultural context of intercultural film production on students' ability to interpret audio-visual texts.

### 1.3 Film Reception for L2/FL Education

A film reception study, or a study that documents the production and circulation of meaning within film viewing practices (Jenkins, 2000), was used to examine intercultural films, or films made in diverse national spaces, and their interpretation by L2/FL learners. The aim of this study is to better understand how the sociocultural context of film production and the background knowledge of L2/FL viewers impact their intercultural film interpretation and comprehension practices.

As stated above, audio-visual resources can benefit teachers and students in several ways. For example, audio-visual resources can scaffold learning, differentiate instruction, and provide opportunities for multiple viewings of the same content (Abrams, 2014). However, if educators hope to implement appropriate audio-visual resources and craft effective lessons, they need to consider factors that inform selection of and effective course development that includes audio-visual texts. For instance, teachers who are interested in bringing audio-visual materials into the classroom might consider several factors. For instance, how interesting the text is, how entertaining, how culturally accessible, and how clear the goals are of the speaker or characters in the text (Rost, 2016). Before choosing audio-visual resources, teachers should consider that audio-visual texts organize and deliver information differently and students receive that information differently depending on their sociocultural contexts and those differences can impact comprehension (Burczynska, 2018; Chao, 2013; Desilla, 2019; Xiang, 2018). A qualitative film reception study can provide instructors with valuable information to support their choice of audio-visual resources and their ability to craft effective media literacy lessons for L2/FL learners.

By recognizing how their students engage with audio-visual texts from diverse cultural spaces, instructors can provide opportunities to have classroom discussions around the differences between and the value of different types of national narrative modes (McCabe, 1997). Instructors can acknowledge their students' own abilities to scaffold their comprehension by explicitly discussing elements of film's form and semiotic content. Doing this allows students to recognize how their prior experiences with other film's stories supports their current meaning-making processes (Bordwell, 1989; Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983; Shen, 2015; Sipe, 2001; Stein & Glenn, 1975).

When instructors have a better understanding of how L2/FL students respond to culturally specific aspects of audio-visual media, they can more effectively use audio-visual materials to stimulate emotional engagement with a topic, elicit class discussions, stimulate group work, or subject specific tasks like a writing exercise (Duff, 2002; Liu, 2013; Marsh & Millard, 2000). Subject-specific activities related to cultural themes in audio-visual resources can help build intercultural communicative competencies derived from open interaction with media and dialogue that provides students with a chance to describe their understanding from a culturally and individually specific point of view (Yang & Fleming, 2013). In addition, by understanding the developmental relationship between students and audio-visual materials that students are familiar with, are popular, or are consumed outside the classroom walls, teachers can provide resources that offer a level of enjoyment to the learning process that supports students' abilities to engage with and attain learning outcomes (Cho & Krashen, 2019; Cummins, 2011).

The aim of this study is to highlight the ways in which the sociocultural context of film production and the intertextual and cultural knowledge of the film audience mediates intercultural film comprehension. In that effort, I employed an interdisciplinary theoretical approach to complete a film reception study that examined how post-secondary L2/FL students from China and domestic Canadian students (which included students from

multicultural backgrounds) viewed intercultural films from China and the U.S. Using a sociocultural theory (SCT) in conjunction with a constructivist narrative film theory, this study assessed how students used cultural knowledge and narrative cues to interpret eight film sequences. The findings aim to support L2/FL pedagogy that promotes the use of intercultural films to harness students' funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge as resources for scaffolding their understanding of media texts (Duff, 2002; Moll et al., 1992) as well as the use of film's multimodal relay of story information to make the text more comprehensible (Krashen, 1981).

#### 1.4 Sociocultural Concepts of Learning and Narrative Film Theories

This study hopes to broaden discourse around L2/FL students' meaning-making activities when watching intercultural narrative films. This study used concepts from SCT including the zone of proximal development (ZPD) and forms of scaffolding. Additionally, I considered audiences' film comprehension practices as mediated through film's culturally situated narrative and stylistic presentation of story information. This study examined how sociocultural concepts interact with a constructivist narrative theory of film to describe ways in which audiences build new story construction schemata by engaging actively and collaboratively with the film's multimodal presentation of aural and visual narrative information (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992).

#### 1.4.1 Sociocultural Approach

This section introduces sociocultural concepts of learning development and L2/FL language acquisition used to frame this study. A sociocultural theory of learning describes how people learn through collaboration with others and their environment (Vygotsky, 1978). In the case of film comprehension, that collaboration happens between the film and the viewer (Pegrum, 2008). More specifically, I used sociocultural concepts to examine L2/FL learners' use of intertextual knowledge (knowledge of other texts) along with prior cultural knowledge to

scaffold their interpretations of two intercultural films (Vygotsky, 1978). In this study, I highlight the meaning-making activities used for L2/FL film comprehension as a collaboration between movie audiences' cultural backgrounds and culturally specific movie messaging techniques as forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981). These multimodal inputs act as additional forms of scaffolding cognitive tasks related to acquiring film comprehension.

Vygotsky's (1978) theory of knowledge development views learning as a socially contextualized activity where cognitive functions are stimulated by external (cultural) events. Mediation is an important concept in sociocultural theory which understands human mental activity as mediated or regulated through symbolic tools or signs like language, numbers, music, and art (Lantolf, 2011). A sociocultural approach foregrounds the process of mediation whereby people use tools such as language, signs, and symbols to acquire new skills and knowledge. The symbolic tools people use to create meaning are produced and shaped within particular social and historical environments. Therefore, knowledge development is necessarily derived from and interconnected with sociocultural spaces and objects (Moll et al., 1992).

In relation to this study, intercultural audio-visual media are understood as examples of symbolic artifacts shaped by culturally specific industries and utilized by learners from culturally specific backgrounds to mediate their L2/FL learning activities. For instance, learners may use a combination of symbolic film content (i.e., English dialogue and visuals) and narrative cues (i.e., character goals and deadlines) to scaffold their comprehension of the story. They do this by drawing on their knowledge of other texts in conjunction with the narrative and stylistic cues (Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019; Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). By using a sociocultural approach, this study is less interested in the knowledge product and more interested in the learner's thinking processes, pointing to

their abilities to appropriate and internalize the symbolic, representational artifacts needed for knowledge construction and usage.

#### 1.4.1.1 Zone of Proximal Development

The ZPD is a developmental process where learning is supported through interrelation between a learner and an instructor (Lantolf, 2011). In relation to my study, film spectatorship activities can happen within the ZPD. Film reception is a social activity that requires both cueing instructions from the film's narrative and activation of the viewer's cognitive activities through attempting to construct a meaningful story (Desilla, 2014; Burczynska, 2017). The viewer interacts collaboratively with the film producers' narrative and stylistic relay of information to carry out comprehension activities including plot construction, recognition of narrative causes and effects, temporal shifts, and character goals, to name a few. In terms of second language acquisition (SLA), a film that includes an ESL viewer's target language (i.e., English), whether through subtitling or dubbing, can mediate comprehension as film acts as a model for authentic language use while maintaining visual and contextual supports such as actor gestures and the use of familiar narrative genre conventions (Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Krashen, 1981; Neuman & Koskinen, 1992).

Within the ZPD, hearing vocabulary or speech patterns that are slightly more advanced than what the learner may be able to form or comprehend on their own can support future vocabulary or comprehension achievements. This is done through the collaboration of the learner and an instructor (Lantolf, 2011; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). An instructor can take the form of a parent, teacher, or other mediational tools, such as film (Chao, 2013). Eventually, the child internalizes and implements the language obtained through these incidental socialization processes (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Vygotsky, 1978). The L2/FL viewer may internalize communicative patterns heard and seen in a film including idioms, colloquial terms, intonation, and communicative gestures.

While the ZPD can facilitate knowledge development, it is important to account for individual differences in learning and performance dependent on the task (Lantolf, 2011). In relation to audio-visual media, the type of film used as a mediational tool will necessarily determine "learner responsiveness to mediation" (Lantolf, 2011, p. 31). For example, my study examined the differences in comprehension performance dependent on the cultural choice of film. Choosing films made in different sociocultural environments can influence the semiotic content and the narrative and stylistic presentation of information. It can also affect the intertextual and cultural background information that participants draw on to interpret the intercultural film sequences.

The cultural representation of information within intercultural films may challenge L2/FL spectators' use of background knowledge to scaffold their understanding as they attempt to develop film comprehension (Chafe, 1980; Wood et al., 1976). For instance, Desilla (2019) found that Greek viewers had difficulty understanding some of the culturally specific content within two films produced in the U.K. On the other hand, audiences may use their prior popcultural knowledge as a form of scaffolding their comprehension when the film's semiotic modes of representation are more familiar to them (Shegar & Weninger, 2010).

This study considered two intercultural films from China and the U.S. and how international Chinese and domestic Canadian participants interpreted them. Specifically, this study examined how participants used their prior intertextual and cultural knowledge such as references to familiar film genres, actors, and cultural concepts as a scaffolding resource. Furthmermore, this study examined how the participants' prior knowledge worked in collaboration with the film's narrative and stylistic elements such as character gestures, facial expressions, and musical cues to make the story more comprehensible (Abrams, 2014; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Shegar & Weninger, 2010; Thompson, 2016).

#### 1.4.1.2 Scaffolding and Funds of Knowledge

One form of collaborative support for learning within the ZPD is the neo-vygotskian concept of scaffolding, a term first introduced by Wood, Bruner, and Ross (1976). Scaffolding is characterized as guidance that directs learners' attention to salient aspects of the environment and prompts them to complete ever more challenging steps for successfully working through a learning task (Stone, 1998). In this study, the notion of scaffolding informed a constructivist film theory to frame the L2/FL film audiences' story construction schemata as funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge. These funds of knowledge can help scaffold the task of interpreting a film's narrative. I make the connection between sociocultural concepts like scaffolding and the traditionally cognitive concept of schema by recognizing schemata as "cultural historical constructions that emerge only within the individual through transactions with others" (McVee et al., 2005, p. 541).

Schemata were first described by Kant (1929) as organizing systems that are both shaped by our experiences and shape how we perceive the world (Johnson, 1987). Later, Bartlett (1932) used the term to examine the concept of cultural constructs relating to memory. Bartlett's work was then used by schema theorists from a cognitive perspective which characterized it as an in-the-head phenomenon. However, Bartlett described schemata as extending beyond the individual to include social and cultural communities (Saito, 1996).

A schema theory is useful for this study as it can help teachers understand the role of prior knowledge in film comprehension (Bartlett, 1932; Rumelhart, 1980). However, concepts related to SCT provide necessary insights into the situatedness of meaning-making processes within sociocultural and historical systems (Moll et al., 1992; Vygotsky, 1978). Therefore, this study used an interdisciplinary approach "to bridge the gap between versions of schema as an in-the-head phenomenon and more recent sociocultural perspectives that treat schema as something that exists beyond the individual and within an individual's social and cultural communities" (McVee et al., 2005, p. 532). By recognizing the role of sociocultural context

on L2/FL audiences' story construction schemata, teachers can acknowledge their students' own mediational tools used for film comprehension and language learning such as references to other films or popular cultural artefacts.

This study found that viewers used their intertextual and cultural knowledge as funds of knowledge that supported their comprehension of both the Chinese and U.S. film clips (Moll et al., 1992). The term funds of knowledge was coined by Moll (1992) from a study conducted by researchers, teachers, and anthropologists who argued there was an academic benefit to including diverse students' knowledge, developed from their cultural and social experiences, as resources within the classroom (Moll et al., 1992). These forms of knowledge can give teachers a better understanding of their students' strengths as well as allow their students to become more active in their own learning processes.

#### 1.4.1.3 Comprehensible Input

This study also used Krashen's (1981) theory of comprehensible input. Comprehensible input is a form of developmental support whereby a learner acquires a second and foreign language by reading or hearing an understandable message that is slightly above their current language competence. Krashen symbolized this input as i + 1 where i signifies the learner's current language level and +1 is the input that is slightly above their current level (Brown & Broemmel, 2011). For this study, the concept of comprehensible input is informed by the ZPD where cognitive development occurs between the learner's current ability to independently solve a problem and the guidance of a more capable peer (Mitchell et al., 2019).

Mediating L2/FL learning through collaborative and scaffolded comprehension tasks are pedagogical activities often discussed within a sociocultural theoretical lens (Mitchell et al., 2019). This study incorporates Krashen's (1981) input hypothesis as an additional form of scaffolding the audiences' film comprehension tasks. Specifically, film maximizes the

amount of comprehensible input an audience is exposed to (Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008). Film provides aural, visual, and written forms of comprehensible input within the multimodal representation of narrative information (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Krashen (2011) has argued that when learners read or listen to a vocabulary word they have not yet acquired, but are developmentally ready to acquire, they can predict the meaning as long as the text contains aspects that are understandable. From there, the learner can build on their newfound understanding of that word in subsequent contexts. It is important to note that a text is not simply more comprehensible because a student already understands it. Rather, this study recognizes comprehensible input as additional inputs such as visual and aural elements or contextual aspects that support new understanding within a text that would otherwise be above a learner's current language or literacy abilities.

One form of comprehensible input is reading stories. Reading for pleasure has been shown as an effective means of acquiring a L2/FL (Cho & Krashen, 2019; Krashen, 1989; Lee, 2007; Lin et al., 2007; McQuillan, 2020). More specifically, reading stories that students self-select and find interesting or compelling, has a positive impact on attaining competence in vocabulary and spelling as well as listening and speaking (Cho & Krashen, 2019; Krashen, 1993, 2011).

However, while reading stories for pleasure has been shown to be an effective resource for language development, Krashen has focused less on other forms of comprehensible input such as audio-visual resources like film and television (Mordaunt & Olson, 2010). Nonetheless, video media can provide language learners with deeply engaging, compelling, and understandable content to both hear and read (Chao, 2013; Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019; Kuppens, 2010; Pavakanun & D'Ydewalle, 1992; Xiang, 2018). Additionally, film provides multiple levels of input as film producers attempt to create a coherent story using dialogue, framing, cinematography, sound, and editing (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991).

If L2/FL students are encouraged to self-select stories that provide comprehensible input, it is important to examine different story forms such as intercultural films (linguistically and culturally diverse films) and how they impact meaning-making activities for linguistically and culturally diverse groups of students. This study used Krashen's (1981) input hypothesis from a sociocultural perspective to examine the visual and aural input relayed by a film's narrative and stylistic cues as produced and consumed within specific sociocultural environments which shapes how the viewer perceives, interprets, and understands cinematic messaging (Mitchell et al., 2019).

#### 1.4.1.4 Narratives in the L2/FL Classroom

This study considered the importance of sociocultural contexts on narrative production and reception in relation to diverse learners' meaning-making activities. Bruner (1991) has used a social constructivist theoretical model to argue for the importance of narrative as a tool for learning. According to Bruner, students actively interpret, construct, and use stories to make meaning of themselves and of the world. Bruner has argued that we construct and reconstruct our identities and perceptions of the world around us dependent on our cultural and community contexts and also through the stories we receive, create, and share (Bruner, 2002).

In terms of diverse groups of students and their pop-cultural knowledge, Gutierrez et al., (1995) has argued for the importance of including student-formed cultural stories (or counterscripts) in the classroom. These counterscripts disrupt traditional views of meaning-making and knowledge representation in order to redefine and co-construct forms of knowledge that both teachers and students can use to mediate their learning. Gutierrez et al., (1995) found that student-crafted counterscripts or counternarratives created space for the acknowledgement and expression of students' diverse identities in the classroom.

This study examined how the Chinese and the multicultural Canadian participants' culturally situated background knowledge interacted dynamically, collaboratively, and interdependently with two intercultural narrative films from China and the U.S. to mediate meaningful cinematic story construction. By recognizing the value students bring to their understanding of diverse national films, teachers can empower their students to use their knowledge with audio-visual resources to support their language learning (Gutierrez et al., 1995; Moll et al., 1992).

#### 1.4.2 Constructivist Narrative Film Theory

Understanding how ESL spectators engage with English audio films requires a theory of cinematic representation and comprehension. I used a constructivist narrative film theory to describe film reception as an active process of meaning-making. Specifically, the film viewer uses their prior knowledge, in conjunction with cues relayed by the film's story and audio-visual information, to organize cinematic events into a coherent story (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002).

There are two branches of constructivist schools of thought which include cognitive constructivism (Piaget, 1955) and social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978). A constructivist narrative film theory draws on a cognitive constructivist perspective, which focuses on the film audiences' individual cognitive activities for constructing a film's narrative. However, the theory also recognizes aspects of social constructivism by pointing to the influence of social factors on film comprehension (Vygotsky, 1978). A constructivist approach to narrative development emphasizes the learner's active role in the construction of new meaning. The schematic construction of information used for meaning-making is developed through participation in problem solving activities including social and linguistic practices (Stein et al., 1997). My study viewed intercultural film comprehension as a sociocultural practice where meaning is formed in the interaction between the viewer and the film.

Bordwell (1985) has explained how film's narrative structures and stylistic choices relay information in medium-specific ways which subsequently cue the viewer's story construction schemata. In other words, to understand a film narrative, the viewer infers information from their past experiences and applies that knowledge to new information provided by dialogue, sound effects, visual cues, and framing. For instance, the audience might infer the protagonist's disposition in Raiders of the Lost Ark (Spielberg, 1981) as determined and adventurous through a combination of narrative and stylistic cues. The film may present a close-up on the actor's unsmiling, purposeful facial expressions. Additionally, audiences may draw on their familiarity with other Indiana Jones movies to make assumptions about the protagonist. These narrative cues are presented to the viewer through the film's medium-specific plot and stylistic devices. For example, a black and white filter may be used to signify a flashback within the story. This cues the viewer to understand that the film is now presenting events from an earlier time within the narrative.

While the same story can be presented in unique ways, conventions of narrative and style have often formed within particular historical moments and spaces creating canonical story formats and narrative modes that use distinct norms of narrative construction (Bordwell et al., 2016).

A constructivist narrative film theory informs this intercultural reception study. This theory focuses on how film production, in conjunction with the viewers' sociocultural and intertextual knowledge, mediates understanding of what they are watching. By recognizing the collaborative relationship between the cueing devices in film and spectators' intertextual and cultural knowledge, L2/FL teachers can provide culturally meaningful media literacy resources and activities. These activities can harness students' intertextual knowledge, personal experiences, and identities as funds of knowledge. Additionally, they can motivate engagement with media texts in the classroom (Duff, 2002; Gutierrez et al., 1995; Moll et al., 1992).

# 1.4.2.1 Intertextual Knowledge of the Classical Hollywood Narrative Mode

This study highlights how L2/FL students' use their intertextual experiences with popular cultural media as scaffolds for language and literacy development (Krashen, 1981; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Shegar & Weninger, 2010; Shen, 2015). The term intertextuality is used in this study to refer to the ways in which the meaning of one text is mediated through the readers' prior experiences with and knowledge of other texts and the context within which it is read (Kristeva, 1986). Within film studies, audience reception studies have considered the cultural knowledge audiences bring with them and apply to their understanding of the film viewing experience (Allen, 1990). In terms of L2/FL education, prior studies have found that students' culturally derived background knowledge, such as intertextual knowledge, can be harnessed as a valuable academic resource (Duff, 2002; Moll et al., 1992). This study examined the intertextual and cultural knowledge the Chinese and Canadian participants used to scaffold their justifications, interpretations, and comprehension of a Chinese and a U.S. film. One type of intertextual knowledge that audiences can use to scaffold their film comprehension is their familiarity with cinematic narrative modes. Film producers rely on these narrative modes to relay a coherent story.

Models of film narrative have formed throughout film history and involve conventions of form and style (Bordwell et al., 2016). The narrative mode that was developed in the American studio system from around 1920 to 1960 has been termed the classical Hollywood cinema (Bordwell et al., 2016). There are no definitive rules for the formal conventions filmmakers must use. However, narrative formal traditions associated with classical Hollywood films have been found to consistently include several stylistic techniques that are used to this day. First, classical Hollywood films often organize the narrative around active character goals, opposition, and change. Second, characters are presented as causal agents who drive the narrative forward through psychologically motivated goals while coming up against conflict such as a character with opposing goals (Bordwell et al., 2016; Decortis,

2005). Third, Hollywood narration makes use of continuity editing, an editing technique that arranges shots so as to tell a clear, coherent story (Bordwell, 2011). For example, Hollywood films highlight narrative events connected to a character's goals. Moments that do not drive the story forward (i.e., a character sleeping through the night without interruption) are omitted from the films presentation of story information as it is not directly connected to the character's goal.

Another narrative convention of the Hollywood studio system is that the film's action is often tied to a character's deadlines or appointments (Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985). A conspicuous example of this is in the film Around the World in Eighty Days (Anderson & Farrow, 1956) where the entire plot of the film revolves around the protagonist's bet that he can circumnavigate the world and return to his hometown by an exact date and time. Additionally, the camera framing in the film is often subordinated to the presentation of a clear narrative. Framing objects in the film through cinematography is often motivated by information that serves the plot. For example, filming a close-up of a knife is motivated by the use of that knife in a future scene. In addition, the classical Hollywood mode presents narrative information from an objective and realistic point of view. For example, the film may use natural lighting or make use of editing techniques like shot-reverse-shot editing, where two shots are edited together to make it look like characters are looking at each other. This form of editing attempts to mimic the real life back and forth conversational style of two people talking. Only when necessary is subjective (i.e., dreams, illusions) narration inserted into the film form. Finally, films in the classical tradition tie up any loose ends and create narrative closure for the audience by the end of the film (Bordwell et al., 2016).

### 1.4.2.2 Intertextual Knowledge of the Hong Kong Narrative Mode

While foreign imports and narrative modes from Hollywood have influenced Hong Kong filmmakers and vice versa, there are several unique narrative norms that developed in Hong Kong that differ from the classical Hollywood mode (Bordwell, 2011; Eleftheriotis, 2006; Fu

& Desser, 2000; Klein, 2007; Srinivas, 2005; Willis, 2009). For instance, Hong Kong film does make use of continuity editing or invisible editing where the editing is used to conceal the disruptive nature of cuts to create an apparently seamless succession of images. However, Hong Kong film does not necessarily adhere to the use of stylistic techniques in service of presenting a clear, objective, and logical narrative. In fact, Hong Kong film often halts narrative progression and realistic representation of story information in favour of spectacular, expressive, visual effects such as quick editing, slow motion, and colour saturated images. For example, an extended scene may use slow motion, colour, and haunting music to subjectively convey the inner turmoil of a character's mood. The subjective presentation of story information has little to do with the clear presentation of the character's goals or progression of narrative events within the story. Bordwell (2011) has argued that the stylistic difference between U.S. films and Hong Kong's cinematic narrative traditions of heightened, expressive movement can be traced back to the fact that, "American directors never learned the sort of discipline enforced by the Hong Kong martial-arts film, which transformed the way local filmmakers conceived cinematic action" (Bordwell, 2011, p. 105).

Both Hong Kong and Hollywood's cinematic narrative modes exist within a sociocultural context, and this can influence the way information is presented and interpretated by the audience. This study used a constructivist film theory to better understand the ways in which the L2/FL Chinese participants made use of their culturally specific intertextual knowledge as forms of self-scaffolding and the narrative and stylistic devices used in U.S. and Hong Kong narrative modes as comprehensible forms of audio/visual input to understand the film's story (Bordwell, 1985; Krashen, 1981; Wood et al., 1976).

#### 1.5 Breaking Down Interdisciplinary Boundaries

This study worked toward breaking down interdisciplinary boundaries to frame a constructivist film theory within a sociocultural context where mental activities are mediated

by the social, cultural, institutional, and historical settings in which they occur (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985).

The sociocultural concept of the ZPD provides insights into learning development as a collaborative process between the learner and a more knowledgeable other which creates a space where learning can best take place by supporting the learner to complete tasks that are slightly above their current level (Mitchell et al., 2019). This concept informed a constructivist theory of film comprehension as it argues that film is understood through the collaborative exchange of information between the film's producers and the schematic knowledge of the film viewer (Bordwell, 1985). The findings from this study support these theories as both the Chinese and Canadian viewers described using both their intertextual and cultural background information about other texts and their life experiences in collaboration with the culturally situated narrative and stylistic cues presented within both the Chinese and U.S. film clips to interpret and comprehend their viewing experiences.

Scaffolding is a sociocultural concept characterized by collaborative support and provided by a more knowledge other or object (Wood et al., 1976). In terms of film comprehension, audiences make use of their funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge as their own form of scaffolding for comprehension of the film's narrative (Moll et al., 1992). This concept worked well with a constructivist film theory which describes audiences' use of story construction schemata as a support for film comprehension. This study found that the Chinese and Canadian audiences made strong use of culturally bound intertextual information to justify their interpretations of both the Chinese and U.S. film sequences. Additionally, both audiences identified their cultural background and life experiences as a support for their understanding of the Chinese and U.S. films.

Krashen's (1981) input hypothesis worked well with a constructivist narrative film theory. A constructivist film theory describes the way in which film's narrative and stylistic features present story information in a coherent way. These features guide the L2/FL viewer to make

meaning of an English language cinematic story (Bordwell, 1985). These concepts jointly support the findings from this study where participants described the stylistic devices used to support their interpretations of the English-dubbed Chinese and U.S. film sequences including dialogue, character gestures and facial expressions, musical cues, sound effects, and costumes. Additionally, both the Chinese and Canadian participants were able to point to their recognition of national narrative modes in the two intercultural films from China and the U.S. Participants pointed to the exaggerated comedic sequences and subordinating narrative for humor in the Chinese film. The also described a larger focus on narrative coherence in the U.S. film text.

#### 1.6 Coming to the Research

My background as a researcher, a professional, and a language learner have influenced my choices for completing an interdisciplinary study that connects film studies with language education. I completed a Master of Arts in cinema studies where I was able to explore the medium-specific techniques that make up a film and how those separate techniques function to create an overall narrative structure. Film studies also provided me with a space to consider theoretical and critical approaches to studying film as well as film history and film production practices. Because of my background in cinema studies, I chose to use a theory of film comprehension that has provided insight into the meaning-making relationship between the film and the film viewer. A constructivist theoretical approach describes how people make sense of the world from fragmentary and incomplete information and experiences. Bordwell's (1985) theory of film comprehension argues that "narration is the central process that influences the way spectators understand a narrative film" (Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002, p. 170).

I also came to this study from my background in language education. I have taught predominantly English as both a second and foreign language teacher in Canada, Taiwan, and South Korea. I have taught students from kindergarten to university age. I have also

taught French core and French immersion within the Ontario elementary school board. Additionally, my cultural background is Acadian. My mother's first language is French, and I was raised speaking two languages and attended French immersion through elementary and high school. Throughout my years both teaching and learning a second or foreign language, I often used audio-visual media including film, television, commercials, and news clips as resources for learning. Often, these materials were produced in English speaking countries. Using these resources both as a teacher and a student of language made me curious about the impact of cultural choice on not only language learning but also student engagement with art. For instance, which films speak to them, makes them feel included in the learning, and lets them connect to the materials emotionally, intellectually, and culturally.

For these reasons, I decided to work with university students coming to study in Canada from China. I also worked with students that identify as domestic Canadians but that come from a variety of multicultural backgrounds. The aim of the study is to highlight the need for media literacy education to include a better understanding of media's content and form from diverse cultural spaces when used in L2/FL classrooms.

#### 1.7 Research Questions

Sociocultural concepts including the ZPD, scaffolding, funds of knowledge, and comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981; Moll et al., 1992; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976) as well as a constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992), were selected to theoretically inform a qualitative reception study that explored how post-secondary international Chinese spectators used intertextual (knowledge of other films, artwork) and cultural information as well as film's narrative and stylistic cues to interpret a Chinese film (with English audio) and a U.S. film. To recognize differences and similarities within and between the international Chinese participants, a group of post-secondary domestic Canadian participants were included in this study. Some of the domestic Canadian

participants included students who were first- or second-generation immigrants but identified as having domestic Canadian status.

The study addressed the following research questions:

- 1. In what ways does the Chinese audience use intertextual and cultural information to scaffold their understanding of an English-dubbed Chinese film?
- 2. In what ways are the Chinese audiences' use of intertextual and cultural information to interpret an English-language U.S. film similar or different to that of the English-dubbed Chinese film?
- 3. In what ways are the Chinese audiences' use of intertextual and cultural information different from that of the Canadian audiences' interpretations?
- 4. In what ways are intragroup interpretations similar or different from each other?
- 5. How do the socioculturally produced narrative and stylistic devices function as comprehensible input for audiences?
- 6. What are the pedagogical implications for the promotion of inclusivity and diversity for L2/FL students in diverse universities and colleges drawing on their background knowledge and schemata?

### 1.8 Summary

This chapter presented an overview of a film reception study addressing international and domestic university students' intercultural film comprehension practices. The first section described the topic of using audio-visual media in the L2/FL classroom. The next section of this chapter described the theoretical framework used to examine the various ways in which the social and cultural context of film production worked in conjunction with L2/FL

audiences' prior knowledge to mediate their film comprehension practices. First, sociocultural concepts were described to frame the audiences' funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge as scaffolding for film comprehension (Moll et al., 1992; Wood et al., 1976). Additionally, the film's narrative and stylistic devices were framed as multimodal forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981). Next, this chapter described a constructivist film theory as an interdisciplinary perspective on how film viewers build new knowledge to construct a coherent cinematic narrative (Bordwell, 1985). As this study examined intercultural films, or films made in different social and linguistic spaces, this chapter also described the cinematic narrative modes that developed in Hollywood and Hong Kong (Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000). Finally, this chapter outlined the research questions that guided this study's examination of L2/FL viewers' intercultural film comprehension. The following chapter outlines theoretical literature introduced above and relevant research in the field.

#### Chapter 2

## 2 Film as an Educational Tool and the Learner Experience

This reception study examined participants' narrative film comprehension processes from a constructivist narrative film theory and a sociocultural framework. These theories highlight ways in which intercultural films scaffold cinematic meaning-making activities (Bordwell, 1985; Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Krashen, 1985; Vygotsky, 1978). These scaffolds are provided by film producers through their choice of visual and aural cues to guide the audience to understand the story. Second/foreign language audiences can draw on these cinematic narrative and stylistic inputs for second language acquisition (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Additionally, the audience self-scaffolds by employing their knowledge of cultural and intertextual references to craft a personal interpretation of a film (Duff, 2002; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Together, a sociocultural and constructivist narrative approach supported my study's focus on the interdependent, collaborative, and mediating relationship between culturally bound semantic content, cinematic narrative structures, and L2/FL film audiences' prior knowledge. These theoretical approaches supported a qualitative intercultural film reception study. The study examined international Chinese post-secondary students' and domestic Canadian students' use of intertextual and cultural knowledge and narrative and stylistic cues to interpret film sequences from an English-dubbed Chinese and a U.S. film.

#### 2.1 Film as an Educational Tool: Theoretical Approaches

To provide an appropriate foundation for this study, it is necessary to explore literature that describes how meaning develops through the relationship between the film text and the film viewer. Therefore, this literature review begins with a detailed description of Bordwell's (1985) constructivist theory of film narration which describes film viewers' comprehension

activities. This theory also explains how film's formal structures relay story information to cue viewers' story construction schemata.

#### 2.1.1 Schema and Film Comprehension

Theorists have identified that learners can acquire language when appropriately guided (Ahmadi Safa & Motaghi, 2021; Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Lantolf, 2011; Poehner, 2008). In film, viewers are guided or cued by various medium-specific narrative and stylistic devices (Anderson, 1996; Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Currie, 1995; Grodal, 1997; Tan, 1996). Bordwell's (1985) theory of film narration, a constructivist theory of film comprehension, posits that audiences interact with the narrative structure of a film to construct meaning actively and dynamically. Constructivism can be divided into cognitive and social schools of thought (Nassaji & Tian, 2018). A key figure in cognitive constructivism is Piaget (1955). Cognitive constructivism places emphasis on how people actively develop knowledge by discovering and reflecting on their own previous knowledge to build mental structures that support their future cognitive development (Nassaji & Tian, 2018). In comparison, social constructivism places less emphasis on individual cognitive development and more on social interactions as influencing or mediating cognitive development (Vygotsky, 1978; Wertsch, 1978).

While constructivist narrative film theory places focus on the audiences' individual cognitive activities for constructing a coherent cinematic story, it also recognizes the influence of social factors on comprehension. For instance, Bordwell et al., (2016) states:

Artworks are human creations, and the artist lives in history and society. As a result, the artwork will relate, in some way, to other works and aspects of the world...if the filmmaker can't avoid connecting to both art and the larger world, neither can the audience. When we respond to cues in the film, we call on our experiences of life and other artworks. (p. 56)

Bordwell's (1985) constructivist approach to meaning-making processes looks at ways in which viewers take fragmentary information from a narrative film and their life experiences to construct a comprehensive story. Spectators engage in these comprehension activities guided by the film's narrative conventions and processed through their own schemata, "norms and principles in the mind that organize the incomplete data into coherent mental representations" (Buckland & Elsaesser, 2002, p. 170). For the purpose of this study, narrative can be defined as "a chain of events linked by cause and effect and occurring in time and space" (Bordwell et al., 2016, p. 73).

### 2.1.2 Story Construction Schema Used by Audiences

### 2.1.2.1 Prototype Schemata

Bordwell (1985) describes several ways in which spectators use schemata to create narrative meaning while watching a film. First, film audiences use prototype schemata to identify types of characters, their goals, their actions, and the setting within the story. This might include a character type (e.g., a villain), types of locations (e.g., a metropolis), or historical periods (i.e., WWII). For instance, audiences watching an Indiana Jones movie (Spielberg, 1981) can apply prototypes of the treasure hunter, lost temples, World War II era settings, and Nazi uniforms to understand the world of the film. In each film, audience members can use prototype schemata to get a sense of the world that they will be inhabiting as a viewer.

This study presents an interdisciplinary approach to understanding film comprehension by linking Bordwell's (1985) constructivist approach with sociocultural notions of collaborative language development within the zone of proximal development and scaffolding (Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). Prototype schemata can be understood as a form of collaborative guidance between the film producer's effort to relay a coherent narrative using recognizable narrative tropes and the viewers' prior knowledge of these cinematic narrative conventions (Krashen, 1981; Moll et al., 1992). For instance, prototype schemata support audiences' meaning-making abilities to recognize the markers of a historical setting like WWII in a film

(i.e., old cars, buildings, Nazi uniforms). This type of cinematic cueing can support audiences' ability to orient themselves into a cinematic world they will need to navigate for comprehension. Krashen's (1981) theory of comprehensible input informs a constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension which, like Krashen, focuses on the importance of story in the meaning-making process (Bruner, 1991; Krashen, 1993; Matos, 2014; McCabe, 1997).

Films made in foreign cultural and linguistic spaces may challenge viewer comprehension of the cinematic story world (Desilla, 2019). However, films from a L2/FL audiences' source country may provide additional forms of comprehensible input such as cultural and intertextual references (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). In relation to my study, I am interested in L2/FL audience's engagement with films from both their target and source language countries. While studies have considered L2/FL viewers' experience watching intercultural films (Bueno, 2009; Burczynska, 2018; Chao, 2013; Desilla, 2014, 2019; Fuentes Luque, 2003; Guillot & Pavesi, 2019; Hofmann, 2018; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Pegrum et al., 2005; Yang & Fleming, 2013), it is worth investigating how they engage with films from cultural spaces they are more culturally familiar with while still engaging with the target language through subtitles or dubbing.

# 2.1.2.2 Template Schemata

Another form of schemata used by film audiences to create meaning is template schemata. Template schemata are related to the connection of causal events as "spectators are filling in material, extrapolating and adjusting what they remember" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 35) to create a unified story. A common form of template schemata is the canonical or average story format that provides a recognizable narrative structure. This canonical template might include the "introduction of setting and characters – explanation of a state of affairs – complicating action – ensuing events – outcome – ending" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 35). Additionally, goal orientation, where a character works towards achieving a goal in a stated

amount of time, is another form of template schema. For instance, Raiders of the Lost Ark (Spielberg, 1981), uses conventions from the Hollywood narrative mode where film producers establish characters and their goals and the world of the film in the opening sequence (Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985). The audience is introduced to Indiana Jones, his goal of acquiring archeological treasures, and the exotic jungle location.

This study examined how L2/FL viewers engaged with and interpreted canonical texts. Additionally, this study looked at whether viewers understood character goals, or other forms of template schemata from both source and target national films for interpretation and comprehension. By thinking of schemata as embodied and not simply in the mind, my research explored film reception practices as "social and cultural constructs that mediate students' learning" (McVee et al., 2005). That is, the audiences' use of story construction schemata is understood through a sociocultural lens in order to recognize the relationship between the building of story construction schemata and the social space in which that development happens (Vygotsky, 1978).

#### 2.1.2.3 Procedural Schemata

Procedural schemata organize and build on information to justify the viewer's comprehension of a film's story. Viewers' justifications for understanding the film are motivated in four ways; compositionally, realistically, transtextually, and artistically (Bordwell, 1985). First, compositional motivation justifies the viewer's understanding of story information in terms of its relevance to the narrative. For instance, when a knowledgeable character, such as a librarian, is introduced into the story, the audience may assume she has arrived so the lead character can ask her a question that will drive the plot forward. Second, realistic motivation is applied when the spectator justifies the information presented in relation to the way things work in the real world. For example, the librarian may ask the protagonist to be quiet and the audience may have had a similar experience when visiting a library in their own life. Third, transtextual motivation justifies information

through an understanding of other narratives or genres. For instance, the audience may recognize a character breaking into song as standard practice within the musical genre. Fourth, artistic motivation justifies information on the grounds of its connection to the formal or artistic objectives in a film. Often, artistic motivation may be assumed when the viewer cannot justify the use of story information through the other three types of procedural schemata.

Audio visual translation research has considered ways in which film audiences have had faulty interpretations of foreign films because they lack relevant cultural connotations, background knowledge, and/or figures or speech (Desilla, 2019). In my study, I was interested in L2/FL audiences' use of procedural schemata when applied to both source and target language films. For example, my study considered how L2/FL viewers justified narrative cinematic information using intertextual background knowledge when watching two intercultural films (Duff, 2002). While Bordwell (1985) uses the term "transtextual", I use the term intertextual in this study to highlight the reciprocal, transactionary process of information "between" texts rather than "across" them. That is, intertextual interpretation should be interpreted as unidirectional.

# 2.1.2.3.1 Intertextuality in L2/FL Learners' Engagement with Intercultural Films

Within film theory, intertextuality can be understood as one type of procedural schema for narrative construction. In other words, audiences use their knowledge of one text and apply it to their understanding of another text (Bordwell, 1985). This process is mediated through social interactions rather than solely from within the learner's mind (Bloome & Egan-Robertson, 1993; Kristeva, 1986). Additionally, Bennett and Woollacott (1987) have explained intertextuality as the relations between texts that are read by audiences within specific contexts.

Within film reception studies, Allen (1990) has studied how particular historical audience groups used intertextuality to make sense of, relate to, and enjoy films at the turn of the 20th century in the U.S. Allen argued that to get a full understanding of audiences' meaning-making process, film reception studies should consider "the cultural repertoires audiences might have brought with them to the theatre" (p. 354). Film historians also found that film producers considered audiences' familiarity with certain narrative structures when making a movie. Producers would use that familiarity to make the film story more comprehensible. In this sense, film producers recognize that audiences come primed with knowledge of other cultural texts and apply that knowledge to make sense of a film (Musser, 1979). For example, early American film production drew on familiar narrative conventions of lantern shows and live theatre shows as they knew audiences were already familiar with that type of storytelling (Allen, 1990). In this sense, gaps in the narrative can be filled in by film audiences' knowledge of other cultural texts that might include various semiotic modes such as books, magazines, comics, video games, paintings, television ads, and Internet memes.

From a larger structuralist model, sign systems (i.e., language) have been described as a set of abstract elements. These sign systems develop meaning only through their connections to each other. Theorists such as de Saussure (2011) developed ways to understand sign systems within society. In this model, signs have both a signifier (the word) and signified (the concept), and both these elements can change depending on the context. In this regard, construction of meaning happens contextually, through an understanding of social norms and shared interpretations within local communities. Consequently, meaning can change depending on time and place. For instance, one culture's two-fingered peace sign may be another culture's offensive gesture. Other semioticians like Bakhtin (1981) and Barthes (1975) explained the mediating power of sign systems as socially constructed phenomena where meaning is developed through the interaction between people or between an individual and a text.

Within education, there was a theoretical shift in the 1990s from a focus on political power as economically situated to it being situated within forms of cultural representation. For this reason, theorists began to look more intently at popular media. Theorists have considered the way media constructs a message through various visual, aural, and written forms of representation, and its effects on the learner (Pinar, 2008). As an educational tool, funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge can play several important roles in the classroom (Duff, 2002; Moll et al., 1992). First, students' intertextual knowledge can act as a resource for comprehension (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Additionally, harnessing students' personal sociocultural experiences and pop-cultural knowledge can provide space for diverse textual interpretations (Harris et al., 2002). Employing students' intertextual knowledge creates space for the expression of students' diverse identities, experiences, languages, and personal knowledge (Gutierrez et al., 1995; Lewis, 2001). Further, students' prior knowledge of other film texts and cultural references can function as a form of self-scaffolding for problem solving and as a chance for teachers to co-construct knowledge and identities with their students in an engaging way that supports participation in learning activities (Duff, 2002, 2003).

This study highlights the need for media literacy in the language classroom that includes media made in diverse cultural settings. Using diverse cultural media can help teachers build a better understanding of the types of cultural schemata students use to engage in intertextual discussions. By highlighting their intertextual knowledge, students can feel included in academic discussions. For instance, students' contributions and the knowledge of their peers can be acknowledged and valued. In this effort, popular and culturally diverse narrative films can be helpful intertextual pedagogical resources (Sipe, 2000, 2001).

From a sociocultural perspective, prior research has examined the pedagogical value of "funds of knowledge" or student-generated "historically accumulated and culturally developed bodies of knowledge and skills" (Moll et al., 2005, p. 133) as academic resources

for classroom activities. For instance, studies found that students were able to develop writing skills by incorporating multimodal resources from their own lives including popular media, video games, and comic books. Additionally, they incorporated immigrant students' cultural experiences and knowledge about forms of government, economic systems, and entrepreneurial skills (Moll, 2015; Moll et al., 2005). For the purposes of this research, cultural knowledge is understood as separate but related to intertextual knowledge as intertextual knowledge refers to other texts. Cultural knowledge extends beyond that to include personal life experiences, knowledge of sociocultural paradigms, cultural touchstones, culturally derived semiotic content like cultural icons and symbols as well as memories from personal experiences, of the world, or from others (Williams, 1981).

This study provides insights into how L2/FL viewers used their cultural and intertextual knowledge to make sense of two popular intercultural narrative films as a form of scaffolded comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981; Wood et al., 1976). Specifically, this study examined the cultural knowledge participants used to inform their understanding of two intercultural films from China and the U.S.

# 2.1.2.4 Using Schema: Hypothesizing, Inferencing, and Memory

Film viewers make use of schemata in several ways. In order to utilize schemata, viewers build expectations, hypothesize, make inferences, and use their prior knowledge. For instance, while watching a narrative film, spectators can hypothesize about future events (suspense hypothesis), past events (curiosity hypothesis), about what is likely or not likely to happen (probable hypothesis) and choose between two possible events (exclusive hypothesis) (Bordwell, 1985).

The film's narrative and stylistic devices cue the viewer to use their schema. Consider the presentation of narrative information at the start of Raiders of the Lost Ark (Spielberg, 1981). The story information is relayed through the mise-en-scène (everything you can see in the

shot), cinematography, editing, and sound. A character dressed in khaki pants, a fedora, and a leather jacket trudges through the Peruvian jungle followed by native guides and donkeys laden with pack bags. The soundtrack plays mysterious music inspired by old Hollywood films and is overlayed with the sound of birds and the character's footsteps on a dusty path. Cut to a shot of one of the guides moving aside a group of leaves to reveal a close-up shot of an ancient statue. The statue has a gaping mouth and protruding tongue, and the character is so frightened he runs screaming from the sight. The man in the fedora, however, walks past the statue without hesitation.

The viewer can reference these aspects of the film's narrative and style to make hypotheses about future events in the film. For instance, using their past experiences with other movies, a viewer may infer that the man in the fedora is the film's brave protagonist, he is leading an expedition, and that the story will be told from his point of view. If the viewer had already heard about or seen other Indiana Jones movies, they might also draw on their prior knowledge about those films or other action/adventure films to make hypotheses about future events in the story.

Schema is an organizing concept that is formed through a viewer's memory of their experiences in the world (Bartlett, 1932; Bordwell, 1985). Depending on the audiences' experiences with other story structures, with the everyday world, and with other film genres, their schema will be different and different meanings will be shaped.

My research made use of constructivist film theory's concept of film's narrative and stylistic devices and audience schemata to examine how L2/FL spectators make meaning while viewing films from two different cultures (China and the U.S). For instance, "errors of schemata selection and hypothesis forming may...spring from inadequate knowledge of the narrational norms to which the film appeals" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 39). Comprehension problems may also arise from a lack of familiarity with cultural idioms, slang or cultural references (Burczynska, 2018).

As I employed a sociocultural lens for this study, it is important to understand schemata as constituted from within the L2/FL audience's individual contexts and therefore "embodied, transactionary, and culturally informed" (McVee *et al.*, 2005, p. 556). This study did not use the concept of schemata from a cognitive perspective or view it as an organizing, computational feature solely constituted within the mind and enacted onto the film viewing experience. This intercultural film reception study hoped to highlight the meaning-making "patterns embodied in...cultural materials and activities" (McVee et al., 2005, p. 551) like film and L2/FL film interpretation activities. My research acknowledges the ways in which culturally specific narrative conventions can create misunderstandings for L2/FL audiences but that these audiences can also respond to audio-visual texts from diverse cultural spaces in unique, critical, and intelligent ways.

#### 2.1.3 Narration and Film Comprehension

Bordwell (1985) draws from a Russian Formalist tradition (Eichenbaum, 1981; Propp, 1968) to describe several ways in which a narrative film can supply information that draws on audiences' story construction schemata. The audiences' schemata let them hypothesize, infer, and draw on prior knowledge to orient themselves within the world of the film and make sense of the story. First, a film may present canonical story structures to provide a narrative pattern that audiences are familiar with. For example, in many classical Hollywood films, expositional information is presented at the beginning of the story and not at the end or in the middle of the film (Bordwell, Thompson, & Smith, 2017). Second, temporal narrative information can unify the action in a story in terms of time. For instance, a character might state the day and/or provide information about a deadline to guide and situate the audience within a temporal space. This allows the viewer to orient themselves by understanding not only *why* the characters are doing something (causal) but *when* they are doing it and when it must be completed (temporal). Third, a film can orient the spectator in space. For example, Hollywood films often start with an extreme overhead, long shot of an urban cityscape, zoom into a high-rise building, and then cut to the inside of an apartment (Bordwell, Staiger, et al.,

1985). The audience may not have walked up the stairs and knocked on the door, but they assume the film is now showing them the inside of the building from the previous shot.

A film supplies causal, temporal, and spatial information through stylistic techniques. Film relays information through the presentation of medium-specific devices to create a coherent story in several ways. For instance, two separate shots can be linked using editing techniques like eyeline-matches, a technique where characters in two different shots appear to look at each other because of the direction of their glances. Cinematography can provide information about a character's point of view by using point of view framing where the camera points in the direction of a character's glance and the camera is located at their eye level. Colour can provide causal roles in narratives. For instance, the black and white sequences in The Wizard of Oz (Fleming, 1939) change to colour as a way of cueing the viewer to realize that Dorothy is no longer in Kansas. As with other stylstic devices, sound provides narrative information to the viewer. For example, a film might lower the soundtrack or remove background noise as an important piece of dialogue delivered. Additionally, a certain musical cue can be associated with a particular character or setting. For instance, Star Wars films use a musical theme for scenes that include Darth Vader which cues the viewer to expect his entrance. These verbal and non-verbal stylistic tools appeal to spectatorial activities and mediate the audiences' meaning-making practices. Studies have shown that an audience's familiarity with both culturally bound narrative conventions and semiotic information, produced within particular historical and sociocultural contexts can determine viewers' interpretation of narrative events, character actions and emotions (Burczynska, 2018).

## 2.1.3.1 Fabula, Syuzhet, and Style

From a constructivist narrative film theory perspective, viewers develop meaning through an understanding of the fabula (or story) information (Bordwell, 1985). Using their prior experience with other narrative structures, audiences can create connections between films, or the film and other artworks, to contextualize, make meaning, and enjoy their current

cinematic experience. For instance, the audience can draw on their knowledge of the film's fabula which is comprised of a cause-and-effect set of events. The audience develops knowledge of the fabula by utilizing prototype schemata, template schemata, and procedural schemata as described above. When a film viewer interprets a narrative film, they develop meaning through understanding the fabula (story) information. The fabula may include information not presented within the film so the audience needs to fill in the gaps in the story by applying their own background knowledge. For example, a film that opens on a man picking up his son at his ex-wife's house may not show events in the fabula that took place just before the opening scene such as the child custody proceedings; however, the audience may infer these events as being a part of the fabula because they have an understanding of how divorce cases work in the real world. A filmmaker may also remove fabula sequences that are considered unnecessary for audiences to construct a meaningful story such as when a character is sleeping. All the story events not shown in the film are nonetheless part of the fabula.

Second, film audiences interpret fabula events through the presentation of the syuzhet (plot). The syuzhet is the organizational structure that arranges fabula information or the way story information is presented within the film through cinematic stylistic devices. The story may be told through flashbacks, in reverse order, or chronologically. In many crime genres, the syuzhet organizes the fabula by presenting a murder victim in the first scene and uses flashbacks to explain the events that lead to the murder. The syuzhet is constructed through the use of medium-specific stylistic techniques. A film's stylistic techniques allow for the construction of the syuzhet which in turn is in service of the fabula. For instance, the syuzhet may present the fabula in flashbacks by using a black and white style or a deadline through the editing style of montage. A montage is an editing technique that is specific to the cinematic medium and presents a large amount of fabula events in quick succession within the syuzhet. While another medium, such as literature, can present the same fabula information or syuzhet structure, it would necessarily use different medium-specific stylistic

devices to do so. When audiences make connections to stylistic conventions they are already familiar with, like presenting a story in flashbacks as in many crime films, they can apply their knowledge of film genres to their current viewing experience as a scaffold for film comprehension.

Bordwell (1985) explains three activities related to how the film's narrative structure organizes the fabula, syuzhet, and style: logic, time, and space. All of these narrative elements work collaboratively with the spectators' own background knowledge to guide their understanding. First, narrative logic guides the audience to make connections between events or to make causal connections. For instance, parallelism is a principle of narrative logic that can guide viewers to notice differences or similarities between causal events. Second, the narrative's presentation of time can cue the viewer to recognize the order, duration, and frequency of events. Finally, the narrative can provide information about the story space including the surroundings, positions, and paths of the characters. In all these cases, film style "performs syuzhet tasks" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 52) that organizes the story in a specific way. There are several ways in which the syuzhet organizes story logic, time, and space including by delaying information, repeating information, restricting information to one character's knowledge, showing the audience information unavailable to a character, presenting objective and subjective knowledge (i.e., the character's inner thoughts), suppressing information (i.e., an unreliable narrator), and explicitly acknowledging the audience (i.e., breaking the fourth wall). These tactics provide information about the causes, time, and space of the story in order to support the audience's construction and comprehension of the narrative.

A constructivist narrative film theory that describes how a film uses narrative and stylistic information in conjunction with the viewer's prior knowledge to guide comprehension informed this study. This study examined "the extent to which empirical spectators can err in comprehending a film" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 39). However, this study also considered how

viewers can support their own meaning-making by using their schemata and the film's relay of information to create scaffolded levels of collaborative guidance (Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008). Bordwell's constructivist approach to film narration highlights the role narrative structures and stylistic devices play in cueing the audiences' story schemata. A sociocultural lens provides insights about film narrative structures as existing within distinct cultural contexts and film audiences as participants of film reception who draw information from particular historical and sociocultural spaces. These environmental elements mediate meaning-making activities.

The aim of this study is to better understand the influence of sociocultural contexts when using audio-visual resources in the L2/FL language classroom. This study highlights the relationship between films' culturally bound relay of information and the knowledge L2/FL students come primed with to support their understanding of these resources. By recognizing their students' film comprehension practices, language instructors can make them more explicit for students, make more informed choices when selecting classroom materials, and acknowledge the knowledge their students already have for creating meaning from a text.

# 2.2 The Learner Experience: Theoretical Approaches

This section explains how sub-theories of SCT informed the analysis of this film reception study. Film audiences construct meaning through their sociocultural contexts and through the collaborative interplay of culturally produced texts and individual meaning-making activities as forms of cognitive mediation (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Karpov & Haywood, 1998; Lantolf, 2011). A review of Vygotsky's (1978) sociocultural theory of mind provides foundational insight into the usefulness of framing my study through an understanding of socially contextual means of knowledge development. This review shows how SCT concepts like the ZPD and scaffolding can be linked to a constructivist narrative film theory. Linking these theories can expand theoretical concepts that support research and L2/FL educators that hope to better understand the ways in which the sociocultural context of film production and

L2/FL students' background knowledge impacts film interpretation and comprehension. This section considers several SCT sub-theories including mediation, the ZPD and scaffolding (Lantolf, 2011). Additionally, this section includes a description of Krashen's (1985) input hypothesis as a form of scaffolding for second language acquisition (Brown & Broemmel, 2011). Krashen's hypothesis provides insights into the way film's visual and aural relay of information act as comprehensible L2/FL inputs (Hill & Flynn, 2006). Additionally, this section includes literature on media literacy and decolonizing L2/FL curriculum to argue for the importance of film reception studies that consider the impact of intercultural films within the language classroom. Finally, this section provides a path forward for creating an interdisciplinary approach that expands the L2/FL developmental concepts from SCT to include the film comprehension activities espoused within constructivist narrative film theory.

# 2.2.1 Vygotsky's Sociocultural Theory

Vygotsky was a Soviet psycholinguist who studied ways in which knowledge could be understood not as a static developmental stage but rather as an ongoing activity or process (Vygotsky, 1978). McVee, Dunsmore, and Gavelek (2005) explain a sociocultural theory of learning as "the belief that thought has its genesis in social interaction" (p. 532). A sociocultural theory of mind understands language, culture, and cognitive development to be interrelated. I discuss several fundamental concepts of Vygotsky's theories including the ZPD and scaffolding to describe ways in which learners collaborate with symbolic tools and their sociocultural context to make meaning. A brief description of mediation provides an overview of the ways in which human development is mediated through symbolic tools such as art and through social contexts.

#### 2.2.1.1 Mediation

Mediation is the process of using symbolic tools to regulate behavior (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985) and is presented in two ways. First, mediation can be controlled (or regulated) by the

individual learner (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985). Self-regulation is "the ability to plan, monitor, check, and evaluate self-performance" (Lantolf, 2011, p. 25). The learner uses symbolic tools such as inner speech to work through appropriate or efficient ways to carry out a task or activity. For instance, a child may watch a television program and concurrently or soon after repeat the speech from the show, at first out loud and then eventually they are able to retain the language and use it in social interactions by drawing on internal memory processes.

In addition to self-regulated mediation, another person who has already mastered self-regulation of a task can mediate learning. In this case, language or speech of a more knowledgeable person is often the external tool that mediates the learner's cognitive development (Lantolf, 2011). Other-regulation is applied when learners "are incapable of carrying out a task on their own and must necessarily participate in social interaction in order to complete the task" (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985, p. 20). It is through this dynamic interaction with a more experienced member of society that people gain the strategies necessary for eventual self-regulation. This external guidance is often presented through explicit speech (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985, p. 20) (i.e., directions) or from more implicit modeling of a challenging task. For instance, when a television show host talks a child viewer through the construction of a paper plane, the show may communicate through the host's gestures, speech or zooming the camera to show one section of the paper plane.

Guidance from a more knowledgeable person or object allows the child to make any necessary adjustments through their own gestures until they are able to internalize the mediating tools and complete the task on their own. The child may take several attempts before completing the task and this is all considered part of the developmental process according to Vygotsky (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985). Each attempt/interaction can express the way in which a learner approaches and completes a task. Therefore, Vygotsky (1978) does not only consider completed tasks and/or finalized competencies as an indicator for understanding knowledge. Rather, a sociocultural approach to cognitive development

considers the learning process as iterative and ongoing where all aspects of an activity are germane to learning and knowledge development (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985). This theoretical distinction is an important point for the justification of a qualitative reception study on L2/FL film interpretation. In this study, I focused on understanding spectators' explanations of their meaning-making processes and not simply on their comprehension proficiency as "a function of some static knowledge base" (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985, p. 23).

#### 2.2.1.2 Zone of Proximal Development

Vygotsky's (1978) ZPD can be understood as the difference between the learner's developmental level they can achieve individually and the higher developmental level that they can acquire through collaboration with a more knowledgeable person or object. The ZPD underscores the interrelatedness of development and socialization. It is an activity that requires instruction whether through explicit speech or implicit mediation, such as modeling, in order to achieve what would otherwise not be possible for the learner to complete on their own (Lantolf, 2011).

A task within the ZPD begins with an independent performance to highlight the knowledge of the learner but is then teamed with the assistance of someone who has higher knowledge of the task and can guide the learner into greater regulation over the task (Lantolf, p. 2011). For example, a L2/FL student, when asked their perspective on people from various cultural backgrounds, might answer the question and give justifications and examples for their opinion. However, when asked to consider stereotypes they may hold, the student may have difficulty coming up with a response. At this point, the teacher could present the student with a foreign film that shows historical characters who have been prejudiced against to prompt the students' ability to have a deeper understanding of the topic (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). This student may even internalize this strategy by, later, relating the film's story to a new hypothetical scenario as a form of critical analysis. Developmental support can also be presented through more implicit modeling. For example, a student watches a short

video where someone uses a slang vocabulary term and the viewer consequently adopts the new vocabulary into their own vernacular (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999). In this sense learners make use of "externalized knowledge to gain self-regulation" (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985, p. 29).

### 2.2.1.3 Scaffolding

Scaffolding is a form of developmental support where a more knowledgeable other directs the learner's attention to salient concepts or objects and provides prompts to guide the learner through progressively more challenging steps of a problem within the ZPD necessary for acquiring new knowledge (Mitchell et al., 2019; Wood et al., 1976).

As the learner works through a problem beyond their current understanding, the task is scaffolded by having a more knowledgeable other successively direct the student's attention to salient information necessary to solve progressively more challenging parts of the problem until the student completes the task and internalizes the skills necessary for future success with similar activities (Mitchell et al., 2019). Scaffolding includes several key elements where a more knowledgeable other draws the student into a new task, diagnoses how much support is needed for the student to complete the task, provides various kinds and amounts of support, and then gradually withdraws the support so that the student can take over in completing the task and future similar tasks (Stone, 1998).

These key factors of scaffolding informed a constructivist narrative film theory that describes the ways in which a film guides the audiences' ability to build a comprehensible cinematic story. For instance, a film's producers need to consider how to draw an audience into viewing their film, how to relay a story to an audience using medium-specific semiotic information that is both familiar and novel (Bordwell et al., 2016) and how to provide comprehension support through various modes including dialogue, framing, colour, lighting, music, and sound effects (Phillips, 2000; Plantinga & Smith, 1999; Stafford, 2007).

Films often start by laying out important character traits and plot patterns called the exposition which includes formal cues that activate audiences' relevant story construction schemata. By combining the film's relay of information with their prior knowledge, audiences build on their expectations and make assumptions about current and future events in the story (Bordwell et al., 2016). For example, Raiders of the Lost Ark (Spielberg, 1981) opens by setting up a goal-oriented plot where the archeologist protagonist, Indiana Jones, will try and find an elusive object, the Ark of the Covenant. For the rest of the film, the audience can assume all of the film's sequences and the actions of the characters will either impede or further his progress to that end. In this sense, while the audience may not start with all the information required to understand the film narrative, they are provided with enough support to direct their attention to key features within the film.

In collaboration with narrative and stylistic cues, the audiences' prior life and film viewing experiences can be viewed as self-scaffolding support for story comprehension tasks. The film's narrative and stylistic cues activate the audiences' own scaffolding techniques as they draw on intertextual knowledge of other film genres and/or conventions as well as their own personal experiences to build their understanding of the film story (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). By referencing their prior knowledge, the film viewer can support (or scaffold) their creation and adjustment of narrative expectations as the film unfolds. In this study the notion of scaffolding was applied to the self-scaffolding activities the participants used to make sense of two intercultural narrative films. The participants scaffolded their own understanding by drawing on their cultural knowledge and their knowledge of other texts (intertextual knowledge).

# 2.2.1.4 Linking Scaffolding to Comprehensible Input Theory

In the beginning of the 1980s Krashen (1981) put forth his input hypothesis to describe how a learner acquires a second language. The hypothesis states that a learner can acquire input (what they read or hear) that is understandable which Krashen termed "comprehensible

input". He argued that L2/FL learners' comprehensible input is just slightly above their current language abilities which he expressed as i+1 (current language level + one input level above). Brown and Broemmel (2011) applied the notion of comprehensible input to the concept of scaffolding which they termed "deep scaffolding". The traditional goal of scaffolding is defined as systematic support given to readers during reading (Wood et al., 1976). However, Brown and Broemmel (2011) apply Krashen's comprehensible input to scaffolding to shift the goal to "reducing the difficulty of texts through multiple scaffolding efforts" (p.36). Some of the deep scaffolding efforts described by Brown and Broemmel included building and activating of background knowledge and making connections between the text and their world.

This study uses the concept of scaffolding and comprehensible input (or deep scaffolding) to understand how audiences use film's medium-specific narrative and stylistic structures as multiple scaffolding efforts which reduces the difficulty of film texts. Films provide comprehensible input through dialogue, the soundtrack, the framing of objects, character gestures and facial expressions and other semiotic content like colour choices, costumes, and iconic imagery that make the story more comprehensible (Neuman & Koskinen, 1992). This study also recognizes L2/FL audiences' own strategies for scaffolding their understanding of a film. They do this by applying their own knowledge of other films and their cultural knowledge to make assumptions, hypothesize, and infer story information. Audiences complete these story comprehension tasks dynamically and adaptively as the narrative and stylistic presentation of information in the film is introduced, progresses, and changes.

Just as reading for pleasure provides greater comprehensible input for language acquisition (Cho & Krashen, 2019), viewing for pleasure can lead to greater comprehensible input for L2/FL acquisition (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Van de Poel & d'Ydewalle, 2001). Culturally bound intertextual, cultural, and stylistic information in movies provides multiple levels of comprehensible input for L2/FL learners. The aim of

this study is to highlight the need for instructors to consider these elements of film comprehension including the audiences' prior knowledge and the film's formal elements as resources for scaffolding language acquisition and to recognize the funds of knowledge that L2/FL film audiences bring to their learning through their experiences with popular media like film (Duff, 2002).

#### 2.2.2 Media Literacy

An important concept present in this study is media literacy within the educational space. Jenkins (2009) considered media literacy as a means of providing students with skills to recognize the ways in which media's construction can shape our perceptions of reality. Hoechsmann and Poyntz (2012) have defined media literacy as "a set of competencies that enable us to interpret media texts and institutions, to make media of our own, and to recognize and engage with the social and political influence of media in everyday life" (p. 1). They present the history of media literacy curriculum as burgeoning in the 1980s and 1990s with the work of Masterman (1985) when mass media, in the form of film and television studios and commercial advertising, was gaining popularity across the world (Tufte & Enghel, 2009). To become competent in making sense of this new mass media, Masterman argued for a media literacy curriculum that aims to develop students' abilities to analyze media production, recognize the language of media, understand how media represents the world, and how meaning is created through the medium-specific tools of mass media.

Ontario mandated media literacy education as a part of the English subject area in 1987 (Wilson & Duncan, 2009). This mandate was an effort by policy makers to inform students about various aspects of media. These aspects include the presentation of fact and opinion, different styles of programming (news, commercials, entertainment), and different forms of media (print, film, radio). While students bring their own savvy and practiced abilities to decode media from their own lives, media literacy education provides a defamiliarizing and critical perspective to engagement with media (Hoechsmann & Poyntz, 2012).

Hoechsmann and Poyntz (2012) argue that in the 2000s media literacy shifted in its efforts to develop students' competencies to interpret, create, and critically analyze new popular forms of media like the Internet, new types of video games, and social media platforms that provide space for participatory media activities where students can include their own opinions directly onto the media they consume (Jenkins et al., 2009). Researchers called for a parallel shift in the role of media education instructors to focus more prominently on the ability of students to empower themselves through "critical participation in contemporary media environments" (Hoechsmann & Poyntz, 2012, p. 5). Rather than understanding the audience as passively accepting the media they consume, this new development in media literacy education promoted a more complex relationship between the two that included highlighting how people use media for unique purposes and often appropriate the intended meanings of the initial media producers and transform meanings to better suit their personalized contexts (Buckingham, 2003). Media literacy, therefore, shifted to include the collective and community involvement and the necessary competencies for students to thoughtfully consume, produce, and distribute various forms of media.

This study examined international post-secondary Chinese and domestic Canadian viewers' personal description of their processes while interpreting film media from China and the U.S. This study used both a constructivist and sociocultural theoretical lens to recognize the active role and idiosyncratic perspectives the participants brought to bear on their film viewing experiences. Additionally, this study examined the role of other people, cultural symbols, tools, and technologies on understanding. This study aims to support a media literacy program for L2/FL learners that recognizes the complex and contextualized relationship people have with media whether they are engaging with it in the classroom or for their own unique purposes.

# 2.2.3 Decolonizing L2/FL Education: Audio-Visual Resources

An important pedagogical implication of this study is to recognize how instructors can use media like film to highlight the unique value of diverse national spaces. For instance, learners can engage with culturally specific thematic content and instructors can broaden the representation of classroom materials by bringing in media from various cultural spaces (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). Additionally, intercultural audio-visual resources can foreground the intertextual and cultural funds of knowledge diverse students bring to the classroom so that instructors can harness their students' knowledge for language learning (Duff, 2002; Moll et al., 2005). This study highlights the active, individualized, and culturally specific meaning-making activities of the multilingual film viewer. By highlighting these activities teachers can more easily recognize what their students bring to their own learning and the learning of their peers (Moll et al., 2009). Decolonizing the language curriculum is an important component of multilingual pedagogy as it challenges views that European languages, like English, are more legitimate, official, or considered the standard or global form of communication (Macedo, 2019). Language instructors need to take a reflective approach to teaching English as a L2/FL. Teachers should recognize that teaching English is not a neutral task but one steeped in ideology and a political history of colonial rule.

This study hopes to highlight the need for L2/FL instructors to recognize how the cultural context of film production and L2/FL viewers' backgrounds influence their comprehension of audio-visual resources. By recognizing the differences between intercultural films and promoting the use of audio-visual resources from diverse cultural spaces instructors can include materials that mobilize students' prior knowledge about films from cultural spaces they are familiar with, raise their analytical skills for understanding film texts from new or unfamiliar spaces, and help decolonize instruction in the multilingual classroom by making space for students to express their personal knowledge and identities (Gutierrez et al., 1995). For instance, audio-visual materials can be brought in and used in multicultural classrooms in

order to discuss, analyze, and honour texts from students' linguistic and cultural backgrounds rather than assuming the use of media produced in countries where the language of instruction (i.e., English) is an official language (Marsh & Millard, 2000). Additionally, audio-visual resources can be a useful tool for accomplishing goals of decolonizing lessons. For instance, they are often accessible and enjoyable so there are fewer barriers for teachers who are interested in creating equitable education that are also representative of their students and formally and thematically inclusive (Alvermann et al., 1999; Marsh & Millard, 2000).

# 2.3 Linking ZPD, Scaffolding, Comprehensible Input and a Constructivist Film Theory

This study attempts to break down interdisciplinary boundaries to frame film comprehension (Bordwell, 1985) as a socioculturally situated practice (Vygotsky, 1978). A sociocultural lens can provide insights for L2/FL instructors who hope to make use of audio-visual resources in their classrooms. For instance, by recognizing the value of students intertextual and cultural knowledge for self-scaffolding film comprehension tasks, instructors can more intentionally draw on those skills. Additionally, by recognizing the benefits of film's narrative and stylstic inputs such as character's facial expressions, dialogue, and subtitling teachers can support their students' L2/FL acquisition (Krashen, 1981; Wood et al., 1976).

A sociocultural concept of the mind and learning has implications for understanding L2/FL intercultural film viewing activities. In relation to intercultural film comprehension, it is important to consider "the situatedness of language and social interactions within cultural and historical systems" (McVee, Dunsmore, & Gavelek, 2005, p. 532). I examined L2/FL film spectatorship through a sociocultural lens in order to highlight the interdependent, collaborative, and mediating relationship between intercultural cinematic narrative systems and the viewer's culturally situated comprehension processes. A sociocultural approach

recognizes the role of the L2/FL viewer's prior knowledge (Moll, Amanti, Neff & Gozalez, 1992) as a scaffold for their understanding of narrative films that use the target language.

Below is a model of how notions of the ZPD, scaffolding, and comprehensible input inform a constructivist narrative film theory. First, SCT concerns the learners' use of symbolic tools or signs for mediating our understanding of ourselves and the world. The ZPD is a sociocultural concept where learning is most productively achieved through the collaboration between the learner's current developmental level defined as their ability to solve a problem independently and their guidance by a more developed person or object. Another SCT concept is scaffodling, where successive support is provided by the learner or a more knowledgeable other or object through prompts or guidance that directs the attention of the learner. Finally, comprehensible input is considered a form of scaffolding where the L2/FL learner is able to acquire new language skills through engagement with input that is slightly above their current level.

The notions of the ZPD, scaffolding and comprehensible input inform specific activities for film comprehension laid out by a constructivist film narrative theory (CFNT). First, a film is produced to provide information within a ZPD type space where developmental assistance for story coherence and comprehension is provided through cues that are meant to be familiar to audiences but at times offer new or unfamiliar information (Bordwell, 1985). Film comprehension is a collaborative process between a film's producers who create character types, settings, and recognizable narrative structures (exposition, denoument), and narrative conventions (a fight scene in an action film) to cue (or guide) the viewer's story construction schema which they use to make guesses about a character's choices or the likelihood of a future event in the cinematic story.

The notion of scaffolding informs a constructivist theory of film comprehension processes. Audiences use their own strategies for scaffolding using their life experiences and their prior knowledge of other texts to fill in narrative gaps. Audiences draw on their knowledge of

narrative structures and sylistic devices that are well known in popular culture to guide their comprehension activities and to support their engagement with movies.

Krashen's (1981) theory of comprehensible input informs a constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension as it supports an argument for multimodal media as a rich source of comprehensible input. This includes written forms of input like subtitles in conjunction with aural and other visual forms of input including dialogue, sound effects, character gestures, facial expressions, and framing. These devices can focus the film audiences' attention on objects salient to constructing a coherent narrative (Neuman & Koskinen, 1992; Pegrum et al., 2005).

**Table 1 Theoretical Framework** 

SCT	CNFT	Linking Two Theories
ZPD: The space where learning can best take place.	Film Comprehension: The viewer actively constructs an intelligible story by using schemata and film cues to fill in gaps in the narrative.	Film comprehension can be understood as a collaborative process between a film's producers (or relay of story information), the viewers' background knowledge, and the sociocultural environment.
Scaffolding: Developmental support in progressively more	Story Construction Schemata: The viewer approaches the film primed to use iterative sets of schemata from context/prior experiences	Audience schema can be understood as the viewers' funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge which they use to self-scaffold their meaning-making activities.

challenging	specific to constructing a	
steps.	story.	
Comprehensible	Narrative and Style: Salient	Film's medium-specific narrative and
Input: Input that	features of the film's formal	stylistic devices act as multimodal
a L2/FL learner	and stylistic presentation of	inputs which reduce the difficulty of
can understand	information that cues and	the film text and support language
but is slightly	guides the application of	acquisition and literacy development.
above their	certain schema.	
current level.		

### 2.4 Film as an Educational Tool: Research

This section provides a description of previous research that extends concepts presented by cognitive film theory. This body of research stemmed from Bordwell's (1985) foundational constructivist theory of how an audience constructs meaning from a narrative film. I also provide a description of relevant literature around film reception and genre studies as these concepts provide insights into how past researchers within film studies have undertaken empirical research on historical and modern-day film audiences. Next, I review literature that has examined film genres. I then discuss studies from the audio-visual translation (AVT) field.

## 2.4.1 Cognitive Film Theory

In the 1990s, several film theorists used Bordwell's (1985) pioneering constructivist narrative film theory to advance what was termed a cognitive theory of film (Anderson, 1996; Branigan, 1992; Currie, 1995; Grodal, 1997; Plantinga & Smith, 1999; Smith, 1995; Tan, 1996). These film theorists incorporated formalist narrative theories (Eichenbaum, 1981;

Jakobsen, 1960; Propp, 1984) and cognitive perception theories (Bartlett, 1932) to study how viewers understand a film (Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002). While this group of theorists diverged on a number of topics, they were unified in their oppositional break from the psychoanalytic and Marxist theories of cinematic representation that had previously dominated film theory discourse (Gaut, 1997).

Branigan (1992), a cognitive film theorist, developed a theory of film narration using concepts from narratology as well as cognitive science and linguistics (Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002). In his model, Branigan shared Bordwell's (1985) assessment of film narration as organized through an audience's schemata. Branigan additionally included a more complex set of narrative elements to describe the elements necessary for the viewer to construct a comprehensive cinematic story. While Bordwell argued against a communication model that established a narrator as a controlling entity, other cognitive film theorists promoted this concept by explaining that the narrator's role was as a sender and the audience as perceivers. (Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002).

Several neoformalist film theorists critiqued Bordwell (1985) for disregarding the role of emotion as part of the audience's film comprehension process (Plantinga & Smith, 1999; Smith, 1995; Tan, 1996). Tan (1996) goes so far as to posit emotion as the principle cueing force for spectatorial responses from the viewer. Using experimental evidence and social science methodologies, Tan found that film primarily functions as an "emotion machine" (p. 119). That is, film cues the viewer towards emotional investment in acquiring information that completes the narrative. Plantinga and Smith (1999) also championed the role of emotion in film comprehension. To this end, they compiled an anthology of articles that argued for the importance of examining emotion to understand the audience's experience of a film. Conceptual contributions included ways in which specific emotions relate to particular film genres, how emotions are cued by narrative structures, and how viewers come to empathetically identify with characters and their storylines (Plantinga & Smith, 1999). For

example, Smith (1995) described the audience's emotional engagement with a fictional cinematic character. This engagement included narrative and stylistic cues that guided the audiences' impressions of the character (recognition), the audiences' empathy with the character (alignment), and positive or negative evaluations of that character (allegiance).

Several cognitive film theorists diverged from Bordwell's (1985) approach to narrative comprehension as culturally situated (Anderson, 1996; Grodal, 1997). Grodal (1997) argued that film comprehension is an innate and biological process and so valid across cultures and historical periods. This psychological framework, in contrast to Bordwell's constructivist lens, was also at least partially shared by Anderson (1996, p. 199) who "downplays the influence of culture in our interaction with films, but...does not deny it" (Plantinga, 1997, p. 64). Consequently, Grodal and Anderson focused more on the explanatory power of cognitive psychology and neuroscience for describing film comprehension processes. However, Grodal argued for a wholistic interpretation of film reception as it is perceived and interpreted through the body, mind, and world. The author described ways in which narrative structures are used to cue perceptual processes and emotional effects in the viewer. He explained a four-step process that viewers undertake during the film viewing experience (rationally, emotionally, and physically) which includes analyzing visual information, memory matching, narrative construction, and character identification. For instance, an audience member may engage with film more or less voluntarily: either explicitly thinking about the reasons for a causal event or by involuntarily laughing, crying, or jumping in fright. Anderson has argued for the evolutionary development of human psychology as the basis for film comprehension and that filmmakers have organized their narratives and stylistic techniques to accommodate the viewer's perceptual abilities (Plantinga, 1997).

The above neoformalist film theorists highlighted the viewer's comprehension processes more than previous psychoanalytic or semantic theories of film (Bordwell & Carroll, 1996). Bordwell's (1985) constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension is a fitting

framework for this study as it focuses on the influence of film's narrative and stylistic structures on film comprehension as well as the audiences' culturally and historically situated reception practices. However, while Bordwell does not focus on the audiences' emotions, it should be noted that this study frames the role of emotion as an important part of comprehension activities. It should also be noted that these cognitive film theorists did not collect empirical data to support their claims. Below, I discuss film reception research which examined film spectatorship from the perspective of the audience, themselves.

# 2.4.2 Film Reception Theory and Audience Research for Intertextual Knowledge

While cognitive film theory has made assumptions about how film audiences make sense of their viewing practices through textual analysis, reception studies has examined film reception through "historical or ethnographic research, that documents the production and circulation of meaning" (Jenkins, 2000). Audience researchers see film viewers as active participants of meaning-making and both the film text and the text reader as drawing on intertextual references from historical and cultural contexts for both production and reception (Bennett, 1983; Jenkins, 2000). Audience research can be traced to both television studies, which itself stems from cultural studies (Fiske, 1992; Turner, 2003), and film studies. Film studies has drawn on several theoretical frameworks including reading response theories, cognitive science, sociocultural history, and psychoanalysis (Allen, 1990; Allen & Gomery, 1985; Mayne, 1982; Staiger, 1992). These studies have used several forms of observable data to examine film reception including historical objects, like audience diaries or journals, press publications, newspaper articles/reviews, or face-to-face interviews such as focus groups (Jenkins, 2000).

One focus of reception studies has been to understand how film texts can be read in alternative or surprising ways (Willis, 1993). These studies highlighted audiences' interpretive processes such as how they identified with a cinematic character or how they

related movies to their own lives. For instance, cult movies like The Rocky Horror Picture Show (Sharman, 1975) have been used to explore the exchange of meaning between the film text and film spectator. These studies described ways in which the text provides events in fragmented and excessive ways that may lead to multiple interpretations and how the audience's personal experiences may lead them to seek out other cult films (Eco, 1986; Corrigan, 2014). These studies framed the viewing process and the film text itself as produced within a sociocultural or historical context where prior encounters with other texts, objects, and/or people influenced and constrained the creation of the text and the text's meaning. Audience reception research has explored ways in which spectators make sense of a film by filling in gaps in the narrative. These gaps include narrative excesses, unmotivated events, and character ambiguities. The audience then inserts their own assumptions about the world around them, other film genres, historical precedence and other factors to create meaning (Jenkins, 2000).

Film historians have used extratextual elements of film spectatorship including promotional materials like movie trailers, contemporary reviews, and movie magazines to try and piece together the interpretations of the film going public from a particular historical period (Bennett & Woollacott, 1987; Budd, 1990; DeCordova, 1990). Researchers have considered ways in which the audiences' understanding of a certain film or director has shifted between different historical moments. For example, film critics may have dismissed and/or ridiculed a film or group of films in one historical period only to later revisit and reclaim a text as an important cultural artefact (Klinger, 1994). However, while these extratextual elements of film reception may indeed reflect the interests of the film-going public, it is important not to conflate film reviews or promotional materials with the views and interpretations of any one audience member (Jenkins, 2000).

Audience research has also considered how viewing practices impact meaning-making activities (Berenstein, 1996; Ewen, 1992; Gray, 1992; Hansen, 1999; Kepley, 1996; Mayne,

1982; Naficy, 1993; Schaefer, 1999; Staiger, 1992). Where and how a movie is consumed such as at home, in a theatre, or on a big or small screen, can impact interpretation. Additionally, the intertextual knowledge of other forms of entertainment and whether it is for educational purposes or for leisure may influence film reception practices (Kepley, 1996). For example, one study examined horror movie viewing practices from 1930s Hollywood and found that movie theatre owners strategically placed women in the theatre to faint during the film or had ambulances waiting outside the theatre in order to heighten the sense of fear among audiences (Berenstein, 1996). Additionally, research considered how different modes of reception can highlight differences in class or cultural backgrounds. For instance, Naficy (1993) examined the viewing habits of Iranian refugees who got together in their homes with other Iranian friends to watch video tapes of low budget Iranian films as a way to immerse themselves in the aesthetics of Iran.

This study used a textual and empirical audience reception approach to examine L2/FL students' use of intertextual and cultural information to interpret two intercultural films. I did this by combining textual analysis of the Chinese and U.S. film texts with audience research that included participant descriptions of their film reception comprehension practices.

## 2.4.3 Film Genre Theory for Intertextual Knowledge

Research on L2/FL film reception can provide teachers with knowledge of the ways in which narrative films' organizational structures can impact film comprehension through activation of students' cultural and story construction schemata (Bordwell, 1985; Rost, 2016). For instance, a film may require a great deal of cultural familiarity to fully understand and interpret (Desilla, 2019; Rost, 2016). Additionally, a film may require familiarity with film genres produced in national and sociocultural spaces that adopted a particular narrative mode (Bordwell, 2011; Fu & Desser, 2000).

Film genre studies have considered the way films are produced using cinematic traditions or drawing on sets of established conventions that present common themes, characters, or settings, presented as a set of commonly understood cultural meanings (Altman, 1999; Schatz, 2009; Tudor, 1986). For instance, the western genre makes use of certain conventions such as gunfights, themes of revenge, and black and white cowboy hats that distinguish the villain from the hero (Warshow, 1985). However, the film genre is also structured by a set of shared meanings particular to the culture within which it is produced and exhibited (Tudor, 1986). It is important to note, however, that film genre studies have traditionally used textual analysis methods to make assumptions about the intentions of film producers and film audiences (Tudor, 1986). This study examined the structure of two film texts but also considered descriptive responses from film audiences about their use of cultural, intertextual, and narrative information to interpret two intercultural films.

In terms of film comprehension, genre conventions can guide the audience to construct a comprehensible narrative as the audience makes assumptions, inferences, and hypotheses by relying on their knowledge of and expectations about particular genres (Bordwell, 1985; Bordwell et al., 2016). For example, the Chinese film used in this study, Shaolin Soccer (Chow, 2001), includes conventions of plot, theme, and character from the Hong Kong martial-arts genre such as celebrating loyalty to a martial-arts teacher. It also includes conventions from the screwball comedy genre which includes oddball characters fighting against a more stuffy, established social group (Bordwell et al., 2016). Audiences familiar with these genres, therefore, might build expectations about seeing kung-fu action sequences and visual gags which guides their overall understanding of the story.

In terms of listening comprehension for L2/FL learning, Rost (2011) explained that familiarity with genres contributes to listening skills by activating these specific cultural schemata. Some genres are popular across cultural spaces, but others might have a smaller audience and familiarity with a genre may affect the audiences' ability to listen for

understanding. For instance, Shaolin Soccer's actor/director Stephen Chow's films commonly include a set of conventions associated with a localized Hong Kong comedy genre produced and exhibited for a Hong Kong audience, despite his later films being produced through mainland China and exhibited globally (Srinivas, 2005).

This study examined the participants' use of intertextual knowledge (using other texts to inform understanding of a text) such as film genre knowledge to describe and interpret a Chinese and a U.S. film. The aim of this study was to better understand participants' contextualized perceptions and background knowledge and how it impacted their viewing experience. It is crucial to consider how L2/FL students evaluate and interpret intercultural audio-visual materials from their own individual perspectives, both in and beyond the classroom walls. Studies have shown that the use of multimodal texts requires complex literacy skills and directly impacts students' understanding, motivation, and critical and reflective engagement with these materials (Alvermann et al., 1999; Gee, 2003; Jewitt & Kress, 2003; Marsh & Millard, 2000).

# 2.4.4 Translation Studies and Film Comprehension as an Intercultural Experience

Within the audiovisual translation (AVT) field, researchers have conducted cross-cultural reception studies that examined film comprehension activities for films that include translated subtitles or voice-overs (Burczynska, 2018; Cavaliere, 2008; Desilla, 2012, 2014, 2019; Fuentes Luque, 2003; Yuan, 2012). The studies found that cross-cultural audiences' interpretive activities were influenced not only by the translated dialogue/subtitles but also by the film's narrative relay of information. Additionally, the audiences' comprehension was influenced by their cultural and personalized contexts. In particular, the following AVT studies found that cultural information like intertextual pop cultural references does impact language and film narrative comprehension (Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2019; Fuentes Luque, 2003).

Desilla (2012) conducted a film analysis examining the formation and function of implicatures (implied meanings) in Bridget Jones' Diary (BJ1) (Maguire, 2001) and Bridget Jones: The Edge of Reason (BJ2) (Kidron, 2004). The case study combined cognitive pragmatics, film theory, and a multimodal approach. The study found that implicatures were relayed not only through dialogue but also through the film's multimodal presentation of story information. In addition, implicatures (or implied meanings) were found to support narrative and comedic functions in the form of wordplay, intertextuality, and metaphor. The study found that "the filmmakers of BJ1 and BJ2 indirectly invite viewers to make links with other films", through a combination of visual cues, dialogue, or other multimodal forms of film communication (Desilla, 2012, p. 50).

In order to combine empirical data with textual analysis, Desilla (2014) undertook a reception study to test the narrative function and cross-cultural relay of implicit information in the Bridget Jones films with British and Greek viewers. The target (Greek) audience watched the film with Greek subtitles. Desilla found that "Greek viewers were often able to understand the main/idea/effect/tone that the filmmakers wished to communicate by accessing unintended but somehow related context with the help of a scene's visuals, music and/or of context" (p. 209). The participants were found to actively create meaning by combing the film's medium-specific relay of information with prior knowledge and experience. Notably, there was no uniform interpretation, but rather some participants accessed a preferred reading while others created unique and individual meanings. In relation to interpreting cultural or intertextual information within the Bridget Jones' films, Greek audiences had "substantial difficulties" (p. 210) with comprehension of implied meanings that included aspects of British culture (e.g., politics and television programs). In a comprehension assessment, it was found that the British viewers were more likely to have an easier time with "comprehension and implicature recovery" (p. 210). On the other hand, some British audiences in the study also had difficulty with comprehension of implied

meanings within the films, so difficulty with meaning formation was not solely due to cultural differences.

Burczynska, (2018) examined Polish audiences' (with varying levels of English proficiency) comprehension of irony in Sherlock Holmes (Ritchie, 2009) and Sherlock Holmes: A Game of Shadows (Ritchie, 2011) using both subtitled and voiced-over versions. Burczynksa studied the impact of English language proficiency on irony comprehension, employing an eye-tracking and open-ended questionnaire data collection component. The study found that Polish viewers with higher and medium English proficiency (between low, medium, and high) scored higher on an irony comprehension test. While watching a voiced-over version of the films, Polish viewers with lower levels of English proficiency "retrieved multimodal irony largely via the verbal, visual and kinesic modes" (p. 203). This study found that non-verbal modes of information were instrumental to the comprehension of the two films and that immersion in the target language culture determined the amount of non-verbal semiotic resources that were grasped.

Fuentes-Luque (2003) completed a case study examining the reception of humour in the film Duck Soup (McCarey, 1933). The study used a 10-minute excerpt from the film in three translated versions: original English, Spanish voice-over, and original English with Spanish subtitles. An English language group watched the original English version while two groups of dominant (Iberian) Spanish speakers watched the dubbed and subtitled excerpts. The study found that when the humour was translated with minimal changes or translated literally it created comprehension issues for the Spanish speaking viewers. The study also found that the humour in the film is presented verbally and through visual or aural semiotic elements that influence the viewers' expectations and consequently how the message is received and interpreted.

These AVT studies have attempted to address a gap within the more theoretical tradition of pragmatics and AVT research to describe "the way pragmatic meaning is relayed in the

different modes of AVT" (Desilla, 2014, p.194). The translation studies research that has been done has established that without familiarity with cultural information (e.g., British culture in Bridget Jones films), or when translation has not considered cultural contexts, the target audience can have difficulty with comprehension even with the use of translated subtitles and/or dubbing (Burczynska, 2017; Cavaliere, 2008; Desilla, 2014: Fuentes-Luque, 2003; Yuan, 2012). My study examined international Chinese students as well as both Chinese and U.S. films to provide additional data that investigates intercultural influences (cultural and linguistic contexts) on film interpretation. My study additionally considered the relay of narrative information from two culturally specific narrative and stylistic traditions as an additional mediating resource for L2/FL learners as they process intertextual and cultural information within both films.

# 2.5 The Learner Experience: Research

This section describes existing research related to sub-theories of SCT including mediation, scaffolding, and the ZPD (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Karpov & Haywood, 1998; Lantolf, 2011) as well as studies that have examined Krashen's (1985) theory of comprehensible input. Additionally, this section details previous research that described key subject areas within second language acquisition using audio-visual resources. Finally, research on storytelling and narrative forms across cultural spaces is detailed to examine ways in which narrative form and sociocultural contexts impact language and literacy development.

# 2.5.1 Sociocultural Theory for Second Language Acquisition

Vygotsky's (1978) theory of knowledge development describes all human development as mediated by objects or symbolic tools such as language or art and through social relationships. Frawley and Lantolf (1985) apply this theoretical perspective to an understanding of second language acquisition (SLA). A sociocultural theory for second language acquisition is fitting as a theoretical lens for a study on intercultural film comprehension (films made in linguistically and culturally diverse contexts) and L2/FL

viewership as it recognizes the developmental relationship between L2/FL learners' prior life experiences and the sociocultural situatedness of film production and reception practices.

The cinematic materials used in this study incorporated several mediating symbolic tools including aural language, visual signs, and gestural/kinesthetic symbols. In order to make meaning, film audiences can use character gestures, music, sound effects, framing, and character dialogue to name a few mediating tools that regulate the cognitive skills needed to form a meaningful narrative. How L2/FL audiences interact with film's culturally contextualized medium-specific structures to create meaning is understood in this study through the lens of SCT and its sub-theories including the ZPD, mediation, scaffolding, and Krashen's (1985) input hypothesis.

The literature on the sub-theories of SCT, outlined below, describes the ways in which SCT contributes to an understanding of intercultural film interpretation as a transactional meaning-making process between the viewer and the film.

#### 2.5.1.1 The ZPD and the L2/FL Learner

The ZPD, as described above, is the activity in which instruction (i.e., socialization at home and formal teaching at school) and development "are interrelated from the child's very first day of life" (Vygotsky, 1978, p. 84). Film comprehension is a social and collaborative activity that requires both instruction from the film's narrative and stylistic relay of information and from the socially constituted cognitive activities of the viewer in their ability to make meaning (Anderson, 1996; Bordwell, 1992; Branigan, 1992; Magliano & Clinton, 2016). For example, the viewer must interact with the medium-specific relay of information to carry out comprehension activities including plot construction, recognition of cause and effect, temporal shifts, and character goals, to name a few. A film that contains a L2/FL viewer's target language whether through subtitling, dubbing, or other dialogue, mediates comprehension through modeling of authentic language use (Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999). A

film that incorporates a dialogue-heavy script with actors who speak quickly and over top of each other may be a larger challenge for L2/FL language comprehension (Kuppens, 2010). However, film viewing can also allow the L2/FL viewer to get a better sense of real-world speech patterns (Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999) much in the same way that a child listens to and communicates with the adults around them even though they may not understand every word.

The ZPD is a space where hearing vocabulary or speech patterns that are slightly more advanced than what the learner may be able to form or comprehend on their own, can support future vocabulary or comprehension achievements through the collaboration of the learner and other people or mediational tools, such as audiovisual media (Lantolf, 2011). Eventually, the child internalizes and implements the language obtained through these incidental socialization processes. Likewise, the L2/FL viewer may internalize communicative patterns heard/seen in a film from the target language including idioms, colloquial terms, intonation, and communicative gestures (Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1992). While film may not provide explicit instruction, like a teacher during a class discussion, it may still provide interactive support through implicit socialization processes, such as the film's relay of narrative information and the spectator's active attempts to understanding that narrative using their prior knowledge (Desilla, 2014, 2019). For instance, film mystery genres provide story information using specific narrative structures (i.e., a murder is committed at the start and the solution to the crime is usually presented at the end) and the audience must actively participate in the film's construction in order to successfully solve the plot or in order to work out a film character's goals and motivations.

It is important to note that the ZPD accounts for individual differences in learning and the differences in performance dependent on the task the learner is asked to complete (Lantolf, 2011). The type of film used as a mediational support for learning necessarily determines "learner responsiveness to mediation" (Lantolf, 2011, p. 31). For instance, in a study on translated subtitles, Greek viewers found the culturally specific references present in a British

film difficult to understand or to connect with emotionally (Desilla, 2019). My study investigated the differences in participants' film interpretations and how those differences related to the choice of intercultural films. The cultural situatedness of these films may allow L2/FL spectators to make more use of their funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge (Moll et al., 1992) in an effort to develop film comprehension. In this way the cultural choice of film can determine the ways in which a learner responds to mediational support.

## 2.5.2 Comprehensible Input and the L2/FL Learner

Several studies have considered the importance of comprehensible input and student engagement on reading comprehension (Cho & Krashen, 2019; Cummins, 2011; Krashen, 1993, 2011). Krashen (1985) has argued that comprehensible input, or what we comprehensively hear and read, is the cause of language development. In comparison, speaking and writing (output) is the result of language acquisition. Studies have shown that we acquire language through what we hear and read both gradually and through context (Nagy et al., 1985). With this in mind, Krashen and others have argued for the importance of reading for pleasure as a form of support for L2/FL development as a language is acquired more easily when the comprehensible input is interesting enough that it does not feel like learning (Cho & Krashen, 2019). Additionally, Cummins (2011) asserted that reading engagement is a predictor of reading achievement and suggests several ways to influence academic growth by supporting students' engagement with reading. For instance, school administraters and teachers can provide an abundance of popular and engaging books, they can send books home for students to enjoy outside of school, and teachers can create opportunities for discussion around books to generate further interest around topics and to model interpretive strategies like predicting and inferencing. Additionally, multilingual students can create book reviews, share their ideas through social media, and create their own texts to showcase their knowledge and promote the value of both their and other cultures and personal identities.

Like reading, studies have shown film to be an emotionally engaging form of comprehensible input (Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019; Reinhardt, 2019; Xiang, 2018). Film and television studies have also found that L2/FL learners acquire new vocabulary while watching film and television for pleasure, outside the classroom (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Audio-visual resources include several forms of comprehensible input including visual, aural, and written such as L1 or L2 subtitles (or both). These inputs provide comprehensible context that can support understanding for the gradual acquisition of new vocabulary (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Therefore, audio-visual media's ability to engage learners should be considered a support for academic development in the same way that reading is.

Like reading, school administrators and teachers can provide enjoyable, popular audio-visual resources in the classroom. For instance, if multilingual students are interested in watching popular videos on their lunch break, teachers could find out what those are and include time in class to engage with them using translated subtitles to discuss, predict, and critically analyze media that students might be emotionally and/or intellectually invested in and more interested in discussing (Rhovaidah et al., 2021)

Teachers should promote pleasure viewing outside of class as well as a way to bridge the divide between learning using multimedia at school and at home (Browne, 1999; Carrington, 2005; Marsh & Thompson, 2001). If it is more enjoyable for L2/FL students to watch a film from their own cultural background, they can be encouraged to do so using English dubbing or English subtitles alongside their source language subtitles (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999). Of course, if they enjoy media from other cultures, they should be encouraged to engage with them whether it be a popular sitcom, a video blog, or a sports analysis video (Chao, 2013). Using resources students are already interested in and feel connected to personally and culturally can also create an opportunity to represent and

express the value of resources from diverse national spaces that students feel represent their interests and identities (Duff, 2002; McCabe, 1997).

# 2.5.2.1 Comprehensible Input: L2/FL Vocabulary Acquisition by Watching Film/TV

Previous research has found that subtitled film and television can be a beneficial resource for L2/FL vocabulary acquisition (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999a; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). d'Ydewalle and Pavakanun (1992) found that "students obtained strong acquisition effects on a...vocabulary test" (p. 240) that was taken after students viewed a subtitled Danish television program. d'Ydewalle and Van de Poel (1999) looked at 327 Dutch-speaking children from Belgium in grades three to six and found "real but limited foreign-language acquisition by children watching a subtitled movie" (p. 242). Furthermore, Van de Poel and d'Ydewalle (2001) tested Dutch-speaking students with four subtitle conditions including Dutch subtitles and French sound, French subtitles and Dutch sound, Dutch subtitles and Danish sound, and Danish subtitles and Dutch sound. They saw significant improvements in participant vocabulary acquisition, even when the subtitles were in a foreign language.

Koolstra and Beentjes (1999) worked with 246 fourth and sixth grade Dutch children to examine the relationship between watching subtitled English-spoken television shows and the childrens' incidental learning of English words. They concluded that children who watched more subtitled television at home had higher vocabulary scores than those students who said they watched only a small amount or no subtitled television outside of school. The study explained that "English words are better recognized when their translations can be read in the subtitles because recognition of words on the basis of a two-channel input (listening and reading) is easier than on the basis of a one-channel input (listening)" (p. 58).

Similar findings were shown in Kuppens' (2010) study with higher vocabulary translation test scores from students who self-identified as often watching English language television shows with native language subtitles. Kuppens surveyed 374 Flemish Dutch-speaking students in grade six and examined the self-reporting data to gauge the long-term effects of English media use on vocabulary acquisition. Kuppens surveyed students on home viewing practices of English language television shows with native Dutch subtitling. After completing the survey, Kuppens asked students to complete an oral test and a test that assessed English to Dutch translation and Dutch to English translation. The findings indicate that the more students watch subtitled movies and television programs at home, the better they do on translation tests.

Finally, Neuman and Koskinen (1991) found similar data in their study with 129 bilingual students from a school in Lowell, Massachusetts, U.S.A. They showed Cambodian, Laotian, Vietnamese, and Hispanic bilingual students from an American school nine segments of an English science show geared to 8-12-year-old students. The study presented students with four experimental conditions including the program with subtitles, without subtitles, a written text based on the subtitles (without visuals) with audio, and a control group who received their information from a textbook. The study concluded that the students who watched the science program with subtitles tested higher on a vocabulary test both directly after the experiment and on a test administered at a later date. The findings show that "through captioned television, bilingual students appeared to make significant gains in vocabulary knowledge without any formal instruction" (p. 20). Neuman and Koskinen, as well as Kuppens were the only studies that looked at longer-term effects of watching subtitled television on L2/FL acquisition.

# 2.5.2.2 Comprehensible Input: L2/FL Listening: Verbal, Visual, and Contextual Cues

In addition to L2/FL vocabulary acquisition research, listening comprehension studies have examined how learners take advantage of both verbal and non-verbal cues when interpreting information and how those cues are influenced by cultural context (Chafe, 1980; Erbaugh, 2010; Hanna et al., 2003; Harris, 2003; Tanenhaus et al., 1995). For instance, Chafe's (1980) study of narrative film interpretation and discourse production examined the relationship between viewers' cultural differences and film's semantic and cultural relay of information on participants' film comprehension and discourse activities. In Chafe's research project, adult participants from diverse cultural backgrounds were asked to verbally describe a short film they had watched called *The Pear Story*. Several linguists analyzed the participants' descriptions of the film to observe distinctive aspects related to participants' cognitive processes used for remembering the film's narrative and for retelling the film's story.

Several researchers who analyzed the participants' responses after watching the short film described various forms of organizing their retelling of the film. The participants' discourse included choosing which pieces of information to discuss, describing a particular interpretation of the film, and evaluating aspects of the story and its presentation (Chafe, 1980). Using the participant data from this study, Tannen (1980) detailed cultural differences between Greek and American audiences' retellings of the short film. Tannen found that the American audience focused more on describing the film's structure while the Greek audience was more attentive to the film's content. Erbaugh (2010) completed a study that focused on comparisons among Chinese viewers of *The Pear Story*. The study examined the way the Chinese participants organized their narrative retelling of the events within the film. For instance, one viewer first described the sequence of story events, then interpreted the events, and finally made judgements about what they had watched. Chafe's study highlights the role of sociocultural context in the film viewing experience by demonstrating the relationship between the film's production within a cultural space and the spectator's cultural background

and its influence on their interpretation and retelling of the film. These studies found that different narrative interpretations of audio-visual media do exist between cultures.

While listening comprehension studies have found that visual information in audio-visual media can support linguistic input (Hanna et al., 2003; Harris, 2003; Tanenhaus et al., 1995), some studies have pointed to ways in which audio-visual media "distorts it, or replaces it, and sometimes even contradicts it" (Rost, 2016, p. 50). Studies on intercultural communication between people (rather than people and movies) showed visual cues could deliver unintended meanings to listeners from different cultural backgrounds (Arasaratnam, 2007; Roberts et al., 1992; Scollon & Scollon, 1995). The aim of this study was to examine both the additional forms of support provided by watching a film from the L2/FL audiences' home culture as well as any challenges to interpretation of a film from other cultural spaces.

L2/FL listening comprehension research has investigated the role of culturally shared experiences in relation to comprehension. Studies found that listeners of a similar cultural background may "arrive at mutual empathy and acceptable understanding, due to their having common cultural or educational or experiential backgrounds" (Rost, 2016, p. 57). Shared knowledge of socioculturally bound content and narrative patterns present in audiovisual texts has been shown to guide listener inferencing as it activates knowledge from outside the text or knowledge of conventional medium-specific formal patterns (Bowe & Martin, 2007; Poldrack et al., 2009). For example, films from a specific genre such as comedy, mystery, or crime allow viewers to draw on their prior intertextual knowledge about those genres to create expectations and interest (Rost, 2016).

Listening comprehension studies have considered genres as culture-specific ways to organize communication, stating that "within different cultures, the types of texts that fit in each group will differ. Familiarity with genres...contributes indirectly to listening ability, through activation of these cultural schemata" (Rost, 2016, p. 162). Prior genre knowledge is one type of culturally bound intertextual knowledge examined in my study as a means of

supporting comprehension of intercultural movies. Information from other texts such as books, magazines, commercials, songs, movies, video games and narrative and stylistic conventions was also examined as mediating factor for the interpretation and comprehension of the intercultural films viewed by the international Chinese and domestic Canadian post-secondary students who participated in this study.

# 2.5.3 Intercultural Communicative Competence by Watching Film/TV

Research has also investigated audio-visual media and L2/FL pedagogy in relation to the acquisition of intercultural communicative competency skills (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). Intercultural communicative competency education promotes language learning from a sociocultural perspective by emphasizing the social function of language as speakers use language to "negotiate their place in social groups and hierarchies" (Corbett, 2003, p. 2). While investigating audio-visual media as a resource for intercultural communicative competency, studies have found that the process of watching films involved complex and dynamic activities that went beyond a focus on listening comprehension and included skills for observing the function of behavioural and cultural patterns in the target language community.

In order to adopt an intercultural approach to second language education, Corbett (2003) has argued for the importance of interdisciplinary research that draws on media and cultural studies (as well as other disciplines from the humanities and social sciences) and research from linguistics and psychology. Corbett looked at several salient aspects within media and cultural studies to describe its relevance for an intercultural approach to language education. First, media studies curriculum considers texts in terms of their function within a social space, the ways in which different groups of people make sense of them, and the impact of society on the process of media production. Additionally, a media studies approach considers the role of the text reader and their strategies for interpreting a text including their expectations and prior knowledge of similar or other textual conventions. For an

intercultural approach to language teaching, learning about a culture's values and beliefs is an important aspect of learning the language (Corbett, 2003). Therefore, using cultural texts like film can support students in their ability to develop their cultural awareness. For instance, teachers might have students research the biography of a filmmaker or a national film system to understand the sociocultural elements that have influenced the associated films.

Several studies have examined the impact of using audio-visual materials to support intercultural communication skills and found that the process of watching foreign films involved complex and dynamic meaning-making activities that were both culturally and individually determined (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). An intercultural approach to L2/FL education is meant to go beyond language fluency and uncomplicated foreign cultural knowledge (i.e., national foods) to highlight the cultural and linguistic diversity within countries. For instance, English speakers can be found in many diverse cultural contexts (Baker, 2012). Intercultural competency skills involve exploring and interpreting "the attitudes and behaviours of people from different cultural or linguistic backgrounds in target contexts, rather than addressing only ethnic, national or international differences" (Chao, 2013, p. 249). Therefore, an intercultural approach supports L2/FL learners' understanding of their own motivations, skills, and behaviours when engaging with people (or films) from different cultural or linguistic contexts and how that relates to an understanding and development of successful communication within diverse global situations (Byram, 1997; Pegrum, Hartley, & Wechtler, 2005; Pegrum, 2008).

In one study that involved film reception and L2/FL intercultural communicative competencies, Yang and Fleming (2013) examined the interpretation of several American and UK films and TV shows by Chinese college students (CCSs). The study found that CCSs interpreted foreign audio-visual materials in both culturally derived and individual ways. For instance, students responded to the film by comparing it with their own lived experience,

through the influence of peers, by re-contextualizing narrative/characters (e.g., into a Chinese context), and by perceiving foreign films on a spectrum from a highly realistic representation of the culture to a more fictionalized representation. The study found that, using their background knowledge, the audience began to make sense of the foreign films even before they started the viewing process.

In another study, Chao (2013) investigated the perceptions of 52 Taiwanese university English as a foreign language (EFL) students. The course used nine foreign films as intercultural educational resources. Through an analysis of students' diary entries during four stages of film viewing (pre, during, post, and advanced post-viewing), the study found that students developed a change in attitude towards foreigners, recognized the injustice of discriminating against other cultures, and overcame fears of interacting with foreigners through their engagement with the films. Additionally, some students changed their emotional attitudes of anxiety, defensiveness, and/or distance to foreigners after watching the foreign films. In their journals, the students reflected on their viewing experience, reflected on the views of the media, and reflected the opinions from people around them. Finally, the study indicated progress in participants' intercultural skills including self-confidence in using English for communication, recognizing non-verbal communication styles, and contextualizing their observations and reflections. These findings highlight the mediating capacity of foreign films for L2/FL comprehension and intercultural awareness.

The above studies found that intercultural film viewing is a complex and dynamic process involving an intertextually informed viewer and intertextually informed films. Further, both the audience and the film's producers are situated within historically and culturally specific contexts. The above studies showed that audiences begin to make sense of foreign films even before they start the viewing process. The Chinese college students' experience with previous foreign films, their perception of the culture where the films were produced (e.g.,

U.K and the U.S.), and their experience with Chinese films all mediated their meaning-making process (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013).

These studies show that viewers make meaning in highly personalized and contextualized ways. It is important, however, to recognize that audiences may experience some aspects of a film in both similar and different ways. For instance, Stafford (2007) described three levels of audience response: a preferred/dominant response, a negotiated response, and an oppositional response. While the reception studies for intercultural education, above, presented the mediating power of cultural and individualistic processes for meaning-making when CCSs watch foreign films, there is a continued need to highlight the collaborative and contextualized role of film's narrative and stylistic construction and how it impacts L2/FL students' interpretations of meaning.

My study considered the concurrent and dynamic process of the film viewers' understanding of intercultural films through the interplay between their socially contextualized backgrounds and the film's polysemiotic presentation of story information, produced in socially contextualized spaces. This reciprocal, transactionary reception process, between the film and the audience, highlights film narrative structures as an influential, mediating resource for L2/FL students' comprehension processes (Jenkins, 2000b; Sobchack, 2004; Stafford, 2007). In order to understand L2/FL intercultural film reception as mediated through sociocultural contexts which includes narrative and stylistic structures, I viewed this study through the lens of SCT and constructivism in an attempt to contribute to research that supports the appropriate and beneficial use of audio-visual media for L2/FL pedagogy and media literacy education in the L2/FL classroom. In order to do this, my study considered the ways in which the social and cultural context of film production and viewers' backgrounds influenced their meaning-making activities while watching a film made in China and the U.S.

# 2.5.4 Narrative and Storytelling Across Cultures

Researchers interested in how individuals acquire reading literacy have considered the influence of cultural background knowledge on that process (Bartlett, 1932; McCabe, 1997; Pritchard, 1990). Additionally, researchers have considered the role of narrative within education as an effective way of teaching concepts (Matos, 2014; Bruner, 1990) and how narrative form and storytelling have both similarities and differences across cultures (Chafe, 1980; McCabe, 1997; Miller et al., 2011; Ochs, 1982; Schiefelbusch & Pickar, 1984; Scollon & Scollon, 1995; Watson, 1975). For instance, Watson (1975) found that Hawaiian children (5-7 years old) often narrated a story whereby the other children would interject to contribute to the storytelling. In a study of children's stories from an Athabaskan community, it was found that the children often told stories that included sequences of repetition (Scollon & Scollon, 1995). As stated previously, studies have also found cultural differences in retellings of films or stories from the past for both adults and children (Chafe, 1980; Ochs, 1982; Schiefelbusch & Pickar, 1984).

While there are differences within one culture there are also similarities across cultures in terms of narrative comprehension and production (Logan, 1993; Peterson & McCabe, 1992; Propp, 1984). Being mindful of possible cultural differences in both narrative formal structures and individual storytelling styles can support educators in several ways. For instance, keeping possible cultural differences in mind can allow educators to support better story comprehension and/or recall, support more complex choices for reading resources, classroom activities, or assessment strategies, and support student engagement with classroom texts (McCabe, 1997). Studies have shown that when learners hear a story from another culture and then attempt to retell the story, they often leave information out and replace the original vocabulary with words they are more familiar with (Dube, 1982). Additionally, adult readers were found to craft more detailed and accurate summaries when they could make use of culture-bound schemata (Harris et al., 1992; Kintsch & Greene, 1978). Finally, studies have found that students used more efficient comprehension

strategies when engaging with texts from their own cultures, had better memory recall, and provided more detail (Berney & John, 1967; Invernizzi & Abouzeid, 1995; Pritchard, 1990).

This study's aim was to examine narratives across cultures in relation to narrative films as educational tools for L2/FL learners. Audio-visual texts have their own medium-specific form of communicating stories that audiences learn to interpret within particular sociocultural contexts (Chafe, 1980). In order to more efficiently make use of audio-visual resources in the classroom it is necessary to examine how learners make meaning of narrative form and the audio-visual presentation of information such as picking out key themes and/or recognizing conventions of a particular genre and how these activities are impacted by the cultural context of both learners and films.

# 2.6 Summary

This chapter presented literature related to film comprehension and L2/FL education. This chapter began with a detailed overview of a constructivist film comprehension theory and sociocultural concepts related to the film viewers' cognitive developmental activities. Additionally, this chapter examined research related to film theory including cognitive film research, film reception studies, genre studies, and film translation studies. Next this chapter included research into audio visual resources in L2/FL education including vocabulary acquisition studies, listening acquisition research, and research on the development of intercultural competency skills. This chapter also provided a brief description of studies that considered the influence of sociocultural background on written narrative texts as it relates to intercultural narrative comprehension and L2/FL education.

This study hopes to highlight the need for more intercultural media literacy pedagogy in the L2/FL classroom. Intercultural media literacy can provide information to instructors about the developmental relationship between L2/FL learners' life experiences and the contextually bound practices of film production and reception. In this effort, a reception study was

undertaken to examine the perceptions and interpretations of two intercultural films by L2/FL post-secondary international Chinese students and domestic Canadian students. I used an interdisciplinary theoretical approach to frame the study. I used a sociocultural theory of second language acquisition in conjunction with a constructivist narrative film theory to understand how the participants used cultural knowledge and narrative cues to interpret eight film sequences. The methodology used to carry out my study is described, in detail, below.

# Chapter 3

# 3 Methodology

To answer my research questions concerning L2/FL audiences' use of cultural information for intercultural film interpretation, I conducted an online qualitative reception study using sociocultural concepts including the ZPD, scaffolding, and funds of knowledge (Moll et al., 1992; Vygotsky, 1978). Additionally, I used a constructivist theory of film narration to examine the mediated meaning-making relationship between narrative film's symbolic and structural cues and audiences' prior knowledge (Bordwell, 1985).

I have chosen to work with post-secondary international Chinese students attending a Canadian university as participants in my study. To seek intergroup differences and similarities, a group of domestic Canadian university students were included as participants in the study. My study employed four methods of data collection: narrative film analyses, an online film reception study that included a survey and interviews, and a listening comprehension assessment. The first component involved an analysis of narrative and stylistic conventions present in a Chinese and a U.S. film (both with English audio). Next, the online qualitative film reception study asked each participant group to watch English audio excerpts from the Chinese and U.S. film excerpts and respond to a Qualtrics (2014) open-ended questionnaire about their interpretations of the film sequences. In addition to the questionnaire, I conducted interviews to gain more detailed information about participants' interpretations of one Chinese and one U.S. film sequence. Finally, I used a comprehension assessment to examine the extent to which viewers understood the English dialogue and the intended meaning of the film sequences.

The purpose of applied qualitative research is to speak with a group that is different from the researcher in order to better understand and describe the characteristics of an issue and subsequently to use the newly gleaned information to support policy makers, or additionally,

in the case of qualitative research for education, instructors, school administrators, parents, and/or students, to improve upon the current pedagogical system (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This method of collecting and analyzing data differs from quantitative research in several ways but namely in its use of the words of participants as data, collected for analysis, rather than using numbers as data to be analyzed through statistical methods (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Qualitative research as a field of study developed in the 1960s and 1970s with the work of Glaser and Strauss (1967) who defined the methods for inductively examining social phenomena and Guba (1978) who put forth the concept of a study that happened outside a laboratory and in a real-world space where phenomena could be observed without manipulation and the data that was analyzed presented itself naturally (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Subsequently, disciplines outside the initial anthropology and sociology fields that had conducted ethnographic studies began to adopt qualitative methods of collecting and analyzing data, including the field of education (Bogdan & Taylor, 1998; Guba & Lincoln, 1981).

The philosophical foundations underpinning the reasons for using a qualitative method of research can be compared with the fundamental orientations of other research such as experimental quantitative research methods. An experimental, quantitative approach to research stems from a positivist theoretical world view that understands reality as absolute and able to be known, discovered, and measured (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In contrast, qualitative research and its methods derive from an interpretive view of the world that believes reality is not static and stable and therefore researchers cannot discover or measure one knowable truth but instead subjectively create meaning that is individual to them and meaning develops through the researchers' interactions with other people, objects, and points of data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). My world view as a researcher and an individual most closely matches with an interpretive and social constructivist epistemology. In other words, I support an understanding of the world where meanings are often found to be diverse, subjective, complex, and contextualized within historical and sociocultural spaces and

between interactions with others. For this reason, I chose to use a constructivist and sociocultural theoretical lens and a qualitative methodology to collect and analyze the data derived from this intercultural film reception study.

In order to conduct a qualitative study, I focused on several key factors including achieving a deeper understanding of the participants' film interpretations, recognizing and highlighting my role in the process of creating meaning from the data, constructing themes that emerged from the data and not from pre-determined hypotheses, and obtaining deeply descriptive data such as open-ended questionnaire responses and participant interviews to produce the findings of the study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

The goal of this qualitative study was for the researcher to focus on understanding and describing the relationship between international film audiences' knowledge of cultural and film narrative information and their meaning-making activities while watching intercultural films that use English audio. In order to examine how viewers interpret Chinese and U.S. film clips, a qualitative study was chosen to allow for an inductive, descriptive analysis of participant feedback that can highlight connections, comparisons, as well as creative and idiosyncratic responses from both participant groups. The goal is to understand how L2/FL viewers interpreted intercultural films and describe the meaning they applied to their film reception experiences. Below, I include information related to the specific methods I used to conduct research on this topic.

# 3.1 Participants

I examined the views of two groups of participants consisting of international Chinese students and Canadian domestic students, both attending a Canadian university. The international Chinese group are English L2/FL students, and all have similar English language proficiency as they needed to meet the Canadian university English language requirements before being accepted into a post-secondary program (Settlement.Org, 2020).

The domestic Canadian students provide information about film interpretation from the perspective of a domestic post-secondary audience. It is important to note that several of the Canadian participants come from multicultural backgrounds.

## 3.1.1 Rationale for Participant Selection

International Chinese students make up the largest section of international students attending post-secondary schools in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2020). As many of these students, either formally or informally, may use audiovisual resources to learn English, it is important to explore and make comparisons of ways in which viewers use cultural and narrative information to interpret audiovisual texts. This can help establish what form of audiovisual resources may be more effective, motivating, and considerate of students' backgrounds within post-secondary L2/FL education.

Therefore, the main criteria for selecting participants were cultural and linguistic background. The international Chinese students should have an English listening comprehension level of B2 or higher from the Common European Framework of Reference for Language (CEFR) (Council of Europe, 2001). This English proficiency level is a standard level for admission to many Ontario post-secondary schools (Settlement.Org, 2020). The participants were informed of the general goal of the study. The general goal of the study is stated as research on how international Chinese and domestic Canadian audiences use cultural information to interpret two intercultural films.

# 3.1.2 Participant Recruitment and the Pandemic

Participant recruitment for this study occurred between March 2021 and December 2021. Prior to the pandemic this study was meant to include an in-person questionnaire and in-person interviews. However, as this study was planned and took place during the first two years of the pandemic, I had to shift everything into an online format. Instead of having students attend a meeting where I would play video clips of the Chinese and U.S. films, I had

to create an online questionnaire with embedded video clips. The questionnaire also included a final section that asked participants if they would like to participate in a follow up interview. The interviews were all moved from in-person to Zoom where students were able to choose to turn on their camera or leave their camera off.

While it was a challenge to quickly pivot to a new study format during the pandemic, there were some benefits. One challenge was not being with questionnaire participants in person in case they had questions about the questionnaire format. For the interviews, some of the participants chose not to turn their camera on which may have affected the ability to make a stronger connection between the interviewer and the interviewee. However, some benefits included allowing students to participate in the study in their own time and in a comfortable space where they may have been more relaxed to hopefully provide open and honest responses to the questionnaire and interview questions.

The first round of recruitment began with mass e-mails for both the Chinese and Canadian participants. For the Chinese participants, an email was sent to all Chinese international students from a Master of Professional Education in the field of Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages (TESOL) program. For the Canadian participants, an email was sent to all first- and second-year Bachelor of Education students who identified as having domestic Canadian status.

When the first round of recruitment did not amass enough participants for the questionnaire or the interviews, a second round of recruitment was conducted through a Canadian university's university wide mass emailing system. I found this form of recruitment to be much more successful, but I nevertheless had to send out a total of four rounds of these mass emails between June and December 2021 before I acquired saturation for the questionnaire responses (39 Canadian respondents and 75 Chinese respondents). Through the mass emails, three domestic Canadian students signed up for the interviews over the summer and two more participants signed up for an interview in December of 2021. For the Chinese

participants, four students expressed interest in the interviews, and I conducted all four interviews in the summer of 2021 on Zoom. By December 2021, I was no longer getting new participants from the mass email recruitments for the questionnaire, so my final three Chinese participant interviews were recruited after I gave a short presentation about my study in the Master of Professional Education in the field of Teaching English to Speakers of Other Languages (TESOL) program. After the presentation, I left a card for students to contact me through email. Using Zoom, I interviewed the first three Chinese students who reached out with interest in an interview in December 2021.

#### 3.2 Materials

I selected the Chinese film Shaolin Soccer (Chow, 2001) and the U.S. film Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Thurber, 2004) as materials for this project. These films are labelled SS and DB

#### 3.2.1 Rationale for Materials Selection

The selection of the films was driven by participant engagement. A show of hands in two pre-service teaching English as a second language courses at an Ontario post-secondary school supported the majority genre choice of comedy from a group of 47 Chinese adult students (see Appendix A). Additional rationale for the choice of films includes the presence of intertextual and cultural information within the film's content and narrative and stylistic elements, presented through a combination of dialogue, mise-en-scène, cinematography, editing, and sound. Further, the film's country of origin, the intended cultural background of the audience, the performer's cultural background, the film's geographical settings, and film genre were all considered during the material selection process. For instance, SS and DB were chosen as they both fit within the comedy film genre. The comedy genre is a useful genre for the presentation of indirect dialogue and visual communication as it often relays information through "double entendre and innuendo" (Desilla, 2012, p. 40). Finally, to make stronger intergroup and intragroup comparisons between participants' interpretations of each

film, an attempt was made to include Chinese and U.S. films with similar storylines (an underdog, sports competition story).

Concerning the film's country of origin, it should be noted that the current global film production, distribution, and exhibition system is internationally porous. Ezra and Rowden (2006) have explained that transnational elements were adopted by much of the global film industry due to the growing "permeability of national borders" and "the physical or virtual mobility of those who cross them" (p. 5). Recognizing the inevitability of transnational films and audiences, the criteria I use to define a Chinese film and a U.S. film include the production being predominantly supported by a local national production company, the intended audience being predominantly a local national audience, and the actors and crew members being mainly from the source nationality.

#### 3.3 Data Collection

There were three stages for the collection of data for my investigation of intercultural film comprehension: a film analysis, an online film reception study (questionnaire and interviews), and a comprehension test.

# 3.3.1 Film Reception Study

To investigate how L2/FL spectators use cultural and narrative cues to interpret intercultural films (with English audio), the investigation involved an online reception study using Qualtrics, "an Application Service Provider (ASP) and a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) platform for creating and distributing online surveys and related research services" (Qualtrics, 2014). The online questionnaire lasted approximately twenty-five-minutes (see Appendix C) and included useful responses from thirty-nine domestic Canadian students and seventy-five international Chinese students. Additionally, interviews were conducted with five domestic Canadian students and seven international Chinese students. The researcher directed the interview sessions virtually using Zoom (2019), a video communications

software program that allowed for real-time questions and discussion between the researcher and participants.

The questionnaire consisted of eight selected sequences from SS and DB of approximately two to five minutes in length. The questionnaire included an information and consent form, general questions about viewing habits and educational background, four Chinese film clips (SS) and comprehension questions related to the clips. Additionally, the questionnaire included four U.S. film clips (DB) and comprehension questions related to the clips. Prior to each clip viewing, the participants read a brief introduction to the scene they were about to watch and were able to take time to preview the relevant questions. This was followed by the film clip viewing. After the film clip was played, participants responded to five open-ended questions and one multiple choice question regarding the previous clip before moving on to the next clip. The questions and answers were provided in English and Mandarin Chinese. For any responses provided in Mandarin Chinese, they were back translated for analysis. Due to the open-ended questions, participants are not guided to answer in a particular way. A box below each question is provided to give ample room for participant responses.

#### 3.3.2 Questionnaire

This section describes the considerations that have gone into designing an open-ended questionnaire which aims to investigate the extent to which and how L1 and L2/FL spectators use intertextual and cultural information as well as narrative and stylistic cues to interpret intercultural films.

# 3.3.2.1 Wording

To heighten the participant's ease in completing the questionnaire and their ability to provide relevant answers, non-jargon terms were used whenever possible (Burczynska, 2018). For example, "mise-en-scène" was be replaced with the word "staging" or "visuals within the film frame". Additionally, to heighten completion rates, participants' attention, and apt

answers, questions were tested for responses and then rephrased (Saldanha & O'Brien, 2013). The questionnaire language was translated, from English to Chinese, so that it tested film comprehension and not reading comprehension.

## 3.3.2.2 Length

In this section, the length of each question, as well as the length of the questionnaire are considered. The questions in the questionnaire were written as concisely as possible to avoid complex and easily misunderstood wording (Adams & Cox, 2008). The questionnaire was kept as short as possible to avoid participant fatigue (Saldanha & O'Brien, 2013). To this end, the questionnaire included seven questions after each relevant film clip. This number of questions is intended to garner enough information to answer my research questions while not overwhelming participants with large tasks after each film clip (Saldanha & O'Brien, 2013).

# 3.3.2.3 Type of Questions

Types of questions can include simple or complex factual questions (multiple-choice), opinion questions (that require deeper concentration), and open-ended questions (that require still deeper concentration) (Adams & Cox, 2008). To answer the research questions, I used open-ended questions to obtain rich, detailed data from participants. Open-ended questions allowed participants to describe their reasons and provide justifications for their answers (Saldanha & O'Brien, 2013). Furthermore, open-ended questions allowed participants to provide responses that may not have been anticipated by this researcher. Finally, a small number of simple and complex factual questions were included to obtain data on participants' viewing habits and education background and to supply a multiple-choice list of narrative and stylistic devices for participant reference.

#### 3.3.2.4 Structure

The questionnaire begins with the shorter factual questions (prior to watching the film clips) and the open-ended, deeper concentration questions follow (see Appendix E). After each 2 – 5-minute clip, the participants answered seven open-ended questions. The first two questions examined participant comprehension. The third question examined the participant's reasons for their interpretation in relation to stylistic devices. Finally, the last two questions aimed to gain insight into the participants' interpretation in relation to intertextual and cultural information present in the clip.

#### 3.3.3 Interviews

This section describes the design process for the interview phase of the film reception study. This portion of the study aimed to provide a more detailed examination of international Chinese and domestic Canadian students' interpretations of two film sequences from the survey, one from the Chinese film and one from the U.S. film (both using English audio).

# 3.3.3.1 Structure and Wording

The interviews were semi-structured to allow for different question wording and follow up questions for two reasons. First, this gave both the Chinese and Canadian participants the chance to respond in their own unique way (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Second, because the Chinese participants were using English, their L2/FL, I made sure to repeat myself or rephrase questions if the participant had any confusion around the question vocabulary or content. As all the interviews were done through Western Zoom, each question was presented on a shared screen and on a PowerPoint slide, but I elaborated, changed the wording, or skipped words within the question if I felt it was necessary.

## 3.3.3.2 Length

The questions in the interviews were written as succinctly and clearly as possible to prevent misinterpretation from wording (Adams & Cox, 2008). The interviews were kept as short as possible to avoid participant fatigue (Saldanha & O'Brien, 2013). The interview questions included three sections. Section A asked questions that referenced the participant's English language education background and audio-visual viewing habits. Section B included questions about cultural elements within the Chinese and U.S. film texts. Section C asked questions related to intertextual elements in the Chinese and U.S. film texts.

#### 3.4 Trustworthiness

Triangulation was used as an essential method for ensuring the trustworthiness of my study. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) have explained triangulation as "the use of multiple methods, multiple sources of data, multiple investigators, or multiple theories to confirm emerging findings" (p. 245). Triangulation is a methodological strategy that increases the chances that a study's findings are credible and are not (or are not perceived) as an investigator's biased perspective (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). My study employed triangulation through the incorporation of three methods of data collection: a narrative film analysis, an online film reception study (questionnaire and interviews), and a listening comprehension assessment. This methodological strategy was used to increase the credibility of this study. For instance, what a participant says in a follow-up interview can be used to check the validity of the film text analysis or the responses from the film reception questionnaire. Equally, the questionnaire responses can be used to cross-check data from the interviews which were conducted at different times and in different contexts. Therefore, triangulation was used to increase the credibility of my research by combatting the concern that the findings come from a single method or source (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As my study is less interested in what they learned and more interested in how they make meaning, the criteria for trustworthiness is different than in a quantitative study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). While I

was not interested in finding an objective truth, my findings can, nonetheless, be understood as credible using the criteria described above.

To further support the credibility of this research, critical self-reflection is necessary to recognize my own assumptions, perceptions, and biases in relation to my theoretical worldview and relationship with the topic of this study. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) have explained that "in qualitative research in which the researcher is the primary instrument of data collection, subjectivity and interaction are assumed" (p. 147). As I explained in the researcher position statement in the introduction, I came to this study with curiosity about and enjoyment of film from an academic and professional standpoint. Namely, I see film as a beneficial educational resource in the language classroom. Moreover, I arrived at this study from a sociocultural theoretical perspective. It is important to identify and keep watch on my personal interests and worldview as a researcher. Instead of getting rid of bias (or subjectivity), it can be used ethically and effectively to make a distinctive contribution to applied research into using film for language learning (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

# 3.5 Analysis

The data collected from the participants' descriptive answers to the open-ended questionnaire and interview questions were analyzed to answer my research questions. I used the qualitative data provided by the participants during the data collection process to gain a deep and detailed understanding of the viewers' individual interpretations and justifications for understanding the films SS and DB. The study also aimed to investigate the extent to which viewers comprehend the English dialogue and the intended meaning of the sequences in the Chinese and English films. To this end, I evaluated their responses using a scale ranging from "no comprehension" to "in-depth comprehension" (see Appendix F).

## 3.5.1 Theoretical Framework for Analysis

From a social theory perspective, L2/FL students use cinematic devices and their prior knowledge as a mediating resource to scaffold their development of narrative comprehension through their background knowledge of other texts and their cultural knowledge as forms of self-scaffolding and film's presentation of narrative information as multimodal comprehensible inputs (Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). Films that present culturally foreign content can negatively influence the viewer's ability to mediate film comprehension using their cultural background knowledge (Desilla, 2014). However, films that use culturally familiar semiotic content and narrative and stylistic conventions may support text comprehension and language development for L2/FL viewers if educators recognize and harness students' knowledge of intertextual and cultural references (Ashton, 2005; Duff, 2002; Marsh & Millard, 2000).

From a constructivist film theory perspective (Bordwell, 1985), film spectators interact with cinematic cueing devices, such as narrative and stylistic devices and fill in narrative gaps using schemata derived from their sociocultural backgrounds to dynamically construct the film's narrative. In relation to this study, I examined how L2/FL schemata act as a meaning-making scaffold to support narrative interpretations and comprehension.

My research study examined the use of viewers' intertextual and cultural background knowledge to arrive at intended and unintended meanings within the context of L2/FL reception practices. My qualitative study allowed room for creative, subject, and surprising interpretations that resulted during film reception and aims to highlight the importance of understanding the influence of viewers' culturally bound background knowledge and the film's formal and semiotic relay of information on L2/FL film comprehension. With this knowledge teachers can provide intercultural media literacy lessons that harness their L2/FL students' funds of knowledge (Moll et al., 2009a) and the resources students activate by engaging with narrative films for language learning.

## 3.5.2 Method of Analysis

In order to answer my research questions, I made use of the constant comparative method of analysis (Glaser & Strauss, 1970). While this form of analysis is used to develop grounded theory, my research did not result in the creation of a new theory. Nonetheless, I used this method to make sense of the data inductively and comparatively.

#### 3.5.2.1 Film Comprehension Assessment

To gain insights into the participants' use of intertextual and cultural information and narrative and stylistic cues to interpret SS and DB, an audio-visual comprehension assessment revealed inter and intragroup similarities and differences. The comprehension assessment also helped establish if this researcher's film analysis, which provided a prediction of the film's intended meanings through a shot-by-shot analysis, matched with the participants' understanding of the films.

I have used The Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR, 2001) (Council of Europe, 2001) and the Companion Volume with New Descriptors (2018) to establish assessment terminology and as a guide for establishing the criteria to measure participants' proficiency in overall film comprehension. The CEFR (Council of Europe, 2001) recognizes the learner as an active meaning maker who co-constructs meaning within real world situations. The CEFR identifies audio-visual comprehension as the ability to activate schemata, set up expectations, identify cues, infer from them, hypothesis test, match cues to schemata, and revise hypotheses (p.72). This perspective for audio-visual comprehension is compatible with both the sociocultural theory for second language acquisition (Lantolf, 2011) and the constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension (Bordwell, 1985) that I used as a theoretical framework for this study.

The CEFR companion volume has a dedicated category for audio-visual reception which includes "live and recorded video materials plus, at higher levels, film" (Council of Europe,

2018, p. 66). The 'higher levels' includes level B2 which is the English proficiency level international students are required to obtain for acceptance into a Canadian university (Settlement.Org, 2020). Level B2 audio-visual reception activities describe the viewers' ability to "understand...the majority of films in the standard form of the language" (Council of Europe, 2018, p. 66). While this scale can be assumed to be achievable by the L2/FL participants of this study, the use of intertextual and cultural information across the intercultural films may provide additional support or challenge and is the focus of this study's comprehension assessment.

#### 3.5.2.2 Questionnaire and Interview Analysis

This section explains the methods for analyzing the participants' justifications for their understanding of each film sequence.

## 3.5.2.2.1 Category Construction

Categories have been defined by Merriam and Tisdell (2016) as a "theme, a pattern, a finding, or an answer to a research questions" (p. 204). In order to create categories from the questionnaire, I began a process of open coding (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). First, any Chinese language responses in the questionnaire were translated into English. Then, I completed an initial read over of participant responses from the questionnaire. While I read the responses, I began open coding. This descriptive coding included creating general comments or notes related to questionnaire responses that seemed interesting, unique, or applicable to the purpose of this study (i.e., to understand the mediating relationship between intercultural cinematic narrative systems and viewers' culturally situated comprehension processes) or to my theoretical lens (i.e., SCT and a constructivist film comprehension theory). This stage of coding consisted of words I found interesting from a particular response, a concept connected to my theoretical framework, or a larger phrase, sentence, or paragraph of insights (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Once I read over all responses to the L2/FL group's questionnaire and developed a large number of open codes, I re-read my notes and initial codes in order to begin a process of analytical coding (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Analytical coding involves grouping the open coded notes into smaller groupings of less specific, more general, and abstracted categories or themes. This stage of coding involves more interpretation and contemplation of the data (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). For instance, I began to recognize certain repeated words, concepts, and/or insights that formed main themes in my findings. After analytical coding, I generated a list of the abstracted categories or themes that relate to my research purpose, questions, and theories.

Once I open coded and analytically coded the L2/FL group's questionnaire, I began the same process with the L1 group's questionnaire. During this stage of analysis, I reflected on the L2/FL categories and compared them with the L1 responses. After, I completed a list of categories for both the L2/FL and L1 responses, I used the constant comparative methods to examine them for any recurring patterns. Using these patterns, I created another further abstracted, comprehensive combination of categories or themes that helped answer my research questions.

Next, I went back over the initial smaller categories and tested their support for the broader categories. From here, I continuously used the constant comparative method (Glaser & Strauss, 1970) and further analytical coding to develop fewer more comprehensive codes and renamed themes to "more precisely reflect what is in the data" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This process continued until I reached saturation, "the point at which you realize no new information, insights, or understandings are forthcoming" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). After saturation, I moved to a more deductive process of comparing my categories to theoretical principles and previous studies to see whether they supported my findings. These themes were filed in NVivo, labeled with the name of each theme. By completing this step, I was able to return to the original data to examine information as necessary.

Once I opened and analytically coded the questionnaire responses, I completed the same process with the interview responses. To complete this stage of analysis, I transcribed each Western Zoom interview in NVivo directly after completing it. As I transcribed the interviews and read back over their responses, I began open coding in NVivo and a Word document on Western OneDrive. I made general comments or notes related to the interview responses that seemed noteworthy, unique, or relevant to the purpose of this study or to my theoretical framework (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). During this process, I also reflected on connections or deviations in relation to the questionnaire responses. Once I had a large group of codes and notes, I went back over them and began to see if there were any recurring or overlapping patterns. I reflected on the Chinese group categories and compared them with the Canadian questionnaire responses. After, I completed a list of categories for both group's responses, I used the constant comparative methods to examine them for any recurring patterns in both the interview and questionnaire responses. Using these patterns, I created another further abstracted, comprehensive combination of categories or themes that helped answer my research questions.

# 3.5.2.2.2 Category Naming

The names used to describe the findings of this study depict explicit and clear answers to my research questions. This is done in several ways: devising names myself, using the words of the participants, and using terms from the literature on my topic (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The category names are compatible with the purpose and theoretical framework of my study, however; emergent categories are also presented in the findings. Within the category names, all the data is accounted for, and the categories are mutually exclusive. Additionally, category names are sensitizing (i.e., they capture the nature of the data as much as possible). Finally, the categories are conceptually congruent, meaning that "the same level of abstraction should characterize all categories at the same level" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 213).

## 3.5.2.3 Film Analysis

Prior to conducting the reception study, I completed an analysis of the film's narrative structures, adapted from Bordwell's (1985) constructivist theory of film narration and Elsaesser and Buckland's (2002) sample analysis method. Elsaesser and Buckland have identified a constructivist film theory of narration as particularly well suited for an examination of film comprehension processes. A constructivist analysis of film narration aims to understand the process of film comprehension as well as break downs in comprehension and also considers the function of film elements like narrative structures and stylistic techniques and is therefore a useful tool for the examination of L2/FL audience's comprehension of intercultural films.

The film analysis began by determining an overall sense of the films' narrative and stylistic patterns through a segmentation of the films (Bordwell et al., 2016) (see Appendix H). A film segmentation is "a written outline of the film that breaks it into its major and minor parts, with parts marked by consecutive numbers or letters" (Bordwell et al., 2016). A film segmentation is a useful way to get an overall sense of how the film is structured and to highlight the salient structural patterns that have been employed. It is important to examine the film's patterns as they create the form of the film and help shape the participant's film viewing experience.

After segmenting the film for salient patterns of narrative form and stylistic techniques, I selected the excerpts from SS and DB for the film reception portion of the study. In order to develop a methodology for selecting excerpts that feature intertextual and cultural cues, I provide the following definition of intertextuality and cultural information in film. Desilla (2012) has described intertextuality in film as the understanding of a single film through the knowledge of another film or several films (and/or television, music, books, etc....). Intertextual information can be relayed to the audience through semiotic devices arranged by the filmmakers, the audience's schemata of other films, and/or the audience's familiarity with

narrative and stylistic conventions within other films. Cultural information in film can be defined as culturally specific knowledge, presented through the film's content and narrative and stylistic systems and mediated by the audience's personal experiences within specific cultural contexts (Desilla, 2012). Bordwell et al. (2016) have explained the role of cultural and intertextual information in building viewer expectations stating that film comprehension comes "from both our experience of the world generally (people talk: they don't chirp) and our experience of film and other media" (p. 306). Film sequences from SS and DB were analyzed for instances of stylistic techniques and narrative conventions in order to select scenes that utilize multiple medium-specific devices (more than two).

Finally, a shot-by-shot analysis of the selected sequences provided a detailed audio-visual transcription of the narrative and stylistic elements present (see Appendix I) in SS and DB. The shot-by shot analysis is adapted from Bordwell (1985) as well as audio-visual translation studies (see Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2014). The shot-by-shot analysis transcribed subject matter and framing, movement within the frame, cinematography, sound, editing, and dialogue. For the context of this study (including time and space limitations), one shot was defined as any time there is a transition through editing. Column 1 of the shot-by-shot table displays the shot number in each sequence. Column 2 specifies the time progression of the corresponding frame to the second. Column 3 displays the visual image of the shot. Colum 4 gives a short description of the shot. Columns 5 – 10 display the narrative and/or stylistic devices present in the sequence that may relate to the construal of meaning by the viewer.

# 3.6 Summary

In this chapter I justified how the theoretical foundations for my research stemming from an interpretive and social constructivist model informed my research methodology and subsequent methods to collect data. Next, I presented the rationale for choosing the study's participants and materials and my methods of data collection. I presented the content of my questionnaire and the structure of the interviews. Further, I explained how the research

methods contributed to the trustworthiness of my data and my process for analyzing the data. In the following chapter, I present the results of my qualitative data analysis, related to my research questions.

# Chapter 4

# 4 Findings

Research has shown that popular culture in the form of intertextual references often plays a role in classroom discussions and that engaging with popular multimodal texts like video games and television programs requires complex literacy skills to analyze their semiotic content (Howard & Roberts, 2002; McVicker, 2007). Additionally, studies have found that students' intertextual knowledge can act as a learning scaffold (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Students have a better chance of using their cultural and intertextual knowledge as a type of learning scaffold when instructors have a clear understanding of how their students engage with popular cultural texts like film (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). It has also been argued that learners acquire language more effectively when they read or hear enough understandable messages (Krashen, 1985). This chapter presents an analysis of survey data from 75 international Chinese and 39 domestic Canadian students and interviews from seven international Chinese and five domestic Canadian students to highlight the role of intercultural films and audiences' prior knowledge as resources for scaffolding and providing comprehensible input that supports film comprehension.

Findings related to my research questions address international and domestic university students' intercultural film interpretation activities and the role of the film audiences' intertextual and cultural knowledge as a form of self-scaffolding their interpretations and comprehension of the films. Additionally, findings highlight how film's narrative and stylistic structures function as multiple modes of comprehensible input and act as another layer of scaffolding film comprehension activities for the intercultural films even when participants had fewer intertextual and cultural references to draw on.

Chapter 4 includes three sections within this project used to answer the research questions. Section 4.1 of this chapter analyzes the narrative and stylistic structures present in the eight

movie clips from Shaolin Soccer (Thurber, 2004) (SS) and Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Chow, 2001) (DB) and describes the way meaning is relayed to the audience through comprehensible inputs including movement in the shot, sound, editing, cinematography, and subject matter/framing. A shot-by-shot analysis of the film clips demonstrates how the films' formal narrative structures as well as the medium-specific stylistic techniques incorporate culturally specific film conventions. The remaining plot segmentation and shot-by-shot analysis of each sequence is included in Appendix H and I.

Section 4.2 presents the findings of an open-ended questionnaire that was used to understand how the international Chinese audience (75) and domestic Canadian audience (39) interpreted the 8 intercultural movie clips using intertextual and cultural information as well as the films' narrative and stylistic cues to scaffold their understanding. The analysis of the questionnaire included an intercultural film comprehension assessment to see whether participants understood the intended meaning of the film clips (retrieved from the researcher's film analysis and from media descriptions of the filmmakers' intended meaning). However, as this is a qualitative study, more focus was given to the analysis of the open-ended responses of the participants as they described their process of making meaning while watching a Chinese and a U.S. movie (both using English audio).

Section 4.3 describes the findings from 12 (5 Canadian, 7 Chinese) interviews as participants responded to questions related to their use of prior intertextual and cultural knowledge and the films' narrative and stylistic structures to interpret a clip from SS and DB, respectively.

Section 4.4 combines the analysis from the first three sections to provide some overriding themes addressing Chinese and Canadian university students' use of intertextual and cultural knowledge and narrative, and stylistic cues to scaffold their understanding of the film texts. The strength of this study rests in the qualitative insights; however, some quantitative data is included to make comparisons between the comprehension activities of the two film

audiences, and to describe the intertextual, cultural, narrative, and stylistic resources identified as useful for retrieval of meaning.

While this is a qualitative study, some quantitative data is included to explain the amount and types of intertextual, cultural, narrative, and stylistic devices participants used when describing their understanding of the film clips.

# 4.1 Film Analysis

Prior literature has shown that Hollywood film conventions have historically made style subservient to story clarity (Bordwell, Thompson, et al., 1985). Alternatively, Hong Kong films have traditionally made room for stylistic elements that temporarily interrupt story progression and narrative clarity to focus more heavily on engaging the audience emotionally and/or through spectacle (Bordwell, 2011). Using a plot segmentation and shot-by-shot analysis from SS and DB, this section provides a discussion and comparison of the salient narrative structures and stylistic techniques in the eight film clips. This film analysis found that while both films do not adhere exclusively to just one cinematic narrative tradition, national film conventions were reflected in the formal structures within SS and DB. In the findings from an analysis of the Chinese and Canadian audiences' interpretations of both a U.S. and Chinese film, participants did recognize differences in the film structures.

#### 4.1.1 Narrative Structures in the Chinese and U.S. Film Texts

The first section describes the contribution of the filmmakers' implementation of narrative structures for creating a cinematic story. The salient narrative structures of both films are summarized in table 1, below.

Table 2 Narrative Structures in SS and DB

Narrative Structures	SS	DB

Exposition	Indirect (visual)	Direct (dialogue)
		Characters function to
		move story
		forward/clarify
		narrative events
Spectacle vs Narrative	Spectacular, sensorial	Spectacle subservient
	•	•
	bursts interrupt narrative	to narrative
	progression. Humor	progression. Humor is
	interrupts narrative	subservient to
	progression	narrative clarity and
		progression
Cause and Continuity	episodic (fewer continuity	continuous (strong
	links between shots)	links between shots)

### 4.1.1.1 Exposition

In Dodgeball, character dialogue was used to provide much of the narrative exposition. At times the dialogue was so explicitly explanatory that characters directly addressed the audience to explain elements within the film. For instance, in DB-S1, Patches (the Average Joe's dodgeball coach) explains the rules of Dodgeball to a young schoolboy named Timmy. However, rather than look at Timmy while speaking, Patches often looks directly into the camera in a parodic imitation of the stylistic conventions associated with U.S. classroom educational films (see DB-S1, shots 4 and 8). In doing this, Patches presents expository details to audience members not familiar with dodgeball about the rules and how the game

should be understood within the logic of the film. Additionally, in DB-S2 Cotton (one of the sporting event announcers) describes a blow-by-blow of the action on screen. While Cotton is a character in the story, his expository role is so pronounced that it takes on features of a noncharacter narrator (Bordwell et al., 2008) whose representational function is to provide story information to the viewer.

While Cotton's character also provides a sense of realism in relation to sports announcers at televised sporting events his filmic function is to clarify the events of the dodgeball tournament, a fictional professional sports competition, to the viewer. Even when Cotton is not on screen, he still narrates the action, shaping and guiding the viewers' construction of the story (see DB S2, shot 1-3). Cotton's function as the film's narrator is again found in DB-S3. The audience can hear Cotton's bodiless voice describe verbally the visual events playing out on screen. While the camera pans across the judges table to the final judge, Chuck Norris, who gives a thumbs up of approval to the Average Joe team, Cotton is heard stating, "Their fate hangs on the thumb of our final judge. Thumbs up!" These examples showcase the prominence of story clarity, as it directs the audiences' experience of the excitement and spectacle of the visual/auditory action, and how the character's function is to provide that narrative clarity to the viewer.

# 4.1.1.2 Spectacle vs. Narrative

In contrast, Shaolin Soccer offers fewer instances of direct narrative exposition in favour of shorter, episodic moments of stylistic spectacle and/or comedic scenarios that do not require narrative clarity to impact the viewer. While the lead character, Sing, does provide narrative exposition in the first scene of SS (Sing explains to Fung – and the audience - how kung fu will be used within the logic of the film), the other three scenes do not include explicit expository dialogue. In SS-S3, the salient narrative/stylistic feature is the sound effects. For instance, Sing's cry turns into an exaggerated sound effect of a lion's roar and the visual effects of slow motion and a wire work stunt that allows Sing to fly through the air as he

kicks and slams a soccer ball towards the opposing team's captain providing the audience with a sense of satisfied excitement and energy. In SS-S2, instead of including narrative exposition about Sing's use of kung fu to play soccer and/or defeat his enemies (compare this with the character's dialogue-heavy direct address to the camera in DB-S1), a young street fighter cries out and yelps in exaggerated fashion as he moves about awkwardly in an attempt at performing the praying mantis kung fu style. While the young street fighter's ridiculous sounds and farcical kung fu moves may serve to contrast with and highlight the kung fu prowess of the protagonist, the scene is mainly inserted to provide a moment of humour, as Sing's kung fu abilities have already been established by his defeat of the street gang moments before. Both SS-S2 and S3 focus more on sound-effects rather than dialogue as characters use their voices to make entertaining and exaggerated noises that add to the comedic effects and/or spectacular action. While the audience learns important information about Sing's formidable kung-fu skills in both SS-S2 and S3, the absurdity and/or the emotional excitement relayed through the exaggerated sound effects are the main focus (other film elements that help create a sensorial experience in these scenes include the kung fu movements, fast-paced editing, and character's facial expressions). In this sense, the character's role is less explicitly about guiding the audience through the presentation of coherent story information at the expense of the stylistic elements and more about engaging the audience emotionally through spectacular visual and auditory cues that are meant to provoke excitement, awe, or laughter from the audience.

# 4.1.1.3 Cause and Continuity

In Dodgeball, shots are tightly linked causally (one shot is directly connected to the previous shot). Shots are also tightly linked through time and space to maintain temporal and spatial clarity and cohesion so that the audience always knows where they are within space, time and from one story event to the next. For example, DB-S1 (see Appendix I) uses matches on action, sound, and reaction shots so that the audience is never confused about who Patches is looking at/talking to, allowing the viewer to focus on his description of dodgeball. While

many shots in Shaolin Soccer are linked causally, temporally, and spatially, the Hong Kong film does not adhere as strictly to these conventions of continuity in order to allow stylistic elements to claim more of the audience's attention. For example, in SS-S1, Sing explains to Fung the importance of kung-fu for everyday life, but instead of showing his conversation with Fung in conventional shot/reverse-shot sequence the scene is cut from modern day downtown Hong Kong to a rural, mountainous region with a traditional temple (providing less spatial continuity). The audience then sees an old, bearded monk, wearing traditional robes, jump and flip through the air to avoid slipping on banana peels that are lying in front of him on a dirt path. While this stylistic choice functions as an analogy and a visual cue for Sing's argument that kung fu can be helpful for many everyday problems, the scene is perhaps even more focused on setting up the comedic juxtaposition between a somber, wizened, and masterful Shaolin monk and his need to bounce over dozens of banana peels that someone has left on the ground in front of him. The scene also highlights and takes its time to represent the incredible kung fu skills that the monk is forced to demonstrate. In this scene, the filmmaker chooses to include additional visual information, a potentially confusing narrative interruption that is overlayed on top of Sing's expository dialogue. While it is possible viewers may be temporarily forced to readjust their expectations to make sense of the spatial, temporal, and causal intrusion into the film's dominant narrative, the filmmaker makes a choice to centralize spectacular martial artistry, flashy camera work, and comedic style over guaranteed coherence. The example above shows how stylistic elements are allowed to supersede narrative coherence in SS, subordinating story clarity for sensorial bursts. The following section explores aspects of SS and DBs stylistic choices.

# 4.1.2 Stylistic Structures in the Chinese and U.S. Film Texts

Both SS and DB are part of the sports comedy sub-genre and present a story of underdogs persevering against improbable odds. However, the filmmakers have each presented their story information using cinematic styles that can be classified within national film traditions from Hong Kong and the United States, respectively (Bordwell, 2011; Bordwell, Staiger, et

al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000; Neale, 2000). Both films' cinematic techniques are summarized in table 2, below.

Table 3 Stylistic Structures in SS and DB

Stylistic Structures	SS	DB
Movement in the shot	frenetic, dominates shot	subservient to dialogue
Sound	soundtrack creates	soundtrack clarifies
	emotional effects	narrative information
Editing	sacrifices coherence for	tight adherence to
	spectacle (ex: crosses axis	continuity editing
	of action)	
Cinematography	camera follows the action	static camera (allows
		characters/dialogue to
		take focus).
Subject matter/framing	mise-en-scène used to	mise-en-scène used to
	emphasize absurdity,	set up conflict/contrast
	humor	

# 4.1.2.1 Movement in the Shot

Because DB relies on and emphasizes character dialogue to clarify story events, there is much less movement within the frame of each shot than in SS. For example, in DB-S1 as Patches and Timmy discuss the rules of Dodgeball, there is almost no movement within the frame. In DB-S3, while it feels like there is a fair amount of movement as the camera cuts between several character reaction shots, within the individual shots the characters move

only very slightly to allow the audience to focus on the characters' expressions. Because of this lack of movement within the shots, we can pay better attention to the sports announcer who narrates over top of each shot. The narrator provides story information to the sports audience within the film and to the viewer watching the film. In the case of this scene, the narrator states that the Average Joe's team will be able to continue to play in the dodgeball tournament.

In contrast SS makes use of almost constant object/character movement within each frame. For instance, in SS-S1 the monk slips, jumps, flips, and soars, never stopping as he moves across five consecutive shots. In SS-S3 as the opposition team's captain looks towards the camera, his face makes large movements in exaggerated and comedic shock. The scene then cuts to Sing as he runs aggressively towards the camera with his arms swinging wildly as he vaults into the air. His mouth also stretches into an exaggerated howl as he kicks his leg into the soccer ball and the ball shoots towards the camera. In the next shot, the soccer ball lands in Team Puma's leader's stomach and the ball continues to spin as he flies towards the background of the shot, halfway across the field, and then falls into the goalie. The frenetic movement within each shot creates a sense of astonishment, action and fervent satisfaction as Sing lands his outrageously powerful goal directly through his competitor.

#### 4.1.2.2 Sound

In DB, sound is predominantly used to clarify the action on screen. For instance, in DB-S3 the sound of the audience as they break out cheering is combined with a swelling musical soundtrack and the visual cue of Chuck Norris pushing a thumbs up gesture into the air, expressing his desire to let the Average Joe team continue playing in the dodgeball tournament. These sound cues are paired with the sports announcer's narration of the visuals the audience is watching and help clarify how we as the audience should feel about Chuck Norris' choice. In contrast, there are no soccer audience reaction sounds in SS-S3 and S4. The sound in the film is again less about guiding the audiences' clear understanding of the

narrative story and more about creating a comical, awe inspiring, cathartic, or exhilarating feeling in the audience. In SS-S2 the soundtrack is used to create comedic contrasts between the high tension of an action sequence and everyday life. At the beginning of the sequence, the first three shots are taken up with the shrill, exaggerated, and silly sounding cries of the young kung fu street fighter who is performing his unskilled kung fu moves. These visual and aural elements are contrasted with the tense high pitched percussive soundtrack, reminiscent of action sequences in other films. When Sing and the boy start to talk, the soundtrack is replaced with the mundane sounds of a city suburb and the young man rustling in his pants for coins to comedically contrast the tension of an action sequence and the banality of asking to borrow some money. This interaction can be understood as mo lei tau humour or a type of humour made popular in Hong Kong comedy films where two incongruous elements are placed together (i.e. kung fu fighting and asking someone for change) (*Mo Lei Tau*, 2010).

### 4.1.2.3 Cinematography

In DB there is very little camera movement between shots. Close-up shots dominate to emphasize character presentation of narrative exposition. For example, DB-S1 uses a static camera and close-up and straight on angles of both Patches and Timmy as they discuss the rules of Dodgeball. In SS, the cinematography is less focused on the dialogue and exposition and more on the over-the-top, comedic, and awe-inspiring facial expressions, gestures, and kung-fu actions of the characters. For example, in SS-S1 and S3, the camera moves to follow the characters as they perform exaggerated feats of martial arts. Because of the emphasis on action, the shots are a mix of both close-ups, used predominantly to focus on dialogue, and longer shots that represent the body within an action sequence.

# 4.1.2.4 Framing and Subject Matter (Mise-en-Scène)

Because of the choice to predominantly use close-ups, the characters' face and facial expressions become the focus of audience attention in the DB sequences. Character

costumes in the dodgeball tournament also function to support our understanding of the conflict between teams by presenting opponents in contrasting colours. For instance, the Average Joe team has a bright orange uniform while the antagonists (the Purple Cobras) wear dark purple. Similarly, the setting cues the audience to see the Average Joe's team as underdogs that are in a tournament that places them out of their element. For instance, the tournament stadium is set in a dark, expansive space with dark purple accents that echo the antagonist's uniforms and emphasizes the fish out of water situation the Average Joe team is in (see DB-S2). Colour is also used in DB-S1 as the entire sequence is shot in black and white cuing the audience to understand they are watching a film-within-a-film.

In SS, the framing includes close-ups but also makes use of full body shots to highlight exaggerated facial expressions, on the one hand, but equally (or perhaps more prevalently) showcases the kung fu action. The Shaolin soccer team's costumes are less about contrasting with the opposing team or their surroundings and rather about guiding the audience to see the Shaolin team as more authentic martial artists in relation to the antagonists (who also perform kung fu feats). The visual choice of slightly overweight, aging, smoking, and nerdy looking characters who make up the hero Shaolin soccer team functions to create an absurd and comical juxtaposition between conventional concepts of soccer players or kung fu masters in conventional film or cultural images.

The setting in SS is mainly outdoors and creates a sense of incongruity between traditionally hyperreal martial arts films and the ordinariness of a modern city like Hong Kong. We see this drastic contrast in SS-S1 when the audience is transported from downtown Hong Kong, where Sing and Fung are talking amidst a crush of busy pedestrians, to a mountainous, deserted, rural area with an old Shaolin monk wearing traditional robes and walking along a dusty path with an ancient temple visible in the background. Contrasted with DB which is set entirely indoors in a sports stadium meant to connote the professional environment the underdog team must perform within, SS completes all the soccer matches outdoors,

highlighting views of the city's high rises to comically contrast the film's cinematic wuxia kung fu techniques with a real looking modern-day Hong Kong. The examples above show how DBs mise-en-scène is used to set up the conflict between the underdog protagonists and the professional athletes they are competing against. In SS, the mise-en-scène emphasizes the improbability of kung fu in everyday life and the nonsensical comedy created from parodying kung fu and underdog sports films.

#### 4.1.3 Summary

This section examined the way in which narrative and stylistic techniques in SS and DB were used to relay story information to the audience. Both films were found to make use of national film conventions related to the U.S. and Hong Kong (Bordwell, 2011; Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000; Neale, 2000). Hong Kong cinema traditionally makes use of an episodic structure that allows for pauses in narrative progression that allow for spectacular, sensorial ruptures (Bordwell, 2011). In contrast, Classical Hollywood cinema conventionally makes almost all stylistic elements subservient to narrative clarity and progression (Bordwell, Staiger, & Thompson, 1985).

Section 4.1.1 presented the narrative structure of SS and DB. Exposition was relayed indirectly and through more visual cues in SS. In DB, exposition was more direct, often provided by story characters, and functioned predominantly to progress and clarify narrative events. In SS spectacular, sensorial, and purely comedic sequences at times interrupt narrative progression while in DB spectacle and/or comedic moments remain subservient to narrative progression and clarity. Finally, tight causal or continuity links between sequences or shots were used less in SS than in DB. For instance, SS cut across the axis of action at times to create a sense of action and excitement while DB adhered more strictly to continuity editing rules, emphasizing narrative clarity over sensorial effects. Section 4.1.2 described the stylistic techniques used to relay story information including movement in the shot, sound, editing, cinematography, and framing. These techniques were found to largely adhere to the

traditional styles related to the national cinematic modes from Hong Kong and Classical Hollywood.

#### 4.2 Questionnaire

This next section reports on the findings of the intercultural film comprehension questionnaire which was included in this study to determine how the participants made meaning from the film sequences and to what extent they described or made use of intertextual (other texts) or cultural references within the clips. Section 4.2.1 describes the findings from the intercultural film comprehension assessment. Section 4.2.2 presents and interprets the findings from the Chinese group questionnaire responses and section 4.2.3 considers the findings from the Canadian group responses to the questionnaire.

#### 4.2.1 Comprehension Assessment

Research has indicated that students' language development takes place through sociocultural activities that occur within family and community practices. This incidental instruction impacts classroom learning (Heath, 1983). In addition, prior literature has shown that students' background knowledge can be a resource for supporting students' classroom learning (Moll & Greenberg, 1990). This assessment of participants' retrieval of relevant story information was used in conjunction with a qualitative analysis of 114 participants' responses to a film reception questionnaire (75 CHN, 39 CAN) and 12 interviews (7 CHN, 5 CAN) to compare how participants interpreted SS and DB and whether intertextual and cultural knowledge was used to scaffold their understanding as well as how the narrative and stylistic cueing was used as multiple forms of comprehensible input. The comprehension assessment was used to measure to what extent the CHN and CAN groups retrieved meaning from two intercultural film texts, Chinese (SS) and American (DB) with English audio.

Participants received a score from 0 to 3 (see Appendix F for comprehension assessment criteria) to determine whether they understood the intended meaning and any unintended

meaning including whether they picked up on any intertextual and/or cultural information within the clip. This researcher interpreted the participants' overall comprehension to assign a score of 0-3. I used this study's film analysis as a basis for the intended meaning which drew on my own examination of the film clips and media interviews with the film's directors. Additionally, I drew on help from peers who looked at the scores to ensure another level of internal validity. It is important to note that this qualitative study used triangulation (multiple sources of data) to consider the research findings from a holistic perspective that covered data from many types of participants and within various contexts. In other words, the comprehension assessment scores were supported by other phenomenon including data from the Chinese and U.S. film analyses, the open-ended questionnaire responses, and the participant interviews to ensure the credibility of the findings. These multiple sources of data were used to compare and cross-check data collected at different times, in different places, and from different points of view including follow-up interviews with participants who had completed the film reception questionnaire (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

In the four clips from SS, the CHN and CAN group both received an overall mean score of 1.9. In the four clips from DB, the CHN group received an overall mean score of 1.6 while the CAN group received an overall mean score of 1.9 (see table 4). As anticipated the CHN group scored better for comprehension while watching the Chinese film but equally the CHN participants had little trouble understanding the overall intended meaning of the clips from the U.S. film. The CAN group had equal or higher scores than the CHN group across both films which could be attributed to the English language audio used in both films. The focus of the analysis of the comprehension scores was to describe the cases where comprehension broke down as well as to describe instances where there were unexpected or interesting interpretations.

Table 4 Comprehension Scores from SS and DB

Group	f	Mean (SS)	Mean (DB)
CHN	75	1.9	1.6
CAN	39	1.9	1.9

Overall, both groups were able to pick up on at least one of the intended meanings for each scene at least to a large extent with some confusion around certain culturally bound events that did not impact overall comprehension. For example, CAN participants scored slightly lower for SS-S2-Q1 (see table 5) with a mean score of 1.7 and CHN participants receiving a mean score of 1.8. The question stated, "In the scene Sing fights an angry mob of men using his kung fu soccer skills. After defeating the mob, Sing has a short discussion with a young fighter in blue pants. Sing asks the young fighter "Was that Praying Mantis style?" While 22 of the 30 CAN participants who responded to this question recognized that Sing was referring to a style of martial art or belittling the young man's fighting technique, a smaller number of viewers (7) displayed some confusion over Sing's remarks stating, "I'm not sure. Maybe it was very skilled or technical like how a praying mantis moves" (CAN8). In SS-S2-Q2 (see table 6) which asked why the conversation was included in the scene, out of the 30 CAN responses, 16 participants did not refer to the kung fu aspect of Sing's question but rather explained the reason for Sing's question as a genre convention or as narratively motivated stating it was used to "ground the scene after an intense fight" (CAN8) or for "comic relief" (CAN23). This meaning can be reached by accessing relevant textual narrative information or intertextual assumptions about other films (i.e., comedies) and so overall comprehension does not necessarily require culturally specific intertextual knowledge (i.e., other Chinese kung fu films).

Table 5 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in SS Scene 2 Q1

	f	Mean	Std.
			Deviation
CHN	37	1.8	0.6
CAN	30	1.7	0.6

Note: The question was presented as follows - Sing fights an angry mob of men using his kung fu soccer skills. After defeating the mob, Sing has a short discussion with a young fighter in blue pants. Sing asks the young fighter "Was that Praying Mantis style?" What does Sing mean by this?

Table 6 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in SS Scene 2 Q2

	f	Mean	Std.
			Deviation
CHN	33	1.9	0.4
CAN	30	1.8	0.6

Note: The question was presented as follows - Why do you think the conversation between the young fighter and Sing is included in this scene?

One of the lowest scores for the CHN participants was in DB-S3-Q1 where they received a mean score of 1.7 with the CAN participants receiving a mean score of 1.9 (see table 7). The question stated, "Average Joe's team is saved from forfeiting the dodgeball championship when the tournament committee votes to overturn the decision. After two committee members vote in Average Joe's favour, Peter says, "Thank you, Chuck Norris." Why does Peter single out only one of the committee members (Chuck Norris) that voted for him? As discussed above the CHN participants were able to retrieve overall comprehension of the scene by stating that "he is very grateful for the trust of this member, which encouraged him to persist to the end" (CHN31). Out of the 29 CHN respondents who answered this question, 22 noted Chuck Norris' vote as important to the Average Joes team's success stating, "Chuck is the last one to vote" (CHN10), "his vote is important" (CHN34), and "it's a decisive vote" (CHN22).

While none of the CHN participants picked up on the intertextual reference of Chuck Norris in a cameo appearance, they were able to use other textual information around narrative structures to understand the scene. For instance, in DB-S3-Q2 which asked, "Why do you think Peter thanking the committee member is included in this scene?" 11 of the 17 CHN participants for this question referred to the scene's relevance to story necessity stating that it made "the victory more exciting" (CH27) and "because this vote directly determines the champion is theirs" (CHN45). Additionally, CHN participants referred to the scene's relevance to character building explaining that "It shows Peter is a grateful person" (CAN49) and "it reflects the character traits that he knows how to be grateful" (CAN43). Alternatively, out of the 17 CAN participants who answered DB-S3-Q1, thirteen referred to Chuck Norris by name and stated his cameo appearance as the main reason for this sequence. For instance, CAN respondents explained Peter's reference to Chuck Norris because "it's a cameo from the real Chuck Norris" (CAN2) and "Chuck Norris is known as a very legendary person in Hollywood" (CAN5). One CAN participant explained both the narrative necessity and the intertextual cameo aspect for the Chuck Norris sequence in the following response, "I think

one reason is that he was the vote that counted the most towards them being able to proceed in the game. However, Chuck Norris is also a public figure, so he is portraying himself in this situation." (CAN33). One possible reason for the lower CHN scores could be that this question relied more heavily on intertextual knowledge about Chuck Norris as a Hollywood actor in order to understand why he was included in the scene and singled out by Peter's character.

Table 7 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in DB Scene 3 Q1

	f	Mean	Std. Deviation
CHN	17	1.7	0.6
CAN	17	1.9	0.4

Note: The question was presented as follows - Average Joe's team is saved from forfeiting the dodgeball championship when the tournament committee votes to overturn the decision. After 2 of the committee members votes in Average Joe's favour, Peter says, "Thank you, Chuck Norris." Why does Peter single out only one of the committee members (Chuck Norris) that voted for him?

Table 8 Comprehension Scores of CHN and CAN participants in DB Scene 3 Q2

	f	Mean	Std. Deviation
CHN	15	1.3	0.8
CAN	17	1.9	0.4

Note: The question was presented as follows - Why do you think Peter thanking the committee member, Chuck Norris, is included in this scene?

## 4.2.2 Chinese Intragroup Response Analysis

The previous section analyzed participants' comprehension scores. This section looks more deeply at trends found for how the CHN viewers explained their process for understanding the eight film sequences. After analyzing the CHN group's open-ended responses to the questionnaire several trends were found. First, by counting the Chinese group's words, it was found that they described using *dialogue* to interpret DB 63 times out of 248 responses (25%) and described using *character movement* 139 times out of 562 total responses (25%) to interpret the SS sequences (see Table 10 for specific figures). Second, participants used Chinese cultural and/or intertextual examples to understand the film sequences. For instance, in SS-S1-Q4, out of the 36 CHN participants who provided an intertextual reference, 28 gave Chinese intertextual or cultural references and eight gave U.S. references when describing the film clip. Third, when describing their understanding of the clips, the CHN respondents provided detailed responses using their cultural and intertextual references when describing their interpretations of the Chinese text, SS. Finally, participants described an appreciation for their cultural background knowledge in relation to understanding the Chinese text, SS, and identified their cultural background as a hindrance when engaging with DB.

Table 9 Questionnaire Themes (CHN)

Film Comprehension Themes	Description
Stylistic Devices for Comprehension	Dialogue was identified more in reference to DB and character movement for SS.
Cultural/Intertextual References	Chinese cultural/intertextual references were used for both films.
Details	Detailed responses were provided using intertextual and cultural references when describing film clips from SS.
Cultural Appreciation	Respondents identified their cultural background as more useful for SS than DB.

First, the CHN group identified relying on different narrative and stylistic resources for comprehension depending on whether they were engaging with the Chinese or U.S. film clips (see table 10). For instance, while watching SS, CHN respondents said they used *character movements and/or gestures* (28.6%) as well as *dialogue* (29%) to understand the film clips (see table 10). When watching DB, CHN viewers relied on *dialogue* most (34%). These findings correspond well with the film analysis finding that DB relays story information through character dialogue and SS relied on spectacle such as extended kung-fu action sequences. While watching SS 23% of the CHN participants stated that they used *facial expressions* to retrieve meaning. When watching DB, 21.5% of the CHN participants stated that they used *facial expressions* for comprehension. These findings correspond with the film analysis that found SS presented information indirectly through visuals such as facial

expressions. Another stylistic device participants stated using for comprehension in both films was *sound* effects (see table 10). These findings reflect Krashen's (1981) comprehension hypothesis that understandable messages in the form of input (reading or listening) make a text that is slightly above a learner's developmental level more comprehensible. Overall, the participants described dialogue as the most common cinematic device they used to understand the narrative (see table 10). Other formal elements the participants mentioned using as comprehensible input, or as ways to make the film's message more understandable, included character movements, gestures, facial expressions, sound effects, and settings (see table 10). Each of these cinematic devices can be understood as scaffolds for the audiences' meaning-making activities.

Table 10 CHN and CAN Cinematic Resources used for Comprehension

Resources	f	SS (CHN %)	f	DB (CHN %)	f	SS (CAN %)	f	DB (CAN %)
Character Movements	139	28.6	45	24	86	30	30	27
Dialogue	141	29	63	34	90	32	47	42
Facial Expressions	111	23	40	21.5	60	21	22	20
Sound Effects	94	19	38	20	47	17	13	12
Total Responses	485		186		283		112	

Note: The findings in this table refer to responses to question 3a for all eight film clips. The question is as follows - What movie devices helped you identify the meaning of the sequence?

A second trend found was in relation to the use of cultural and/or intertextual information participants used when explaining the meaning of the film clips. Allen (1990) has defined intertextuality as "the social organization of the relations between texts" (p. 354). In other words, in terms of film comprehension, intertextual knowledge refers to the way other texts inform and mediate the audience's understanding of the present film texts. These can be other audio-visual texts like YouTube, commercials, and movie trailers or other artforms like paintings, books, comics, or magazines. Research on intertextual knowledge as a learning scaffold has demonstrated ways in which students' engagement and knowledge of popular cultural texts can be drawn upon as a classroom resource for literacy activities (Marsh & Millard, 2000; Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Overall, the CHN respondents drew on Chinese intertextual sources to interpret both SS and DB. For instance, in SS-S1-Q4 out of the 36 participants who provided an example, 28 gave a reference that included other Chinese films, TV shows, famous actors/characters, and/or books. Additionally, when providing these examples participants often gave more detail by giving more than one Chinese film or actor as example. Those who provided a movie reference from the U.S. (8) gave only one example. For example, in SS-S1-Q4 when asked if the scene reminds them of anything similar that they have seen on TV, film, or other artworks they responded with the following responses:

**CHN43**: In fact, Stephen Chow's movies have similarities. From Kung Fu Hustle to Journey to the West, these are all unique Chinese-style films by Stephen Chow.

**CHN11:** The movie Shaolin and The Flying Swords of Dragon Gate. There are many wonderful martial arts plots in this movie.

**CHN17:** In the novel of The Return of the Condor Heroes, Yang Guo seems to have learned the martial arts skills from the murals, but he just remembers the moves on the murals in his mind.

When the CHN participants were asked the same question for DB, many participants said they could not think of similar films, TV shows, or other artworks. Specifically, in SS-S1-Q4, only 30% of respondents (17 out of 57) said they couldn't think of a reference that reminded them of SS. However, in DB-S1-Q4, 76% of respondents (19 out of 25) said they couldn't think of a reference reminiscent of DB. Out of the three intertextual examples that were given in relation to DB, two of them were Chinese cultural examples. For example, one participant said that the way Patches explains the rules of Dodgeball "is like some reality shows where rules are explained in the similar way. Like "Happy Camp" in China" (CHN46).

Next, the CHN participants' responded in detail to the questions about the SS film clips. For instance, in SS-S1-Q2 when asked why the old monk sequence is included in the film, 44% of participants (31 out of 70) provided two or more justifications:

**CHN3**: It reflects the mastery of Shaolin kung fu. The old monk is more persuasive, in line with people's imagination for martial arts masters.

**CHN24**: It added the comedy effect, compared it with ordinary people, and highlighted the power of Shaolin Kungfu.

**CHN29**: First of all, the name of the film is Shaolin Kung Fu. The presence of monks fits the theme and tone of the film. Secondly, in this clip, the monk is more of a metaphor. In Chinese's view, the monk represents kung fu and superb kung fu skills. Therefore, the old monk sequence well explained Zhou Xingchi (Stephen Chow) intends to tell Wu Mengda that kung fu is very powerful and it can help you.

**CHN43**: Adding funny elements,...[and] to give the audience a more direct understanding of the various uses of kung fu, as Xing explained to Feng.

In comparison, when describing the reason for including DB-S3-Q2 in the U.S film where Peter thanks Chuck Norris for voting for his Average Joe team, allowing them to play in the dodgeball tournament, only 25% of the participants (6 out of 24) gave multi-layered and/or detailed responses such as, "First of all, this ticket is important, and secondly it reflects Peter's kindness" (CHN44). Rather, 75% of the responses (18 out of 24) were short and/or included only one reason for justifying the scene such as "to make the victory more exciting" (CHN27), "because the vote directly determines the champion is theirs?" (CHN35), and "It shows that Peter is a grateful person" (CHN49). These statements support research that has examined ways in which students are able to understand, recall, and retell stories better when they are made in culturally familiar spaces (Berney & John, 1967; Dube, 1982; Harris et al., 1992)

Prior research has highlighted the knowledge students come primed to use within the classroom as support for their own learning and to contribute to the learning of their peers and instructors (Moll et al., 2009). A fourth trend found from the intragroup analysis of the CHN participants' open-ended responses to the questionnaire was that participants believed their cultural and intertextual background was useful for understanding the SS movie clips. For example, in response to SS-S1-Q5, "Do you believe that your national or pop cultural background helped or hindered your comprehension" 83% of the respondents (57 out of 69) who answered that question described how their cultural knowledge of Shaolin monks as well as other Stephen Chow or kung fu films was helpful for deeper understanding. Consider the following responses:

**CHN12**: It helped. Because Chinese monk culture has the oldest and longest history in the world. The history we learnt from childhood, the buildings we usually see, and the objects we place in our houses all have historical and cultural imprints. Other than

that, my cousin and many of my friends have learned martial arts since they were young, and the monk culture has always been alive in our hearts. (SS-S1)

**CHN22**: I definitely believe that being a Chinese helps here, because you have to know the relationship between kung fu and monk (a Shao Lin monk).

**CHN40**: I believe my cultural background helped my comprehension of the monk sequence because I grew up watching lots of comedy shows, therefore, I am familiar with the similar 'old monk sequence,' even though I don't have any previous film knowledge.

In SS-S2-Q5, respondents again explained how their cultural knowledge and respect for Shaolin kung fu allowed them to obtain a deeper understanding of Sing's dialogue with the young street fighter after his bad attempt at reproducing a style of martial art. In the sequence Sing explains to the fighter, "You're giving Shaolin a bad name." Responses were as follows:

**CHN36**: It helped. The movies and actors I mentioned are all from China, and the origin of kung fu is also China, so for this clip, their dialogue can be better understood by me.

**CHN43**: The cultural background helps me understand this dialogue clip, because the core value of traditional Chinese culture allows me to understand Sing's respect and love for kung fu, and thus understand Sing's dialogue with the young man.

While 48% of CHN participants (44 out of 92) also identified their knowledge of both Chinese and American pop culture as helpful for understanding the four DB clips, 52% of CHN participants (48 out of 92) also stated that their lack of American sociocultural knowledge may have hindered or at least not helped full interpretation. For example, when responding to DB-S3-Q5 one respondent explained that "My years in Canada helped my

comprehension as I know Chuck Norris is a famous actor and somewhat a personification of an "awesome guy"" (CHN41). In DB-S4 the character of Peter blindfolds himself to play the final round of dodgeball. In response to DB-S4-Q5 respondents explained how their cultural background helped their understanding stating, "Yes, by disarming the most seemingly useful tool from yourself, you are fully confident in your skills and abilities" (CHN46). This same respondent used a Chinese movie reference to support their interpretation recalling, "maybe there is a plot in "Ip Man" series where the master Ye also folded his eyes to fight against his enemy" (CHN46). Nonetheless, others stated that their understanding may have been hindered by the lack of American cultural knowledge. For instance, when responding to DB-S1-Q5 where Patches tells Timmy "Remember to pick the bigger stronger kids for your team. That way, you can all gang up on the weaker ones," respondents stated, "My cultural background prevented me from understanding his words, because I did not understand campus life in the cultural context of the film" (CHN43) and "Hindered. Because in my culture you don't directly say such things as defeating the weak" (CHN10).

# 4.2.3 Canadian Intragroup Response Analysis

The following section describes trends found for how the CAN participants interpreted the eight intercultural film sequences from SS and DB within the open-ended questionnaire. Krashen's (1981) input hypothesis describes how we acquire another language, but comprehensible input also refers to how we develop literacy in an L1 when we hear and/or read an understandable message (Krashen, 2018).

While both the Chinese and U.S. film clips in this study used English audio, the Canadian audience nonetheless used their cultural schemata, intertextual knowledge, and knowledge of films' medium-specific stylistic devices as scaffolded support for making meaning of the film sequences (Shegar & Weninger, 2010; Sipe, 2000). The analysis results from the CAN group's responses found that several different narrative and stylistic cues were applied for interpretation of SS and DB, but overall, dialogue was the most identified resource (32% for

SS and 42% for DB) for comprehension across both films (see Table 10). Additionally, CAN viewers provided detailed responses for both films. Next, CAN viewers used Western cultural and intertextual references when describing their understanding of both SS and DB. Finally, CAN participants justified the film's story events as realistically motivated.

Table 11 Questionnaire Themes (CAN)

Film Comprehension Themes	Description
Stylistic Resources	Dialogue was identified more than other medium-specific stylistic devices in reference to both DB and SS.
Details Provided	CAN group gave detailed responses for both films.
Cultural/Intertextual References	Western cultural/intertextual references were used most for both films.
Film Events as Realistically Motivated	Respondents justified film story events as events that would naturally happen in the real world (vs narratively, generically, or artistically motivated).

First, the CAN participants used *dialogue* and *character movement* most often as a resource for comprehension while watching both the clips for SS and DB. When asked which movie devices helped them identify the meaning of the film sequences in SS, CAN participants stated dialogue 90 out of 283 times (32%). They stated character movement 86 out of 283

times (30%). However, participants stated that they used *dialogue* 47 out of 112 times (42%) when engaging with DB (see table 10, above). When watching SS, participants described using dialogue, but it was used as a supplement to the visual information on screen, such as character movement. For instance, when describing SS-S1-Q3b CAN viewers explained,

**CAN2**: "Body language helped dictate why the scene was created. The monks' facial expressions showed complete confidence, no worry, and contentment despite an obstacle in his way. He could catch himself before he fell, and the dialogue helped provide context"

CAN27: "The dialogue spelled things out pretty clearly. "With kung fu, you wouldn't have to worry about falling". But even without the dialogue, just going between the scene of "normal person falls on banana" and "kung fu monk does sick flip off of banana" pretty clearly communicates the idea of "kung fu makes you better at not falling on bananas"

When the CAN participants explained the cinematic resources used to understand DB in S1-Q3b where a young Patches explains the rules of dodgeball to the schoolboy Timmy, the responses focus more on dialogue. For instance, participants explained that "These movie devices, especially his dialogue helped me to decide that he was a classic bully, picking on those weaker than him. And that he was underhand and sneaky" (CAN13), "The dialogue was very useful in showing Patches' character because his words show how he treats other people" (CAN33), and "Dialogue is key" (CAN36).

The next most common cinematic resources CAN participants described using for comprehension in both films was *facial expressions*. They stated using facial expressions 60 out of 283 times (21%) for SS and 22 out of 112 times (20%) for DB (see table 10). For instance, in SS-S4-Q3b when Sing watches the opposing team do kung fu moves and in shock tells Small Brother that it "must be special effects" one CAN participant described

understanding the scene because "Sing had a shocked expression on his face" (CAN1) and "Regardless of dialogue, seeing the facial expressions of the characters, would have been sufficient to understand that they were surprised by the their opponent" (CAN10). In DB-S1-Q3b, another participant stated, "Patches' facial expressions (confident smile) and body language (hands on hips, nodding, firm handshake with the boy) really showed the audience that he sincerely believes in what he was saying" (CAN29).

While several other technical cinematic elements were described as supporting comprehension *dialogue*, *character movement*, *facial expressions*, and *sound effects* were the most commonly identified as supporting interpretation by the CAN participants (see table 10). These statements support film studies that have argued film's stylistic features act as cues to guide and activate audiences' schemata as a support for constructing a coherent, comprehensible narrative (Bordwell, 1985; Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Branigan, 1992; Tan, 1996). This study linked this constructivist film theory perspective to pedagogical studies that recognize film's stylistic devices as forms of comprehensible input that supports audiences' story construction skills (Krashen, 2018).

A second trend found in the analysis of the CAN group's open-ended responses to the film reception questionnaire was that they provided detailed responses when describing their interpretations of both SS and DB. In comparison with the CHN group, when asked if participants believed their national or pop cultural background helped or hindered their comprehension of the monk sequence (SS-S1-Q5), 43 out of the 69 CHN respondents (62%) provided a one sentence response with no explanation such as "helped" (CHN3,4,6,8,14,16,20,23,24,25, etc....). In contrast, when the CAN group responded to the same question, only 12 out of 39 respondents (30%) gave less detailed responses such as "Not really" (CAN28), "pop cultural, yes" (CAN37) or "helped" (CAN31). The rest of the responses included comparatively longer descriptions of why their background knowledge either helped or hindered comprehension. Consider the following responses:

**CAN33**: I believe that my pop culture background helped my comprehension because in many movies there are voiceovers where a character is describing a scene and the editing cuts to a visual representation of it.

**CAN27**: I don't think my background had any influence on my understanding. The sequence was clear. I guess I did draw upon the cultural understanding that banana peels supposedly cause people to fall, but other than that it was straightforward, and I think it would have been understandable even without that knowledge.

**CAN6**: I think my familiarity with montages sequences helped me understand the connection between the two scenarios. I do not know if there are cultural information that I could be missing that would provide further information (e.g., how would the woman be viewed by this culture at this time? how is the older man being coded for the audience?).

Interestingly, the CAN group seemed to give equally detailed responses when describing how they interpreted the film clips in both SS and DB. For example, in SS-S3-Q3b participants gave multiple reasons for their understanding of the scene where the leader of the opposing soccer team is shocked by the Shaolin team's kung fu performance on the soccer field and says, "We are not afraid of you. It is an optical illusion." When asked what the leader of the opposing team means by this, the participants explained:

CAN2: I was able to see the full scope of why the opposing team called this an "optical illusion" through the special effects. It demonstrated how powerful and other worldly kung fu soccer was. The costumes / setting showed this was a soccer game. The characters and facial expressions showed the disbelief of the other team. The dialogue gave context to what was happening.

**CAN9**: The utter disbelief and shock on their faces, the celebratory nature of the kung fu soccer team, and the dialogue from the top-ranked team (What happened? It is an

optical illusion) as they were bested again and again by kung fu soccer showed me how utterly helpless the top-ranked team was and how they struggled to rationalize why they were so helpless

**CAN39**: The character's lack of extreme movement, contrasted with the flips and jumps that the kung fu team were doing, makes him look outmatched. His demeanor and dialogue also makes it seem as though he is upset and acting somewhat childish about being so clearly beaten.

One possible explanation for the CAN groups' detailed responses (and less detailed responses from the CHN group) could be that even though the questionnaire was translated into Mandarin Chinese and the CHN participants could choose to respond in Chinese, some of them still responded in English. Furthermore, my background as an English speaking, Canadian researcher may have influenced the questionnaire format and content towards a Canadian perspective. For instance, the format of the questions in the questionnaire were all open-ended and included only one multiple-choice question. Additionally, the questions were directly translated from the original English into Mandarin, Chinese. Some studies have found that test format and learning styles differ across cultures and can impact students' abilities to demonstrate their learning (Lim, 2019; Mathias et al., 2013; Wang & Byram, 2011). These factors may have provided a support for the CAN participants to respond in more detail to the questionnaire. However, the interview responses (see section 4.3.1) support the findings that the CHN participants tended to have more detailed responses when referring to the Chinese film clips.

Studies that have considered the use of pop-cultural intertextual references in classroom discussions found that they created space for the expression of students' personal identities and experiences in addition to scaffolding related learning tasks (Gutierrez et al., 1995; Kamberelis, 2001; Lewis, 2001). A third trend found from the analysis of the CAN group's responses to question four (for all eight film clips) which asks for similar TV/film or other

artwork examples was that 83 of the 145 (57%) CAN participant responses included intertextual and cultural references from Western sources. However, they also applied intertextual examples from other cultures (or both Western and other cultures) relating to their personal identities and experiences. For instance, 6 out of the 37 respondents (16%) described using references to films from non-Western countries including China and Japan to interpret SS-S1-Q4. However, the Canadian participants predominantly used Western intertextual references to contextualize both SS and DB. For example, in SS-S1-Q4 when providing examples of other artworks participants found similar to the film clip, participants gave Western examples such as "Batman Begins" (CAN1), "Mario Cart banana peels" (CAN2), "Kung Fu Panada, Karate Kid, Balls of Fury, and Spongebob Squarepants" (CAN5), "Disney's Hercules" (CAN6), "Breaking Bad" (CAN10), and "Banana peels feature quite heavily in cartoons, like Looney Tunes or Tom and Jerry" (CAN14).

Western artwork examples were also provided in response to the DB clips. For example, when asked to give examples related to DB-S1 where the dodgeball coach gives Timmy the rules for dodgeball, participants gave intertextual examples such as "Other comedy sequences – e.g., Spiderman Homecoming, the instructional videos from Captain America" (CAN3), "Blades of Glory and Napoleon Dynamite" (CAN5), "Fight Club" (CAN8), "Yes, I've seen a similar scene in Diary of the wimpy kids and also in many books such as the Percy Jackson series and Harry Potter series (books and movies)" (CAN13), and "Bad Teacher has a scene with both bullying and dodgeball" (CAN14).

A fourth trend found that the CAN participants described their justification for story elements in the film sequences in SS and DB as motivated realistically rather than by narrative progression, adherence to genre conventions, or justified as purely aesthetic (Bordwell, 1985). For example, in DB-S1-Q1 when students are asked why the coach Patches says to Timmy "Remember to pick the bigger, stronger kids for your team, that way, you can all gang up on the weaker ones" several participants justified the remarks realistically (Patches

wants to win and thinks this is the best path to victory). For instance, the CAN viewers explained, "Patches gives this advice so that the boy has a better and stronger team. They will also have an easier win" (CAN5) and "It will increase his chances of winning" (CAN8).

Out of the 17 responses for this question, only two participants justified the events in the clip as motivated by comedy genre conventions. For example, one viewer believed the line was given "as a comedic line about how dodgeball is associated with bigger kids being more successful" (CAN35) and another stated, "For humour and common sense - anyone familiar with dodgeball knows that it's the sporty kids' game and everyone from their child can relate to either pummeling others in dodgeball or being on the receiving end" (CAN3). It is useful to note, however, that the findings related to participants justifying story events as realistically motivated are from responses to questions one and two which directly ask participants to explain the meaning of the scene and its reason for inclusion in the film. In question 3b, where participants were asked to describe the technical elements from the film used to help them justify their understanding of the clip, students were able to describe their interpretation of the film clips using medium-specific language. For example, in DB-S1-Q3b participants drew on intertextual knowledge about media tropes or cultural knowledge about stereotypical Western high school coaches. See the examples, below:

CAN10: The way that the characters are talking are in a stereotypical "advertisement" sort of manner. This is reinforced by the use of editing tropes commonly found in old time ads.

CAN13: These movie devices, especially his dialogue helped me to decide that he was a classic bully, picking on those weaker than him. And that he was underhand and sneaky.

One possible explanation for students providing film medium-specific detail in response to question 3b is that question 3a provided a list of technical cinematic elements including

dialogue, sound effects, camera angles, special effects, editing, and lighting. Having been provided with a list of technical terms, participants may have used that vocabulary to describe the video clips using specific film language and may even have perceived the films as a constructed representation of the world rather than something already part of a pre-existing environment. These findings support research on story telling form and how it differs within and between cultures (Miller et al., 2011; Ochs, 1982; Watson, 1975). Additionally, these findings support research that has highlighted the importance of talking about different narrative forms in the classroom to provide students with metalinguistic vocabulary they can use to better understand stories made in culturally familiar spaces and those from different cultures (McCabe, 1997).

## 4.2.4 Summary

This section examined the analysis of the intercultural film comprehension assessment and the responses to the open-ended questionnaire that asked participants to interpret their understanding of eight movie clips from a Chinese film text (SS) and a U.S. film text (DB) (with English audio).

Section 4.2.1 presented the findings from the film comprehension assessment and found that the CHN group scored slightly better for comprehension while watching the Chinese film, SS, but also understood the overall meaning of the clips from the U.S. film, DB. The CAN group had equal scores to the CHN group when watching SS and slightly higher scores than the CHN group when watching DB. The CAN group had the same level of comprehension for both SS and DB (see table 4).

Section 4.2.2 described the qualitative findings from the CHN group's open-ended responses to the intercultural film questionnaire. An analysis found that participants described using dialogue when engaging with DB and mentioned characters' movements to interpret the SS sequences. In addition, participants used Chinese cultural and/or intertextual examples when

describing the film clips from both China and the U.S. Third, the CHN respondents provided detailed responses in relation to their interpretation of the Chinese text. Finally, participants described how their cultural background was useful for understanding the Chinese text.

Section 4.2.3 described the findings from the CAN groups responses to the questionnaire. First, dialogue was identified more than any other stylistic resource as a means of comprehension across both films (see table 10). Second, CAN viewers provided detailed responses for both films. Third, CAN participants used Western cultural and intertextual references when describing their interpretation of both the Chinese and U.S. film texts. Fourth, CAN participants interpreted the film's story events as realistically motivated. In the following section the findings from twelve interviews (5 CAN, 7 CHN) are described. The following section presents overall trends found in the interview responses in relation to intercultural film reception.

#### 4.3 Interviews

Research into the benefits of using popular culture as a pedagogical resource has advocated for including non-traditional texts, like popular films, in the classroom as a support for literacy development (Ashton, 2005; Marsh & Millard, 2000). Additionally, Krashen (2018) has argued that literacy development as well as language acquisition are strengthened through the use of a compelling story that is housed in comprehensible input.

This next section reports on the findings of the interviews which were included in this study to provide more detailed information about how Chinese and Canadian participants made meaning from two popular intercultural narrative films (SS-S4 and DB-S2). Section 4.3.1 considers intragroup patterns of meaning-making for the Chinese group and then section 4.3.2 examines themes found in an analysis of the interviews with the Canadian group.

The final section, section 4.4 describes overall themes of how participants used their knowledge of intertextual and cultural references as a means of scaffolding their own

interpretations of both film clips. Additionally, this section describes how audiences used the presentation of narrative and stylistic information to justify and interpret the two intercultural film clips. These themes summarize the findings from the analysis of the questionnaire responses and the interviews.

#### 4.3.1 Chinese Intragroup Interview Findings

The results from the analysis of seven interviews with international Chinese university students (CHN) found four primary trends in relation to the interpretation of one sequence from a Chinese and an American film (SS-S4 & DB-S2) and how they used intertextual, cultural, narrative, and stylistic information as scaffolding resources that raised the comprehensibility of the film texts. First, while participants did miss certain allusions to cultural and/or intertextual references in the U.S. film text, this did not prove problematic for overall film comprehension, but rather allowed for creative but still applicable interpretations of the film's ideas, effects, and/or tone. In fact, intended information was also missed, to a lesser degree, in the Chinese film text, but equally, with no overall effects on comprehension. Second, participants recalled information and used detail when describing the film clip from SS. In comparison, several participants had difficulty recalling and providing detail about the DB sequence. They also made use of cultural and intertextual information from their sociocultural background when discussing both films. Third, participants referred to differences in narrative modes when comparing the U.S. and Chinese film texts, respectively. Finally, participants described several stylistic cues they used when interpreting the two film clips including facial expressions, music, make-up, and costumes. All names used in the following findings are pseudonyms to protect the participants' privacy.

**Table 12 Chinese Interviewees** 

Pseudonym	Gender	Background	Language Education	Foreign Audio-visual
				Background

Amy	F	Southern China	Learned English since elementary school	U.S. TV: This is Us
			Went to international high school in China with English classes	
			Canadian university program: psychology	
Eva	F	Eastern China	Learned English since elementary school	U.S. TV: Friends
			Chinese undergraduate program: English language and literature	
Gia	F	China (did not specify location)	Learned English since elementary school  Chinese undergraduate program: business English	U.S. and U.K. TV: stand- up comedy and TV series
			Canadian university: teaching English	
lvy	F	China (did not specify location)	Learned English since elementary school	U.S. TV: Friends, Big Bang Theory

			Took IELTS in high school	U.S. social media: TikTok
			Traveled to Hong Kong	(videos about IELTS)
Lea	F	Eastern	Learned English since	U.S. TV: Grey's Anatomy,
		China	elementary school	Big Bang Theory,
			Took TOEFL in grade nine	Modern Family
Mae	F	China (did	Learned English since	U.K. movies: Harry
		not specify	elementary school	Potter
		location)	Studied in the U.S. (but	
			spent most of her time	
			with other Chinese	
			students)	
Sam	М	Southern	Learned English since	U.S. movies: Iron Man
		China	elementary school	and other Marvel movies
			Chinese undergraduate program: English literature	

The seven Chinese participants interviewed for this study come from several different areas of Mainland China and includes six female participants and one male participant. One possible reason for the predominantly female group of participants could be that several participants were recruited from two English language teaching graduate classrooms which both had a predominantly female student body. The participants included six women and one

man. While participants were not asked for their age, most participants mentioned that they were in their 20s. They were all enrolled in programs at a Canadian university in English, education, psychology, and sociology. Several participants were living in Canada at the time of the interview and others were planning on coming for the following university term. All participants described their background in English education as having started in the early years of a Chinese primary school and lasting through middle school, high school, and in some cases their undergraduate degree at a Chinese university. Participants mentioned the Chinese school system's focus on English grammar, reading, and writing. Table 12 provides some basic information about the participants. Identifiable information has been removed. For instance, pseudonyms have been used, and I have replaced city names with more general geographical information.

When discussing their views on watching audio-visual resources for English language learning the participants discussed several key ideas. First, participants mentioned the use of subtitles, whether in Chinese, English, or both while watching video with English dialogue. Participants stated that subtitles can be useful in the early stages of learning English but that eventually it was more effective to watch a video without Chinese subtitles and then without any subtitles. Second, participants gave examples of western TV and movies they enjoyed watching including The Big Bang Theory, Grey's Anatomy, Harry Potter, and Marvel movies, but other participants said they preferred watching Chinese TV or movies. Third, several participants mentioned the usefulness of receiving background information before watching video clips that were not from China as a support for comprehension and the importance of choosing video content they enjoyed in order to have better motivation for learning.

Table 13 Interview Themes (CHN)

Film Comprehension Themes	Description	

Multiple Film Meanings	Participants employed creative, idiosyncratic interpretations to arrive at overall comprehension of both films.
Detail and Recall	CHN participants provided detail and recall when interpreting SS using intertextual and cultural background knowledge.
Film Narrative Modes	Participants described differences between the Chinese and U.S. national film modes.
Stylistic Devices for Comprehension	Participants described facial expressions, music, and make-up/costumes most while interpreting SS and DB.

First, while the CHN viewers may not have accessed all the intended meanings related to cultural and/intertextual references in the U.S. film text, DB-S2, they were still able to recover the overall meaning of the U.S. movie clip. For instance, in DB-S2, Gordon from the Average Joe team is the only player left on the court against the entire Purple Cobra team. When he sees his wife flirting with another man in the audience, his secret weapon (rage) is activated, and he handily defeats the opposing team. When asked what she thinks a Canadian audience would identify with or enjoy in this DB scene, Gia described some confusion around the characters in the scene and the game of dodgeball as a sport:

**Gia**: Compared to SS, DB will be not that familiar to me because I actually don't know what kind of sports are there. It doesn't seem like soccer, and it isn't like basketball. I'm not sure which specific sport is there and as for the main character; I

don't know them either. And I haven't seen it, so I don't know what happened there like the two leads or the relationship between them and the woman who is laughing. Why when the man sees the man laughing did he get so fierce and angry?

However, even though Gia is not entirely certain about story elements in DB-S2, when asked who she thinks are the characters we are meant to route for in the scene she inferred appropriately the general intentions of the scene:

**Gia**: Actually, I'm not sure which character is good or bad but I'm sure that man with the yellow suit, sports suit, is the main character. [Great chance that] he is the good character. And the bad characters...the man who kissed the woman's hand is the bad character. I think so. Maybe it's his date or his wife and he saw that there is a third person there and he got so angry, and he got motivated to definitely win the game.

Although Gia, at first, seemed unsure about the intended meaning of the scene, she was ultimately able to infer, at least overall, the ideas related to Gordon's jealousy over his wife's flirtations and how it motivated him to become a better dodgeball player.

Several other CHN participants expressed their lack of knowledge about dodgeball as a sport. For instance, participants noted that "that kind of sport is typically a Western sport. I have not seen that before" (Eva), "I feel we played a similar game when we were in school...similar but slightly different" (Lea), and "I didn't even know this sport in the very beginning, because I'm assigned to watch this video and I Googled it and I find out, Oh! This is a sport?" (Sam). In fact, dodgeball is most well known as a children's game, not a professional league sport, and the filmmakers intended to leverage this knowledge to comedic effect. The audience was meant to laugh at the absurdity of an unconventional sport being treated like a nationally respected game. However, despite the CHN participants lacking the cultural knowledge related to dodgeball as a children's game common in Canadian schools, and so perhaps missing some of the humour, none of the participants had

difficulty understanding the overall storyline within the U.S. film clip. For instance, several participants explained Gordon's progress from inevitable loser to unlikely hero stating:

**Eva:** The team on the left side is going to lose because all of the players...it only has that one player left and they are going to lose the game. But then the coach told him to be angry and when we saw that he's getting angry and the background music is getting loud, the audience must know he is going to win the game and he really did.

**Amy**: The good guy, the main character, the actor, he actually goes through a transition because the first time I remember seeing his facial expressions they're kind of painful, or not feeling well. But after having his internal conflict or thinking about stuff, like what I mentioned, he makes up his mind, determined to contribute his full efforts to win the game.

**Sam:** Well for the Dodgeball game I think I'm kind of supportive to the Big Guy team. He's fighting alone against so many other people so it could be kind of typical to judge that this is going to be the most important or the most just game and just team. Judging from the numbers of the team, and their performance, the movie is putting too much effort on that big guy and his reaction, and his behavior just kind of telling me that, oh this guy is important. And what this guy is doing is right and the other team is just kind of going against him.

The participants interpreted the film sequence in their own way, but they all expressed the overall storyline involving an underdog going up against an unsurmountable obstacle. While the audiences may have lacked the cultural schema relating to the children's game of dodgeball, they were nonetheless able to use several narrative and stylistic resources such as the camera's focus on Gordon, the soundtrack, and the narrative trope of a 'last stand' to make the U.S. film text more comprehensible. These findings support a constructivist film theory's description of the ways in which film's narrative and stylistic features cue the

audiences' story construction schemata (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992). Equally, these medium-specific narrative and stylistic devices can be understood as multiple forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981). Their varied descriptions of the same scene also highlight the number of creative and idiosyncratic interpretations these audience members made use of when making sense of the intercultural film clip, highlighting the L2/FL participants' culturally specific personal experiences and background knowledge as a resource for scaffolding their understanding of an English-dubbed Chinese film and a U.S. film (Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008).

Studies have shown that students write better summaries and have better recall of stories when they have a larger amount of cultural schemata relating to the narratives (Dube, 1982; Pritchard, 1990). A second trend found in the analysis of the CHN interviews was that when the CHN respondents answered questions related to the two intercultural film clips (SS and DB), they used cultural and intertextual knowledge to recall information and provide more detail about the Chinese film clips. For example, in SS-S4, the Shaolin team is playing against a team made up of women wearing false mustaches and beards and, like the Shaolin team, use kung fu to supplement their soccer skills. Ultimately, however, the girls' team is bested by the Shaolin team's goalie when he blocks their attempts on his net and then scores a goal by extraordinarily throwing the ball from one end of the field to the other. When discussing this scene, the CHN viewers were able to draw on their cultural and intertextual knowledge to remember specific elements within the scene and provide detailed interpretations of the scene. For instance, when asked about the Shaolin team's soccer uniforms, several participants gave detailed responses by drawing on their cultural background stating:

**Ivy**: Their game outfit I can remember it. I think it's the yellow and red one. Yeah. So yellow and red they are all popular in China. They reference some specific

characteristics. Yellow is royal and the red symbolizes China. So, yeah, they add those two colors together, so probably that's one of the character's lifestyles.

**Amy**: The Shaolin Temple and Shaolin team, their costumes, I can know the costume is kind of like traditional Chinese costumes. When you are doing martial arts, you always wear this kind of clothes.

**Mae**: Oh yeah, their clothes and the music background is always similar in the similar movies. The director of the movies I think in China they always use the same clothes, such as kung fu yellow clothes.

**Lea**: I mean, their clothes in the movie is really obvious they are dressed like Shaolin style.

In comparison, when discussing DB, the CHN audience expressed difficulty remembering events or characters in the scene. For instance, participants explained, "Maybe I'm not talking about the others [DB] because I don't remember some details" (Amy), "I'm not sure because I don't have so many clues in this movie. I don't know any of the actors" (Eva), and "I'm not very familiar with this type of movie, so I would say maybe the costumes...I don't think I have a good answer with this question because I'm not very familiar with that" (Mae). Along with the additional cultural details they were able to provide when interpreting the Chinese film clip, participants provided intertextual information about SS than DB. For instance, the CHN audience recognized the director of SS, Stephen Chow, and were familiar with his genre of films, namely parodic, anachronistic, absurdist comedy, stating, "These things contain a lot of humour, which is very similar to his other movies" (Amy), "He even started a genre of comedy. You use drama, action, dramatic actions, very vivid facial expressions to amuse your audience. That's very typical his style" (Eva), and "Hong Kong films, they focus on humour and they have a specific humour for people" (Ivy). Many of the participants were also able to connect the character types to the Chinese actor's other

performances stating, "[Stephen Chow] was mostly playing the main character, the smart one. And the other guy [Yat-Fe Wong] was playing sometimes the idiot, sometimes stupid to make some humour" (Lea). In comparison, none of the Chinese participants were able to describe or reference the actors from Dodgeball stating, "As for the main characters, I don't know either of them" (Gia) and "I don't know the name of the actor, but I'm really interested in that movie [DB]" (Mae).

A third finding from the analysis of the CHN interviews was that participants noticed differences in narrative modes between the U.S. and Chinese film texts. For instance, several participants pointed out that DB makes use of a single character's storyline to drive the story forward. In the case of DB-S2, Gordon is left alone on the dodgeball court to defend the Average Joe team and impress his wife and kids. On the other hand, several CHN viewers believed SS-S4 presented its story through the point of view of the entire Shaolin team without singling out one player. Gia explained, in "the first one [SS] the teams are competing but the second [DB] mostly it's the main character playing" (Gia). Sam described a similar idea stating, the "most important part I see in that movie [SS] is the teamwork. I think they are playing like as a whole team, like not the kind of heroism, especially in Marvel movies, that the hope of single superheroes to save the world" (Sam). The CHN viewers also noted that SS focused less on a tightly bound story of cause and effects and more on creating moments to insert comedic elements. For instance, Mae explained, "I think the differences between these two movies is about the Hong Kong movies, it is used very funny, and the U.S. movies are about a story, and I would like to know something about the story, the whole story" (Mae). Mae reiterated this point of view later in the interview saying, "So the performance style is different. In Chinese movies it is about the funny ways, the [ridiculous] ways and in the US movie I think the performance style is to describe a story and describe a relationship" (Mae). These responses support this study's textual analysis (section 4.1) of the Chinese and U.S. films as well as film theory research that has highlighted the formal differences present in films made in different national spaces such as Hong Kong and

Hollywood (Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000). Additionally, these responses have implications for instructors to consider students' abilities to recognize and draw on other texts for interpreting stories and to harness students' abilities to make generalizations about conventions present in film genres and cinematic modes (Sipe, 2000, 2001).

Finally, participants described the stylistic cues they used when interpreting the two film clips including facial expressions, music, make-up, costumes, and dialogue. As discussed earlier, while some sociocultural information may have been missed by the CHN audience while watching DB, they were able to make sense of the film clip, overall, in part, by using stylistic cues like character gestures or facial expressions as forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981). For example, when asked who she thinks the audience is routing for in DB-S2, Lea explained:

**Lea**: Oh, I actually I cannot remember so clear, but I remember the coach's facial expression that time, so I think you would like to follow that coach. So whichever team the coach is in. The audience will follow that coach. Because he gave that specific facial expression which means the audience, they'll all follow this coach.

Another audio-visual resource described when interpreting the film sequences was music. When asked if there were any clues in the SS-S4 film clip that helped her decide who the audience is routing for Eva explained that we want the goalie's team, the Shaolin team, to win because "when we see him [the goalie] appear, the background music gets louder, and we know he is going to flex his muscles" (Eva). Gia explains how the music in both SS and DB is used to intensify the audience's excitement and direct our allegiances to certain characters. When describing DB she stated, "The background music [in DB] is the same as Shaolin Soccer. Very dynamic and energetic to catch people's attention and make them intense" (Gia). Additionally, costumes were described as supporting the CHN viewers' interpretations of both the DB and SS film clips. For instance, when describing the

differences between the two movie clips, Gia explained, "I feel like the clothing, or the setting, belong to those cultures. Like the Chinese one [SS] are wearing those kinds of capes and the second one [DB] are in sports shoes, that's very different" (Gia). When describing clues that help support his interpretation of the "good" characters in SS Sam explained:

**Sam**: "if it's based on the whole movie, we can obviously say that the team in yellow costumes, they are going to be the protagonists. So, that's the only way that I can find about being, maybe some say, in some sense, good characters

Finally, some CHN viewers also commented on the dialogue as a useful resource for film comprehension in relation to SS. Amy explained that "because it's translated from Chinese, maybe it still conserves some Chinese version of speaking; language, speaking habits, things like that, that make me feel it's familiar and easier to understand" (Amy). Eva said, "I think maybe the Chinese people, even though the language is translated into English, I think the Chinese people will understand more than the foreigners" (Eva).

# 4.3.2 Canadian Intragroup Interview Findings

Findings from the analysis of five interviews with domestic Canadian university students (CAN) found four primary trends related to their use of intertextual, cultural, narrative, and stylistic information when interpreting two intercultural films. First, while participants described uncertainty in the meaning of various elements in SS-S4, they were still able to effectively infer the overall meaning of the scene using other narrative and stylistic cues. Second, while the CAN participants accessed some background information related to their diverse, diasporic sociocultural backgrounds when discussing both films, overall, they provided cultural and intertextual knowledge using Western pop cultural references. Third, participants referred to differences in narrative modes when comparing the U.S. and Chinese film texts. Finally, participants described several stylistic resources they used when interpreting the two film clips including facial expressions, music, make-up, and costumes.

**Table 14 Canadian Interviewees** 

Pseudonym	Gender	Background	Language Education	Foreign Audio-visual Viewing
Kyle	M	Born in China, and grew up in Canada (two years old)	First language: Mandaring Chinese  Learned French in elementary school  Chinese classes for five years	Japanese anime
Liam	M	Born in China, and grew up in Canada (did not specify age)	Learned French in elementary school  Taught English in China  Learned Chinese by making international Chinese friends in Canada	Chinese movies (with a Chinese friend)
Mia	F	Born in Canada (parents are from China)	Learned French in elementary school  Weekend Chinese classes from kindergarten to grade six	Chinese movies/dramas (with parents)

-				
			Mom spoke Chinese with her	
Noah	M	Born in Canada (parents are Canadian)	Learned French in elementary school	Japanese movies: Spirited Away, Battle Royal
Owen	M	Born in United Arab Emirates, and grew up in Canada (did not specify age)	Learned French in elementary school  Learned Arabic as a second language	U.S. movies with Arabic subtitles (before moving to Canada)

The five domestic Canadian students interviewed for this study included students born in or whose parents were from China, Western Asia, and Canada. The participants included four men and one woman. One possible reason for the predominantly male group of participants could be the sports related plots from both the Chinese and U.S. films. All of the Canadian interview participants were recruited by providing their email at the end of the film reception questionnaire and so knew what the films were about before agreeing to an interview. Participants were all enrolled in programs at a Canadian university and living in Canada at

the time of the interview. All participants described their background in language education as including basic French in elementary school. Other languages participants learned either formally or informally included Chinese, French, and Arabic. When discussing their views on watching audio-visual resources for learning another language or learning about another culture the participants discussed several key ideas. First, participants mentioned using subtitles when engaging with video from other cultural/linguistic spaces. Second, participants gave examples of movies from other cultures that taught them about another language or culture including Spirited Away, Battle Royal, Japanese anime, Irish films, and movies their parents showed them from their parents' country of birth. Third, participants mentioned the importance of using video in the classroom only if it directly relates to subject content rather than being used as a time-filler. Table 14 provides some basic information about the participants. Identifiable information has been removed. For instance, pseudonyms have been used.

Table 15 Interview Themes (CAN)

Film Comprehension Themes	Description
Multiple Film Meanings	Participants employed creative, idiosyncratic
	interpretations to arrive at overall
	comprehension of both films. Comprehension
	breakdown related to elements other than
	sociocultural contexts.

Multicultural Background Knowledge

CAN participants made use of multicultural contextual knowledge and U.S. intertextual background knowledge related to the U.S. film text.

Film Narrative Modes

Participants described differences between the Chinese and U.S. national film modes.

Stylistic Devices for Comprehension

Participants described facial expressions, makeup, and costumes most while interpreting SS and DB.

First, the CAN group did fail to access some culture-bound references within the Chinese film text, but were still able to recover the intended meaning, to a large extent. In fact, the CAN audience also described some uncertainty in relation to the U.S. film clip, relating their lack of understanding or inability to draw on intertextual knowledge to the film's age (2004). For example, several CAN participants described an inability to interpret the female player's make-up in SS-S4 stating "I'm not sure why the opposite team had female players who are dressed up as men. They had facial hair and beards, I'm not sure why that was the case" (Liam), and "Again, I don't know why the opposite team had female players who dressed up as men. It didn't really make any sense to me" (Liam). Liam's comments may be referring to the style of comedy popular in Hong Kong called mo lei tau, where two incongruous elements are placed together (like women sporting masculine facial hair). However, Liam inferred his own ideas to understand the female team's face make-up stating, "I suspect it might have something to do with the fact that this is supposed to be a men's league and they were in disguise. Maybe that's why" (Liam). While this interpretation may or may not have

been the filmmakers' intended meaning, it nonetheless is an effective reading of the scene. In fact, Liam makes references to the audience's overall ability to make meaning from a film even when lacking relevant cultural knowledge explaining, "even if you don't speak Chinese, even if you don't know who Bruce Lee is, you can still appreciate the fact that the goalie was a superstar, and he was blocking all the shots." (Liam).

Krashen's (1985) input hypothesis states that understanding what we hear and read is the cause of language development but it can be equally useful for literacy development by making texts that are just above students' developmental level more comprehensible (Krashen, 2018). Because film relays story information through various multimodal devices, it provides more opportunities for viewers to access narrative meaning even if they do not grasp all the possible narrative cues or intertextual references (Bordwell, 1989; Heydon, 2016; Jewitt & Kress, 2003). Although the CAN participants expressed confusion around elements within the SS clip; for example stating, "The Shaolin Soccer one was more exaggerated...kind of like out of this world and doesn't really make sense, I would say, to an American audience" (Mia), when asked to describe the protagonists and antagonists in SS-S4, the CAN participants were able to provide effective interpretations of the overall story information by drawing on narrative and stylistic structural knowledge. For instance, they explained, "Good characters are obviously typically the protagonist, the main characters, so that main team in yellow. The fact that they were underdogs it's also like very synonymous for good characters too" (Mia). When referring to the Shaolin team's goalie who was wearing a costume that references Bruce Lee, Liam explained, "Bruce Lee was there, or at least, like, a parody of him. So, whatever team he's on that have to be good team. So, the opponents have to be the bad guys." (Liam).

Second, the CAN audience deployed intertextual background information from several different national spaces and intertextual knowledge (other texts) from the U.S. to interpret both films. Several of the Canadian participants came from multicultural backgrounds and/or

belong to immigrant families. For instance, Liam immigrated from China, Mia was born in Canada but has visited family in Hong Kong, and Owen immigrated from the United Arab of Emirates (see table 14). These participants used a mix of their multicultural background knowledge when describing both films, but also drew on Western references to infer meaning from the film clips. For instance, Mia did use some background information from a Hong Kong perspective stating "I could be just talking about my parents' generation, but I've seen a lot of movies that they've watched. It's oftentimes historical periodical dramas with lots of flying, lots of very slowed down fighting scenes or chasing scenes" (Mia). However, she also explained that she cannot make use of as many Chinese intertextual references as someone who lives in China stating, "I'm not too sure with pop culture references or musical choices just because I don't live in China. So, and I haven't really watched any of their movies in a long time" (Mia).

When using intertextual references, several of the CAN audience members mentioned Chinese examples as well as intertextual knowledge from a Western context. For instance, when providing other film/TV shows or other artworks that reminded them of SS and DB a few examples included Chinese films like "Hero and Crouching Tiger Hidden Dragon" (Noah), "IP Man" (Mia), and "Bruce Lee" films (Liam and Owen). However, U.S. media examples were provided in larger numbers including "Bend it Like Beckham" (Liam), "Spongebob Square Pants" (Noah), "Rocky...Space Jam" (Kyle), "Zoolander...Tropic Thunder...Balls of Fury...Hot Rod" (Liam), "Scarlet Witch...Stewart Little...American Pie" (Mia), "Office Space...Karate Kid" (Owen), and "Megamind" (Noah).

When referencing the actors from SS, some of the CAN participants recognized the goalie's costume as an iconic Bruce Lee uniform stating, "The goalie looks like Bruce Lee" (Kyle), and "Um, so, in terms of clothing, the goalie is very iconic. It's Bruce Lee, I think most Chinese people would recognize that, like I certainly did." (Liam). However, none of the CAN audience members were able to name any of the Chinese actors while they were able to

name (or recognize) several actors from DB including, "Ben Stiller" (Liam), "Vince Vaughn...Ben Stiller" (Noah), and Stephen Root "I don't know his name, but I've seen him in Office Space" (Owen). These findings support research that has examined intertextuality as a sociocultural construct that derives from social interactions and supports learners' literacy activities (Bloome & Egan-Robertson, 1993). As a learning resource, research has found that intertextual references allow learners to make connections, create story coherence, add personal knowledge to academic discussions, and give expression to their personal identities and experiences (Gutierrez et al., 1995; Kamberelis, 2001; Lewis, 2001)

Third, CAN participants articulated both similarities and differences between the two intercultural films using narrative structural information to interpret the film clips. These findings reflect research that has demonstrated students' ability to draw on their knowledge of other texts to make generalizations about the formal attributes of a narrative (Sipe, 2000, 2001, 2008). For instance, Mia described the different comedy conventions she recognized in the two films. First, she explained the humour in DB as more realistic and deriving from seeing the opposing team in pain saying,

**Mia**: "In the DB scene, they were exaggerating stuff but still in like a realistic way. And then you have humor, like their pain, taking pleasure at their pain. You see them getting hit in the face and in their crotch area which is obviously very painful but also funny to a lot of American audiences" (Mia).

She then explained that SS derives humour from watching a reversal in hierarchical status and the satisfying reversal of fortunes by the opposing team as they recognize their surprising loss against the underdog team stating, "in the Shaolin Soccer scene, it's more like the smart person or smart team gets thwarted, and then they get very confused about how they're not winning and that would be the humor, because I guess people find it funny that the smart person is kind of dumb in that scene" (Mia). The participants also applied their knowledge of narrative or plot conventions to compare the two films stating that they are both "about one

person taking on a whole other team and coming out on top" (Kyle), "You have your underdog fighting to win. And now that I realize that this can be applied for the first movie [SS]." (Mia), and "They are both sports comedies that use comedic, silly elements like going overboard with the way each sport is presented" (Noah).

From a constructivist film theory perspective, a film's salient stylistic features cue and guide the application of the audiences' story construction schemata to build a coherent narrative (Bordwell & Carroll, 1996; Branigan, 1992). These cinematic cueing devices can also be understood within the context of Krashen's (1981) input hypothesis as film's aural and visual relay of story information act as multiple levels of comprehensible input, supporting the participants' film comprehension activities such as building and testing their story schemata and ultimately arriving at an effectively coherent story given their knowledge of cinematic conventions (Jylha-Laide & Karreinen, 1993; Sipe, 2001). For instance, the CAN audience used a variety of stylistic film devices when interpreting both film clips from China and the U.S. including costumes and make-up, music, facial expressions, and dialogue. Several participants refered to the uniforms in both movies to identify the sports related storyline or the protagonists/antagonists stating, "So, there was a huddle in the start of the clip and that was a cue to tell us who we should be rooting for. The people in the in the yellow jerseys" (Liam), and "so like the bad characters would be like, probably the team that's in white" (Mia). As discussed above, several CAN participants mentioned the female players masculine facial hair and the Bruce Lee costume, in SS. When referring to the type of music used, Mia related the music choice in DB as referencing other sports films stating, "And then also there's like the music choices that are different. You have the very loud, very sports music...it's pumping, it's very unoriginal because it's used in tons of movies to build up suspense" (Mia). Liam explained that while he does not have any direct intertextual knowledge about the music in SS, it nevertheless works well to provide an entertaining atmosphere within the film clip. He stated,

**Liam**: I'm not that great with music so I don't know if there were any iconic scores or iconic pieces of music, but I thought the music suited the scene really well, so I think that would be appealing to anyone.

Like some of the CHN participants, the CAN participants made note of the more exaggerated quality of the performances in SS explaining, "You also see differences in the performance, which is like the Shaolin Soccer one was more exaggerated" (Mia) and more realistically motivated in DB stating, "And then, the American [movie] it's more like grounded in reality and realistic" (Mia). Dialogue was also used when interpreting the two intercultural film clips. For instance, the participants described their enjoyment of DB in relation to the verbal jokes stating:

**Liam**: The dialogue that they used was very humorous and wasn't very toned down. It was very humorous, and it was very exaggerated. Yeah, that's a good way to put it, because the announcer was saying like "Sayonara" "Cinderella Story". I think the coach was saying like, "You suck something awful", something like that. So, it was very it was very exaggerated which is very entertaining.

Liam also explained how much of the comedic dialogue includes culture-bound references that may impact a foreign audiences' ability to access full viewer enjoyment or comprehension. In terms of enjoyment of the film clips, Liam said, "Yeah, so that dialogue, unless you're good at speaking English it's hard to appreciate. And this kind of dialogue is also hard to translate, something like the "Cinderella Story" that phrase as well. It's hard to translate unless you really work hard at it" (Liam). Interestingly, the analysis of the questionnaire questions referring to comprehension of DB-S2 found that most of the CHN participants easily picked up on the reference to a "Cinderella Story" in relation to the Average Joe team's luck running out as Gordon is left alone on the dodgeball court to fend against the antagonist team, Purple Cobras. While CHN viewers may not have full access to all culture-bound references presented in the U.S. film's dialogue, which may hamper

appreciation of certain aspects of the film clips' comedic intentions, this study has found that both the CHN and CAN audience were often able to pick up on most of the integral ideas, effects, and tones that the filmmakers hoped to relay by accessing relevant contexts.

# 4.4 Overall Themes: Intercultural Film Comprehension Activities

The following section provides a short discussion of themes that emerged from an analysis of the open-ended responses to the film reception questionnaire (75 CHN; 39 CAN) and the interviews with 7 international Chinese university students and 5 domestic Canadian students. The themes provided in the previous sections were used to explore each participant's perspectives, respectively. The following section combines those themes to answer my research questions about the ways CHN and CAN university students use intertextual and cultural information to scaffold their understanding of the film text. The following section also considers how the participants used narrative and stylistic information as forms of comprehensible input to interpret the two intercultural films. I use these prevailing themes, to support the aim of this study, which is to highlight the mediated meaning-making relationship between culturally situated films and viewers, in the discussion section of this document.

This study found that participants from both groups used multiple strategies for film interpretation, often unique to each participants' personal background and prior knowledge from their life experiences as a way to scaffold their narrative comprehension (Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Moll et al., 2005). In addition, findings show that participants used a great deal of cultural and intertextual knowledge from their own sociocultural environments as a film comprehension resource to arrive at their interpretations of both the CHN and CAN films (Gill, 2008; McKeown et al., 1992). Furthermore, both groups described ways in which the film's narrative conventions and stylistic devices were used as aural and visual inputs to make the texts more comprehensible

(Bordwell, 1985; Krashen, 1981). Additionally, both groups provided detail and recall by relaying information from their own cultural backgrounds (McCabe, 1997). Finally, while both audiences recognized and/or used technical film language to varying degrees when recounting their understanding of both the Chinese and U.S. film texts, they were nonetheless able to use cinematic conventions to build a coherent narrative. This finding relates to research on comprehensible input that states that language and literacy development (or acquisition) occurs unintentionally and subconsciously when the message is comprehensible and compelling (Krashen, 2018).

Table 16 Intercultural Film Comprehension Themes

Film Comprehension Themes	Description
Film Meaning	Participants applied multiple and unique interpretations to arrive at an overall understanding of both film's meaning, tone, and effects.
Intertextual and Cultural Knowledge	Participants used intertextual and cultural information from their cultural background to support their understanding of both the CHN and U.S. films.
Film Narrative and Style	Participants used their knowledge of narrative structures and stylistic devices to interpret the two intercultural movies.

Film Detail and Recall

Participants provided detailed responses for questions pertaining to the film clips related to their cultural background.

Film Language

Participants had some difficulty expressing how they make meaning while watching a film.

### 4.4.1 Film Meaning

Both groups of participants actively participated in interpreting the film clips by drawing on multiple layers of meaning, demonstrated by their varied, creative, and unique interpretations for each film sequence in the study. The findings from the film analysis show that the Chinese and U.S. film texts relay their story information by presenting a unique narrative structure using medium-specific devices like music and editing. When making sense of these cinematic narrative and stylistic structures, the CHN and CAN participants did not always access all the intended content (including culture-bound references). However, while the film viewers did not necessarily adhere strictly to an filmmakers' intended or dominant understanding of the film sequences, they nevertheless consistently and effectively interpreted the overall meaning, effects, and tone of the film sequences by drawing on a combination of their intertextual, cultural, narrative, or stylistic film knowledge. For instance, when participants missed a reference to a famous actor in a cameo scene (DB-S3), they were still able to justify the film clip by referring to its relevance to narrative progression and how it related to scenes from other movies or historical or cultural events.

Additionally, the CHN and CAN viewers interpreted the films from the perspective of other comedy films/sports films. They also justified the events in the film clips narratively, as creating a feeling of suspense, excitement, humour, or action. Several participants discussed

the two films in relation to a historical perspective (both films are from the early 2000s) and how that justified the kind of humour present in the film sequences. Still other participants understood the films as a vehicle for famous actors, as part of a group of other comedy films, and as films to watch with certain people, at parties, or family events. These unique and varied layers of interpreting the films show that participants did not feel the need to adhere to an "intended" meaning. Rather, the films were seen as fulfilling multiple types of meaning and different functions simultaneously depending on the viewer and what they chose to focus on. This kind of creative interpretation did not, however, create a problem for overall comprehension. Both groups applied their unique interpretations to their film viewing experience to arrive at an understanding of the film clips' overall meaning, tone, and effects.

## 4.4.2 Intertextual and Cultural Knowledge

Many participants' interpretations came from film-relevant and culturally bound intertextual and cultural knowledge. Most participants used real-world examples from their sociocultural background as well as intertextual references to films, books, TV shows, and actors/directors from their source culture when describing their understanding of both the film clips from China and the U.S. For instance, the Chinese group included references to other Stephen Chow films (the director of SS) as well as other famous actors from the film. They also related SS to other kung fu films as well as Hong Kong comedies made popular in the 1990s. Even when interpreting the U.S. film, the Chinese audience referred to Chinese artworks and cultural information, rather than American ones. Furthermore, participants accessed their cultural background knowledge to interpret the movie clips. For instance, the CHN participants provided detailed information about Shaolin monks, martial arts, and tai chi. The CAN group also used relevant and culturally bound intertextual and cultural knowledge such as knowledge of other American movies to describe both the Hong Kong and U.S. films.

## 4.4.3 Film Narrative and Style

Participants used their knowledge of narrative structures such as film genre conventions and stylistic devices to interpret the two intercultural movies. Both groups made note of different narrative and stylistic patterns present in the Chinese and U.S. film texts, respectively. For instance, several participants noted that the Chinese film text was less focused on representing detailed character relationships, continuous story progression or a realistic presentation of events in favour of highly stylized fight sequences and absurdist, exaggerated comedic sequences to evoke a feeling of excitement, action, and humour in the viewer. In comparison, several participants interpreted the U.S. film as more focused on telling a clear and realistic story guided by individual characters and their goals, subordinating the action and comedic moments to a comprehensible and ever progressing narrative and including comedic elements through dialogue. When participants interpreted both films, the most common stylistic devices used were dialogue, character gestures, facial expressions, music, make-up, and costumes (see table 10).

#### 4.4.4 Film Detail and Recall

Both groups provided detailed responses, overall, for questions pertaining to the film clips related to their cultural background. The findings show that the CHN participants drew on their intertextual knowledge to give examples of similar artworks to the Chinese film text. In comparison, the CAN participants gave detailed responses when describing both the Chinese and U.S. film texts. The CAN participants often gave detailed reasons for their answers of, for example, how they think their national or pop cultural background knowledge may have helped them understand the film clips. During the interviews, the CHN participants gave detailed responses when describing the Chinese film text. In comparison, some participants did not remember elements from the U.S. film clip such as the number of teams playing in the Dodgeball tournament. Finally, both the CHN and CAN groups had almost no knowledge

of actors in the foreign film clips or of movies or other artworks that came to mind when considering the film from another cultural space.

#### 4.4.5 Film Language

An analysis of the responses from the questionnaire and the interviews, found participants used cinematic language (language related to intertextual, narrative, and stylistic film knowledge) to varying degrees when recounting their understanding of both the Chinese and U.S. film texts. In the questionnaire, when responding to questions directly related to comprehension, participants interpreted and justified the film character's motivations, or the movie scenes in relation to content, without reference to how film functions as a structured artform. In other words, participants described character actions at face value, reflecting real world people and actions rather than as an element contributing to the film's narrative progression, tone, or as adhering to genre conventions (ex: satisfying common comedy tropes). Additionally, when asked to justify a film element, participants said it just made sense or because it was self-explanatory. A possible explanation for this is that comprehension "motivation is so common in films that spectators take it for granted" (Bordwell, 1985, p. 66). However, in the questionnaire when participants were provided with a list of cinematic devices, they made use of those terms to describe medium-specific justifications for the events in the film clips. Furthermore, while the interview participants felt they could not describe the function of particular narrative film elements and why they were included in the film sequences, they were nonetheless able to express the overall effects of the film elements, such as recognizing the protagonists and antagonists. While participants were able to successfully make meaning of all the film sequences in this study, participants may benefit from better access to and language for expressing their understanding of intercultural films. I consider why explicit discussion of film language is an important component of intercultural media literacy in L2/FL classrooms in the following sections.

# 4.5 Summary

This chapter presented my findings related to the research questions addressing international and domestic university students' intercultural film comprehension and the function of intertextual and cultural knowledge as a form of scaffolding their understanding (Mitchell et al., 2019; Wood et al., 1976) as well as film's narrative and stylistic devices as forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981). Chapter four included three sections within this project used to answer the research questions. The first section of this chapter described a textual analysis of Shaolin Soccer (Thurber, 2004) (SS) and Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Chow, 2001) (DB). The second section provided findings from an analysis of the open-ended film reception questionnaire involving an international Chinese (75) and domestic Canadian (39) audience as they watched clips from SS and DB. Additionally, section two described findings from a film comprehension assessment as well as an analysis of the participants' responses related to their comprehension activities. The third section described the findings from 12 (5 Canadian, 7 Chinese) interview participants and their interpretations of a clip from SS and DB. The final section summarized the findings from the questionnaire and interviews to present some general findings related to the CHN and CAN groups intercultural film comprehension activities.

# Chapter 5

# 5 Discussion, Significance of Study, Implications, and Conclusion

This study used an interdisciplinary approach to highlight the need for L2/FL teachers and researchers to better understand how students used funds of intertextual and cultural knowledge to scaffold film comprehension tasks. Additionally, this study examined how socioculturally situated narrative and stylistic devices acted as forms of comprehensible input for interpretation of intercultural films that use English audio. Both the viewers and the film producers work collaboratively to create meaning. Consequently, an interdisciplinary approach that looked at both self-scaffolding activities as well as multimodal forms of comprehensible input was necessary.

This study engaged with sociocultural concepts for education including the ZPD and scaffolding to highlight the collaborative, mediated relationship between intercultural narrative modes and the audiences' culturally bound processes of interpretation. For instance, this study found that both the Chinese and Canadian audiences used their prior cultural and intertextual knowledge such as references to other movies, books, and folklore. These funds of knowledge helped the participants self-scaffold their interpretations of the Chinese and U.S. film clips (Moll et al., 1992). Additionally, the audience used the films' medium-specific relay of story information, including framing, character gestures, sound cues, costumes, and dialogue as forms of comprehensible input which provided additional levels of scaffolding for the audiences' meaning-making activities (Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). These sociocultural concepts informed a constructivist narrative film theory which was used to describe concepts related to cinematic representation and comprehension (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992).

An interdisciplinary approach was useful as a theoretical lens as it was important to explore concepts that would not have been present had only a learning or cinematic theory been used. By using an interdisciplinary approach, I was able to investigate the ways in which both the film audiences' personal background and the films' formal elements worked collaboratively to mediate meaning-making practices that were symbolic, sociocultural, transactional, and formally constructed (Atkinson, 2011; Bordwell, 1985; Sobchack, 2004). For instance, I used the concept of funds of knowledge because of its explanatory power for describing the multicultural elements in this study such as the cultural knowledge participants drew on to interpret the film clips. However, I also found it useful to include the concept of intertextuality as a specific form of knowledge that relates to knowledge between texts.

As the study's focus was to highlight how the cultural context of film production and reception influenced L2/FL learners' intercultural film comprehension, I will discuss the overall findings related to how the international post-secondary Chinese audience used cultural and intertextual information to scaffold their understanding of the clips. Additionally, I will discuss how narrative and stylistic cues in the Chinese and U.S. films (both using English audio) helped aid in film comprehension. First, findings showed that the international Chinese post-secondary film audience used a combination of varied, unique, and creative comprehension activities as their own form of scaffolding to understand the film sequences. For instance, participants interpreted the film sequences using various relevant intertextual expectations about film genres (i.e., comedies) and/or made use of more culturally bound intertextual knowledge of film conventions that developed within specific national spaces (i.e., kung fu films). Next, the international Chinese viewers described the specific examples of narrative and stylistic input they used to make the film sequences more comprehensible. For example, participants identified performance styles, costumes, make-up, and dialogue. They also used culturally bound narrative cinematic conventions, thematic content, and stylistic techniques to support the construction of a coherent story. They used these elements for comprehension even when they did not pick up on all the cultural or

intertextual references present in the intercultural film clips. Additionally, the Chinese audience used their sociocultural knowledge to recall more story information about the Chinese film text than in the U.S. text and provided more detailed descriptions of the film sequences from the Chinese film text. It was also found that, while they did not often use technical film terminology and more often used real-world vocabulary and thematic content (vs the film's formal elements), Chinese viewers were still able to identify narrative and stylistic devices to describe the meaning of sequences from both the U.S. and Chinese films. For instance, several participants described the dialogue or actions in the film clips as something they have heard or seen in real life, rather than justifying them as conventions essential to the cinematic medium. However, participants were able to point out differences in narrative and style when comparing the Chinese and U.S. films. To interpret these findings, I will consider the Chinese audiences' film interpretation strategies in relation to literature from a constructivist and sociocultural perspective relating to L2/FL research. Subsequently, I will discuss the pedagogical significance of this study and research implications of these findings for L2/FL education.

# 5.1 Strategies for Narrative Film Comprehension

Film audiences use several strategies to understand a film's story (Bordwell, 1985). For example, the findings of this study suggested that the film audience draws on their culturally bound familiarity with other films, books, TV shows, and/or actors as a form of scaffolding their understanding of intercultural narrative films whether produced in their source or target language cultures (Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Duff, 2002; Kristeva, 1986; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Thompson, 2016). Additionally, film comprehension literature has indicated that narrative film comprehension strategies included audiences' activation of story construction schemata such as drawing on personal assumptions, inferences, and memory as well as hypothesizing (Anderson, 1996; Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Currie, 1995; Grodal, 1997; Plantinga & Smith, 1999; Tan, 1996).

I have considered narrative film audiences' story construction schemata from a sociocultural perspective, viewing them as the audiences' own means of scaffolding their comprehension of audiovisual story information mediated through their sociocultural environment (Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; McVee et al., 2005; Wood et al., 1976). From a sociocultural perspective, audiences use story construction schemata, drawing on their culturally informed background knowledge about other texts, and their personal life experiences, as resources to build film comprehension (Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008). Film theory researchers have described film comprehension as the interplay between the audiences' story construction schemata and the film's relay of story information through narrative and stylistic structures (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Bruner, 1990; Propp, 1984). These narrative and stylistic structures developed into cinematic narrative modes through time and within national spaces and so should be viewed from a sociocultural perspective (Bordwell, 2011; Bordwell, et al., 1985).

This study has demonstrated how a sociocultural and constructivist film theory can reflect L2/FL students' scaffolding activities present during film reception that, if harnessed by educators, can support language acquisition (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992; Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). From the perspective of L2/FL education, this study informed a constructivist narrative film theory by combining it with a sociocultural perspective. This interdisciplinary perspective highlighted how film's narrative and stylistic features were scaffolded support in the form of comprehensible input. For instance, devices such as character gestures, musical cues, dialogue, and costumes combined with the audiences' prior knowledge to make the story more comprehensible (Krashen, 1981). Additionally, a constructivist theory described film comprehension as a partially unconscious process that is not always explicitly recognized by film audiences but which nonetheless mediated understanding (Bordwell et al., 2016). In terms of L2/FL acquisition, Krashen (2018) has argued that it is an incidental, subconscious process that we are not explicitly

aware of but nonetheless results in language acquisition. The findings of this study are discussed in relation to each of these factors within the current film comprehension literature.

#### 5.1.1 Story-Construction Schemata

Prior research has described film viewers' use of story-construction schemata as a means of making sense out of film narratives (Anderson, 1996; Bordwell, 1985; Grodal, 1997; Plantinga & Smith, 1999; Smith, 1995; Tan, 1996). In other words, a film audience constructs meaning by applying their previously acquired knowledge to the cues provided within the film text to continuously and dynamically build new knowledge (Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983). The findings from this study pointed to story-construction schemata as an important film comprehension strategy used by the international Chinese film audience to interpret the two intercultural film sequences. For example, participants used prototype schemata to identify settings, time periods, and characters when describing SS-S1 where the characters Fung and Sing started on a busy modern Hong Kong city street but then the film cut to a dusty rural road where an old monk performed kung fu movements. Another way the Chinese group used story-construction schemata to interpret the film sequences was through template schemata to describe recognizable narrative structures. For instance, participants in the interviews described their knowledge of the differences they noticed between the narrative structures in the Chinese and U.S. film texts. The participants pointed out DB-S2's focus on a single hero character storyline and how that differed from SS-S4's emphasis on the Shaolin soccer team, as a whole. Finally, the Chinese participants made use of procedural schemata to interpret and justify the story information either as relevant to narrative progression, presenting realistic events, relating to other film texts, or as simply included for aesthetic reasons. For example, several participants justified character actions in both films as self-explanatory and reflecting real-world people and actions. The findings of this study indicate that the Chinese participants relied on culturally bound information as they mostly used film texts from their cultural backgrounds when describing both the Chinese film (SS) and U.S. film (DB) sequences.

This study used a sociocultural concept of scaffolding (Wood et al., 1976) to inform a constructivist understanding of schemata. From a sociocultural perspective, schemata construction includes the mediational role of cultural materials and activities like other films, books, or personal experiences to acknowledge "interdependence between the text, practices, and contexts within which the cognitive process occurs" (McVee, 2005, p. 555).

### 5.1.2 Using Story-Construction Schemata

Using story-construction schemata to make assumptions, inferences, activate prior knowledge, and make hypotheses has been cited within constructivist narrative film theory as an active strategy that viewers use to make sense of narrative films (Bordwell, 1985; Stein et al., 1997; Stein & Glenn, 1975). Prior research has described the way learners make assumptions about a film. For example, audiences may assume certain genres will bend realworld expectations, remember a similar performance style from a typecast actor, or infer the inner feelings of a character by their facial expressions (Bordwell, 1989). In this study, Chinese participants described their assumptions about the Chinese text's use of extreme special effects and absurd humour using their prior knowledge of other Chinese films. For instance, participants stated that they had previously watched kung fu films or films by the director of SS, Stephen Chow, and so assumed there would be a good deal of absurd comedic sequences and spectacular kung fu choreography. Next, hypothesizing about future and past events, the probability of events, and whether one event will happen over another is an active strategy that film viewers can use to make meaning from a film narrative (Bordwell, 1985). Chinese participants in this study described how they hypothesized about events in both SS and DB. For example, Eva predicted that the antagonist's team (Cobras) would lose the dodgeball game in DB-S2 stating that despite there being only one character left on the protagonist's team (Average Joe's), he would still win. Eva pointed to the swelling soundtrack accompanying the character's last stand as a cue that allowed her to predict the protagonist's newfound abilities and eventual defeat of the opposing team. From a L2/FL media literacy perspective, there are complex tools for interpreting multiple layers of

messaging. These tools include the film's cueing devices, which draw on audiences' assumptions, inferences, memory, and hypotheses, and on their background knowledge about other texts and their life experiences. These tools can ultimately support language learners' abilities to communicate more fully in a target language community (Quinlisk, 2003).

# 5.1.3 Culturally Bound Story-Construction Schemata

Chinese film viewers in this study described how their culturally bound background knowledge was used to interpret the intercultural film sequences. For instance, participants in the questionnaire part of this study described their knowledge of Chinese monk culture, kung fu, and other Stephen Chow directed films as a helpful strategy for developing a deeper understanding of the sequences in SS. These findings support research that has positioned schema theory within a sociocultural context (Bartlett, 1932; Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983; McVee et al., 2005).

While earlier schema theory research often involved discussions of cultural knowledge, it was considered a comprehension process that happens internally and not as "something that exists beyond the individual and within an individual's social and cultural communities" (McVee et al., 2005, p. 532). This study's findings support research that conceives of text interpretation from a sociocultural lens, as an iterative, individualized process that emerges within the individual from transactions with other people, cultural, and historical materials, like film (Kintsch & Greene, 1978; McVee et al., 2005; Pritchard, 1990). Chinese viewers in this study described how their prior knowledge of Chinese pop culture influenced their interpretation of not only the Chinese film sequences but also the U.S. film text. For example, in the questionnaire, several Chinese participants provided Chinese movie examples to contextualize DB-S4 where Peter blindfolds himself before playing a final round of dodgeball stating that he blindfolded himself to heighten his other abilities. In terms of L2/FL media literacy pedagogy, these findings highlight the need for instructors to guide students in recognizing the meaning of a text as interpreted through a combination of the

text's narrative, stylistic, and symbolic features and their own diverse cultural positions (Semali, 2000). By recognizing culturally specific aspects of media literacy, students can more intentionally activate and utilize their own intertextual and cultural knowledge to scaffold their comprehension of a film's story and also to recognize audio-visual messaging as a mediated text that is open to various forms of interpretation (Hall, 1997).

#### 5.1.4 Culturally Bound Film Narrative Modes

The findings from this study's film analysis and the participants' responses pointed to cultural differences in the narrative structures of the Chinese and U.S. film texts. For example, an analysis of both film texts found that the Chinese film (SS) allowed moments of action, spectacle, and humour to, at times, interrupt narrative progression. In contrast, while the U.S. film (DB) also included moments of slapstick comedy, they were subordinated in favour of overall story advancement and clarity. Chinese interview participants described differences they noticed in the films' narrative structure stating that the U.S. film (DB) seemed more focused on presenting a well-developed, engaging story whereas the Chinese film text (SS) was more focused on presenting well-crafted comedic moments.

These findings support research that has shown how film relays story information using narrative structures and stylistic techniques particular to historical or national spaces (Bordwell, Thompson, et al., 1985; Ezra & Rowden, 2006). These techniques form conventions unique to those times and places such as Hollywood and Hong Kong narrative modes (Fu & Desser, 2000; Neale, 2000). For instance, Bordwell et al. (1985) describes the conventions of classical Hollywood films as having strong causal links between cuts (continuity editing) to develop a coherent narrative, create characters who function as causal agents, and subordinate style to narrative progression. Alternatively, Hong Kong films traditionally used episodic plot structures or 'reel' based narratives where the narrative can be paused in order to insert spectacular, sensorial bursts (Bordwell, 2011; Fu & Desser, 2000). Several participants in this study contextualized the Chinese and U.S. film clips in

terms of their different narrative conventions. For instance, participants noticed that DB focused on storylines involving one character and their goals. They contrasted this with SS which they felt presented the narrative through the point of view of the entire Shaolin soccer team.

#### 5.1.5 Using Film Language

The findings from this study support research that has presented film comprehension strategies as a partially unconscious or implicit process (Bordwell, 1992; Desilla, 2014). For example, participants were asked how they interpreted the film sequences in a certain way. Several participants stated they did not know how they made their decision. Others stated they did not see a reason for explaining what they interpreted but felt it was simply obvious or they arrived at their reasons using common sense. Additionally, participants provided few medium-specific technical terms (narrative structure or stylistic techniques) in the questionnaire when asked what each scene was about and why it was included in the film. Nonetheless, the participants were still able to give evidence of their overall understanding of character actions and predict story outcomes using narrative and stylistic cues despite limited technical cinematic vocabulary.

When participants were provided technical cinematic vocabulary in question 3a of the questionnaire, which provided a list of stylistic elements to choose from, participants used those terms to describe the film's narrative and stylistic functions. In question 3b, which asked participants to explain why they chose the stylistic devices they did, Chinese participants used the medium-specific terminology in their responses such as character gestures, music, sound effects, and camera angles to describe how those cinematic elements informed their understanding of the film clips. For instance, in the interviews, Gia at first had difficulty describing her understanding of a scene in the U.S. film, stating that she was not knowledgeable about dodgeball as a sport and uncertain of the relationship between two characters. However, when asked who the audience should route for in the scene, she was,

nonetheless, able to provide several stylistic elements that supported her assumptions such as the soundtrack creating a sense of excitement and the character's facial expressions cueing her assumptions about their feelings. In this sense, some of the Chinese viewers were able to identify the film's medium-specific relay of information even if they were not initially aware of how they were doing it or what technical language was needed to express it.

These findings support research on comprehensible input which has argued that language acquisition and literacy development are subconscious processes where the conscious focus is on understanding the story message and not the narrative form (Krashen, 1989).

Additionally, research on vocabulary acquisition through watching film and television has found that new vocabulary was acquired incidentally or, in other words, development occurred while the learner was engaged in another activity (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). If L2/FL teachers can recognize the incidental language learning that can occur through students' engagement with popular audio-visual media, they may be more likely to promote film use in the classroom. Additionally, by including film-related terms in classroom discussions, teachers can make students' film comprehension practices more explicit. By doing this, teachers can recognize the skills their students bring to their own learning and apply them to future language learning tasks.

# 5.2 Strategies L2/FL Learners use for Film Interpretation

The following section describes several film comprehension strategies found in this study and that have been identified in L2/FL learning literature. For instance, prior research on listening comprehension has found that language learners use both verbal and non-verbal cues to interpret information in audio-visual media (Hanna et al., 2003; Harris, 2003; Tanenhaus et al., 1995). Additionally, studies have shown that learners can receive unintended meaning from visual cues depending on their cultural background (Arasaratnam, 2007; Roberts et al., 1992; Scollon & Scollon, 1995). Furthermore, cultural content and

knowledge of film genre conventions has been found to contribute indirectly to listening skills by stimulating learners' cultural schemata (Rost, 2016). Finally, research has found that context such as cultural differences and the film's semantic and cultural traditions affect the viewer's interpretation of a narrative film (Chafe, 1980; Erbaugh, 2010; Tannen, 1980).

In addition to listening comprehension, sociocultural theory for second language acquisition (SCT-L2) research has described several activities that mediate the cognitive process of L2/FL learners that can be applied to the findings in this study. For example, research has shown that the motivation to achieve goals, collaborating with others and objects, and learning through observation can support L2/FL acquisition (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Lantolf, 2011; Vygotsky, 1978). In this study, the participants' goals to understand the film's story often prompted their hypotheses, assumptions, and prior knowledge for meaning-making practices. The following section will also describe research on intercultural competency skills. Prior research has described several strategies language learners use or would benefit from using when interpreting audio-visual texts (Chao, 2013; Corbett, 2003; Yang & Fleming, 2013) . Finally, reading instruction research has shown that explicit instruction on story grammar and discourse production and reception impacts language learners' strategies of interpretation (Corbett, 2003; McCabe, 1997; Stein et al., 1997). Below, the findings from this study are considered relative to these aspects within the literature.

# 5.2.1 L2/FL Listening Comprehension Research

The international Chinese participants in this study identified several input modes they used to interpret the Chinese and U.S. film texts including verbal and non-verbal cues (Batty, 2018; Harris, 2003; Suvorov, 2018). For example, the Chinese interview participants stated the use of facial expressions, music, make-up, costumes, and dialogue most often when interpreting both films. These stylistic cues were able to fill in possible cultural gaps in the viewing process and provided support to make sense of the film clips, overall (Abrams, 2014;

Desilla, 2014; Krashen, 1985; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). For instance, while none of the Chinese questionnaire participants recognized Chuck Norris in his cameo role, in the U.S. film text (DB-S3), they nonetheless described his narrative function in supporting the protagonists (the Average Joe team). Participants pointed to the swelling soundtrack, Chuck Norris' thumbs-up signal and wide grin, the sound effects of the cheering crowd, and the sports announcer's verbal description of the event to explain Chuck Norris' role in the film sequence. A possible reason for participants' successful understanding of the scene could be the multiple levels of medium-specific input to guide their interpretation of Chuck Norris' role (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991).

Past L2/FL education research has considered the impact of multiple levels of media's verbal and non-verbal input on both vocabulary acquisition and listening comprehension (Krashen, 1981; Van de Poel & d'Ydewalle, 2001). In particular, several studies have pointed to media's multimodal presentation of story information including dialogue, subtitles, and visual imagery as multiple forms of comprehensible input for vocabulary acquisition (Krashen, 1981; Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Rodgers & Webb, 2017; Van de Poel & d'Ydewalle, 2001). The participants in this study described their use of comprehensible inputs in the form of dialogue, character gestures, facial expressions, music, make-up and costumes. By recognizing that L2/FL learning is supported by the amount of comprehensible input and by the students' motivation to engage with multimodal texts, teachers may be more likely to include popular audio-visual media as an academic resource. While some of these texts may be slightly beyond their students' current language levels, the film's contextual supports can still guide students' incidental language learning.

Listening comprehension research has found that listeners use both linguistic and extralinguistic communication modes, such as visual context, to interpret information more quickly (Tanenhaus et al., 1995). One type of visual information includes kinesic signals, or body movements and facial expressions which makes listening easier as it provides additional layers of non-verbal cues (Arasaratnam, 2007; Roberts et al., 1992; Scollon & Scollon, 1995). In this study, Chinese interview participants identified using facial expressions when interpreting both the Chinese and U.S. film texts. Other visual and aural cues commonly mentioned by the Chinese audience when interpreting the film sequences were music, make-up, costumes, and dialogue. Instructors who hope to make use of audiovisual media in the L2/FL classrooms should consider the film's relay of story information as a way to reduce the difficulty of texts and as motivation for engagement with media texts through scaffolding strategies that include activating their students' intertextual knowledge of narrative film modes (Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Shen, 2015)

#### 5.2.2 Sociocultural Theories for L2/FL Learning

Sociocultural theories for second/foreign language acquisition (SCT-L2) have examined several sub-theories within language learning that are supported by the findings in this study including activity theory, the ZPD, and concept-based regulation. First, activity theory research has shown that the performance of L2/FL learners depends on the specific goals and motivation they have for comprehension tasks (Coughlan & Duff, 1994; Lantolf & Ahmed, 1989; Lantolf & Thorne, 2006). These studies show that the motivation to achieve a goal often leads to self-regulating activities rather than, for example, the student needing support from a teacher (other regulation).

Findings from this study provide evidence of the Chinese viewers' goals (creating a meaningful story) and how it supported their use of self-regulating film interpretation strategies (i.e., hypothesizing, inferring). For example, the Chinese interview participants described their specific comprehension goals as their effort and interest in finding out what happens to Gordon in the U.S. film text in DB-S2 as he is forced to play alone against a much larger and aggressive dodgeball team. Several participants described their assumptions and hypotheses as they watched and wondered how the scene would end. As this study did not involve any explicit instruction from the researcher, participants described their own

motivation for understanding the story and their subsequent incidental meaning-making activities. Self-regulating comprehension practices like the goals for story construction described by the participants support research that posits popular cultural media like film as an engaging, motivating pedagogical resource (Marsh & Thompson, 2001; Parkhill & Davey, 2014).

Cummins (2011) has argued for the importance of tapping into and developing language students' personal comprehension goals by providing them with reading tasks that are engaging and motivating. To this end, Cummins has argued for the importance of daily opportunities to hear and read stories, to have classroom discussions about student interpretations and opinions around stories, and to have students choose and create their own texts to showcase their academic knowledge and place academic value on their cultures and identities. In terms of film, Haill (2021) has argued that his experience teaching a film course to English language students provided motivation for students to contribute to classroom discussions which can encourage their associated engagement with various language and transferable skills including interpretation and analysis as well as listening comprehension, vocabulary development, recognizing accents and the use of intonation for meaning.

A second sub-theory within SCT-L2 is ZPD where instruction and student knowledge interact collaboratively so that the learner can practice skills they may not be able to accomplish independently (Frawley & Lantolf, 1985; Lantolf, 2011; Vygotsky, 1978). In the case of this study, one form of instructional support stems from the film's medium-specific relay of information. For instance, while both the Chinese and U.S. film texts used English audio, some of which the international Chinese viewers may not have been able to produce independently, the film provided additional comprehension support through visual, aural, and narrative cues that allowed viewers to attach meaning to potentially unfamiliar vocabulary through multiple levels of comprehensible input (Bordwell, 1985; Krashen, 1981).

This study's analysis of the responses from the Chinese participants found that more detailed film interpretations were made when the information from the Chinese film text's culturally bound relay of thematic and intertextual information was combined with the viewers' background knowledge. This collaborative form of meaning-making provided scaffolded support for the audiences' comprehension and interpretation processes (Abrams, 2014; Duff, 2002; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Quinlisk, 2003).

Some of the Chinese viewers described the benefits of their cultural knowledge on obtaining a more nuanced interpretation of the Chinese film text and comprehension of English dialogue stating. For example, participants stated their knowledge of Shaolin kung fu and Chinese monk culture. The Chinese participants also discussed their intertextual knowledge as a comprehension support when interpreting the film texts. For instance, participants described their experiences with other Chinese movies as examples to support their interpretations of both the Chinese and U.S. film texts. Several Chinese viewers expressed knowledge of other Stephen Chow films, the director of the Chinese film text, and how that knowledge provided additional support when interpreting the Chinese film sequences. They pointed to the typecasting of certain actors, conventions of the Hong Kong absurdist comedy film genre, episodic narrative structures, and spectacular stylistic sequences common in other Stephen Chow films. These findings highlight the interdependent, collaborative, and mediating relationship between intercultural narrative modes and the audiences' culturally bound comprehension processes. By harnessing the collaborative ways that students make sense of media resources, educators can highlight their students' personal backgrounds and prior knowledge as funds of knowledge (Moll et al., 1992), recognizing diverse perspectives, identities and experiences (Gutierrez et al., 1995).

## 5.2.3 L2/FL Intercultural Communicative Competency Research

Past research that has considered the role of culture in language education has maintained that students' cultural background as well as their understanding of the target culture can

impact their communicative competence and their awareness of the role of language in their lives (Byram, 1997; Corbett, 2003; Lo Bianco et al., 1999; Scollon & Scollon, 1995). Previous studies that examined the use of foreign film and television as intercultural educational resources for foreign language students have found that students interpreted audio-visual media in culturally bound yet individualized ways. These include comparing the foreign media to their own lived experience and re-contextualizing the stories into more personalized contexts (Yang & Fleming, 2013).

In another study, foreign language students watched foreign films and described their viewing experiences as a way to overcome fears of interacting with foreigners and for recognizing non-verbal communication styles (Chao, 2013). Findings from this study provide further evidence that the Chinese film viewers' cultural background and understanding of a film's cultural context can impact their ability to describe their understanding. For instance, the Chinese film audience in this study re-contextualized the U.S. film by comparing it to other Chinese texts such as other Chinese films, TV shows, famous actors/characters, manga series, and books. By recognizing the sociocultural context within which audiences create meaning, teachers can highlight how films can be interpreted in different ways. Acknowledging these differences can create space for new and shared perceptions of the same audio-visual resources. Opening up opportunities for diverse interpretations and perspectives validates students' unique knowledge and textual experiences (Ashton, 2005).

Intercultural research has found that viewers use cultural contexts to drive their expectations and arrive at unintended meanings (Yang & Fleming, 2013). Language teachers can use films to focus on different aims and outcomes of intercultural activities. One aim could be to understand how the text itself delivers a message by close reading or examining signs and symbols. Another aim could be to consider the intentions of the filmmakers and how their body of work relates to each other or other texts, thematically and formally. Finally,

intercultural activities using film could focus on the audience or the students themselves as the film viewers and how their unique perspectives might affect the intended messaging of the filmmakers (Corbett, 2003). Third, post-viewing reflection activities could support more nuanced interpretation of intercultural audio-visual resources, acquisition of cultural knowledge, increased self-awareness, and increased awareness of intercultural issues like racism (Chao, 2013).

Research on an intercultural approach to language education explores the benefits of learners taking a reflective stance on the role of language across cultures and acknowledges and implements the L2/FL learners' home culture/language within the learning process (Baker, 2011; Corbett, 2003). This approach creates space for students to learn not only written and spoken language but to learn "ways of viewing others and reviewing themselves" (Corbett, 2003, p. 18). The findings from this study support prior research that recognizes language as more than a transfer of information but as a dynamic negotiation and construction between the individual and their sociocultural context (Corbett, 2003). Films produced in particular cultural spaces provide a useful tool for investigating cultural norms, conventions, and values in order to equip learners with ways of making sense of both target and source cultures (Chao, 2013).

## 5.2.4 Reading Comprehension Research

International Chinese film viewers in this study described their interpretations of the Chinese film clips with more detail and with more recall than they did when describing the U.S. film clips. When asked to explain why a sequence from the Chinese film, SS, was included in the film, the Chinese questionnaire participants gave several reasons in each response using both information from the film text and from outside the film text, using their cultural or intertextual background knowledge. For example, participants used information related to their cultural background such as knowledge of martial arts and Shaolin monks and from their intertextual knowledge of Stephen Chow's (the director) characteristic film style and

conventions of the Hong Kong comedy genre to give more detailed reasons for the clip's inclusion and meaning. These responses contrasted with Chinese participants' shorter responses provided in reference to the U.S film, Dodgeball.

Chinese respondents related their justifications for the U.S. film clips by relying more heavily on textual rather than intertextual information for interpretation. For example, respondents believed the U.S. film sequences functioned as a means of showcasing a character's personality traits, to clarify a plot point, or to move the story along. These findings support prior reading instruction research that has identified how students comprehend and recall stories better when using texts from their own culture rather than from a different culture (Berney & John, 1967; Dube, 1982; Harris et al., 1992; Invernizzi & Abouzeid, 1995; Kintsch & Greene, 1978; McCabe, 1997; Pritchard, 1990). For instance, Dube (1982) found that adult readers wrote better summaries of narratives for which they had culturally bound expectations and related schema than they did for stories from other cultures. Additionally, Pritchard (1990) found that children used better reading comprehension strategies when engaging with texts from their own culture including strategies for recalling and elaborating more information with fewer distortions for a culturally familiar story rather than a less familiar one.

If L2/FL teachers are working with audio-visual materials that are not culturally familiar or are less familiar to their students, they should keep in mind that comprehension challenges may stem from issues of film form or a lack of intertextual and cultural cues and background knowledge (Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2019; Fuentes Luque, 2003). Teachers could make these possible intercultural challenges explicit by including discussions around conventions of national film form and cultural themes. For instance, teachers might discuss students' ability to recognize different narrative modes or ask them about pop cultural references. Teachers might also have students choose their own multimedia texts that were produced in their heritage countries so students can provide their background knowledge about these texts

to support the learning of their peers and teachers (McCabe, 1997; Peterson & McCabe, 1992).

Research on reading comprehension has examined variations in story production and form within cultures (e.g., across time periods, genders) and across cultural spaces (Ely & McCabe, 1993; Logan, 1993; Peterson & McCabe, 1992). The findings from this study's film analysis extend research that has shown similarities and differences in storytelling across cultures by applying them to narrative film's medium-specific presentation of story information. For example, the Chinese and U.S. films in this study were found to relay information in similar stylistic ways such as continuity editing techniques used to conceal cuts between shots. For example, DB and SS used eye-line matches where characters in two different shots appear to look at each other by glancing in the same direction. Both films also made use of the 180° rule where the camera does not cross over an imaginary line to maintain spatial continuity between shots.

This study's Chinese and U.S. films used several similar narrative formal devices. For instance, both films drove the plot through character-led goals. Additionally, both films included the underdog character and sports story tropes where the losers beat seemingly insurmountable odds to win a sports competition. In addition to similarities, this study's film analysis found differences between the U.S. and Chinese film's relay of narrative information that corresponds with prior research on national cinematic narrative modes related to U.S. and Hong Kong cinema (Bordwell, 2011; Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000).

The film analysis in this study found that DB's presentation of a clear narrative took precedence over action sequences, comedic moments, and/or spectacular special effects and aesthetics. In contrast, SS's spectacular, sensorial, and comedic sequences competed with and even interrupted narrative clarity and progression to provide entertainment that relied less heavily on character investment and more on a sensory experience. These U.S. and

Chinese cinematic stories were produced in different cultural contexts that relate to national film conventions (Bordwell, 2011; Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000). If audiences are unaware of these differences, they may dismiss parts of the film as not making sense. When teachers include discussions of these culturally contextualized differences in story form and content, it can provide students with the skills needed to arrive at a deeper understanding of film narratives both from within their own cultures and from different cultures (McCabe, 1997).

Within L2/FL pedagogy, instructors can acknowledge the intertextual and cultural information that their students bring to comprehension activities needed for interpreting diverse, intercultural audio-visual resources and to scaffold the film comprehension activities of all their students (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Additionally, these findings highlight the culturally specific forms of comprehensible input present in diverse cinematic narrative modes and the need for L2/FL instructors to choose audio-visual resources that are compelling in order for language acquisition to take place (Krashen, 2018).

# 5.2.5 Audio-Visual Media Literacy

Reading education studies have shown that explicit instruction of story grammar increases comprehension of narrative forms (Kamil et al., 2011; Pearson, 2014). In terms of narrative structures from other cultures, McCabe (1997) advocates for explicitly discussing differences in story structures to provide students with the metalinguistic vocabulary needed for deeper interpretations of narrative functions and messaging to specific audiences from language learners' own cultures as well as allowing students to better understand stories from different cultures.

In this study, students were able to express the function of various film style elements especially when provided with a list of technical terms (in the questionnaire question 3a). For SS-S1, when asked to describe why they chose the stylistic techniques they did, the

international Chinese questionnaire respondents made use of the list of terms from the previous question to answer the open-ended question explaining what stylistic elements they noticed in the film clip including music, camera focus, dialogue, sound effects, framing, character movements, facial expressions, costume changes, and setting.

If instructors provide L2/FL students with more opportunities to engage with cinematic vocabulary, students can more effectively describe their prior knowledge of popular cultural media to support their media literacy activities. Teachers can guide discussions that include explicit, intentional, and analytical concepts relating to audio-visual media messaging and how it is constructed to influence and persuade a particular audience. Another media literacy activity could be to discuss the interrelation between a film's narrative and stylistic functions and students' past experiences with other texts. These discussions should extend beyond the narrative form from one cultural space, such as the target culture, into different cultural spaces that both extend student learning beyond their current frame of reference and operationalize L2/FL students' knowledge of audio-visual media from their own cultural background.

# 5.3 Intercultural Films, Interpretation, and Language Education (Gaps in the literature)

Watching a film requires L2/FL viewers to not only understand vocabulary but also to interpret what they are watching by positioning themselves in relation to the film text (Bordwell et al., 2016; Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). While previous studies in second language acquisition research have investigated audio-visual materials in relation to vocabulary and listening comprehension and acquisition (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Kuppens, 2010; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Rodgers & Webb, 2017; Van de Poel & d'Ydewalle, 2001), there has been less research on learners' perceptions and interpretations of films and in particular, intercultural films.

By considering language learners' engagement with narrative film from an intercultural communicative competency lens, comprehension and acquisition can more comprehensively include the viewers' collaborative and contextualized strategies for interpreting their film viewing experiences (Corbett, 2003). Additionally, while the Council of Europe's Common European Framework of Reference for Languages and Ontario's ESL media literacy curriculum (Council of Europe, 2018; Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007) do recognize the impacts of media on language learners, this study extended the discussion to the role of intercultural media for language students.

Popular cultural media in the intercultural classroom is a resource for exploring a wholistic approach to language learning as it can be used to explore cultural attitudes and beliefs that the learner brings to their learning and that of the target cultures (Chao, 2013; Duff, 2002; Sipe, 2000; Yang & Fleming, 2013). For instance, by discussing national narrative conventions present in intercultural films, students can better understand the relationship between the sociocultural situatedness of film production, reception practices, and their prior life experiences. Additionally, while research on reading comprehension has considered the role of culturally derived narrative forms on storytelling practices and literacy (McCabe, 1997), this study extended these examinations to include information about intercultural audio-visual stories and how they relate to L2/FL film comprehension and interpretation skills.

# 5.4 Breaking Down Disciplinary Boundaries

The aim of this study was to gain insights about the way the social and cultural contexts of film production interact collaboratively with L2/FL film viewers' intertextual and cultural knowledge to impact their narrative comprehension. In this effort, I attempted to have two theoretical disciplines interact collaboratively: a constructivist narrative film theory which describes the ways in which film audiences construct narrative meaning and a sociocultural theory for learning which situates the film audiences' activities for constructing a narrative in

a sociocultural context that includes their everyday experiences, their communities, and their cultural world such as other texts like music, books, or video games.

While I believe these two theories were a useful theoretical lens for understanding the interactive relationship between culturally bound film production and reception practices, it was nevertheless a challenging undertaking. I had to make difficult decisions around which disciplinary terms had the most explanatory value and which literature to include (or leave out) to flesh out possible insights without overwhelming them. By combining theories from cognitive development research and from film studies I hope I was able to include insights not possible using one discipline over the other. For instance, SCT was able to highlight the role of the film audience as language learners and to position film reception practices within the larger sociocultural environment of film production, distribution, and reception. A sociocultural perspective highlights the transactional relationship between film's culturally situated symbolic content such as dialogue, visual signs, framing, and editing, and the audiences' use of these tools to mediate their understanding of the story and for the analysis of future cultural artifacts or experiences (Lantolf, 2011; Mitchell et al., 2019). Therefore, how L2/FL film viewers engage with film's culturally bound medium-specific narrative principles to create a comprehensible story was examined in this study through the lens of SCT and its sub-theories including mediation, scaffolding, the ZPD, funds of knowledge, and Krashen's input hypothesis (Krashen, 1981; Moll et al., 1992; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976).

On the other hand, a constructivist film theory offered a detailed description of the film's medium-specific devices and how they guide the audiences' active construction of a comprehensible story using story construction schemata, inferential activities, and building links between story events (Bordwell, 1985; Branigan, 1992). Additionally, a constructivist narrative theory provided insights into ways in which students use narrative to organize their learning experiences (Bruner, 1991). For instance, the term intertextuality was included as a

type of procedural schema to provide specificity around the audiences' background information directly related to other texts. While research on learning in more recent years has chosen to use terms such as background knowledge and prior knowledge, schema is still an influential term for teachers as a means of describing cognitive reading processes (McVee et al., 2005). Therefore, schema and intertextuality were helpful terms to apply concepts within film theory more practically for the L2/FL classroom. Additionally, this study combined the concept of socioculturally situated intertextual and cultural knowledge with Moll et al., (1992) who highlighted students' multicultural knowledge which they could draw on for academic support.

# 5.5 Pedagogical Implications

This study examined how international Chinese and domestic Canadian post-secondary students used intertextual and cultural information to interpret and understand a Chinese film (with English dubbing) and a U.S. film. The study also examined the contribution of film narrative and stylistic devices on film viewers' interpretations and understanding of the two intercultural films. The study considered the film comprehension of domestic Canadian students to make intergroup comparisons between students that come from different cultural and linguistic spaces. Two interdisciplinary theories framed and supported this study. Sociocultural concepts including the ZPD and scaffolding informed an understanding of the connections between the intercultural films' audio-visual inputs and L2/FL viewers' prior knowledge and experiences (Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). A constructivist theory of narrative film comprehension (Bordwell, 1985) was helpful for analyzing the structure of the two intercultural films and for understanding how film form and style cue viewers' active abilities to build a comprehensible story.

An interdisciplinary approach to a qualitative study on international Chinese and domestic Canadian post-secondary students' perceptions and interpretations of two intercultural films is important for research on L2/FL education. This study integrated existing film theory and

sociocultural theories with empirical data derived from students in the real world to deliver information that each approach could not arrive at on its own (Bryan & Klein, 1998). Film theory can be important for research in education and for implementation in the classroom as it provides a space to reflect more deeply and in novel ways on impacts of the audio-visual resources already present in the classroom and used by students in their own time (Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019).

This study hopes to promote the usefulness of audio-visual media in the L2/FL classroom as a source of intercultural learning (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013), a means towards better task engagement (Cummins, 2011), and a form of enjoyable comprehensible input (Cho & Krashen, 2019). This study highlights how films can be used for L2/FL development (Abrams, 2014). Additionally, the findings from this study provide insights on using film as a resource for decolonizing curriculum with appropriate media selection and curriculum design that recognizes the value of diverse students' background knowledge as a resource for learning with popular audio-visual media (Duff, 2002; Mistry, 2021).

The pedagogical importance of this study lies in its ability to highlight the academic value of diverse learners' sociocultural knowledge and personal experiences for intercultural film narrative comprehension (Chao, 2013; Duff, 2002; Gutierrez et al., 1995). This study found that the diverse life experiences and engagement with prior texts of the Chinese and Canadian participants impacted their interpretation of both the Chinese and U.S. film clips. Not only were there diverse interpretations between the two cultural groups but, in fact, the viewers' justifications, interpretations, and comprehension of the film texts were equally diverse and unique within the two groups. For example, to justify their interpretations of both the Chinese and U.S. films, the Chinese viewers used a variety of different film titles, video games, cultural knowledge, and personal experiences they had growing up in different cities, towns, schools, and homes so that no two film interpretations were understood in the same way.

The Canadian participants described their experiences, as first and second generation domestic Canadian students, as coming from a variety of diverse communities, and they used their unique sociocultural and personal experiences to inform their interpretations of the intercultural film clips used in this study. In this sense, this study considered L2/FL students from an asset-oriented perspective, recognizing the unique knowledge they bring to their own language learning and to support the learning of their peers and teachers.

The findings from this study foreground the importance of learners' funds of knowledge as academic resources (Moll et al., 1992). Therefore, instructors of diverse students who hope to make use of popular multimodal cultural artifacts should encourage their students to bring their prior knowledge about popular media, like film, into the classroom. Incorporating intercultural media that foregrounds the value of diverse students' intertextual and cultural knowledge is a useful means of decolonizing the language curriculum as it challenges an understanding of European linguistic cultural texts as the standard or dominant resources for instruction (Macedo, 2019).

Several implications related to intercultural media literacy in the L2/FL classroom emerged from this study. It is important to note, however, that these recommendations are based on 75 international Chinese students who responded to the questionnaire, and 7 interviews with post-secondary Chinese students. Other international language students may have different experiences watching intercultural films and may use different strategies of interpretation.

## 5.5.1 Suggestions for Intercultural Media Literacy Pedagogy

Based on the findings from this study, I offer pedagogical recommendations for culturally and media literacy-oriented language policy makers, teachers, and students who hope to create skills not only in understanding but also in interpreting audio-visual resources.

The suggestions include five learner objectives based on the five overall themes in the findings, as follows:

- 1. Use interpretation and comprehension strategies to understand narrative film texts from several different cultural environments.
- 2. Compare a variety of narrative film texts across cultures.
- 3. Discuss medium-specific conventions, patterns, and semiotic elements in a variety of audio-visual media texts.
- 4. Demonstrate and understand the value of multiple aesthetic and formal cinematic elements in films from different cultures.
- 5. Create audio-visual texts that include background knowledge from personal experience and cultural contexts.

#### 5.5.1.1 Understanding and Interpreting

To acknowledge and access the cultural backgrounds L2/FL learners' draw on to understand and critically analyze classroom texts, language learners should be given the opportunity to engage with narrative film texts from a variety of cultures including texts that were produced in national spaces they are familiar with (Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Carrell & Eisterhold, 1983; Duff, 2002; McCabe, 1997; Moll et al., 2009b). In preparation for viewing audiovisual resources, teachers can scaffold the task and make the text more accessible by asking L2/FL students to access their story construction schema to make assumptions or infer information about the film genre or subject matter (Kintsch & Greene, 1978). Additionally, by working with audio-visual resources made in diverse cultural spaces, instructors can activate students' intertextual background knowledge of other popular culture to support their understanding and interpretations of the way in which the story presents its message to the audience and their views on the semiotic thematic elements (Ashton, 2005; Marsh & Millard, 2000). Additionally, research has shown that nonverbal communication such as speech related gestures plays a large part in everyday communication practices (Batty, 2018; Harris,

2003). Therefore, another film comprehension strategy students can make use of is recognizing non-verbal communication styles and how they act as forms of comprehensible input within and across various cultures (Krashen, 1981). For instance, instructors could ask students to focus on a film character's body language, the use of costumes, colour, or sound to draw deeper conclusions about meaning (Haill, 2021). By activating these scaffolding strategies and examining the various forms of comprehensible input in relation to audiovisual resources from a variety of cultural spaces, students can begin to see differences, similarities, and patterns in contextual cues relayed through film's narrative and stylistic structures as well as draw on their personal backgrounds and prior knowledge to build on their ability to critically analyze the film texts.

# 5.5.1.2 Making Comparisons

To come to an informed understanding of audio-visual texts from different cultures, it is important that language learners are given the opportunity to make comparisons between a variety of intercultural film texts. Additionally, they can make connections between those texts and their own background knowledge and experiences (Brown & Broemmel, 2011). For example, after watching audio-visual texts from various cultural spaces, students can compare specific national traditions that gave rise to particular narrative film conventions including the state of their politics, economy, culture, and/or film production systems (Bordwell, Thompson, et al., 1985; Fu & Desser, 2000). While watching a variety of intercultural films, L2/FL instructors can harness their students' intertextual and cultural knowledge by having them record and discuss any new or familiar genre conventions or cultural themes present in the films. By doing this, students can co-construct knowledge using their understanding of other film texts from their source culture, from the cultures of their peers, and from a target linguistic culture (Chao, 2013; McCabe, 1997). Learners can make connections between their background knowledge and personal experiences and compare them with media across various cultures. Another practical activity might be for instructors to provide scaffolded viewing activities. For example, teachers can ask students to make predictions about intercultural film texts before viewing to draw on their intertextual and cultural background knowledge. Additionally, teachers might pause the film to discuss new or interesting vocabulary, cultural connotations, references, and contextual cues to help with comprehension (Duff, 2002; Moll et al., 1992). After viewing, students can discuss intertextual connections they made from their own experiences related to the film's characters, setting, story structures and/or themes (Gutierrez et al., 1995).

#### 5.5.1.3 Understanding Structures

Previous studies have found that students write better summaries and have better recall of stories when they have a larger amount of cultural schemata to rely on (Dube, 1982; Pritchard, 1990). By identifying the medium-specific narrative structures, functions, patterns, and semiotic messaging in audio-visual texts from a variety of cultures, L2/FL learners can build their story construction schema and background knowledge to make better sense of new texts they will encounter in future audio-visual texts (Gutierrez et al., 1995; Kintsch & Greene, 1978; Pritchard, 1990). Before viewing, instructors can provide students with worksheets that include medium-specific concepts and vocabulary. For example, instructors can build on students' knowledge of various film genres, their characteristics, and how they may be similar or different within different cultural spaces. This study included two sports comedy films but only Shaolin Soccer can be understood as part of the mo lei tau sub-genre which is a specific Hong Kong film genre (Mo Lei Tau, 2010). Additionally, instructors can provide vocabulary for film's stylistic techniques to help students articulate their often subconscious knowledge of film's narrative and stylistic conventions and how they function to present a coherent or aesthetically spectacular narrative (Bordwell et al., 2016) so they can apply that vocabulary to future film texts. Classroom discussion that provides opportunities for L2/FL students to analyze different forms of intercultural narrative films can also help students better understand how audio-visual media can be understood as a form of compelling, comprehensible input that supports their language and literacy development (Krashen, 2018; Liu, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). Finally, understanding the role of

semiotic elements within the overall structure of intercultural films can help students use creative and critical thinking skills to evaluate how those images work collaboratively with their intertextual and cultural background knowledge to scaffold their interpretation and comprehension of popular audio-visual texts (Duff, 2003; Molenaar et al., 2011; Moll et al., 1992).

Participants in this study were able to describe the textual resources they drew on as forms of comprehensible input to interpret and understand the film sequences with more accuracy and specificity once they were provided with a list of film's stylistic devices (Krashen, 1981; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991). Efforts should be made to provide technical vocabulary related to the cinematic medium and audio-visual media so that secondary L2/FL students have the language to express their understanding and their deeper interpretations of the resources they use to learn a language. For example, teachers and students can collaboratively create a bilingual list of medium-specific textual vocabulary with word walls, dictionaries, and glossaries. Additionally, teachers should provide graphic organizers that include helpful vocabulary and an organized layout for students to use when viewing audio-visual materials to make the film more comprehensible or to provide support for deeper interpretation and/or analysis. For instance, a T-chart would be a helpful graphic organizer for an activity that analyzes differences and similarities between a genre film (comedy, crime) from China and the U.S in order to learn more about the structures/functions of national films' narrative and visual stylistic conventions (Haill, 2021).

# 5.5.1.4 Valuing Intercultural Films

The findings from this study support the need for L2/FL educators to recognize and value texts from diverse cultural spaces as well as students' background knowledge and story construction schemata as academic resources that contribute to language and literacy development and provide an inclusive learning space (Alvermann et al., 1999; Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Gutierrez et al., 1995; Moll et al., 1992). It is important to provide L2/FL

learners with audio-visual texts from novel, diverse cultural spaces allowing them to build new schemata by collaborating and engaging with novel audio-visual texts and audiences (Chao, 2013; Yang & Fleming, 2013). Instructors can supply a cultural variety of audio-visual resources within the classroom, but they can also allow students to choose media from their own cultural and personal experiences and backgrounds. By bringing their own resources, students can collaboratively build their knowledge and appreciation of media texts from a variety of world views, and they can share their own personal reasons for seeing value in their texts. In this way, students can not only learn more about new and/or different narrative film conventions, stylistic techniques, and semiotic elements but also learn about their peers and their individual knowledge base and skills (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Teachers can use popular cultural videos to enlarge representation and harness the academic benefits of their students' background cultures (Duff, 2002).

Findings from this study point to the international Chinese students' greater personal knowledge of as well as consideration and appreciation for the cultural elements present in the Chinese film text which often translated into more detailed and nuanced descriptions and interpretations of the Chinese film sequences (Matos, 2014; McCabe, 1997; Miller et al., 2011; Pritchard, 1990). To extend this kind of personalized and motivated engagement with media texts, language educators need to foster appreciation, value, and in-depth, critical understanding of film texts from their students' cultural background (McCabe, 1997). In addition, instructors should promote inclusion and appreciation for film from cultural spaces their students may be less familiar with so that students can apply acquired intercultural film knowledge to their film interpretation skills, making them less dependent on unconscious film interpretation activities rooted in a specific cultural background. For instance, language instructors can use short films as journal prompts for writing activities. Students can choose a film from a selection of cultural environments, reflect on connections they make to their personal experiences, and share their entries with students from similar or different cultural backgrounds or with the entire class.

The findings from this study can support not only post-secondary students but also students in secondary and primary classrooms. For instance, the findings from this study relate to Ontario's secondary ESL and English Literacy Development curriculum (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007). Specifically, the secondary curriculum includes a socio-cultural competence and media literacy strand. Expectations in that strand include "media literacy skills needed to understand, critically interpret, and create media texts in English" (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007, p. 21). The primary Language curriculum (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2006) also includes aims for supporting language learners and media literacy skills. For instance, the media literacy strand for grade one asks students to consider responses from different audiences to the same media text and identify whose point of view is presented in a movie (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2006). Language instructors can use a popular children's film like Coco (Unkrich & Molina, 2017) and ask students what age group is being represented, and describe what it would look like if they were the star of the movie by including their own family's cultural traditions.

## 5.5.1.5 Creating Film Texts

Prior studies have shown that through engagement with popular cultural texts, students obtained semiotic resources that provided skills and motivation to create new texts using a combination of intertextual materials and knowledge (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). In order to apply the knowledge obtained through engagement with intercultural audio-visual texts, L2/FL learners should be given the opportunity to create new texts where relevant language focus might include using the target language in combination with intertextual materials including narrative structures, stylistic conventions, and semiotic and thematic elements from other diverse cultural spaces or from the students source culture (Lemke, 1990; Shegar & Weninger, 2010). Allowing students to create their own audio-visual resources develops culturally diverse, imaginative, creative forms of medium-specific expression that strengthens their understanding of audio-visual textual structures and lets them practice medium-specific vocabulary, so they can better understand and interpret audio-visual texts

used in the language classroom and respond to the impact and influence of audio-visual texts in the daily contexts of their source and target cultures (Alvermann et al., 1999; Buckingham, 2003; Chan & Chamot, 2011; Hall, 1980; Herrero & Vanderschelden, 2019). Additionally, creating audio-visual texts allows L2/FL instructors to incorporate other language objectives including listening, speaking, reading, and writing (Parkhill & Davey, 2014; Quinlisk, 2003; Thompson, 2016; Weninger, 2019). For instance, the socio-cultural competence and media literacy strand for secondary students in ESL level 5 asks students to understand, interpret, and create media texts (Ontario Ministry of Education, 2007). Teachers can ask students to choose a movie from a particular genre (e.g., biography) to watch at home and create their own short film using similar genre conventions but incorporating different personal and cultural perspectives. Before creating a short film using narrative and stylistic conventions present in the gangster film, students might compare the themes of family honour in the Chinese film The Grandmaster (Wong, 2013) and U.S. film The Irishman (Scorsese, 2019). Then students can consider those themes from the perspective of their own social and personal family culture and incorporate them into their own films. Depending on ESL students' need for language support, the activity can include movies that use a mixture of source and target language audio and subtitles as forms of comprehensible input (Cho & Krashen, 2019). Additionally, students can describe the films' plot and major characters as well and begin to develop film terminology to describe and analyze their own film clips and film clips made by their peers. These suggestions provide a start for teachers interested in using audio-visual materials for language learning in the classroom.

## 5.6 Study Summary

I conducted a qualitative film reception study to obtain detailed descriptions of how the international Chinese and domestic Canadian students interpreted two intercultural films that both used English audio (Creswell, 2013; Glaser & Strauss, 1970; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A qualitative methodology of data collection and analysis was appropriate as the aim of this

study was to describe the viewers' justifications for their understanding of the film sequences and their views while watching intercultural films as L2/FL learners, more generally. Data was collected through an online film reception questionnaire using Qualtrics which provided information about the viewers' comprehension of eight film sequences (four Chinese film clips, four U.S. film clips). Five questions after each film clip probed respondents on their perceived understanding of each scene, their reasons for understanding the clips the way they did, their use of stylistic devices for understanding the film clips, intertextual references they related to the clips, and how they saw their culture as an influence on their understanding. A total of 114 participants responded to the questionnaire (75 CHN, 39 CAN). Additionally, the Chinese participants were given the option of reading and responding to the questionnaire in either English or Mandarin Chinese. The Chinese language responses were translated into English for analysis.

In addition to the questionnaire, data was collected through semi-structured interviews to deepen the responses from the questionnaire and develop further inquiries to answer the research questions. The interview questions were developed around 2 film clips from the questionnaire (1 Chinese, 1 U.S.) and probed participants about their use of cultural, intertextual, narrative, and stylistic information to interpret the film sequences. A total of 12 post-secondary students participated in the interviews (7 Chinese, 5 Canadian) and each lasted between 38 to 68 minutes. All interviews were conducted virtually using Western's Zoom. Finally, the narrative film texts from China and from the U.S. that were used in the questionnaire and interviews were analyzed to better understand how intercultural films relay story information through their culturally bound narrative and stylistic structures and semiotic content.

Data analysis started with the narrative film analysis (Bordwell, 1985; Elsaesser & Buckland, 2002). First, I segmented the plots of both the Chinese film, Shaolin Soccer (Chow, 2001) and the U.S. film, Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Thurber, 2004). After the plot

segmentation, eight film clips were chosen that presented cultural and intertextual information using two or more stylistic devices. Next, I completed a shot-by-shot analysis of the film clips that involved describing the subject matter and framing, movement within the frame, cinematography, sound, editing, and dialogue present in each shot (two to eight shots per scene). The shot-by shot analysis drew on insights from a constructivist narrative film theory and audio-visual translation research (Bordwell, 1985; Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2014). The analysis of the data from the questionnaire and interview responses was done using NVivo and Western's OneDrive on Microsoft 365 (Word and Excel). In order to analyze the questionnaire responses and the interviews, I used the constant comparative method (Glaser & Strauss, 1970) to find overall themes from the data that emerged inductively through a building of patterns and categories as well as through comparisons between and within the two participant groups. Once themes were developed, I used deductive analysis to consider whether evidence from my data set and from research could sufficiently support each theme (Creswell, 2013). The first stage of analysis included open coding (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). After the Mandarin Chinese questionnaire responses were translated into English, I created notes and memos and formed initial categories. The next stage of analysis involved analytical coding (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). At this stage of analysis, I began grouping the open coded notes into smaller, more generalized, and abstracted themes. The following section summarizes the findings in relation to each of the research questions used in this study.

Research question #1: In what ways does the Chinese audience use intertextual and cultural information to scaffold their understanding of an English-dubbed Chinese film? The post-secondary international Chinese students described several ways in which they used intertextual and cultural information to interpret the Chinese film text. First, the Chinese audience provided intertextual references to other Chinese movies, actors, directors, music, Hong Kong comedy film genres, and character types from their cultural background when interpreting the Chinese film text. Second, the Chinese viewers used cultural

information from their personal background to interpret the Chinese film text. For instance, viewers referenced knowledge and reverence for Shaolin kung fu, Chinese martial arts, and Chinese monk culture. Additionally, viewers understood the Chinese film sequences through their use of cultural knowledge of Shaolin traditional uniforms, Chinese architecture (Shaolin temples), household objects, childhood television viewing habits, traditional Chinese value systems, and Chinese connotations for certain colours (red symbolizes China, yellow symbolizes royalty). Third, the Chinese participants used their intertextual and cultural knowledge to provide descriptions of their film comprehension with more detail, using two or more cultural and/or intertextual references in their responses. Fourth, the Chinese audience used their intertextual knowledge to describe their understanding of the Chinese text's narrative conventions including the representation of character goals through a collective group (rather than an individual character) and the foregrounding and/or affording equal importance to comedic performances and events as to narrative progression and/or clarity.

Research question #2: In what ways are the Chinese audiences' use of intertextual and cultural information to interpret an English U.S. film similar or different to that of the English-dubbed Chinese film? The Chinese film viewers in this study described several differences and similarities in their use of intertextual and cultural information when interpreting the U.S. film text in comparison with the Chinese film text. First, similar to their interpretation of the Chinese film text, when interpreting the U.S. film text, the Chinese audience drew on intertextual knowledge from their cultural background, such as Chinese movies and reality shows, to understand and justify the events in the film clips. Next, some Chinese viewers did reference their knowledge of Chinese culture as supporting their understanding of the U.S. film text, but the examples were less specific than they were for the Chinese film text. In contrast, several participants said their lack of cultural information caused confusion around events in the U.S. film clips. For instance, viewers stated their lack of background knowledge around the actors, dodgeball as a sport, American school culture,

and aggressive competitive attitudes towards sports, which they believed hindered their ability to fully interpret the film sequences. Rather than relying on intertextual and cultural knowledge for understanding the U.S. film clips, the Chinese viewers relied on direct textual information within the film clips for interpretation such as music, facial expressions, dialogue, and character movement. In contrast with the Chinese text, the Chinese audience expressed difficulty recalling and providing details about story information from the U.S. film text. It is important to note, however; lack of detail and recall did not impinge on their overall comprehension of the U.S. film text. Finally, as with the Chinese film text, the Chinese audience used their intertextual knowledge to describe narrative conventions from the U.S. film text. For instance, participants pointed out that narrative progression in the U.S. film text is represented through a single character's goals and that it is focused on presenting a coherent narrative over presentation of comedic or sensorial bursts that interrupt narrative progression and coherence.

Research question #3: In what ways are the Chinese audience's use of intertextual and cultural information different to that of the Canadian audience's interpretations? The domestic Canadian post-secondary students in this study described their methods of interpretation in several ways. First, the Canadian audience drew on American intertextual and cultural references to interpret both the Chinese and U.S. film texts including U.S. live action and animated films, TV shows, video games, sports comedy genres, familiar editing techniques (montage), and fantasy book series. Second, the Canadian viewers also made use of their multicultural background knowledge when interpreting the Chinese film text such as references to films from China and famous Hong Kong martial arts performers (i.e., Bruce Lee). However, like the Chinese group in relation to the U.S. film text, some Canadian participants described confusion around certain elements in the film text they were culturally less familiar with (the Chinese film text). Similar to the Chinese participants and the U.S. film, the Canadian participants expressed moments of uncertainty or confusion about the Chinese film text, but this did not impede their ability to effectively interpret the

meaning/function of the film sequences. For example, Canadian viewers stated a lack of understanding for why the female soccer players in Shaolin Soccer dressed up as men (SS-S3), but nonetheless they recognized the female players' role as the opposition to the film's protagonists. Fourth, the Canadian questionnaire participants provided detailed descriptions when describing their interpretations of both the U.S. film texts as well as the Chinese film text. One possible reason for this could be the format of the questionnaire which was made in Canada by a Canadian researcher. Fourth, like the Chinese viewers, the Canadian audience did pick up on narrative structural differences between the Chinese and U.S. films but also described some similarities. Canadian viewers pointed out differences in the presentation of humour stating that the U.S. film text was more realistically represented and more focused on characters in pain and the Chinese film focused more on the exaggerated humour and the satisfying reversal of fortune for the underdog team. However, participants also described similarities in the plot such as the conventions of the underdog sports comedy story.

Research question #4: In what ways are intragroup interpretations similar or different from each other. Within the Chinese film viewing group, participants interpreted the Chinese and U.S. film texts in idiosyncratic ways while nonetheless arriving at an effective sense of the film sequences' overall meaning. First, the Chinese viewers made use of different, personal background knowledge when referencing movies, genres and/or real-world experiences to make sense of the films. For instance, while the Chinese viewers made use of Chinese intertextual references including several references to the same movie, director, actors, comedy genres, and performance styles there was a wide array of differing examples drawn from each participants' personal experiences as a film spectator. Similarly, the Chinese viewers referred to their Chinese cultural knowledge to interpret the Chinese film sequence, but the examples provided were specific to each participants' personal background experiences and ranged from references to architecture, colour connotations, and Shaolin monk culture. Second, when the Chinese audience described their lack of knowledge when attempting to interpret the U.S. film text, they used similar references to

their unfamiliarity with dodgeball as a game. However, they used various different methods to get an overall sense of the meaning and function of the U.S. film text. For instance, Chinese viewers made use of a variety of different textual cues to inform their understanding and fill in narrative gaps ranging from a diverse mixture of the films' soundtrack, costumes, facial expressions, character actions, and dialogue. The Chinese participants all effectively understood the Chinese and U.S. film clips in their own way and despite intragroup differences in their choice of specific intertextual and cultural references for interpretation and the choice of textual cues used for elements within the films that included unfamiliar intertextual or cultural elements. Similarly, the Canadian participants made use of a wide variety of diverse intertextual and cultural references from the U.S. but also from their multicultural backgrounds including Hong Kong and China to support an overall understanding of both the Chinese and U.S. film clips. While relying most heavily on dialogue and character movement, the participants in the Canadian group each used a unique mix of different narrative and stylistic devices to support their comprehension of both film clips.

Research question #5: How do the socioculturally produced narrative and stylistic devices function as comprehensible input for audiences? Both the Chinese and Canadian groups described their use of narrative and stylistic devices for interpreting and understanding the intercultural film sequences. First, as stated above, Chinese and Canadian viewers pointed out differences they noticed in narrative conventions between the Chinese and U.S. film texts such as the U.S. film's focus on narrative coherence or the Chinese film's focus on spectacle. Second, the participants described the various stylistic devices they made use of to interpret the film sequences. In the questionnaire, the Chinese and Canadian groups both stated the English dialogue as the number one cinematic resource used for understanding the Chinese and U.S. film sequences followed by character movements, facial expressions, and sound effects. Third, the Chinese interview participants described using similar devices and several other stylistic cues for interpreting the two film clips including

dialogue, facial expressions, music, make-up, costumes, and dialogue. Finally, the Canadian interview participants described using costumes, music, facial expressions, and dialogue to interpret both film clips from China and the U.S.

Research question #6: What are the pedagogical implications to promote inclusivity and diversity for L2/FL students in diverse universities and colleges drawing on their background knowledge and schemata?

By considering the findings of this study, which described the ways in which the social and cultural context of intercultural film production and L2/FL viewers' background knowledge influenced their interpretation and comprehension of two intercultural films, educators can recognize and harness L2/FL students' background knowledge and story construction schemata to create pedagogical opportunities that promote language development as well as inclusivity and diversity in university and college classrooms (Alvermann et al., 1999; Brown & Broemmel, 2011; Duff, 2002; Gutierrez et al., 1995; Moll et al., 1992, 1992). First, by recognizing the use of students' background knowledge and schemata for engagement with intercultural audio-visual resources, teachers can create academic spaces that make room for their students to express their own identities and experiences during classroom discussions about media messaging and the thematic content presented in audio-visual texts like film (Duff, 2002). Additionally, by using their own background knowledge and schemata in relation to popular cultural resources like film, students can contribute to classroom discussions more spontaneously, with more confidence, using more detail, and making real-world connections (Shegar & Weninger, 2010). By drawing on L2/FL students' personal experiences and intertextual knowledge when using intercultural audio-visual resources, educators can highlight their students' diverse forms of knowledge, unique experiences, and individual perspectives as academic funds of knowledge that contributes to their own learning as well as their peers and their teachers (Moll et al., 1992). Drawing on L2/FL students' background knowledge and schemata can also benefit L1 students by

providing additional levels of scaffolding for all students through participation in diverse and unique discussions that lead to further schema building and more critical appreciation of classroom materials and texts (Brown & Broemmel, 2011). Finally, this study has implications for using film's culturally specific narrative and stylistic cues as a form of comprehensible input that supports L2/FL acquisition as well as literacy development (Krashen, 1981, 2018; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008). These pedagogical implications are discussed in more detail in section 5.6.1 where I provide several practical techniques suggested for promoting inclusive and diverse media literacy lessons by drawing on L2/FL students' background knowledge and schemata.

#### 5.7 Contributions to Research

This study used a truly interdisciplinary approach to understanding the reception of intercultural films by L2/FL audiences using sociocultural concepts like the ZPD, scaffolding, funds of knowledge, and comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981; Moll et al., 1992; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). These sociocultural concepts informed a constructivist film theory (Bordwell, Staiger, et al., 1985). This theoretical framework provided new insights into the ways in which the sociocultural context of film production and the L2/FL viewers' intertextual and cultural knowledge collaboratively mediated audiences' interpretations and comprehension of intercultural narrative films.

This study aims to add to knowledge about L2/FL students' intercultural media literacy activities from the perspective of sociocultural concepts whereby film comprehension is understood as a collaborative process, mediated by the sociocultural situatedness of film production and reception practices. Specifically, this study examined how L2/FL audiences scaffolded their understanding of intercultural films by drawing on intertextual and cultural information and used the film's relay of audio and visual information as forms of comprehensible input (Krashen, 1981; Vygotsky, 1978; Wood et al., 1976). This study considered texts from a multimodal perspective which incorporates input to include

cinematic stories and so works well with a narrative film theory that recognizes the role of stories as a tool for making meaning (Bruner, 1991). Additionally, this study examined how those concepts interacted with a constructivist narrative theory of film to explain the ways in which audiences actively make meaning by using their story construction schemata and guided by the film's narrative form of medium-specific semiotic aural and visual information (Bordwell, 1985).

This study resulted in implications related to sociocultural theories for language learning, film theory, and media literacy. First, this study aims to contribute to the field of intercultural communicative competence research which focuses on L2/FL communication that recognizes the role of intercultural behaviours within discourse, sociocultural background knowledge, and the need for understanding social spaces in which people communicate for particular purposes (Baker, 2011; Byram, 1997; Chao, 2013; Corbett, 2003; Lo Bianco et al., 1999; Yang & Fleming, 2013). The findings from this study elaborate on the function of culturally bound, contextual information for effective interpretation and comprehension of intercultural messaging. This study's participants made use of textual clues including verbal dialogue in the film clips but also visual and audio resources including character actions, facial expressions, and costumes as well as sound effects and the soundtrack to make sense of the intercultural film texts. Participants also relied on intertextual and cultural cues within the film to draw out their knowledge of other artworks, their past experiences, and knowledge of other cultures and fit them all together to achieve their goal of film comprehension.

Traditional L2/FL educational research approach has often focused on verbal and written texts and considered language learning from a deficit perspective of what language students still need to learn. This study hopes to foreground language leaners' funds of knowledge for engagement with multimedia resources from an asset perspective where the students' cultures, viewpoints, and personal experiences are viewed as resources for mediating

learning (Moll et al., 1992). Hopefully, this perspective encourages diverse students to bring what they already know to the language classroom whether that be their own intertextual and cultural references or their prior understanding of how film form functions to tell a story. This more expansive approach can hopefully empower language learners to recognize and harness their knowledge of popular audio-visual resources that encourages new forms of classroom knowledge, shared understanding, and language learning (Gutierrez et al., 1995).

This study hopes to contribute to film studies and media literacy through a textual and empirical examination of how film viewers make meaning using their own background knowledge in collaboration with the film's multimodal representation of information through mise-en-scène, cinematography, editing, and sound. Drawing on an adopted model of film analysis (Bordwell et al., 2016; Elaesser & Buckland, 2002), reception studies (Jenkins, 2000b), and audio-visual translation studies (Burczynska, 2018; Desilla, 2014, 2019), this study used empirical and textual data to examine how a L2/FL audience made sense of two intercultural films.

This study found that participants were active viewers who used their own cultural and intertextual knowledge as well as the films' presentation of verbal and non-verbal medium-specific resources to support interpretation and comprehension of the film sequences. While participants predominantly used cultural and intertextual information from their own sociocultural backgrounds, they effectively understood both the Chinese and U.S. films that used English audio by also relying on the film's medium-specific messaging. Additionally, the Canadian audience applied their multicultural background to bear on their interpretations of both intercultural films. The Chinese audience also used their knowledge of transnational films to make sense of the U.S. film clips.

The transnational film system is not a group of filmmakers working in silos, but rather, a large group of varied and multicultural individuals that influence and are influenced one by the other (Ezra & Rowden, 2006). An understanding of transnational film's impact on film

viewers was found to support the film comprehension and interpretation habits of the participants in this study.

# 5.8 Limitations and Implications for Future Research

While research on the impact of audio-visual resources for L2/FL acquisition has been helpful in highlighting the role of television and film for acquiring listening and vocabulary skills (d'Ydewalle & Van de Poel, 1999; Ina, 2014; Koolstra & Beentjes, 1999; Neuman & Koskinen, 1991; Pujadas & Muñoz, 2020; Talavan, 2007; Webb, 2008; Webb & Rodgers, 2009), more research is needed to examine the viewer's perceptions and interpretation activities as they engage with media texts from various cultural spaces. The findings of this study suggest that international language students make strong use of films intertextual, cultural, narrative, and stylistic relay of information when interpreting intercultural film texts. This study resulted in several implications related to possible future research that examines the intercultural film viewing habits of L2/FL learners.

First, this study focused on a relatively small sample size for the interviews with international Chinese post-secondary students designed to generate initial findings examining how language students make sense of films from different cultural spaces using the target language. Further research obtaining descriptive feedback from language learners from other cultural spaces could provide additional details about students who come from countries whose inhabitants watch intercultural audio-visual content, such as American movies and television programs. Additionally, future research might examine the reason participants were interested in participating in a film reception study. This could provide more detailed information about whether interest in a particular film genre provides some participants with greater intertextual background knowledge.

Second, this study used two intercultural films that were from the early 2000s, were set in modern times, and that represented comedy genre plot devices and stylistic techniques.

Conducting a study that uses more recent films, films from different historical settings, and/or films from different cinematic genres would allow researchers to identify other structural or semiotic factors that may support or challenge interpretation of intercultural film texts for L2/FL spectators.

Third, for purposes of time, I decided to show participants four film clips for each of the two intercultural film texts and the interviews included two film clips, one from the Chinese and U.S. film texts, respectively. Several participants mentioned their inability to fully answer questions of comprehension and interpretation because they were only watching a small section of the film and thought they might be able to give more detailed, effective responses had they seen the films in their entirety. Future studies may find differences in how L2/FL learners interpret intercultural films after viewing a film in its entirety.

Despite these limitations, this research can be seen as a first step towards integrating two lines of research, film theory and sociocultural theories for language learning. My hope is that the current research will stimulate further investigation into this important area.

## 5.9 Final Thoughts

In a postindustrial society the production of symbols – information, images (TV, film), signs (including advertising)...represent the major mode of economic production...a curriculum which takes this fundamental shift into account might become a curriculum of popular culture in which the processes of symbolic production become central. (Pinar, 2008, pp. 302–303)

The aim of this study was to understand how a L2/FL audience used intertextual and cultural information to mediate their intercultural film reception practices from the perspective of the participants themselves and with a focus on film's formal structures and semiotic content produced within two different sociocultural environments. Understanding the ways in which audio-visual resources and film reception are impacted by sociocultural contexts can provide

diverse students with the opportunity to bring their own knowledge, perspectives, and experiences to bear on their learning as well as on the forms of knowledge available to their peers and teachers (Gutierrez et al., 1995). For instance, students can recognize and reflect on different ways cultures tell audio-visual stories and recognize their own pop-cultural references as legitimate, beneficial, and appealing forms of academic resources (McCabe, 1997; Quinlisk, 2003).

Understanding the impact and benefits of using intercultural films in the language classroom can encourage pedagogical practices that support students' language learning. Teachers may promote the use of films both in the classroom and at home as an enjoyable way to learn new vocabulary, listening skills, and cultural competencies. Instructors can also promote the benefits of watching popular films by highlighting the contextual support provided by the film's audio-visual relay of information (Neuman & Koskinen, 1991).

In order to value and acknowledge their students' role in their own learning, instructors can highlight film spectatorship activities as socially constructed, transactional experiences. Teachers can support students' understanding of film reception as a collaborative process where students' life experiences, the film text, and the larger sociocultural world all contribute to the meaning of the film (Chan, 2011; Weninger, 2019). What students notice or find interesting or confusing about a film is as academically valuable and relevant to knowledge building as the views of the director, a film critic, or their teacher. The media students enjoy at home can be brought into the classroom to use as academic resources. As instructors provide students with popular audio-visual texts they enjoy engaging with, students can more confidently contribute to classroom discussions and to the learning of their peers and their teachers.

It is important that teachers who are interested in using intercultural narrative films provide L2/FL students with the tools to understand, interpret, and see the academic value in using cinematic stories from their own cultural backgrounds as well as from new cultural spaces

(Chafe, 1980; Dumont, 1979; Lee Zoreda & Vivaldo-Lima, 2008; Miller et al., 2011; Scollon & Scollon, 1995). When teachers encourage engagement with films that students relate to and enjoy in the classroom, students can build their funds of knowledge and deploy it in the language classroom and in their daily encounters with popular media.

## Bibliography

- Abrams, Z. I. (2014). Using film to provide a context for teaching L2 pragmatics. *System* (*Linköping*), 46, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2014.06.005
- Adams, A., & Cox, A. L. (2008). *Questionnaires, in-depth interviews and focus groups* (pp. 17–34). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511814570.003
- Ahmadi Safa, M., & Motaghi, F. (2021). Cognitive vs. Metacognitive scaffolding strategies and EFL learners' listening comprehension development. *Language Teaching*\*Research: LTR, 136216882110218-. https://doi.org/10.1177/13621688211021821
- Allen, R. C. (1990). From exhibition to reception: Reflections on the audience in film history. *Screen (London)*, *31*(4), 347–356. https://doi.org/10.1093/screen/31.4.347
- Allen, R. C., & Gomery, D. (1985). Film history: Theory and practice ([1st ed.]). McGraw-Hill.
- Altman, R. (1999). Film/genre. BFI Publishing.
- Alvermann, D. E., Moon, J. S., & Hagood, M. C. (1999). *Popular culture in the classroom:*Teaching and researching critical media literacy. International Reading Association.

- Anderson, J. (1996). *The reality of illusion: An ecological approach to cognitive film theory*. Southern Illinois University Press.
- Anderson, M., & Farrow, J. (Directors). (1956, October 17). *Around the World in 80 Days* [Adventure, Comedy, Family]. Michael Todd Company.
- Arasaratnam, L. (2007). Empirical research in intercultural communication competence: A review and recommendation. *Australian Journal of Communication*, *34*(1), 105.
- Ashton, J. (2005). Barbie, the wiggles and harry potter. Can popular culture really support young children's literacy development? *European Early Childhood Education*\*Research Journal, 13(1), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/13502930585209541
- Baker, W. (2011). From cultural awareness to intercultural awareness: Culture in ELT. *ELT Journal*, 66(1), 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/elt/ccr017
- Bakhtin, M. M. (Ed.). (1981). *The dialogic imagination: Four essays*. University of Texas Press. http://hdl.handle.net/2027/heb.09354
- Barthes, R. (1975). *The Pleasure of the Text* (R. Miller, Trans.; Reissue edition). Hill and Wang.
- Bartlett, F. C. (1932). *Remembering: A study in experimental and social psychology*. The University press.

- Batty, A. O. (2018). Investigating the impact of nonverbal communication cues on listening item types. In G. J. Ockey & E. Wagner, *Assessing L2 Listening: Moving Towards Authenticity* (pp. 161–176). John Benjamins Publishing Company. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/west/detail.action?docID=5455381
- Bennett, T. (1983). The Bond phenomenon: Theorizing a popular hero. *Southern Review*, *16*(2), 195–225.
- Bennett, T., & Woollacott, J. (1987). *Bond and beyond: The political career of a popular hero*. Macmillan.
- Berenstein, R. J. (1996). Attack of the leading ladies: Gender, sexuality, and spectatorship in classic horror cinema. Columbia University Press.
- Berney, J. D., & John, V. P. (1967). Analysis of story retelling as a measure of the effects of ethnic content in sgtories. In J. Helmuth (Ed.), *The disadvantaged child: Head Start and early intervention* (Vol. 2, pp. 259–287). Special Child Publications.
- Bloome, D., & Egan-Robertson, A. (1993). The Social Construction of Intertextuality in Classroom Reading and Writing Lessons. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 28(4), 305–333.
- Bogdan, R., & Taylor, S. J. (1998). *Introduction to qualitative research methods: A guidebook and resource* (3rd ed.). Wiley.

- Bordwell, D. (1985). Narration in the fiction film. University of Wisconsin Press.
- Bordwell, D. (1989). *Making meaning: Inference and rhetoric in the interpretation of cinema*. Harvard University Press.
- Bordwell, D. (1992). Cognition and comprehension: Viewing and forgetting in Mildred Pierce. *Journal of Dramatic Theory and Criticism*, 6(2), 183–198.
- Bordwell, D. (2011). *Planet Hong Kong: Popular cinema and the art of entertainment*.

  Irvington Way Institute Press. https://oculuwo.primo.exlibrisgroup.com/discovery/fulldisplay?docid=alma99101961019970516

  3&context=L&vid=01OCUL\_UWO:UWO\_DEFAULT&lang=en&search\_scope=My
  Inst\_and\_CI&adaptor=Local%20Search%20Engine&tab=Everything&query=any,co
  ntains,bordwell%20planet%20hong%20kong&offset=0
- Bordwell, D., & Carroll, N. (1996). *Post-theory: Reconstructing film studies*. University of Wisconsin Press.
- Bordwell, D., Staiger, J., & Thompson, K. (1985). *The classical Hollywood cinema: Film style & mode of production to 1960*. Columbia University Press.
- Bordwell, D., Thompson, K., & Smith, J. (2016). *Film art: An introduction* (Eleventh edition.). McGraw-Hill Education.

- Bordwell, D., Thompson, K., & Staiger, J. (1985). *The classical Hollywood cinema: Film style & mode of production to 1960*. Columbia University Press.
- Bowe, H. J., & Martin, K. (2007). *Communication across cultures: Mutual understanding in a global world*. Cambridge University Press.
- Branigan, E. (1992). Narrative comprehension and film. Routledge.
- Brown, C. L., & Broemmel, A. D. (2011). Deep scaffolding: Enhancing the reading experiences of English language learners. *The New England Reading Association Journal*, 46(2), 34-39.
- Browne, N. (1999). *Young children's literacy development and the role of televisual texts*. Falmer Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203978382
- Bruner, J. (1991). The Narrative Construction of Reality. *Critical Inquiry*, 18(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1086/448619
- Bruner, J. S. (1990). Acts of meaning. Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. S. (2002). Making stories: Law, literature, life (1st ed.). Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Bryan, K. S., & Klein, J. T. (1998). Crossing Boundaries: Knowledge, Disciplinarities, and Interdisciplinarities. *History of Education Quarterly*, *38*(2), 225–227. https://doi.org/10.2307/370004

- Buckingham, D. (2003). *Media education: Literacy, learning, and contemporary culture*.

  Polity Press.
- Budd, M. (1990). *The cabinet of Dr. Caligari: Texts, contexts, histories*. Rutgers University Press.
- Bueno, K. A. (2009). Got Film? Is It a Readily Accessible Window to the Target Language and Culture for Your Students? *Foreign Language Annals*, 42(2), 318–339. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-9720.2009.01023.x
- Burczynska, P. (2018, May 21). *Investigating the Multimodal Construal and Reception of Irony in Film Translation: An Experimental Approach*. The University of

  Manchester, Manchester, UK. https://www.escholar.manchester.ac.uk/uk-ac-man-scw:314625
- Byram, M. (1997). *Teaching and assessing intercultural communicative competence*.

  Multilingual Matters.
- Carrell, P. L., & Eisterhold, J. C. (1983). Schema theory and ESL reading pedagogy. *TESOL Quarterly*, 17(4), 553–573. https://doi.org/10.2307/3586613
- Carrington, V. (2005). The Uncanny, Digital Texts and Literacy. *Language and Education*, 19(6), 467–482. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500780508668698

- Cavaliere, F. (2008). Measuring the perception of the screen translation of Un Posto al Sole.

  \*Between Text and Image: Updating Research in Screen Translation, 78, 165.
- Chafe, W. L. (1980). *The pear stories: Cognitive, cultural, and linguistic aspects of narrative production* (Vol. 3). Praeger Pub Text.
- Chan, W. M. (2011). *Media in foreign language teaching and learning [electronic resource]*.

  De Gruyter Mouton. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781614510208
- Chan, W. M., & Chamot, A. U. (Eds.). (2011). *Media in foreign language teaching and learning [electronic resource]*. De Gruyter Mouton. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781614510208
- Chao, T.-C. (2013). A diary study of university EFL learners' intercultural learning through foreign films. *Language, Culture and Curriculum*, *26*(3), 247–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/07908318.2013.833936
- Cho, K.-S., & Krashen, S. (2019). Pleasure Reading in a Foreign Language and Competence in Speaking, Listening, Reading and Writing. *TEFLIN Journal*, 30(2), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.15639/teflinjournal.v30i2/231-236
- Chow, S. (2001, July 5). *Shaolin Soccer* [Action, Comedy, Family, Fantasy, Sport]. Star Overseas, Universe Entertainment.

- Cintrón-Valentín, M., García-Amaya, L., & Ellis, N. C. (2019). Captioning and grammar learning in the L2 Spanish classroom. *Language Learning Journal*, *47*(4), 439–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2019.1615978
- Corbett, J. (2003). *An intercultural approach to English language teaching [electronic resource]*. Multilingual Matters. https://doi.org/10.21832/9781853596858
- Corrigan, T. (2014). Film and the Culture of Cult. In *The Cult Film Experience*. University of Texas Press. https://doi.org/10.7560/711358.8
- Coughlan, P., & Duff, P. A. (1994). Same task, different activities: Analysis of a SLA task from an activity theory perspective. *Vygotskian Approaches to Second Language Research*, 173, 193.
- Council of Europe. (2001). Common European framework of reference for languages:

  Learning, teaching, assessment. Cambridge University Press.
- Council of Europe. (2018). Common European Framework of Reference for Languages:

  Learning, Teaching, Assessment. Companion Volume with New Descriptors. Council of Europe.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.

- Cummins, J. (2011). Literacy Engagement: Fueling academic growth for English learners. *The Reading Teacher*, 65(2), 142–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/TRTR.01022
- Currie, G. (1995). *Image and Mind: Film, Philosophy and Cognitive Science*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511551277
- d'Ydewalle, G., & Van de Poel, M. (1999a). Incidental foreign-language acquisition by children watching subtitled television programs. *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research*, 28(3), 227–244.
- d'Ydewalle, G., & Van de Poel, M. (1999b). Incidental Foreign-Language Acquisition by Children Watching Subtitled Television Programs. *Journal of Psycholinguistic*\*Research\*, 28(3), 227–244. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023202130625
- De Saussure, F. (2011). Course in general linguistics. Columbia University Press.
- DeCordova, R. (1990). *Picture personalities: The emergence of the star system in America*.

  University of Illinois Press.
- Decortis, F. (2005). Survey of narrative theories for learning environments.
- Desilla, L. (2012). Implicatures in film: Construal and functions in Bridget Jones romantic comedies. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *44*(1), 30–53.

- Desilla, L. (2014). Reading between the lines, seeing beyond the images: An empirical study on the comprehension of implicit film dialogue meaning across cultures. *The Translator*, 20(2), 194–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/13556509.2014.967476
- Desilla, L. (2019). Happily lost in translation: Misunderstandings in film dialogue. *Multilingua*, *38*(5), 601–618.
- Dube, E. F. (1982). Literacy, cultural familiarity, and intelligence as determinants of story recall In Neisser U (Ed.), Memory observed: Remembering in natural contexts (pp. 274–292). San Francisco: Freeman.
- Duff, P. A. (2002). Pop Culture and ESL Students: Intertextuality, Identity, and Participation in Classroom Discussions. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 45(6), 482–487.
- Duff, P. A. (2003). Intertextuality and Hybrid Discourses: The Infusion of Pop Culture in Educational Discourse. *Linguistics and Education*, *14*(3), 231–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2004.02.005
- Dumont, L. E. (1979). A sociolinguistic examination of French textbooks and feature films for the teaching of language in its cultural communication [ProQuest Dissertations Publishing]. https://search.proquest.com/docview/302940316?pq-origsite=primo
- Eco, U. (1986). Travels in hyper reality: Essays (1st ed.). Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.

- Eichenbaum, B. (1981). Problems of Cinema Stylistics. In *Russian formalist film theory*.

  Deptof Slavic Languages and Literatures, University of Michigan.
- Elaesser, T., & Buckland, W. (2002). Studying contemporary American film: A guide to movie analysis. Arnold.
- Eleftheriotis, D. (2006). *Asian cinemas: A reader and guide* (D. Eleftheriotis & G. Needham, Eds.). University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781474468039
- Elsaesser, T., & Buckland, W. (2002). Studying contemporary American film: A guide to movie analysis. Oxford University Press Inc.
- Ely, R., & McCabe, A. (1993). Remembered voices. *Journal of Child Language*, 20(3), 671–696.
- Erbaugh, M. (2010). The Chinese Pear stories: Narratives across seven Chinese dialects.
- Ewen, S. (1992). *Channels of desire: Mass images and the shaping of American consciousness* (2nd ed.). University of Minnesota Press.
- Ezra, E., & Rowden, T. (2006). Transnational cinema: The film reader. Routledge.
- Fiske, J. (1992). British cultural studies and television. In R. C. Allen (Ed.), *Channels of discourse, reassembled.* (pp. 284–397). University of North Carolina Press.

- Fleming, V. (Director). (1939, August 15). *The Wizard of Oz* [Adventure, Family, Fantasy, Musical]. Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer (MGM).
- Frawley, W., & Lantolf, J. P. (1985). Second language discourse: A Vygotskyan perspective.

  Applied Linguistics, 6(1), 19–44.
- Fu, P., & Desser, D. (2000). *The Cinema of Hong Kong: History, arts, identity*. University Press.
- Fuentes Luque, A. (2003). An Empirical Approach to the Reception of AV Translated

  Humour: A Case Study of the Marx Brothers' 'Duck Soup'. *The Translator*, 9(2),

  293–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/13556509.2003.10799158
- Gaut, B. (1997). Review of Engaging Characters: Fiction, Emotion, and the Cinema. *The British Journal of Aesthetics*, *37*(1), 96–98.
- Gee, J. (2003). What video games have to teach us about learning and literacy. *Computers in Entertainment CIE*, *I*(1), 20–20. https://doi.org/10.1145/950566.950595
- Gill, S. R. (2008). The Comprehension Matrix: A Tool for Designing Comprehension

  Instruction. *The Reading Teacher*, 62(2), 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1598/RT.62.2.2
- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1967). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Aldine Publishing.

- Glaser, B. G., & Strauss, A. L. (1970). The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Chicago, Aldine PubCo.
- Gray, A. (1992). *Video playtime: The gendering of a leisure technology*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203135501
- Grodal, T. K. (1997). *Moving pictures: A new theory of film genres, feelings and cognition*.

  Clarendon Press.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1981). Effective evaluation. Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Guillot, M.-N., & Pavesi, M. (2019). AVT as intercultural mediation. *Multilingua*, 38(5), 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1515/multi-2018-0115
- Gutierrez, K., Rymes, B., & Larson, J. (1995). Script, Counterscript, and Underlife in the Classroom: James Brown versus 'Brown v. Board of Education.' *Harvard Educational Review*, 65(3), 445–471. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.65.3.r16146n25h4mh384
- Haill, R. (2021, June). *Using Films in Class: The best way to motivate ELs?* TESOL Connections. http://newsmanager.com/partners.com/tesolc/issues/2021-06-01/3.html
- Hall, S. (1980). *Culture, media, language: Working papers in cultural studies, 1972-79*. Hutchinson. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203381182

- Hall, S. (1997). *Representation. Cultural representations and signifying practices.* The Open University.
- Hanna, J. E., Tanenhaus, M. K., & Trueswell, J. C. (2003). The effects of common ground and perspective on domains of referential interpretation. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 49(1), 43–61.
- Hansen, M. (1999). The Mass Production of the Senses: Classical Cinema as Vernacular Modernism. *Modernism/Modernity (Baltimore, Md.)*, *6*(2), 59–77. https://doi.org/10.1353/mod.1999.0018
- Harris, P., Trezise, J., & Winser, W. N. (2002). 'Is the Story on My Face?': Intertextual Conflicts during Teacher-Class Interactions around Texts in Early Grade Classrooms.

  \*Research in the Teaching of English, 37(1), 9–54.
- Harris, R. J., Schoen, L. M., & Hensley, D. L. (1992). A Cross-Cultural Study of Story Memory. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 23(2), 133–147. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022192232001
- Harris, T. (2003). Listening with Your Eyes: The Importance of Speech-Related Gestures in the Language Classroom. *Foreign Language Annals*, 36(2), 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1944-9720.2003.tb01468.x

- Heath, S. B. (1983). Ways with words: Language, life, and work in communities and classrooms. Cambridge University Press.
- Herrero, C., & Vanderschelden, I. (2019). *Using film and media in the language classroom:*\*Reflections on research-led teaching. Multilingual Matters.
- Heydon, R. (2016). Why multimodal literacy matters: (Re)conceptualizing literacy and wellbeing through singing-infused multimodal, intergenerational curricula. Sense Publishers.
- Hill, J., & Flynn, K. (2006). *Classroom instruction that works with English language learners*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Hoechsmann, M., & Poyntz, S. R. (2012). *Media literacies [electronic resource]: A critical introduction*. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Hofmann, J. (2018). Pixar films, popular culture, and language teaching: The potential of animated films for Teaching English as a Foreign Language. *Global Studies of Childhood*, 8(3), 267–280. https://doi.org/10.1177/2043610618798929
- Howard, S., & Roberts, S. (2002). Winning hearts and minds: Television and the very young audience. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, *3*(3), 315–337. https://doi.org/10.2304/ciec.2002.3.3.2

- Ina, L. (2014). Incidental Foreign-Language Acquisition by Children Watching Subtitled Television Programs. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - TOJET*, 13(4), 81–87.
- Invernizzi, M. A., & Abouzeid, M. P. (1995). One story map does not fit all: A cross-cultural analysis of children's written story retellings. *Journal of Narrative and Life History*, 5(1), 1–19.
- Jakobsen, R. (1960). Closing statement: Linguistics and poetics. *Style in Language, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA*, 350–377.
- Jenkins, H. (2000a). Reception theory and audience research: The mystery of the vampire's kiss. na.
- Jenkins, H. (2000b). Reception theory and audience research: The mystery of the vampire's kiss. In C. Gledhill & L. Williams (Eds.), *Reinventing film studies* (pp. 165–182).

  Arnold.
- Jenkins, H., Clinton, K., Purushotma, R., Robison, A. J., & Weigel, M. (2009). *Confronting the challenges of participatory culture: Media education for the 21st century*. MIT Press.
- Jewitt, C., & Kress, G. R. (2003). Multimodal literacy. P. Lang.

- Johnson, M. (1987). The body in the mind: The bodily basis of meaning, imagination, and reason. University of Chicago Press.
- Jylha-Laide, J., & Karreinen, S. (1993). Play it again, Laura: Off-air cartoons and video as a means of second language learning, a case study. Finns as Learners of English: Three Studies. Jyvaskyla Cross-Language Studies, 16, 89–147.
- Kamberelis, G. (2001). Producing of Heteroglossic Classroom (Micro)cultures Through Hybrid Discourse Practice. *Linguistics and Education*, *12*(1), 85–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0898-5898(00)00044-9
- Kamil, M. L., Pearson, P. D., Moje, E. B., & Afflerbach, P. (2011). *Handbook of Reading Research*. Routledge.
- Kant, I. (1929). Critique of pure reason (N. K. Smith, Trans.). St Martin's Press.
- Kepley, V. (1996). Whose apparatus?: Problems of film exhibition and history. In D. Bordwell & N. Carroll (Eds.), *Post-theory: Reconstructing film studies* (pp. 533–552). University of Wisconsin Press.
- Kidron, B. (Director). (2004, November 10). *Bridget Jones: The Edge of Reason* [Comedy, Drama, Romance]. Universal Pictures, StudioCanal, Miramax.
- Kintsch, W., & Greene, E. (1978). The role of culture-specific schemata in the comprehension and recall of stories. *Discourse Processes*, *1*(1), 1–13.

- Klein, C. (2007). Kung Fu Hustle: Transnational production and the global Chinese-language film. *Journal of Chinese Cinemas*, *1*(3), 189–208. https://doi.org/10.1386/jcc.1.3.189\_1
- Klinger, B. (1994). *Melodrama and meaning: History, culture, and the films of Douglas Sirk*.

  Indiana University Press.
- Koolstra, C. M., & Beentjes, J. W. J. (1999a). Children's Vocabulary Acquisition in aForeign Language through Watching Subtitled Television Programs at Home.Educational Technology Research and Development, 47(1), 51–60. ERIC.
- Koolstra, C. M., & Beentjes, J. W. J. (1999b). Children's vocabulary acquisition in a foreign language through watching subtitled television programs at home. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 47(1), 51–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02299476
- Krashen, S. (1989). We acquire vocabulary and spelling by reading: Additional evidence for the input hypothesis. *The Modern Language Journal (Boulder, Colo.)*, 73(4), 440–464. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.1989.tb05325.x
- Krashen, S. D. (1981a). *Second language acquisition and second language learning* (1st ed.). Pergamon Press.

- Krashen, S. D. (1981b). *Second language acquisition and second language learning*. Pergamon Press.
- Krashen, S. D. (1985). The input hypothesis: Issues and implications. Longman.
- Krashen, S. D. (1993). *The power of reading: Insights from the research*. Libraries Unlimited.
- Krashen, S. D. (2011). Free voluntary reading. Libraries Unlimited.
- Krashen, S. D. (2018a). Comprehensible and compelling: The causes and effects of free voluntary reading. Libraries Unlimited.
- Krashen, S. D. (2018b). Comprehensible and compelling: The causes and effects of free voluntary reading. Libraries Unlimited.
- Kristeva, J. (1986). Word, dialogue, and the novel. In T. Moi (Ed.), *The Kristeva reader* (pp. 35–61). Columbia University Press.
- Kuppens, A. H. (2010a). Incidental foreign language acquisition from media exposure.

  \*Learning, Media and Technology, 35(1), 65–85.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/17439880903561876
- Kuppens, A. H. (2010b). Incidental Foreign Language Acquisition from Media Exposure. *Learning, Media and Technology*, 35(1), 65–85.

- Lantolf, J. P. (2011). The sociocultural approach to second language acquisition:

  Sociocultural theory, second language acquisition, and artificial L2 development. In

  Alternative approaches to second language acquisition (pp. 36–59). Routledge.
- Lantolf, J. P., & Ahmed, M. (1989). Psycholinguistic perspectives on interlanguage variation:

  A Vygotskyan analysis. *Variation in Second Language Acquisition: Psycholinguistic Issues. Clevedon, Avon, England: Multilingual Matters*.
- Lantolf, J. P., & Thorne, S. L. (2006). Sociocultural theory and the genesis of second language development. Oxford University Press.
- Lee, S. (2007). Revelations from Three Consecutive Studies on Extensive Reading. *RELC Journal*, 38(2), 150–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033688207079730
- Lee Zoreda, M., & Vivaldo-Lima, J. (2008). Scaffolding Linguistic and Intercultural Goals in EFL with Simplified Novels and Their Film Adaptations. *English Teaching Forum*, 46(3), 22-.
- Lemke, J. L. (1990). Talking science: Language, learning, and values. Ablex Pub. Corp.
- Lewis, C. (2001). Literary Practices As Social Acts: Power, Status, and Cultural Norms in the Classroom (1st edition). Routledge.
- Lim, H. (2019). Test format effects: A componential approach to second language reading.

  \*Language Testing in Asia, 9(1), 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40468-019-0082-y

- Lin, S.-Y., Shin, F., & Krashen, S. (2007). Sophia's Choice: Summer Reading. *Knowledge Quest*, 35(3), 52–55.
- Liu, Y. (2013). Applying Comprehensible Input and Culture Input Methodology to Inspire College Students' Learning Motivation. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 3(11), 2072-. https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.3.11.2072-2077
- Lo Bianco, J., Liddicoat, A. J., & Crozet, C. (1999). Striving for the Third Place:

  Intercultural Competence through Language Education. ERIC.
- Logan, T. (1993). Victorian treasure houses: The novel and the parlor. *Journal of Narrative* and Life History, 3(2–3), 283–297.
- Macedo, D. P. (2019). *Decolonizing foreign language education: The misteaching of English and other colonial languages*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429453113
- Magliano, J. P., & Clinton, J. A. (2016). A Vision of the Viewer: Situating Narration in the Fiction Film in the Context of Theories of Narrative Comprehension. *Projections:*The Journal for Movies and Mind, 10(1), 3-. Gale Academic OneFile.
- Maguire, S. (Director). (2001, April 13). *Bridget Jones's Diary* [Comedy, Drama, Romance]. Miramax, Universal Pictures, StudioCanal.
- Marsh, J., & Millard, E. (2000). *Literacy and popular culture: Using children's culture in the classroom*. Paul Chapman.

Marsh, J., & Thompson, P. (2001). Parental involvement in literacy development: Using media texts. *Journal of Research in Reading*, *24*(3), 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.00148

Masterman, L. (1985). Teaching the media [electronic resource] (2nd ed.). Comedia.

- Mathias, J., Bruce, M., & Newton, D. P. (2013). Challenging the Western stereotype: Do Chinese international foundation students learn by rote? *Research in Post-Compulsory Education*, *18*(3), 221–238. https://doi.org/10.1080/13596748.2013.819257
- Matos, A. G. (2014). Narrative Matters in Intercultural Learning—Contributions from Jerome Bruner. *Revista Lusófona de Educação*, 28(28).
- Mayne, J. (1982). Immigrants and spectators. Wide Angle, 5(2), 32–41.
- McCabe, A. (1997). Cultural Background and Storytelling: A Review and Implications for Schooling. *The Elementary School Journal*, 97(5), 453–473. https://doi.org/10.1086/461876
- McCarey, L. (Director). (1933, November 17). *Duck Soup* [Comedy, Musical, War].

  Paramount Pictures.

- McKeown, M. G., Beck, I. L., Sinatra, G. M., & Loxterman, J. A. (1992). The Contribution of Prior Knowledge and Coherent Text to Comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 27(1), 79–93.
- McQuillan, J. (2020). Harry Potter and the Prisoners of Vocabulary Instruction: Acquiring Academic Language at Hogwarts. *Reading in a Foreign Language*, *32*(2), 122–143.
- McVee, M. B., Dunsmore, K., & Gavelek, J. R. (2005). Schema Theory Revisited. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(4), 531–566. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543075004531
- McVicker, C. J. (2007). Comic Strips as a Text Structure for Learning to Read. *The Reading Teacher*, 61(1), 85–88. https://doi.org/10.1598/RT.61.1.9
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016a). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (Fourth edition). Jossey-Bass, a Wiley Brand.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016b). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, P. J., Koven, M., & Lin, S. (2011). Language Socialization and Narrative. In *The Handbook of Language Socialization* (pp. 190–208). Wiley-Blackwell. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444342901.ch8
- Mistry, J. (2021). Decolonizing processes in film education. *Film Education Journal*, *4*(1). https://doi.org/10.14324/FEJ.04.1.01

- Mitchell, R., Myles, F., & Marsden, E. (2019). *Second language learning theories* (Fourth edition.). Routledge.
- Mo lei tau. (2010). Academic Dictionaries and Encyclopedias. https://en-academic.com/dic.nsf/enwiki/695463
- Molenaar, I., van Boxtel, C. A., & Sleegers, P. J. (2011). Metacognitive scaffolding in an innovative learning arrangement. *Instructional Science*, 39(6), 785–803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-010-9154-1
- Moll, L. C. (2015). Tapping Into the 'Hidden' Home and Community Resources of Students.

  \*\*Kappa Delta Pi Record, 51(3), 114–117.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2015.1056661
- Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., & González, N. (2005). Funds of knowledge: Theorizing practices in households, communities, and classrooms. LErlbaum Associates.
- Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (1992). Funds of knowledge for teaching:

  Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. *Theory into Practice*,

  31(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849209543534
- Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (2009a). Funds of knowledge for teaching:

  Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. *Theory into Practice*,

  31(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849209543534

- Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (2009b). Funds of knowledge for teaching:

  Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. *Theory into Practice*,

  31(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849209543534
- Moll, L. C., & Greenberg, J. B. (1990). Creating zones of possibilities: Combining social contexts for instruction. In *Vygotsky and Education* (pp. 319–348). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139173674.016
- Molle, D., Oliveira, L. C., MacDonald, R., & Bhasin, A. (2021). Leveraging incidental and intentional vocabulary learning to support multilingual students' participation in disciplinary practices and discourses. *TESOL Journal*, 12(4), n/a. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.616">https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.616</a>
- Mordaunt, O. G., & Olson, D. W. (2010). Listen, listen, listen and listen: Building a comprehension corpus and making it comprehensible. *Educational Studies*, *36*(3), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055690903172068
- Musser, C. (1979). The Early Cinema of Edwin Porter. *Cinema Journal*, 19(1), 1–38. https://doi.org/10.2307/1225418
- Naficy, H. (1993). *The making of exile cultures: Iranian television in Los Angeles*. University of Minnesota Press.

- Nagy, W. E., Herman, P. A., & Anderson, R. C. (1985). Learning Words from Context.

  \*Reading Research Quarterly, 20(2), 233–253. https://doi.org/10.2307/747758
- Nassaji, H., & Tian, J. (2018). Constructivism. In M. Zeraatpishe, A. Faravani, H. R. Kargozari, & M. Azarnoosh (Eds.), *Issues in Applying SLA Theories toward Creative Teaching*. (pp. 23–36). Brill, Sense,.
- Neale, S. (2000). Genre and Hollywood [electronic resource]. Routledge.
- Neuman, S. B., & Koskinen, P. (1991). Captioned Television as 'Comprehensible Input':

  Effects of Incidental Word Learning from Context for Language Minority Students

  (63006851; ED332538; pp. 1–48). ERIC. https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/63006851?accountid=1511
- Neuman, S. B., & Koskinen, P. (1992). Captioned Television as Comprehensible Input:

  Effects of Incidental Word Learning from Context for Language Minority Students.

  Reading Research Quarterly, 27(1), 94-. https://doi.org/10.2307/747835
- Ochs, E. (1982). Talking to children in Western Samoa. *Language in Society*, 11(1), 77–104. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047404500009040

- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2006). *The Ontario curriculum, Language grades 1-8*.

  Ministry of Education and Training.

  http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/curriculum/elementary/language.html
- Ontario Ministry of Education. (2007). *The Ontario curriculum, grades 11 and 12: English as a Second Language and English Literacy Development*. Ontario Ministry of Education. http://www.edu.gov.on.ca/eng/curriculum/secondary/esl912currb.pdf
- Parkhill, F., & Davey, R. (2014). 'I used to read one page in two minutes and now I am reading ten': Using popular film subtitles to enhance literacy outcomes. *Literacy Learning*, 22(2), 28–33. https://doi.org/10.3316/aeipt.204238
- Pavakanun, U., & D'Ydewalle, G. (1992). Watching foreign television programs and language learning. *NATO ASI Series F Computer and Systems Sciences*, 87(1), 193–193.
- Pearson, P. D. (2014). The roots of reading comprehension instruction. In *Handbook of research on reading comprehension* (pp. 27–55). Routledge.
- Pegrum, M. (2008). Film, Culture and Identity: Critical Intercultural Literacies for the Language Classroom. *Language and Intercultural Communication*, 8(2), 136–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/14708470802271073

- Pegrum, M., Hartley, L., & Wechtler, V. (2005). Contemporary cinema in language learning: From linguistic input to intercultural insight. *The Language Learning Journal*, *32*(1), 55–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571730585200191
- Peters, E., Noreillie, A.-S., Heylen, K., Bulté, B., & Desmet, P. (2019). The Impact of Instruction and Out-of-School Exposure to Foreign Language Input on Learners'
  Vocabulary Knowledge in Two Languages. *Language Learning*, 69(3), 747–782.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/lang.12351
- Peterson, C., & McCabe, A. (1992). Parental styles of narrative elicitation: Effect on children's narrative structure and content. *First Language*, *12*(36), 299–321. https://doi.org/10.1177/014272379201203606
- Phillips, P. (2000). *Understanding film texts: Meaning and experience*. BFI Publishing. Piaget, J. (1955). *The language and thought of the child*. Meridian.
- Pinar, W. F. (2008). Understanding curriculum: An introduction to the study of historical and contemporary curriculum discourses. P. Lang.
- Plantinga, C. (1997). Review of The Reality of Illusion: An Ecological Approach to Cognitive Film Theory [Review of *Review of The Reality of Illusion: An Ecological Approach to Cognitive Film Theory*, by J. D. Anderson]. *Film Quarterly*, *50*(4), 64–65. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/1213459

- Plantinga, C. R., & Smith, G. M. (1999). *Passionate views: Film, cognition, and emotion*. Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Poehner, M. E. (2008). Dynamic Assessment A Vygotskian Approach to Understanding and

  Promoting L2 Development (1st ed. 2008.). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/9780-387-75775-9
- Poldrack, R. A., Halchenko, Y. O., & Hanson, S. J. (2009). Decoding the Large-Scale Structure of Brain Function by Classifying Mental States Across Individuals.

  \*Psychological Science\*, 20(11), 1364–1372. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02460.x
- Pritchard, R. (1990). The Effects of Cultural Schemata on Reading Processing Strategies.

  \*Reading Research Quarterly, 25(4), 273–295. https://doi.org/10.2307/747692
- Propp, V. I. (1984). *Morphology of the folktale* (2d ed., rev.edited with a pref. by Louis A. Wagner [and a] new introd. by Alan Dundes.). University of Texas Press.
- Pujadas, G., & Muñoz, C. (2020). Examining adolescent EFL learners' TV viewing comprehension through captions and subtitles. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 42(3), 551–575. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263120000042
- Qualtrics. (2014). *Qualtrics Security White Paper Lite: Defining our security processes*. https://www.qualtrics.com

- Quinlisk, C. C. (2003). Media Literacy in the ESL/EFL Classroom: Reading Images and Cultural Stories. *TESOL Journal*, *12*(3), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1949-3533.2003.tb00141.x
- Reinhardt, J. (2019). Social media in second and foreign language teaching and learning: Blogs, wikis, and social networking. *Language Teaching*, *52*(1), 1–39. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0261444818000356
- Reinhardt, J. (2020). Metaphors for social media-enhanced foreign language teaching and learning. *Foreign Language Annals*, *53*(2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12462
- Rhovaidah, A. E. T., Hadi, M. S., & Mutiarani, M. (2021). Using Media in the Form of Favorite Movies to Teach Grammar and Vocabulary to Eleventh graders. *Jurnal Studi Guru Dan Pembelajaran*, 4(3). https://doi.org/10.30605/jsgp.4.3.2021.1212
- Ritchie, G. (Director). (2009, December 24). *Sherlock Holmes* [Action, Adventure, Mystery]. Warner Bros., Village Roadshow Pictures, Silver Pictures.
- Ritchie, G. (Director). (2011, December 14). *Sherlock Holmes: A Game of Shadows* [Action, Adventure, Mystery]. Warner Bros., Village Roadshow Pictures, Silver Pictures.
- Roberts, C., Davies, E., & Jupp, T. C. (1992). Language and discrimination: A study of communication in multi-ethnic workplaces. Longman.

- Rodgers, M. P. H., & Webb, S. (2017). The Effects of Captions on EFL Learners'

  Comprehension of English-Language Television Programs. *CALICO Journal*, *34*(1), 20–38. https://doi.org/10.1558/cj.29522
- Rost, M. (2016). Teaching and researching listening (Third edition.). Routledge.
- Rumelhart, D. E. (1980). On Evaluating Story Grammars. *Cognitive Science*, *4*(3), 313–316. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15516709cog0403 5
- Saito, A. (1996). Social Origins of Cognition: Bartlett, Evolutionary Perspective and Embodied Mind Approach. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, *26*(4), 399–421. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5914.1996.tb00299.x
- Saldanha, G., & O'Brien, S. (2013). Research methodologies in translation studies. St. Jerome Publishing.
- Schaefer, E. (1999). Bold! Daring! Shocking! True! [electronic resource]: A history of exploitation films, 1919-1959. Duke University Press.
- Schatz, T. (2009). Film Genre and the Genre Film. In L. Braudy & M. Cohen (Eds.), *Film theory and criticism: Introductory readings* (7th ed., pp. 691–702). Oxford University Press.
- Schiefelbusch, R. L., & Pickar, J. (1984). *The Acquisition of communicative competence*.

  University Park Press.

- Scollon, R., & Scollon, S. B. K. (1995). *Intercultural communication: A discourse approach*.

  Blackwell.
- Scorsese, M. (Director). (2019, November 27). *The Irishman* [Biography, Crime, Drama]. Tribeca Productions, Sikelia Productions, Winkler Films.
- Semali, L. (2000). Literacy in multimedia America: Integrating media education across the curriculum. Falmer Press.
- Settlement.Org. (2020, April 17). What are the language requirements for post-secondary education? Settlement.Org. https://settlement.org/ontario/education/colleges-universities-and-institutes/apply-for-post-secondary-education/what-are-the-language-requirements-for-post-secondary-education/
- Sharman, J. (Director). (1975). *The Rocky Horror picture show* (Widescreen.). Twentienth Century Fox Home Entertainment.
- Shegar, C., & Weninger, C. (2010). Intertextuality in preschoolers' engagement with popular culture: Implications for literacy development. *Language and Education*, *24*(5), 431–447. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500782.2010.486861
- Shen, J. (2015). How Can Chinese Teachers Use Multimedia Material in EFL Teaching. In *Transactions on Edutainment XI* (pp. 170–178). Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-48247-6\_15

- Sipe, L. R. (2000). 'Those Two Gingerbread Boys Could Be Brothers': How Children Use Intertextual Connections during Storybook Readalouds. *Children's Literature in Education*, 31(2), 73-.
- Sipe, L. R. (2001). A palimpsest of stories: Young children's construction of intertextual links among fairytale variants. *Reading Research and Instruction*, 40(4), 333–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388070109558354
- Sipe, L. R. (2008). Storytime: Young children's literary understanding in the classroom.

  Teachers College Press.
- Smith, M. (1995). Engaging characters: Fiction, emotion, and the cinema. Clarendon Press.
- Sobchack, V. (2004). *Carnal Thoughts: Embodiment and Moving Image Culture*. University of California Press,. https://doi.org/10.1525/9780520937826
- Spielberg, S. (Director). (1981, June 12). *Raiders of the Lost Ark* [Action, Adventure]. Paramount Pictures, Lucasfilm.
- Srinivas, S. V. (2005). Kung Fu Hustle: A note on the local. *Inter-Asia Cultural Studies*, *6*(2), 289–295. https://doi.org/10.1080/14649370500066001
- Stafford, R. (2007). Understanding audiences and the film industry. British Film Institute.

- Staiger, J. (1992). *Interpreting films: Studies in the historical reception of American cinema*.

  Princeton University Press.
- Statistics Canada. (2020, February 19). *Canadian postsecondary enrolments and graduates,* 2017/2018. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/200219/dq200219beng.htm
- Stein, N. L., Albro, E. R., Quasthoff, U., McCabe, A., Nicolopoulou, A., & Hermans, H. J.
  M. (1997). Narrative Development: Six Approaches (M. Bamberg, Ed.). Psychology
  Press.
- Stein, N. L., & Glenn, C. G. (1975). An Analysis of Story Comprehension in Elementary School Children: A Test of a Schema.
- Stone, C. A. (1998). The Metaphor of Scaffolding: Its Utility for the Field of Learning Disabilities. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, *31*(4), 344–364. https://doi.org/10.1177/002221949803100404
- Suvorov, R. (2018). Test takers' use of visual information in an L2 video-mediated listening test: Evidence from cued retrospective reporting. In G. J. Ockey & E. Wagner,

  \*\*Assessing L2 Listening: Moving Towards Authenticity\* (pp. 145–160). John Benjamins Publishing Company.
  - http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/west/detail.action?docID=5455381

- Talavan, N. (2007). Learning Vocabulary through Authentic Video and Subtitles. *TESOL-SPAIN Newsletter*, *31*, 5-8.
- Tan, E. S. (1996). *Emotion and the structure of narrative film: Film as an emotion machine* (B. Fasting, Trans.). LErlbaum Associates.
- Tanenhaus, M. K., Spivey-Knowlton, M. J., Eberhard, K. M., & Sedivy, J. C. (1995).Integration of visual and linguistic information in spoken language comprehension.Science, 268(5217), 1632-. Gale Academic OneFile.
- Tannen, D. (1980). A comparative analysis of oral narrative strategies: Athenian Greek and American English. In *The pear stories: Cognitive, cultural, and linguistic aspects of narrative production* (pp. 51–87). Ablex Publishing Company Norwood^ eN. J NJ.
- Thompson, G. (2016). 3 ways technology supports ell instruction: By extending the learning beyond class time, scaffolding instruction, and personalizing education, technology is helping English language learners succeed. *THE Journal : Technological Horizons in Education*, 43(2), 26-.
- Thurber, R. M. (Director). (2004, June 18). *Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story* [Comedy, Sport]. Twentieth Century Fox, Mediastream Vierte Film GmbH & Co. Vermarktungs KG, Red Hour Films.

- Tudor, A. (1986). Genre. In B. K. Grant (Ed.), *Film genre reader* (1st ed., pp. 3–11). University of Texas Press.
- Tufte, T., & Enghel, F. (2009). *Youth Engaging With the World: Media, Communication and Social Change, Yearbook 2009*. Nordicom, University of Gothenburg.
- Turner, G. (2003). *British cultural studies an introduction* (3rd ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203994849
- Unkrich, L., & Molina, A. (Directors). (2017). *Coco*. Pixar Animation Studios. https://www.imdb.com/title/tt2380307/?ref\_=fn\_al\_tt\_1
- Van de Poel, M., & d'Ydewalle, G. (2001). Incidental Foreign-Language Acquisition by

  Children Watching Subtitled Television Programs. In Y. Gambier & H. Gottlieb

  (Eds.), *Benjamins Translation Library* (Vol. 34, p. 259). John Benjamins Publishing

  Company. https://doi.org/10.1075/btl.34.30van
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*.

  Harvard University Press.
- Wang, L., & Byram, M. (2011). 'But when you are doing your exams it is the same as in China' Chinese students adjusting to western approaches to teaching and learning. 

  \*Cambridge Journal of Education, 41(4), 407–424.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1080/0305764X.2011.625001

- Warshow, R. (1985). Movie Chronicle: The Westerner. In G. Mast & M. Cohen (Eds.), *Film theory and criticism: Introductory readings / Gerald Mast, Marshall Cohen.* (3rd ed., pp. 401–417). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Watson, K. A. (1975). Transferable communicative routines: Strategies and group identity in two speech events. *Language in Society*, *4*(1), 53–72. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047404500004498
- Webb, S. (2008). The Effects of Context on Incidental Vocabulary Learning. *Reading in a Foreign Language*, 20(2), 232–245. ERIC.
- Webb, S., & Rodgers, M. P. H. (2009). Vocabulary Demands of Television Programs.

  \*\*Language Learning, 59(2), 335–366. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9922.2009.00509.x
- Weninger, C. (2019). From language skills to literacy: Broadening the scope of English language education through media literacy. Routledge.
- Wertsch, J. V. (1978). Recent trends in Soviet psycholinguistics. MESharpe.
- Williams, R. (1981). *Culture*. Fontana.
- Willis, A. (2009). Hong Kong cinema since 1997: Troughs and peaks. *Film International* (*Göteborg, Sweden*), 7(4), 6–17. https://doi.org/10.1386/fiin.7.4.6

- Willis, S. (1993). Hardware and Hardbodies, What Do Women Want?: A reading of Thelma and Louise. In J. Collins, H. Radner, & A. Collins (Eds.), *Film theory goes to the movies* (pp. 120–128). Routledge.
- Wilson, C., & Duncan, B. (2009). Implementing mandates in media education: The Ontario experience. *Comunicar: Revista Científica de Comunicación y Educación*, 16(32), 97–107.
- Wisniewska, N., & Mora, J. C. (2020). Can captioned video benefit second language pronunciation? *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 42(3), 599–624. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263120000029
- Wong, K.-W. (Director). (2013, January 8). *The Grandmaster (Yi dai zong shi)* [Action, Biography, Drama]. Block 2 Pictures, Jet Tone Production, Sil-Metropole Organisation.
- Wood, D., Bruner, J. S., & Ross, G. (1976). The role of tutoring in problem solving. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 17(2), 89–100. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1976.tb00381.x
- Xiang, C. (2018). Cases on audio-visual media in language education. IGI Global.
- Yang, L. H., & Fleming, M. (2013). How Chinese college students make sense of foreign films and TV series: Implications for the development of intercultural communicative

competence in ELT. *The Language Learning Journal: Special Issue: Intercultural Competence I*, 41(3), 297–310. https://doi.org/10.1080/09571736.2013.836347

Yuan, X. (2012). *Politeness and audience response in Chinese-English subtitling*. Peter Lang Oxford.

Zoom. (2019). Zoom Video Communications, Inc. https://zoom.us/

# Appendices

Appendix A: Film Genre Preferences of Chinese Post-Secondary Students (by a show of hands)

Genre	Class 1 Class size: 23 (m, 2; f, 21)	Class 2 Class size: 24 (m, 4; f, 20)	Telefilm Preferences (Canada wide) /10
action/adventure	2	1	7.5
animated movies	0	0	5.2
comedy	5	8	7.6
drama	5	2	7.1
horror/suspense	0	3	4.7
musical	1	0	4.4
mystery/detective	2	6	7.3
period film/biography	3	1	6.1
romantic comedy	1	1	6.2
science fiction	5	1	5.7
western	0	0	4.2

# **Appendix B: Reception Study Overall Format**

Reception Study	
Questionnaire (group A, Chinese).	

Questionnaire (group B, Canadian).

Interviews (group A, Chinese).

Interviews (group B, Canadian).

# Appendix C: Reception Study Format: Questionnaire (Group A and B)

Stage	Tasks	Time (minutes)	Film
1			SS and DB
	Consent form	2	
	Self-assessment questions (language education and	5	
	audiovisual habits) (x6)		
	SS Film excerpts 1-4	8 - 10	
	Post-viewing questions (x7)	10	
	1 ost viewing questions (x7)	10	
	Film excerpt 2	8 – 10	
	Post-viewing questions (x7)	10	
	- · · · · ·		
		Total: 47	

# Appendix D: Reception Study Format: Interviews (Group A and B)

Stage	Tasks	Time (minutes)	Film
2			SS and DD

Part A	
Experiences with film in the classroom	10
Part B	
Film excerpts: cultural questions	15
Part C	
Film excerpts: intertextual questions	15
	Total: 40

Appendix E: Questionnaire - Sample Open-ended Questions (5 per film sequence)

# Shaolin Soccer | 'Fusion' (HD) - Stephen Chow, Man Tat Ng |... Sing explains to Fung that knowing kung fu can help people in their everyday lives. The film cuts to a new location with a white bearded monk slipping on a banana peel and then doing a back flip. What is the meaning of the monk's insertion into the scene? Justify your answer. Why do you think the old monk sequence is included in this scene? What exactly helped you identify the meaning of the monk sequence? (dialogue, sound effects, music, setting, character gestures, facial expressions)

6 of 9 2020-05-13, 11:41 am

urvey Software	https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/Q/EditSection/Blocks//
Does this scene remind you of ar	nything similar you might have seen in the past on
TV/film or other artworks?	,,
	background helped or hindered your comprehension, to
response in the box below.	equence intended to relay? Please justify your
response in the box below.	

# Dodgeball S1

#### <u>Dodgeball (Scene 1)</u>

The following questions refer to your understanding of Dodgeball: A True Underdog Story (Thurber, 2004): Scene 1  $\,$ 

**Directions:** Please, watch the film clip, below, before answering the following questions.

7 of 9 2020-05-13, 11:41 am

**Appendix F: Questionnaire - Scale for Measuring Film Comprehension** 

Score	Criteria
0	No answer/irrelevant answer.
1	Obscure, inconclusive evidence of understanding the intended intertextual/cultural meaning(s).
2	Understanding one (or at least one) of the intended intertextual/cultural meanings. Accessing unintended meanings from the intertextual/cultural information.
3	Understanding all the intended intertextual/cultural meanings, plus unintended ones.

**Appendix G: Questionnaire – Chinese Language Response Translation** 

	scene remind you of anything s	
other artw	vorks? Please, provide as many	similar you might have seen in the past on TV/film or examples as you can think of.
CHN42	同样是周星驰参演的功夫中,从周星驰一开始不懂功夫只能唯唯诺诺做小弟到后面习得功夫与反派打斗的桥段同样运用了这种对比	It is the same in Kung Fu Hustle starring Stephen Chow. In the beginning, Stephen Chow doesn't know kung fu, he could only be a low level gangster. Later he learned kung fu and fight with the villains. The same technique in contrasting the two was also used.
CHN43	无	No
	虽然并不是特别相似,但 我想起了《冰海战记》中一 位被征兵入伍的神教徒在 战场中蹲坐在雪地里向王 子讲解上帝之爱,场景切 换到战场上厮杀的人们和 倒地的尸体上,与其所阐	Although it is not particularly similar, I think of a cultist who was drafted into the army in "The Battle of the Ice Sea" and squatted on the battlefield in the snow explaining the love of God to the prince. The scene switched to the people fighting on the battlefield and the fallen corpse, which corresponds to the concept explained. (He points to the corpse of a soldier and says that is the love of God)

	<b>述的理念</b> 对应。( <b>他指着</b>	
	一位士兵的尸体说那就是	
	<b>神之</b> 爱)	
	神雕侠侣里的武侠片段,	
	<b>金庸小说改编的影</b> 视剧,	Clips of martial arts in the Condor Heroes, films and
CYD 145	   成龙演的十二生肖。	television dramas adapted from Jin Yong's novels, and
CHN45	7775777 ——110	the Chinese zodiac starring Jackie Chan.
CHN46	No	No
	李小龙,成龙 <b>的</b> 电影,西	
	游记中孙悟 <b>空,少林寺</b>	
CHN47	(电视剧)	Bruce Lee, Jackie Chan's movie, Monkey King in Journey to the West, Shaolin Temple (TV series)

**Appendix H: Film Analysis - Sample Plot Segmentation** 

Shaolin Soccer: Plot Segmentation

#### C. Credit title.

#### 1. The past:

a. After losing a soccer match Golden Leg (Fung) is attacked in the leg.

#### 2. The present:

a. Fung is fired by Hung.

#### 3. Fung meets Sing:

- a. Sing explains to Fung that he wants to popularize kung fu in people's everyday lives.
- b. Fung is not convinced he needs kung fu lessons.
- c. As Fung leaves, Sing kicks a beer can high into the sky.
- d. Sing looks at fancy running shoes in a store window.

#### 4. Sing meets Mui:

- a. Mui uses kung fu to create her sweet steamed buns.
- b. Sing gives Mui his shoes in partial payment for sweet buns.
- c. Sweet bun customers break into dance.
- d. Mui's boss arrives and tells everyone to stop dancing and yells at Mui.

#### 5. Sing visits First Brother:

- a. First brother unhappily works a low-level job at a bar.
- b. Sing tells First Brother that they should promote kung fu through song.
- c. Sing and First Brother sing at the bar.
- d. A gang beats them up for their poor singing.

#### 6. Sing decides to apply kung fu to soccer:

- a. Golden Leg (Fung) finds Sing's pop can stuck inside a wall
- b. Fung watches as Sing defeats the gang from the bar in a street fight.
- c. A pop stand:
- d. Fung and Sing agree to apply Kung-Fu to soccer.
- e. Fung offers to coach Sing, but says he needs shoes.
- f. Sing visits Mui at the sweet bun kiosk
- g. Mui has patched up and returns Sings running shoes.

#### 7. Sing and Fung visit the brothers:

- First Brother's bar: Sing tries to convince First Brother to promote kung fu through soccer, but First Brother refuses because its causing him trouble at work.
- b. Fourth Brother's house: Sing tries to convince Fourth Brother to join a kung fu soccer team, but he says he's been out of work for six months and just needs a job.
- c. Third Brother's office building: Third brother is too busy as a businessman to play soccer.
- d. Fifth Brother's grocery store: Fifth Brother says he's too sad about his weight gain to join the team.
- e. Second Brother dish washing station: Second Brother is too stressed and angry about wasting his youth on kung fu to join the soccer team.
- Montage: The brothers look at an old picture when they were students of kung fu, together.
- g. Highrise Rooftop: Sing and Fung accept that the brother's will not play on their soccer
- The brothers each arrive and unite at the top of a building and agree to join Sing's soccer team.

#### 8. Soccer Training

a. Empty field training montage: The brothers train with Fung.

- b. Sing is told to practice leg control, alone.
- Intercut: the team practice while Sing kicks a ball against a cement wall with a bullseve.
- fung and the team watch Sing's incredible kicking skills, but Fung says winning still requires teamwork.

#### 9. Game 1 (The Street Gang):

- a. The game begins and the gang team uses violence to beat the kung fu team.
- b. War movie sequence: the soccer field turns into a literal war zone.
- c. Fung tells Sing that this game is a test and that soccer is the same as war.
- d. First Brother is humiliated by the gang team.
- e. The brother's kung fu powers return.
- f. The gang team is defeated, then joins the kung fu team.

#### 10. Hung's Soccer Building:

- a. With Hung watching, a soccer player and a group of scientists practice soccer in a pool.
- b. Hung gets a phone about Fung signing up for the soccer championship.
- c. Hung agrees to let Fung's kung fu team play in the championship games.

#### 11. Mui and Sing at the mall

- a. Sing tells Mui she is beautiful (despite her skin condition).
- b. Mui asks for a new pair of running shoes if Sing becomes famous.

#### 12. Soccer Championships (First Round):

- a. Empty soccer stadium: the kung fu team enters an empty stadium.
- b. First Round Game 1: The opposing team underestimates the kung fu team based on their looks and the kung fu team starts making goals easily.
- c. Intercut: Hung gets a phone call while out golfing saying the kung fu soccer team is winning 60-0.
- d. The kung fu soccer team wins and gets interviewed by the press.
- e. Intercut: Mui goes to a beauty salon for a makeover.
- f. The team is celebrated by the press and they get new running shoes.
- g. The steam bun kiosk: The team celebrates their win by throwing away their old shoes and drinking.
- h. Mui arrives with a grotesque makeover.
- i. Sing gives Mui a new pair of running shoes.
- j. Sing tells Mui he only sees her as a friend, and she cries.
- k. First Round: Game 2 (Team Girls)
- The kung fu team wins.
- Sing returns to the sweet bun kiosk to give Mui a ticket to the soccer championships, but Mui is gone
- n. Flashback/Sing's internal realization: Mui cries into her sweet buns.

#### 13. Championship Game (Part 1)

- a. The team arrive to a huge crowd and they see the championship trophy.
- b. Hung is in the stands and says that his team evil will win, no matter what he has to do.
- c. Team evil's goalie catches Sings tiger kung-fu ball.
- d. flashback: the team Evil goalie is revealed to be receiving some kind of drug injections.
- e. A team evil player scores and hurts team kung fu's goalie (Third Brother?)
- f. Hung reveals he was behind Fung's leg break
- g. Team kung fu's goalie is carted off the field.
- h. Each brother attempts to use their kung fu skills during the game but are matched/bested by Team Evil.
- Change room: The team treats their wounds during a time out and some of the team gives up and leaves.
- j. They discuss that if they lose one more player they must forfeit.

# Appendix I: Film Analysis - Shot-by-Shot

Shot Tir	ne Image	Subject	Kinesthetic	Camera	Sound	Editing	Dialogue
#		Matter/Framing	action				

# DB-S1

14			Subject Matter and	manner afterte	Correce			
detioned	See Street of		Torris.	Tend	Shendquite	had .	Transfer (willing)	Totage
		B 450						
		25						
			Service of Co.					
			The image is in the in and write and the acting is in					
			arviel fastioned gare. Terrey lasty ractor.					
			arrand 10 years of and to works a colored triped					
			ant retainments Standard services			Individual con- lection (playing in the		
			contributing that hatting a Deligitual			Sectional Tecture retails transportuni		
			under hight undersorn. The better half of the	Terror Cartific Selling and the cartier flame (a)		petudio harunets. Chiumpfing		Torony See Parks
			Sufficient of Young. Survey Combigue Str.	the runshirted seeds to be of face		missions high pitched proof and pitys at a		Patches, I card waters darting overstant of
- 1	9:01.00		nds.	Wh.	(California)	STREET, SOURCE STREET,	traghtur	is Passi
		TALE A.						
		UCA SIL						
			Terrence and the					
			of Self-Terrory and Deschool, Married Star					
			gum carrier secretive benignant including a					
			starts for ign of the crees. Notices					
			wants a buller fing puter with a with starf	Ancher and Territy last at each other and				
			and boths, maded for	Pain have supherone to per fotony thead and	SE distriction out	nemanantai cara uma		
-	10.8		Contraction	official and	Cheshan	adet.	Mongroup	hone to be.
		/	Securetaries					
			porting further to the left of the room and angled signife legit on					
			Store spedared					
			Marker Street, Schools Marker Street, Street,	No. inc. completon for				
			handecholip till conservationing	action of soffling up Strong Utak, When he				
			inside between Teneny that we couldn't put to that	netrieschind Deschine gitzek		nemental scan union		
			et, formytter briew mess arefle belo	Tomos politica franta. Tomos politica de Mario	Confilment with Perchasting Terrent	united thank when he multiplies	Metch on schenjissett Parcher/Index.co/Reg	
			reservit. He has of a new right some laterary.	suffernise below of	Part has tuckly formy to have have for ognic stight	make as Pata New Vertical or Replaced Frame Terrory's	Timony's had used completes fit westerns	Parcher Tiger Sale
-	200,07		Patches.	mad.	leigh dut.	test.	sursetin des KI.	enonte.
		1.1						
		Bart Bar	Patches spressives by morter carrors with the					
			look turnet Agrile to left frame, the sistems					
			from the check and up. His broad for meeting?					
			respective agests constructer talks. The	Annual Street				Patrier , Delignation part of colors o
	000.00		ther and a lackerhalt set are collected from	arterialistat etheraise descript more	trogitorcones esh	CHEST AND	Mahenel	melabeland deposition
	10.50					1 12.0	22210112	7.00
		8	Decarationship					
			Curtier to the sight and at a digital time eigh,					
			Decision Fectors Torrespondent					
			whitee in the dist and a climbing upon leather					
			hanging from the college. Part has bit the	Part November 19 (Nov. Are)				
			Improvised and leads towards the left across	Suring right of semential then make his beautiful.				
			nether founds for techniques	Sed SoundSelf-of to the County Self-of	550760			
			are able to ser that the other probes to purchase	Then, full the manufalls. of red, arm and freed	Suring light of schematic			
			graduation to	Agrill, orlespecialists offerage forest comp	Section between	20004001	Sight match as some	Parchis Siculariyasini
19	1014		potentiace participat medinthisk*	\$50 mounted in the plot.	Secret rose, Sight be orgin.	retranertations gate schools	Parchecisettivents tok	packing players in gym- cies.
		-12-7		1	(C) 5		17	6 5
		2						
				Terral name after a la				
				Special security is: Notificial specials and the	-			
100	0.00			only make the board agraph of			Street or organization	Patches , remember to
-	10.4	1000	lette substiti	Applies have facilities.	Pro/serVisi	water.	Aut.	petr the happer.
		2		jehr ancheschäglich ac he gesticht otherwis-	De-gritten			
				there is very bitle management in the plant.	Seling left of across. Sight have engin. Common			
				No professori/Nature month with the	irlangthegan widow/furtherto	-	Street angle (reserving	Name and the
								Drype tion.
	20.0		Secretary St.	manufacture.	NAMES.	10 PK F	and,	200
	215.40	. 3:4	Service and All File	manmet activists.	Daw and Patrice	inches (C)	542 (0.00)	
	255,40	1	December #	Incompting the Salts.  Note that is executed that the Salts is executed the Salts is executed the Salts is executed that the Salts is executed that the Salt	Charup of Patrice Suring contract men. The contract of buildy the		Signs multiplicar action: PAG hors professories	Patries The way you our algory upon the wealer com.

# DB-S2

	1		anner en esec	Swetletic action (or	and a			
ot frame #	Time (thousas)	Pramo (that image)	Subject Matter and Framing	movement within the	Comers (Communicative)	Count	Transition (editing)	Olalogue
	Total Security	The second second	The Dodgetall court	-		-	The state of the s	-
		Charles Co.	takes up the entire					
			screen. S Aurple Cates team players can be seen					
			on the right side of the					
			court and screen. They	- 200000				
			are dressed in purple	The regarity of the				
			perseys and white shorts. On the other side of the					
			On the other side of the	the court floor. The 5 Cating players mill about				
			the Average Joe's Issue.	or the court as the				
			(Gordon), He is showed in					
			an all yellow uniters.	and in the tag series of				
			The court is a black floor					
			and in the centre is a large symbol with the	te sen moving of the most partry left;				
			according ACAA, in the	Cowards No team Box				
			very top left of the frame			The ocore plays an		
			we can see the rest of the	from it were working		instrumental tune with		
			Average fee fourture the			stringed instruments and		
			sidelines, Behind them	to some left. The crowd		a main note of a sombre		
			the audience. In the	in the badiground is also miling about with	the distantial court.	sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a	Match on action: The	
			centre and right top of		Extreme NA of the court	church or city bell clock	action of the referee	
			the flame are two	mounterts across the	Roar and the first few	chaines. The general hub-	waving his arms is corried	Corson Muhight: It lo
	0.000		referent wasting a white	top service of the Nume.	rows of the audience.	hab of the crowd.	over into this shot.	like the dock is about
			Medium dut di the	The referee's arms are substrated and he open his mouth in a shout and points one arm		The score plays an instrumental tuns with stringed instruments and a main rate of a somere sounding trumpor. Sound offects. The sound of a		
			referee in the centre of	towards centre left of		church or city Self clock		
			the have. Below him	trans. Some of the		chines. The general hub-	March on action: the	
			are around 5 rows of	audiena members shout		bub of the crowd. The	referee's arms.	
			autienes rembers. The	and point as they watch		sports presenter, Cotton,	substratified in the time-	
	0.00.00		stands are full of people with no empty seats.	the events of the game untols.	MS of the referee. Smaight on dut.	speaks over the sound of the referee.	and position is certied	Cotton:to strike midnight
	0.00-30	4 100	and their couch, Patches,	-		Life Hearter		- Control of the Cont
		THE PERSON NAMED IN	are in the firefront of the					
		The state of the s	screen. They are all					
		EL THE	wearing the yellow team					
			uniform with red plaing					
			uniform with red piping down the side of the leg					
			uniform with red plaing					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the leg and "Average low"s" written amos the chest. One of the members					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the leg and "Average Jue"s" written across-the chest. One of the members weens a pirate sach,					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the leg and "Average Just", written arms, the chest. One of the members weeks a picute such, books, and head surf.					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the leg and "Average live" is written assess the chest. One of the members wears a pirate and, basts, and head size!, Partches sits in a					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the leg and "Average Just", written arms, the chest. One of the members weeks a picute such, books, and head surf.					
			uniform with red piging down the side of the ling and "Average lost"s" written across the chest. One of the mentions wears a pirate such, bands and hand size! Another sits in a wheelithair with a leather flying jaiden, black perto and parker, black perto and parker, black perto and parker, black perto.					
			uniform with red piping down the side of the log off-few and "Average Jose" written across the chest. One of the members week a pipine such, bants, and head sunf. Patches side in a wheelichar with a leastle figing juster, blook perto and the probaby bants. Directly behind him and					
			uniform with red piping down the side of the side of the side of the side of the written across the check. One of the remotion wears a pirate such, boots, and hand sand. Particles site is wheelstar with a lesstle side properties of sides and some and smelley family and smelley family sides and to the less seem is the sides of the sides of the sides of the sides of the sides of the sides of the sides of sides of sides side	The Average ion team				
			uniform with red piping down the side of the log off-few and "Average Jose" written across the chest. One of the members week a pipine such, bants, and head sunf. Patches side in a wheelichar with a leastle figing juster, blook perto and the probaby bants. Directly behind him and			The score plays an estimated form		
			whitem with red going down the side of the leg and "Average Just" written across the chest. One of the remotion wester, a proter such, Start, as protes site, if any advantage of the side of the remotion which are the side of the side	walks from screen right. towards screen left to hubble around Patches.		instrumental tune with stringed instruments and		
			whiten with red going down the side of the lag and "Average last", written enroll the cheek. Che of the members wears a printer such, beach, and head card. Packets site in a wheelthan with a leather faving salest, likely perior and coverby bounds. Directly lasting them as to the left seven in the Dodgeted over with the property sold. As written along the last purple faving the last purple faving the listed purple faving the listed one.	walks from screen right. towards screen left to haddle around Patches. Gordan antons from		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre		
			white we with net pumps and of which the side of the leg and "Average last" in written earns the chest. One of the medium waste a prote such laster, and have such a facult, and have such a facult, and have such a facult, which pumps and such laster laste	walks from screen right towards screen left to huddle around Patches. Continn arters from screen left to join them.		instrumental tune with stringed instruments and a main rate of a sambre sounding trumper. Sound		
			whiten with our parity when the side of the leg and "Nemage lair", witten amount for dear. One of the members were a partie such severa a pinter such, sort head sour!. Patches side sour!. Patches side is an admittable with a least level to the less of severa in the leg and severa in the leg severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the less o	walks from screen right towards screen left to hubble around Patches. Sorder extens from screen left to join them. The audience in the		instrumental tune with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a		
			where with one grains of the large and "Neverge large" will be evident	walks from screen right towards screen left to haddle arrand Floribes. Gordon enters From screen left to join Oben. The audience in the lackground is reving	S of the Average (or	instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound affects: The sound of a shurth or only bell clock		Cutrare on this
	n odesje		whiten with our parity when the side of the leg and "Nemage lair", witten amount for dear. One of the members were a partie such severa a pinter such, sort head sour!. Patches side sour!. Patches side is an admittable with a least level to the less of severa in the leg and severa in the leg severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the Drogstad or our with the less of severa in the less o	walks from screen right towards screen left to hubble around Patches. Sorder extens from screen left to join them. The audience in the	S of the Average I on Treat Straight on	instrumental tune with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre suunding trumper. Sound effects: The issued of a shurch or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straught cut.	Catrans — on this Disease list story.
,	0.00-33		white me with one gamps down the side of the leg and "Nevergo Jose". Written arouse the describe the written arouse the describe white side of the leg and side of the workers are price used, found, and hardes side to a wheelcher with a least white particular than and to the left severe in the sometime of the least white white which we will be a fairness of the least with the authors of the most the authors of the work with the side of the work of the	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straight cut	
	n odegt		white me with one gamps and where the side of the high and "Neverage plant" wetter a cross the describe where the side of the high and "Neverage plant" where a cross the describe have a parties said to be a sensor, a printer said, hearts, and heart said. A service said to be partied said to an advantage of the said said to the side of the said said to the side of the said said to the said said to the said said to the said to the said said to the	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straight out	
,	0.00033		whiten set to not purply and before the side of the leg and "Neverge limit" will be a written arouse the dest. One of the members were a pirate such best, and head as of heads, and heads are a wheelcher with a leasther and a wheelcher with a leasther and a leasther form justed, believed to the series of soveley believed to the series of soveley believed to the series of the automorphism of the believed and to the left series in the automorphism and to the left series of the	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straight out	
	0.0021		white me with one gamps and Verwage Jan 12 and Verw	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	To region aut	
,	n odest		whiten set to not primary and the set of the leg and "Nemage in left" will be set of the leg and "Nemage in left".  One of the members were the set of the leg and set of the leg and	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straight out	
,	0.00-33		white we strike any garge and Versego have be also of the lay and Versego have? When a reason the deed. One of the members was a price such, short, and the second particles size in a wheelcher with a least whom by which will be borned by when the last in purple which will be last purple which will be an experienced on the last purple which will be an experienced with the purple which will be an experienced with the last purple which will be an experienced with the last purple which will be a second of the second was a size of the last purple which will be a second of the last purple which will be a second of the last purple which will be a second of the last purple which will be a second of the last purple will be a second of the las	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Strengths cut	
,	0.0031		whiten with one garge, where we do not seen and where the side of the leg and "Nevergo Jose". One of the members well-ten across the describe the seen and the seen as prices and seen	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	To engine out	
,	0.00-33		whiten with ned parties and where the side of the high and "Movemps lain" within a reason like deed. One of the members were a price such, family, and hardes side in a wheelcher with a least wheelcher wheelcher with a least wheelcher wheelcher with a least wheelcher wheelc	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Streight cut	
,	0.00-21		whiten with one gamps down the side of the leg and "Newage plant" witten arouse the desc. One of the members well-ten arouse the desc. One of the members weeks a pinner such, favore, and head such a place size in a wheelcher within a leaf and a size of the s	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	To eaght out	
,	0.00033		whiten with one gamps and where the side of the high and "Movemps lain" within express the desir. One of the members were the express the desir. One of the members was a price and, hards, and hards and hards. It is his in his hards and	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instrumental ture with stringed instruments and a main note of a sombre sounding trumper. Sound effects: The sound of a shurth or dity bell clock chimes. The general fluit	Straight out	
	0.00-21		whiten with one gamps down the side of the leg and "Newage plant" witten arouse the desc. One of the members well-ten arouse the desc. One of the members weeks a pinner such, favore, and head such a place size in a wheelcher within a leaf and a size of the s	walls from screen right towards screen left to haddle orward Patches. Gordan extent from screen left to join them. The audience in the background in moving pround, pointing and		instruments may with integral instruments and a main rate of a sorber sounding trumper. Search whether the sound of a durch or thy both during the sound of a durch or thy both durings. The general hub both of drive street.	Straught cut	
,	n odest		whiten set to not gains; and when the side of the high and "Nemage limit" witten arouse the describe the written arouse the describe when the side of the high and "Nemage limit," and have a series a prime used, heart, and head so an affective side is an affective side in a series of seveley before the series of seveley before sides of the side in a series of the series of the around a series of the series	with the seven right hands since the to hadde enrold finites. Goden enters the size of the contact enters the sizes in the size of the hadge and is moving another producting and hadden godening and hadden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden goden hadden goden god		instruments from with ringed instruments and a main risk of a souther of any late of a souther of any late of a souther of a souther of any late of a souther of any late of a souther of a	Straight out	
,	0.00:33		whiten with ned gaings and Verwage Jan 19 and Jan 19 an	walks from seven right invaries seven let to habbe envirol finition. Gooden extent finitions contain extent finite for the authors in the background is revining amount, gaining and habiting.		incharacter from with impedition reverse and a right has of a souther and a right has of the crowd.  The south plays an inchrymental form with rapped instruments and	Strengths cut	
,	0.0021		whiten with one gamps and where the side of the leg and "Nevergo liver" witten arouse the desc. One of the members well-ten arouse the desc. One of the members were a print und, heart, and heart and a least and to the left and the left and the left and the part of the left and the le	walks have seven right handle seven left to haldle enrold finishes. Gorden erten finishes Gorden erten finishes seven finishes seven finishes sevend good to reving anound, gooding and haldle good haldle good haldle good finishes finishes figure forward, leaving the finish and their		instruments may will require in a region of a southern and a region and of a southern and a region and of a southern and a region of a southern and a region of a development of a development and a region of a development and a region of a region	Straight out	
,	6 0003		white me with one gamps and where the side of the high and "Neverge Joint" within a consist the desir. One of the members well are provided as the high and the season in principal and principal and principal and principal and principal and principal and the season of tenders to the high and high and the high and high a	walks have even right lawed a served finished control make even of finished control make to pion from the address of the background is reving around, pioning and faking.		incharacter from with impedition from the impedition from the of a souther of a souther of a souther than the order of the souther of the sou	Streight cut	
	0.00:21		white me with one gamps and where the side of the high and "Neverge Joint" within a consist the desir. One of the members well are provided as the high and the season in principal and principal and principal and principal and principal and principal and the season of tenders to the high and high and the high and high a	walks have seven right handle seven left to haldle enrold finishes. Gorden erten finishes Gorden erten finishes seven finishes seven finishes sevend good to reving anound, gooding and haldle good haldle good haldle good finishes finishes figure forward, leaving the finish and their		instruments may will require in a region of a southern and a region and of a southern and a region and of a southern and a region of a southern and a region of a development of a development and a region of a development and a region of a region	Straught out	
,	0.0031		whiten with one gamps and where the side of the leg and "Nevergo Jack" witten arouse the desc. One of the members well-ten arouse the desc. One of the members were a price and, heart, and heart and hard so and heart and heart and heart and heart and heart and a sheet a sheet a sheet a sheet a sheet a sheet and a sheet and a sheet and a sheet and a sheet a sheet a sheet a sheet and a sheet a shee	walks have seven right laws to seven left to hadde enrold finishes. Gorden enters his to seve the seven of the background is moving another, providing and hadden good in providing and hadden good in providing and hadden good hadden good hadden good hadden good hadden good hadden providing and hadden		incharacter from with impedition was a main rate of a souther of a sou	Straight cut	Coderella story.

# DB-S3

			Nation (Marketon)			L		
inane!	Ten Streen at	Total (Malinigal)	To the Lord, of the	-	-		-	
			julgeriales Terratio Nation terropisconii					
		The same of	Charleson Talles Landel' Land Carolle of the Propel					
			can remployee.	At the larger range of the last, late, present with				
			Name that we've then to parting them the special travels	or thank parting these	1 8	sturing full softwaring		
					3	Charl North-Augurie Charl North-Augurie		
			derland dipotential for land the bose	The audience remittees.	F 8	duction feaths onguettes		
			Checked State to State Trans Stat (Seek agreed)	the Associated State	8	insceeds based where Troughout the		
			Market and Address of the	amendation in		shall the quarte		
			rack palement, nor National services	Charl Navis, he deposits	et d'oxydecate. Tecatement	what chappening or comm. The auditories		
			Self-self-bergs Inthe		acrossite sale from the exceptioning tens, seens	unated to the state of		
			or 4 sudience marchenic combination. When the	act and extend file	scholden, he	Suchground When Death Rentagionse		
			ranes technis/but	Deviloration in terminal	marter/Duck Norst pri	Sunta actement		Caltion: Their face havge on the thank of our final
	100,00		APPLIES SERVICE STORY	Militariani Militariani	Philips		Ingha	later. (humbran)
		4 B SA	Septicipation of the contract					
		500 100	security					
			<b>Acceptance of the last</b>	Date dates by sing				
			works her sollowed	(heptystum trium				
				seletioned design parties				
			(hightheamstree unloand without	and traver for land it is				
			women Trep allows Sweetle for the of a reser	Missing Seen, purply 6/15/select				
			M. Abelant malter altrant	the other three belongs				
			A LEGIS BY STREET AND THAT	Shadour have togething to the				
			contract with med contract Evegens grating and architect	qui Arierten				
			-service, Aprile fear feet framed.	Sociation, Te		Twenty mentionings of		
			Since Indistributions of	select bring her printer (diffrage)	9	the concentration of the conce		
			The auditors or more terms can be worshed there as	encarid; Fing her	NO of the Average Line Search artefact, Sats.	must profit monthly of the constitution of the con-	about from the Average.	Orton Averagemen
			holympoten k	inne	topic Desir, and heapty	from the provided of the	the burn markers	(9),,
		26						
			White search the carried the fame from					
			Switzeldranding No.					
			schengti, fonulti whose orthogo	1				
			provide inches over	1				
			Street Set years brook					
			Sermatech entires; Shapates to	and the same of the same				
			At testing to hope the	of as here that there begins to these and tasks	1			
			Production to Party.	Transfer or the contract of th				
			infect fleruplates polici pripate eti	among/continues.				
			The symbol of a Cale of and an Continuous	Committee Services (Inc.)	1 1	There is a standardige or the constrainty		
			legicar/Dereck The	ale of the schemated		network transport		
	2000		self-transporting to the	may hat the carriers in to address the auditors	and another treat	must are the ranks of the condition the area		West Transport
1	865,07	-	Serigrand, Ant. or provespages	er frederingment	northe .	ton francische.	Tregit of	irenink
			will then girt amount.					
		Section 2	-					
	1 1	Sted	The thermodynamy hadeninger ban					
	1	Steel	The thirties of parties in a free for up or than. They take up the control of the times will the					
		Seed.	Ner Humandhamma, in a dhe far go e dhen. They take go the contin- of the Chief with the Auditor of storage hand.					
		31114	Then there will permy the district or them. This take up the create of the content the authors internal and legist the top of the auton. Tenerously					
			Their thurse off parting in a direction grant date. They take go the control of the Consensation authors intermed and lagues the top of the guards flow, the guards flow, the parties for the authors marriers. The authors marriers, The authors marriers, The authors marriers, The authors marriers, The authors marriers.					
		San A	Their thurse of parties, in a direction give them. They lake up the control of the customer of					
		Set A	The Thurse of parties in a fire for yet for The lake a fire croke of the Lines will be submit internal had grant fire for yet for the parties for the nations within the lake a lake of the submit internal for lake and the area.			The indicates the con-		
		Set A	Jeer Brumendigement, An dien lien gelte cynlin, Jirlan Loren will de Jirlan Loren will de Jirlan Loren will de Janes Server Languer franke die Janes Server Languer franke Janes Server Languer Janes Languer			The trade and the con-		
		S.A.A.	Joen Brumwick gemeint, an dies ihre gelte center in the street and the callence in demand and he callence in demand and page of the hope of the street. Nationally grants from pages of the street, the street and pages of the center street, and submitted and street, and submitted and street, and street, and street, and street, and street, stree	To a Second Law		increases but continues play and with a bell and dental		
		Nest.	There the received prompts of the and there for any office of the control of the scale and the scale	Basic ore sign		Screenschaf continues pip ethic with their annians une Treadens continues colors		
		No.	Deer the received presents of the second pres	Sentiment upo manufact of the leider of the website, the		increased by any only with the beginning on the beginning of the beginning of the beginning of the beginning on the beginning of the beginning		
		- Marie A	Deer the reconstitution of the control of the contr	Basic ore sign	MES of the judgements of the second of the s	increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		with hush garg tall he stated
			Deer the received presents of the second pres	Seathcome ages sounded to the leather of the extension from pages and many how	MCS of the palgericality. Strong of these palger	increased by any only with the beginning on the beginning of the beginning of the beginning of the beginning on the beginning of the beginning		William You're game to be Share destined
			Deer the received dynamics of the control of the control of the desired on a final control of the plant of the control of additional the control of the control of the the control of the the the control of the the the the control of the the the the the the the the	Seathcome ages sounded to the leather of the extension from pages and many how		increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		
			Sheet the received department of the second	Braincaire ggill scontain i the labil of the callents the pages do not know han the patter with the flushes the sal		increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		
			Deer the section of parents on the control of the c	Braincaire ggill scontain i the labil of the callents the pages do not know han the patter with the flushes the sal		increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		
			Due humanistipaming. And characteristic and the Andreas and th	Braincaire ggill scontain i the labil of the callents the pages do not know han the patter with the flushes the sal		increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		
	***		Zinch desiration participation of the desiration	Beatlement of the selection of the selec		increases but continuence plus schip- sufficielle, and interfi- tion. The analysis of these to association and these to association on stitle fraging in annex a fact the		
	***		Der heimendigeming. An der heimen der bei der	Sealer and		Increase mid-bit continuents gas 64gs with a finish and deline in the continuents gas from the continuents and deline in continuents and deline in continuents and deline in continuents from the continuents from the province of the continuents from the province of the continuents from the continuents fr		
			Zinch describigation (A. S. A. S.	Seatourn Spills Seatourn Spills of the values for a spills of the values for a spill of the value of the control of the contro		Secretarists  minutes pay 64g, with ship and 64g, with ship and 64g, continued to the ship and 64g, continued to the ship and 64g, with ship and 6		
	***		Non-third self-period partial and a design of the self-period partial	Bastinian (gr) standard (f. ft.) (differ of the subset) for the pulse and the first that pulse with the subset for all the pulse with the subset for all the subset for all of the subset for all the subset for all the subset of the su		Secretarists of continues of the continu		ton schol
	10.0		Der harmonistignung Andersonssignung an der derson und eine Andersonssignung der derson und der dersonssignung der	Bastinian (gr) standard (f. ft.) (differ of the subset) for the pulse and the first that pulse with the subset for all the pulse with the subset for all the subset for all of the subset for all the subset for all the subset of the su		Section methods continued by a Step of the conti		
			Due frameworkpromp.  An electrical and the design of the d	Resilience of the Sellience of the Selli	many other page.	Increase method continuence per simple contin		then skilled
			Due frameworkpromp.  An electrical and the design of the d	Resilience of the Sellience of the Selli	many other page.	Increase method continuence per simple contin	Tangle of	then skilled
			Due frameworkpromp.  An electrical and the design of the d	Resilience of the Sellience of the Selli	many other page.	Increase method continuence per simple contin		then skilled
			Due frameworkpromp.  An electrical and the design of the d	Sealinaming State	many other page.	Increase method continuence per simple contin		then skilled
			Note the second participate of the design of the second participate of	Ballinome (g)  included to hallo  indigitation for the hallo  indigitation indigitation for the hallo  indigitatio	many other page.	Secretaristics of the control of the	Transplant I	then skilled
			Note the second participation of the design of the second participation of the second	Ballioum (III) Institute III in Institute III	many other page.	Increase that continues are a series of the continues are a series or for a series or		then skilled
,			Note the second participation of the design of the second participation of the second	Bedittom age toward to hade of the selection for	many other page.	Increase in the contraction of t	Transferred.  Transferred.	then skilled

				Gnestietic action (or				
			Subject Matter and	movement within the	Camera		L	
shot frame #	Time (hh:mm:ss)	frame (shot image)	Framing	frame)	(cinematography)	Sound	Transition (editing)	Dialogue
		1						
		TOTAL PROPERTY.	Peter stands alone in the					
			middle of the screen in US.					
			He is facing to the centre	1				
			of the screen. There is a					
			spotlight on Peter and he					
			is wearing his Average					
			Joe's uniform: a yellow t-					
			shirt and shorts with red					
			trimming. He has on					
			running shoes and white sports socks. In his hands,					
			he holds a white scarf or					
			towel. On the left side of					
			the screen is a stand with					
			a Dodgeball that has					
			been imprirted with a					
			skull and crossbones.					
			Behind Peter is the					
			stadium fending with a	Peter takes the white		The score plays a dark,		
			low blue wall and above	scarf in one hand and slides it across the other		soft, staccato tempoed		I
			it glass panels. The	slides it across the other and then begins to slowly	US of Bates on the	stringed instrument tune. There are maybe two	1	I
			darkness behind the	raise it up towards his	Dodgeball court. Straight			I
	0.00.07		glass.	head.	on.	no other sound.	Straight out.	×
								I
						I	1	I
						I	1	I
		1				I	1	I
				The movement Peter				
				started of bringing the				
				scarf towards his eyes is				
				carried across the break		The score plays a dark,		
				from the previous shot.		soft, staccato tempoed		
			Peter now takes up	Once it reaches his face,		stringed instrument tune.	Match on action: Peter	
			almost the entire screen. He is still bathed in a	Peter begins to tie the scarf around the back of	CD of Peter as he brings	There are maybe two distinct instruments and	brings the blindfold up	
,	0.00:09		spotlight.	Nis head.	eyes.	no other sound.	over his eyes.	×
					- I			
		AND 170						
		AND ASSESSMENT	Kate and Justin kneel in a					
			close up shot. The					
			bedground is almost					
			totally in darkness. They					
		1	both look towards the			I	1	I
		1	top of screen left. Both of	1		I	1	I
			their brows are furrowed					I
		1	and Kate holds her right	mother frances in the		The score plays a dark,	1	I
		1	hand near her face, in a	Neither Kate nor Justin move very much but Kate		soft, staccato tempoed stringed instrument tune.	1	I
			of their teammates book	shakes her head slowly in		There are maybe two	1	Justin: What the hell's he
		1	is dutching Justin's left	response to Justin's		distinct instruments and	Reverse angle: reaction	doing?
3	0:00:12		shoulder.	question.	CO of Kate and Justin.	no other sound.	shot from Kate and Justin.	Kate: I don't know.
		The state of the s						I
						I	1	I
		Market St. Co.				The score plays a dark,	1	I
			Peter is shown in CD and	Patter turn both and of		soft, staccato tempoed	1	I
		1	in spotlight in the centre			stringed instrument tune.		I
				the scarf in both hands his	CO of Peter as he gives	There are maybe two		I
			the scarf around his head			distinct instruments and	Straight out. Match on	I
4	0:00:16		and eyes.	show of effort.		no other sound.	action from shot 2.	x
		-				l		I
		(Page 1)				I	1	I
		100				I	1	I
		1	Peter is now in an			I	1	I
		1	extreme CO taking up			I	1	I
		1	almost the entire screen.			I	1	I
		1	Nothin but blackness and			I	1	I
		1	some light flares from the			I	1	I
		1	camera are seen behind				1	I
			him. The white scarf covers the entire top of			The score plays a dark,		I
				in entranna (**)		soft, staccato tempoed stringed instrument tune.		I
			none, mouth and this are	in extreme CD we can see the outstretched ends of		There are maybe two	1	I
			visible. His mouth is ince	the outstretched ends of the scarf slowly relax and	Extreme CO of System with		Straight out, Match on	I
	0:00:17		slightly open and relaxed.	lower.	the blindfold	no other sound.	action.	x

shot frame 8	Time (Mammas)	Alama (shat image)	Subject Matter and Framing	Kinestetic action (or movement within the fume)	Camera (sinematography)	Second	Suestion jediting)	Dialogue
			The location has moved from orders only towers when old Supplies are an old Supplies a	The Shaolin monk is standing with in a	The canear starts at a high angle and moves driven to a thingst on angle, meeting the monk in a medium chase-up. The menk is in focus and the mountains in the background are is soft	The sound of flyin replaces the soundards from the predoct short. It plays a single meladic fame gende and restle. The tempo is to later and		Sing framework over the
	2 0-02-04	3/2	concurration travales (control dis sizes). The monits frost and a bursaria perit on the read are shown in settomer share up. The stem of the monit's reinign robe and the finance in the last or just visible at the top and the finance in the last or white socks tocked into new took to clear into ments. If it is share you have to the parts and it is spice.	The manks foot moves from the top, and to the top, and to the top, and of the top, and of the top to the top	Editions are to set follows.  Defining close up of the moves where in the moves where in the barriers and a barrier ped in the barriers and	triples, continue	Strength out	Sing (sample)
		<b>M</b>	he mook is facing the sames. The screen is falsen up with the mook is facing the sames. The screen is falsen up with the mook facing backwards for silipping on the barrary and and opping material facing the same is falsen to the same in the same is falsen the massive reforminess silvens and as he filipp backwards for modeller facing and as he filipp backwards for movine award from the camera and intro a force of the same and introduced the	The monits head is thrown book and his arms raise up and and his arms raise up and a see first backwords and away from the monit filips uposited down with his fact being the kip, buy of the scores and moving away from the cores and moving away from the cores and moving away from the upon and his fact, buying a see from the upon and his fact, buying a see from the upon and his fact, buying a see from the upon a see from the	The shot begins with the shots is medium shot, certer fame. When for a first landward away from the corres, the career fame of the showest the mountains is the background and ends to be shown to be a first toward. When the contribe of the savenum does not not a song to a sing ghost in the contribe of the savenum does not show that the savenum does not show the savenum does not show that the savenum does not show the savenum does n	The flute sound is joined by mose instrument making a law trouble sound and emogatic tempo. There is the sound of a flut flute and possibly a stringed instrument. The month grants as the earth Nilley and the sound of a beauty and the flughing after thipping on a beauty and or a beauty and the sound of a beauty and or a beauty and the sound of the sound o		Sing Italiano janu ta casto gospos giran de casto gospos de casto gospos girano gi
	9 00236		the badgeound.  The badgeound of the monito crange robe and fast fees start at the farmound or right. Taking up mont of the farme are barrans peels, scattered along the dark read.	The monk moves across the some force left to night jumping on bearing post on the gree. No first bandy owen to have both bandy owen to much the greenal testion to find back up just above the ground/fill arrains pents and to feet mound off across the proving fill arrain great and as fill arrain great bearing pets and the dict nod alone in the frame.	body is an Yame.  Lovel framing, Medium.  slove up of the dist road, but any pedu and the bottom of the monoks robe and his feet in the frampround (in frees) and bushes in the background (path books).	The more energetic temporal music confidence of feeds to the confidence of the control of the monks feel studies outly on such banana peel.	math or after	tui.
	5 00214	*	The monk jumps into hame left and flips acress the some enting screen right. The monks entire body his the only image on the screen. The background is a white, chooliest sity.	The monk completes a forward flip through the air moining across across. Left to right.	Low angle carners points towards the sky below the marks as he flips through the sky.	finergetic music continues. Sevend of wheels the sound of wheels the months quick and powerful landing. The munks power as the lands.	Mach or action	
			the monk completes bi- jump by decending their man forms from their sections. It is not been from their sections of facing corner frame. We camps showed their sections are smooth from take up- mout of the frame. When he has fully landed the slewes drop drawn to reved disease. If braining are most of the lifty side areas to the valid that, are most of the lifty side of the corner. The next of the corner to the side of the score. The next mental agreection and is facing towards the	Billowing sleeves move fluidly through the existent forms and then land voicitie of finance in the control of the more fluid to the land voicities and the bearus parts in the biologopout. The minor biologopout. The minor land, without moving and we see the biblioria parts Intig motionaless as the ground. See the most stem bit hand book treated the binary to most stem bit and book treated the binary parts. He do no forms book treated the same book treated the same book treated the same and gleas we vigility in and gleas we vigility in and place we vigility in and place we vigility in and properties.	level framing: The carmen racks focus with the mode in focus in the mode focus in focus behind the mode fine in soft focus in focus to focus the focus and focus in focus and focus in focus	The music is someonides with the sound of symbols training. Seemily effects: the most		

# SS-S2

			Subject Matter and	Chestric action for movement within the	Camera			1
hans #	See Showed	Frame (shot image)	A service promp reprint	use input and insula prime)	Other Misportal	Sevend	Sweeten Jediting	Dalegue
		<b>西洋教</b> 用版	to billowing light blue	ug and throws his arms up, dropping his long				
		Marin Committee	parts that have a white pting tie performs an	fighting stick. When he				
		V 4/4	exagenated living for move (program mantis), he is	lands he bagins the praying manks style				
			facing towards contin	movements by creating a	9			
			light of the frame. His parts look oversized on	plight bend in his knees in a crouching position.				
			his thin figure and he	He faces his palms out				
			seems to be around 16 to 20 year old. Behind	in hers of his body and bands his albows and				
		1 3	him her other lighten	then moves his arms up.				
		1	are partially visible as they by defeated on the	and down and in a				
			grand, in the	around his head. Two		The dispric music		
			background is an old boarded up store front	faller mei are on the ground behind from		includes a high prohet persurise cound and a		
			and a detailed wooden	making very slow.		ethnged instrument.	1	
			Insertionity The street is made up of contest	planted movements but ; clearly unable to get.	MLL Singleton, load Staning, data focus (the	Sound effects: the key makes a shall beging my		
			parented and has an overgrowth of green and	back up. One man, directly behind the boy	buildings in the budgeound are in focus	to mutch his lung for movements. You can	1	
	1000000		med at the edge of the	tres to 1/8 his head.	as well as the boy in the	hear the boy's stick satisf		Boy High-
_	0.0111		incertieuts. The colours.	The other man is only	forgrowt]	onto the ground.	Model out	yennananna
		S	Rection shot from Sing Sing state, out of					
		STATE OF REAL PROPERTY.	breath, towards the left					
		K A	of Name: His body is shown shirtless and					
			with arms slightly					
			extended away from his shoot, facing trocards the					
		1	cames. His hair is	1				
			shappy and long with a					
			amal low pomplet at the back and a whole					
			headband around his					
			forehead, in the background is a prin of					
		1	transpossories below on the ground and further			The diagnic music		
			to the buckers and it.	Sing breather heavily as		the diagnot music includes a high priched		
			some dentict houses	he tooks towards the left		percurve usund and a		
			and a few toos in the slintense. The colours are	side of the screen. His service are bensed and just	MS, Straight on, lased framing, Sing is more in	spinged instrument. Sound effects: The boys		
			agan very muted	slightly away from his	focus than the backeround of clicks	buying can be heard for		
-	0.02:15		browns and Make with a smattering of green.	body. Otherwise for does not move.	and dealings.	a moment longer after the cut.	Revenue angle (leaction) school	Boy yearshannannin
		STREET IN STREET		The young boy new has				
		State of the last		his hands in fiets facing towards ecoson right and				
		1/4		continues to move in		The non-diagetic		
		20		circular motions in a structed position with		soundtrack music includes a high proched		
				tru arms bent and loss		perceive sound and a		
			The young fighter continues the over-	with his head. The two faller, man are still.	M/S, Straight on, least framing, deep facus (the	stringed instrument, it realer, a slow but tence		
			etended and expensed	partially visible in the	buildings in the	amosphers Sound		
		1	praying ments lung for moves. The same	beckround and continue to make very small,	background we in focus as well as the boy in the	effects: The boy mumo to his velling after a	American de la la companione	
	0.0131		habened a shell.	patrel recements.	hospirot.	mamerica page	sted	Now agent executed.
		in Real		Sing youth the short with				
		-		his book still becard				
		No. of Contract of		with arms slightly sway from his chest and				
				facing to the latt of				
			Restrict about hom Season	Name. When he clark				
			Reaction abot from Sing but this time he speaks	Name. When he starts to talk he immediately misses his muscles and				
			but this time he speaks to the young boy acking	Name. When he clark to talk he immediately release his muscles and his expression changes	ML Straighton, level	The non-diagnic music		Store De sea barr —
	a sometic		but this time he speaks to the young hos asking if he has any change. The same background as	Name. When he starts to talk he immediately refere his muscles and his expression changes from determined to questioning and	framing, foreground in focus, background in	The non-diagnic music includes a high prochast percuries sound and a	Pasento angle (reaction	Sing: Do you have any charge on you? Boy:
	0.62:14		but this time he speaks to the young boy miking if he has any change	frame. When he clark to talk he immediately release his muscles and his expension changes from determined to	MS. Straight-on, lovel framing, tangerund in facus, background in slightly and facus.	percycles sound and a attriged instrument.	Rosenur angle (reaction	Sing Do you have any charge on you? Boy: feeh. Thinty conts.
	0.02.14		but this time he speaks to the young hos asking if he has any change. The same background as	Name. When he starts to talk he immediately refere his muscles and his expression changes from determined to questioning and	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percurve round and a altroget instrument. The diagetic music stops just as the boy answers.		change on you? Boy:
	0.02.34		but this time he speaks to the young hos asking if he has any change. The same background as	Name. When he clark to talk he immediately release his resortes and his expression changes from determined to questioning and informal. The boy state the shot to constraining his	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percuries sound and a alterged instrument. The diagetic music stage just as the boy answers. "yeah." Sound effects:		change on you? Boy:
	0.02-18		but this time he speaks to the second too an extending the second the amen to the same background as other \$1.  The boy stops his Kung	Name. When he sizes to talk he immediately neares his mount of the manufacture and his expension changes the common of the commo	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percuries cound and a attinged instrument. The diagetic music steps just as the boy enames. "year." Second effects: The mundies sounds of the closed replace the		change on you? Boy:
	0.02-34		out this time he speak to the his spring the amine to the has any change. The same background as she ?  The bely closes his kind for 50 fish some change.	Name. When he start to talk he inemediately neares his resocials and his expension changes how determined to sport towns and informal.  The loop starts the whot to combining his prepring marks shire but there stops already share. Stop six how Sur-	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percusive sound and a alonged instrument. The diagetic music steps jett as the boy encares. "yesh." Second effects: The municipal sounds of the street replace the tense music including.		change on you? Boy:
	0.02.31		but this time he speaks to the system, buy along the has any sharpe. The same background as shall?  The boy stops his king to this same shall are upon of his pocks. We walls to walls to each to digit.	Name. When he start to talk he immediately neares his resocials and his expension changes have determined by symmetric and information of the hosy starts the shot to conditioning that practing ments solve the store always always for always always for page 18 hosy for the page 18 content out of the page 18 content out of the talk that the store always for page 18 content out of the page 18 content	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percusive sound and a alternation music steps just as the lary aname. "yeah." Sound effects. The murrialms sounds of the street replace the tense music including the boys feet on the willing on the payment and		change on you? Boy:
	90214		aut this time he speaks to the private how white it has he and sharing. The same hadigepoind as sharing. The body obeys his kind for to fish some change our of his pocket, the walls treased the light.	Name. When he sales to talk he investigate and his repression channel trails and his expension channel and positioning and information and continuing and information and the sales and the sales and the sales and the sales and his how for a sales and his how for a sales and his how for a sales and his and the sales and his how for a sales and his and the sales and his and	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percuried sound and a chingail inetroment. The diagnite most vising- ject as the lary answers. "yeah." Sound effects: The mandams sounds of the circle replace the tense moute including the boys feet as he walks on the parenters and the sound of time.	short	change on you? Boy:
•	0.03.14		such this time the speak of the share and change. The same background as she'd?.  The below sheet the king or of the same change or of the product the walks treated the speak of them. Some other or them. Some other or the same sheet or the same same sheet or the same same sheet or the same same same same same same same sam	Name. When the claims to take the immediately of take the immediately of takes that it is not taken to immediate the first operation of the great taken to be included as questioning and information. The loop states the whole oncombining this practice member ship the other stopps debuggly when stopps debuggly when stopps debuggly when stopps debuggly when stopps are come out of the loop for precisions into a sauser and stated stated stated. The stated and stated state	framing, foreground in focus, background in	percuried round and a stringer inversement. The diagets would release year. Second effects: The manifest country of the circle replace the trees muck including the boys feet on the walks on the parement and the country of the country of the the country of the the country of the the country of the the the country of the the the country of the the the the the the the the	wheet	change on you? Boy:
	901.14		such this limit his opedial to all the vision and plangs for his way sharp. The same background as sharp for the background as sharp for the background as to data some change of his nectal, the watte towards the value of his post of his post of his post of his his his post of his	bases. When he claimly up the his meadurity value his immediately value his immediately value his immediately value his immediately value his measurement of his experiment of his proportion and advantage and advantage his property was a support of the stopy advantage his measurement of his experiment of his property of his	having, torground in from, background in slightly self from	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as The long encauers. "seeh." Second effects: The more sounds of the observed replace the sense moutd including the long for on the walls on the parement and the sound of their roughing in his part pockets and the division of change as no takes.	wheels  Not a direct out but a  notation through  control building him the	change on you? Boy:
	90114		Seat this from his possible of the five anny change. The same background as site of 2.  The boy chaps his king to the boy anne background as site 2.  The boy chaps his king to the same background as the background as the same background as the same background of his pooles. We want to same things provided his pooles, the want to same the same same make all ampoints the loss as the wants to save the wants to save the wants to save the same as the campaigned the loss as the wants to save the same as the campaigned the loss as the wants to save the same same as the same to save the same same as the same same same same same same same sam	Name is When the claims to call the immediately release this resources and the property of the comment of the operation of th	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceive sound and a stringer incorporate. The diagritic most vising- just as the lary senames. "yeah." Second effects: The munities counted to the own regions the brees music including the boys feet as the arm on the parament and the sound of him rupting in his part pockets and the clinking pockets and the clinking pockets and the clinking pockets and the clinking	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	90111		such this from the speaking of the five and speaking of the five any change. The same background as shed 2.  The they chose his kung for so that assess change out of the product the speak and the speaking out of the product the speaking out of the speaking out the sp	Sames. When the claims to call the immediately related this muscles and to call the immediately related this muscles and the expension of the	having, torground in from, background in slightly self from	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as The long encauers. "seeh." Second effects: The more sounds of the observed replace the sense moutd including the long for on the walls on the parement and the sound of their roughing in his part pockets and the division of change as no takes.	wheels  Not a direct out but a  notation through  control building him the	change on you? Boy:
	00114		such this from the speaker of the first private play withing of the this way sharing. The fact and such appropriate private pr	Sames. When the claims to call his immediately related his expension of the second his immediately related his immediately rel	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as The long encauers. "seeh." Second effects: The more sounds of the observed replace the sense moutd including the long for on the walls on the parement and the sound of their roughing in his part pockets and the division of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	00114		but this from his possible of the first with the same for the first way change. The two acting to the first way change for the first way change for the first way change for the first first way can be first first with the first first way for the first first way for the first first first way for the first first first first way for the first f	Seens. When he claim, to take he immediately release his medicately release all release his medicately release his	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	0011		but this from his social or if the five with the annual of the hose annual factor of the annual fac	Seens. When he claim, to take he immediately release his medicately	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	0021		but this from his possible of the his series from shring of the his series followed and of the his series followed as any change, the his series followed as a final possible of the his series followed as a final possible of the his series change point of his possible. Series while to be the his possible of his possib	Names. Which his claims to take in the case of the cas	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	902.21		but this from his sould be if the his wife high of the his way sharing it fine his way sharing it for his way sharing his way sharing his way sharing his so fish some budgeouth as well his way sharing his so fish some change out of his societa. We want to search the high his societa was to search the high his societa was also so fish societa which was also so well his societa with his societa was also so the his societa with his societa was also was also so with his societa was also w	Names. Which his claims to talk his immediately ordered his resolution and the common of the common	haming, brognound in focus, background to slightly soft focus.	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	00111		but this from his solely as the principle by which of the his any sharp, the same budgepoint of the same budgepoint of the same budgepoint of the same budgepoint of the same sharp and the same sharp sharp and the same sharp and the same same sharp and the same same sharp and the same	Names. Which his claims to talk his in-mailtainly release his in-mailtainly release his in-mailtainly release his in-mailtainly release his magnetism in the agreement of the second of	Name, Angewed in focus, background in focus, background in signify and focus of the significant in significant focus of the significant in the focus of the significant in the focus of the significant in the significant in	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	00231		but this kine in projects for the more dependent of the hear any change. The same bungspround in a series of the hear and the heart and the hear and the heart	Seens. When he claimly to talk his in-mailtainly release his re-mailtainly release his release his re-mailtainly release his re-mailtainly release his release	Name, Angeword in News, Science of Section of Angelon of Section of Section of Angelon of Section of Section of National Committee of Section of National Section of Section of Section of National Section of Section of Sec	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the bury's positions between the	change on you? Boy:
	901.11		but this kine in projects for the more dependent of the hear any change. The same bungspround in a series of the hear and the heart and the hear and the heart	Names. Which his claims to call his immediately release his medical and process and his immediately release his meyer-level in the control of	Name, Suggested in Neuro, Bullynow, Suggested Suggested Stone Mrs. Stroughnow, level Strange, Sept Stroughnow, level Strange, Stroughnow, level Stroughnow, leve	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the burner beautiful from the burner burner beautiful from the burner	change on you? Boy:
	00021		south it is not speaked. If it is not southern the first many sharing of the house of the property of the southern the sou	Names. Which his claims to call to take his immediately release his mountain and his experience in the segment of the segment	Name, Suggested in Name, Suggested in Name of Sugge	perceived round and a stringer inversement. The diagritic movin vision just as the losy enames. "seeh." Second effects: "seeh." Second effects the stringer sounds of the observations the second of their second of their sections on the peer species and the chiming of change as no takes.	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the burner beautiful from the burner burner beautiful from the burner	change on you? Boy:
,	902.21		but this kine he speaked in the form of the product of the he are yet changed. If when he are yet changed in the he are yet changed in the he are he form of the product of the he are he form of the he h	Search White The claims of the beautiful	Name, Suggested in Name & Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in Mrs. Straight-on, lead Suggested in Suggested in Nat. Straight-on, lead Suggested in Suggested in Nat. Straight-on, lead Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in S	protective touch and a discount and a discount information. The disagest moves there is no second and a discount and a discoun	More a direct out but a transcriber through from the bucking from the burner beautiful from the burner burner beautiful from the burner	change on you? Boy:
	00121		See the second of the second o	Names. Which his claims to such as in course and a such as in marchas and a such as a	Manning, Anageured in focus, bullyone on singlety and focus of the bully service of the MA, Straight-on, level framing, deep from Joseph Manning, deep Joseph Manning, deep Joseph Manning, deep Joseph Manning, deep Joseph	protective level and a discount and a discount information. The disaget incomment is the disaget in the lay areas of the disaget in the lay areas of the disaget in the lay areas of the disaget in the areas make including law to the protection of the present and the law sound of this areas of the areas of the disaget in the law could be a disaget in the law could be a disaget in the law to the law to the law could be a disaget in the law to the law could be a disaget in the law to the l	There a direct cut but a procedure from the cut but a procedure from the cut but a procedure from the cut but and the cut but a cut but	change on you? Boy:
	0023		but this kine he speaked in the form of the product of the he may change over of the product, and we have come into the man of the he may change of the head of	Seens. When he clearly to take he immediately release his re- traction of the control of the con	Name, Suggested in Name, Suggested in Suggested in Suggested in Mrs. Straight-on, level training, dates Strain Mrs. Straight-on, level training, dates Strain word familing, dates dampaled the buy and Drig selens the Suggested Drig selens the Suggested	protection and and a diseased information in the disease in more time. The disease is more time in the disease	Not a direct con had a monitories through control to the control t	change on you'll face from the first parts. Think parts.
,	9023		such this has be speaked for the many change. If we have any change of the has any change over of his product, when the water the hast to wante the hast to	Searce. When the claims or could be in meadurally or learn to troub he in meadural problem that the country of	Supplied to Suppli	procedure and and a diseased information and and a diseased information. The disease is more time to be a diseased in the last years and a diseased in the last years and a diseased in the last and a diseased in the last and a diseased in the analysis of the assessment and a diseased in the assess	Not a direct out but a monthly beautiful to the control of the con	drage on year flore from . Shirty cores.  Been from Shirty cores.  Been from Shirty cores.
,	00021		Such dis land to speake the first many sharped of the the same sharped of the same sharped	Seens. When he clearly to talk his immediately when his remoderately when his mounts and his experience in the property of the his his experience in the property of the his part of the comment.	Manning, Surgeound in focus, buckground in focus, buckground in surgeon and surgeon and MS, Strughton, load braining, date thous MS to MAS, Strughton, load families, date focus, the same sould surgeon and surgeon and surgeon and surgeon and surgeon	procedure and and a diseased in recognition of the disease in recognition. The disease is more recognition of the disease in the law years. The disease is made in the law years are law	hand a direct can had a questioner through grown scaled have the grown scaled have the grown scaled have the grown scaled have grown scaled ha	drange on year floor, there yeers to be a floor, the a flo
	0.02.21		such this has be speaked for the many change. If we have any change of the has any change over of his product, when the water the hast to wante the hast to	Searce. When the claims or could be in meadurally or learn to troub he in meadural problem that the country of	Supplied to Suppli	procedure and and a diseased information and and a diseased information. The disease is more time to be a diseased in the last years and a diseased in the last years and a diseased in the last and a diseased in the last and a diseased in the analysis of the assessment and a diseased in the assess	Not a direct out but a monthly beautiful to the control of the con	drage on year flore from . Shirty cores.  Been from Shirty cores.  Been from Shirty cores.

			E	Kinestietic action for	Marca	0		
		Commence of the Commence of th	Subject Matter and	movement within the	Camera	0.000		A2000000
hot frame #	Time (hhommos)	Frame (shot image)	Framing	frame)	(cinematography)	Sound	Transition (editing)	Dialogue
								50 5 5 C
			The rival team (Puma) leader is shown in close- up staring up and to the right frame. His eyebrows are raised, his eyes sound slightly and					
			his mouth is wide open in an expression of exasperation and surprise . He has a short faux- hawk hair style and the	The only movement in the shot is Team Puma Leader's face as he				
			very top of his white jersey with yellow trimming can be seen at	contort it into an exagerating yell. He opens his mouth widely		The non-diagetic		
			the bottom of the screen, Behind him in soft focus we can see the top half of	mouth never closes but just moves into varying		soundtrack includes the sound of loud, deep, and frantic drum bests. Sound effects: Team Pursa Leader yells a the top of		Team Puma Leader: We are not alraid of you! It's
			two grey low rise apartment buildings and	levels of stretched lips				
	1 0.01.2		green trees behind them.		Leader's face.	his lungs.	straight cut	an optical illusion!
			Sing is shown in the					
			foreground of the screen in a medium shot. As he lifts off into the air his face is shown in an open	Sing runs aggressively towards the camera and then vaults off the ground	Medium shot of Sing with			
			mouthed yell/growl with his tongue sticking out. Visible in the background	seems to float through the air his legs continue	other members of the Shaolin team, a referee and one Puma member in			
			are three other members of the Shaolin team, a referee and one Puma member. The grassy turf	motion. His arms are also in movement as they swing wildly with the	the background. The camera does not move away as Sing jumps into the air and is now in a			
			takes up most of the	running movement. In	medium shot and the	020000000000000000000000000000000000000		
			bottom of the screen and the too half shows a	the last moment of the shot, Sing's right leg	camera tilts to show Sing from a low angle. Once	The non-diegetic soundtrack includes the	Glance-object cut. The camera has cut across the	
			white building, flanked	shoots out from the	Sing kicks the soccer built	sound of loud, deep, and	axis of action to show	
			by palm trees. Once Sing	bottom of the screen and	it shoots towards the	frantic drum bests. Sound	Sing moving across the	
			is flying in the air, only blue sky is visible in the	kicks the soccer ball towards the centre of the	centre of the screen and takes up the entire	effects: Sings yell is replaced with the deep	other side of the soccer field towards Team Puma	
	2 0.01.21		background.	frame.	frame.	roar of a lion.	Leader.	Sing: "rears"
	NO.	6	Team Puma leader takes	The soccer ball on Team				
		The state of the s	up almost the entire	pushes him through the				
		The same of the sa	frame. He is shown in the					
			air, completely horizontal with his head at frame	goalie's net. The ball continues to spin into the				
				Team Puma Leader as he				
			right. His feet are just	is pushed backwards. His				
			out of frame. The socorr ball that Sing kicked has	arms and legs gesticulate wildly as he sails.				
			connected with Team	horizontally through the				
			Fuma Leader's stomach and his arms are thrown	air. You can see the goalie start to move his.				
	1		up above his head. His	arms as he tries to block	The shot starts out in a	The non-diagetic		
			mouth is now wide open	his team member and the	close up of the team	soundtrack includes the		
	1		in an eigression of shock, surprise and fear. In the	souzer ball from going into the net until the	leader's horizontal body but the camera does not	sound of loud, deep, and frantic drum beats. Sound		
			background the soccer	team leader files into him	move as he moves quickly			
			net is visible and behind	and they both tumble to	away and towards the	screams from the start to		
	1		it is a short yellow wall of the socorr arena with	the ground. Dust is thrown up around them	background, ending the shot in a long shot of the	the end of the shot as he moves from the		
			some Chinese characters	to show the weight of	soccer ret and the two	foreground to background	Straight out across the	Team Fuma Leader:
	3 0.01.2	d.	in green.	their landing.	fallen players.	of the screen.	axis of action.	"screams" Abbbbbbbbb

# SS-S4

shot frame #	Time (hh:mm:ss)	Frame (shot image)	Subject Matter and Framing	Kinestietic action (or movement within the frame)	Camera (cinematography)	Sound	Transition (editing)	Dialogue
			Small brother is shown in a close-up looking towards right frame. His hair is very short in a					
			crew cut. He has a young round face. The top part of his soccer uniform can be seen at the bottom of			The non-diegetic		
			the screen. It is a yellow, linen wrap top. He also has a leather string necklace around his neck.	Small brother's face is		soundtrack plays a swelling instrumental song. It has an energetic, exhilerating and uplifting		
			The crowd in the stands can be seen out of focus in the background along	shown in an exagerated expression with eyebrows raised, his forehead	Close-up. Straight-on and	tune. Sound effects: The crowd is cheering loudly in the background. Smal		
	0:00:29		with yellow poster signs with red Chinese characters.	wrinkled, his eyes wide open, and mouth wide open, showing his teeth.	level framing. The camera remains static through the shot.	however, easily heard over the audience.	Straight cut	Small Brother: How'd they fly like that?
			Sing is shown in close-up looking towards screen left. Sing's longer hair is pulled partially back in a					
			short, low ponytail and he wears the same uniform as Small Brother: a yellow wrap linen top			The non-diegetic		
			background is the opposite side of the	Sing's face is shown in almost an identical expression as Small		soundtrack plays a swelling instrumental song. It has an energetic, exhilerating and uplifting		
			stadium that we saw in Small Brother's background shot. Now we see the trees and	Brother: an exagerated expression with eyebrows raised, his forehead wrinkled, his eyes wide	Close-up. Straight-on and level framing. The camera	Sing's dialogue is	Straight cut, crossing the axis of action. This may be to create a sense of	
	0:00:31		white apartment buildings, out of focus.	open, and mouth wide open, showing his teeth.	remains static through the shot.	however, easily heard over the audience.	chaotic disorder, confusion, and speed.	Sing: It must be special effects!

#### Appendix J: Interviews – Semi-structured Questions Guide (Canadian)

#### Part A:

- 1a) Have you ever learned a second/foreign language? If so...
  - 1b) How long have you been learning a second/foreign language?
  - 1c) Where did you receive this education?
- 2. Can you think of any viewing experience (i.e., movies, TV) that influenced your learning something new about another culture/another language?
- 3. What advice about watching videos to learn about another culture/language would you give to a fellow Canadian university student?
- 4. What would you like your university teachers to know about when they show videos in their classrooms?
- 5. Please add anything else you think is important to know about students using TV/movies in university classrooms (e.g., successes, challenges, needed supports, resources, etc...).

#### Part B:

- 1a) In your opinion, what features are used in *Shaolin Soccer* to appeal to a Chinese audience member (e.g., the actors, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?
- 1b) In your opinion, what features are used in *Dodgeball* to appeal to a U.S. or Canadian audience (e.g., the actors, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?

- 2. Please re-watch *Shaolin Soccer*, S4 and *Dodgeball*, S2. Can you make any comparisons between the two scenes (e.g., performance, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?
- 3a) Are there any visual clues that help you identify 'good' and 'bad' characters in *Shaolin Soccer*? If so, what are they?
- 3b) Are there any visual clues that help you identify 'good' and 'bad' characters in *Dodgeball*? If so, what are they?
- 3c) Whose point of view do you think is most often presented in *Shaolin Soccer* (e.g., a particular age, gender, income level, or ethnocultural background)? Why?
- 3d) Whose point of view do you think is most often presented in *Dodgeball* (e.g., a particular age, gender, income level, or ethnocultural background)? Why?
- 4a) In your opinion, how do the ideas and images in *Shaolin Soccer* represent Chinese social and cultural norms, lifestyles, and/or gender roles?
- 4b) In your opinion, how do the ideas and images in *Dodgeball* represent Canadian social and cultural norms, lifestyles, and/or gender roles?

#### Part C:

- 1a) Have you seen the actors of *Shaolin Soccer* in other movies? If so, provide examples.
- 1b) Have you seen the actors of *Dodgeball* in other movies? If so, provide examples.
- 2a) Did you recognize some of the costumes, settings, and other elements in *Shaolin Soccer* as similar to what you've seen in other movies? If so, provide examples.

- 2b) Did you recognize some of the costumes, settings, and other elements in *Dodgeball* as similar to what you've seen in other movies? If so, provide examples.
- 3a) If you were to describe *Shaolin Soccer* to a friend, would you find it easy to compare it to other movies? If so, which ones? If not, how would you describe it?
- 3b) If you were to describe *Dodgeball* to a friend, would you find it easy to compare it to other movies? If so, which ones? If not, how would you describe it?

#### **Appendix K Interviews – Semi-structured Questions Guide (Chinese)**

#### Part A:

- 1a) Can you tell me about your English language education?
  - 1b) How long have you been learning English?
  - 1c) Where did you receive this education?
- 2. Can you think of any viewing experience (i.e., movies, TV) that influenced your English language learning?
- 3. What advice about watching videos to learn English would you give to a Chinese university student?
- 4. What would you like your university teachers to know about when they show videos in their classrooms?
- 5. Please add anything else you think is important to know about international Chinese students using English language TV/movies in Canadian universities (e.g., successes, challenges, needed supports, resources, etc...).

#### Part B:

- 1a) In your opinion, what features are used in *Shaolin Soccer* to appeal to a Chinese audience member (e.g., the actors, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?
- 1b) In your opinion, what features are used in *Dodgeball* to appeal to a U.S. or Canadian audience (e.g., the actors, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?
- 2. Please re-watch *Shaolin Soccer*, S4 and *Dodgeball*, S2. Can you make any comparisons between the two scenes (e.g., performance, setting, musical choices, humour, clothing, pop culture references, etc....)?
- 3a) Are there any visual clues that help you identify 'good' and 'bad' characters in *Shaolin Soccer*? If so, what are they?
- 3b) Are there any visual clues that help you identify 'good' and 'bad' characters in *Dodgeball*? If so, what are they?
- 3c) Whose point of view do you think is most often presented in *Shaolin Soccer* (e.g., a particular age, gender, income level, or ethnocultural background)? Why?
- 3d) Whose point of view do you think is most often presented in *Dodgeball* (e.g., a particular age, gender, income level, or ethnocultural background)? Why?
- 4a) In your opinion, how do the ideas and images in *Shaolin Soccer* represent Chinese social and cultural norms, lifestyles, and/or gender roles?
- 4b) In your opinion, how do the ideas and images in *Dodgeball* represent Canadian social and cultural norms, lifestyles, and/or gender roles?

Part C:

1a) Have you seen the actors of *Shaolin Soccer* in other movies? If so, provide examples.

1b) Have you seen the actors of *Dodgeball* in other movies? If so, provide examples.

2a) Did you recognize some of the costumes, settings, and other elements in *Shaolin Soccer* 

as similar to what you've seen in other movies? If so, provide examples.

2b) Did you recognize some of the costumes, settings, and other elements in *Dodgeball* as

similar to what you've seen in other movies? If so, provide examples.

3a) If you were to describe Shaolin Soccer to a friend, would you find it easy to compare it to

other movies? If so, which ones? If not, how would you describe it?

3b) If you were to describe *Dodgeball* to a friend, would you find it easy to compare it to

other movies? If so, which ones? If not, how would you describe it?

**Appendix L: Ethics Documents** 



**Date:** 17 March 2021 **To:** Dr. Shelley Taylor **Project ID:** 117929

Study Title: Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

Short Title: Second Language Film Comprehension Study

Application Type: NMREB Initial Application

Review Type: Delegated

Full Board Reporting Date: 09/Apr/2021

Date Approval Issued: 17/Mar/2021 15:20

REB Approval Expiry Date: 17/Mar/2022

Dear Dr. Shelley Taylor

The Western University Non-Medical Research Ethics Board (NMREB) has reviewed and approved the WREM application form for the above mentioned study, as of the date noted above. NMREB approval for this study remains valid until the expiry date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of NMREB Continuing Ethics Review.

This research study is to be conducted by the investigator noted above. All other required institutional approvals and mandated training must also be obtained prior to the conduct of the study.

#### Documents Approved:

Document Name	Document Type	Document Date	Document Version
Interview Guide (Canadian) Jan 29 2021	Interview Guide	29/Jan/2021	1
Interview Guide (Chinese) Jan 29 2021	Interview Guide	29/Jan/2021	1
Survey Second Language Film Reception Study (Canadian) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Online Survey	25/Feb/2021	2
Survey Second Language Film Reception Study (Chinese) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Online Survey	25/Feb/2021	2
URLs for online study materials (survey YouTube videos) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Other Data Collection Instruments	25/Feb/2021	2
Ad Recruitment (Canadian) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Recruitment Materials	25/Feb/2021	2
Ad Recruitment (Chinese) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Recruitment Materials	25/Feb/2021	2
Mass Email Recruitment (Canadian) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Recruitment Materials	25/Feb/2021	2
Mass Email Recruitment (Chinese) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Recruitment Materials	25/Feb/2021	2
LOI and Implied Consent (Canadian Survey) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Implied Consent/Assent	25/Feb/2021	2
LOI and Implied Consent (Chinese Survey) Feb 25 2021 CLEAN	Implied Consent/Assent	25/Feb/2021	2
Survey Second Language Film Reception Study (Chinese language translation) March 17 2021	Translated Documents	17/Mar/2021	1
Interview Recruitment Email - Reminder (Canadian) March 17 2021	Recruitment Materials	17/Mar/2021	2
Interview Recruitment Email - Reminder (Chinese) March 17 2021	Recruitment Materials	17/Mar/2021	2
LOI and Signed Consent (Canadian Interview) March 17 2021	Written Consent/Assent	17/Mar/2021	3
LOI and Signed Consent (Chinese Interview) March 17 2021	Written Consent/Assent	17/Mar/2021	3
Verbal Consent Script (Canadian) March 17 2021	Verbal Consent/Assent	17/Mar/2021	2
Verbal Consent Script (Chinese) March 17 2021	Verbal Consent/Assent	17/Mar/2021	2

Documents Acknowledged:

Letter of Information and Implied Consent – Canadian Student Survey

# Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

#### **Principal Investigator**

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,

Faculty of Education, Western University



#### **Additional Research Staff**

Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education

Western University



Dear Participant,

#### 1. Introduction

My name is Natalie Killick, and I am a PhD student in the Faculty of Education at Western University. You are being invited to participate in research about the media literacy activities of international Chinese students and domestic Canadian students in Canadian universities because you are a domestic Canadian student at a Canadian university.

#### 2.1 Background Information

Video media like film and television are often produced in and include information from foreign cultural contexts which may not be familiar to second/foreign (L2/FL) language students. As film and television are part of L2/FL education, it is important to examine how culturally specific film messaging may influence comprehension.

#### 2.2 Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to identify the ways in which the social and cultural context of film and the cultural background of viewers can influence film interpretation and comprehension. The aim of this project is to better respond to the media literacy needs of international Chinese students at Canadian universities by informing instructors and developing policies and practices that reflect students' cultural backgrounds.

#### 3.1 Study Length

It is expected that the online survey will take 25-30 minutes.

#### 4. What will happen during this study?

If you decide to participate then you will be invited to complete an online survey to gather information about international students' interpretations and comprehension of Chinese and U.S. movies that use English audio (dubbed). After reading this letter of information if you wish to participate in the survey you can indicate your consent below by clicking, "yes, I consent". If you do not wish to participate you can choose not to by clicking, "no, I do not consent". You can skip or choose not to respond to any question in the survey. At any point during the survey if you wish to leave you may do so by exiting out of the browser. Your survey responses are automatically saved as you progress to the next page of the survey. There are no identifiers in the survey, you will not be able to withdraw survey data that has been saved. At the end of the survey, you will be given the option to participate in a follow-up interview. If you are interested, you will be asked to enter your email address. This email address cannot be used to identify your survey as it will be sent anonymously to a separate database.

By providing your email address at the end of the survey, you can be entered into a draw to win one \$25 cash prize. If you win the draw, you will be notified by email and will be given your prize by e-transfer.

#### 4.1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

In order to participate in this study, you must...

• be domestic Canadian student studying at a Canadian university.

#### 5. Can participants choose to leave the study?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time with no effect on you personally, academically or professionally.

#### 6. How will participants' information be kept confidential?

The information collected will be used for research purposes only, and neither your name nor any information which could identify you will be used in any publication or presentation of the study results. To further protect confidentiality, all information collected for the study will be kept in a locked, secure location. All collected data will be destroyed after 7 years, as per Western University policy.

Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Non-Medical Research Ethics Board may require access to your study related records to monitor the conduct of the research, and you do not waive any legal rights by participating in this research. While we do our best to protect your information there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. By responding to this survey, you are indicating your consent to participate.

You survey responses will be collected anonymously through a secure online platform called Qualtrics. Qualtrics uses encryption technology and restricted access authorization to protect all data collected. In addition, Western's Qualtrics server is in Ireland, where privacy standards are maintained under the European Union safe harbour framework. The data will then be exported from Qualtrics and securely stored on Western University's server.

There are no known risks to participating in this study. There may be no direct benefits though your insights may help school systems best support second/foreign language students develop media literacy skills to successfully participate academically in Canadian universities.

#### 7. Whom do participants contact for questions?

I am happy to answer your questions about the research. Please do not hesitate to contact me. The following is my contact information. Dr. Shelley Taylor, email:

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics

This office oversees the ethics conduct of research studies and is not part of the study team. Everything that you discuss will be kept confidential.

#### This letter is yours to keep for future reference

Sincerely,

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,
Faculty of Education, Western University



- Yes, I consent.
- No, I do not consent.

Letter of Information and Implied Consent – Chinese Student Survey

# Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

### **Principal Investigator**

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor, Faculty of Education, Western University



#### Additional Research Staff

Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education Western University



Dear Participant,

#### 1. Introduction

My name is Natalie Killick and I am a PhD student in the Faculty of Education at Western University. You are being invited to participate in research about the media literacy activities of international Chinese students' and domestic Canadian students in Canadian universities because you are an international Chinese student at a Canadian university.

#### 2.1 Background Information

Video media like film and television are often produced in and include information from foreign cultural contexts which may not be familiar to second/foreign (L2/FL) language students. As film and television are part of L2/FL education, it is important to examine how culturally specific film messaging may influence comprehension.

#### 2.2 Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to identify the ways in which the social and cultural context of film and the cultural background of viewers can influence film interpretation and comprehension. The aim of this project is to better respond to the media literacy needs of international Chinese students at Canadian universities by informing instructors and developing policies and practices that reflect students' cultural backgrounds.

#### 3.1 Study Length

It is expected that the online survey will take 25-30 minutes.

#### 4. What will happen during this study?

If you decide to participate then you will be invited to complete an online survey to gather information about international students' interpretations and comprehension of Chinese and U.S. movies that use English audio (dubbed). After reading this letter of information if you wish to participate in the survey you can indicate your consent below by clicking, "yes, I consent". If you do not wish to participate you can choose not to by clicking, "no, I do not consent". You can skip or choose not to respond to any question in the survey. At any point during the survey if you wish to leave you may do so by exiting out of the browser. Your survey responses are automatically saved as you progress to the next page of the survey. There are no identifiers in the survey so I will not be able to withdraw survey data that has been saved. At the end of the survey, you will be given the option to participate in a follow-up interview. If you are interested, you will be asked to enter your email address. This email address cannot be used to identify your survey as it will be sent anonymously to a separate database.

By providing your email address at the end of the survey, you can be entered into a draw to win one \$25 cash prize. If you win the draw, you will be notified by email and will be given your prize by e-transfer.

#### 4.1 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

In order to participate in this study, you must...

• be an international student from China studying at a Canadian university.

#### 5. Can participants choose to leave the study?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time with no effect on you personally, academically or professionally.

## 6. How will participants' information be kept confidential?

The information collected will be used for research purposes only, and neither your name nor any information which could identify you will be used in any publication or presentation of the study results. To further protect confidentiality, all information collected for the study will be kept in a locked, secure location. All collected data will be destroyed after 7 years, as per Western University policy.

Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Non-Medical Research Ethics Board may require access to your study related records to monitor the conduct of the research, and you do not waive any legal rights by participating in this research. While we do our best to protect your information there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. By responding to this survey, you are indicating your consent to participate.

You survey responses will be collected anonymously through a secure online platform called Qualtrics. Qualtrics uses encryption technology and restricted access authorization to protect all data collected. In addition, Western's Qualtrics server is in Ireland, where privacy standards are maintained under the European Union safe harbour framework. The data will then be exported from Qualtrics and securely stored on Western University's server.

There are no known risks to participating in this study. There may be no direct benefits though your insights may help school systems best support second/foreign language students develop media literacy skills to successfully participate academically in Canadian universities.

#### 7. Whom do participants contact for questions?

I am happy to answer your questions about the research. Please do not hesitate to contact me. The following is my contact information. Dr. Shelley Taylor, email:

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics

This office oversees the ethics conduct of research studies and is not part of the study team. Everything that you discuss will be kept confidential.

#### This letter is yours to keep for future reference

Sincerely,

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,
Faculty of Education, Western University

Do you offer your consent to participate?

- Yes, I consent.
- o No. I do not consent.

Letter of Information and Signed Consent – Canadian Student Interview

### Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

#### **Principal Investigator**

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,

Faculty of Education, Western University



#### **Additional Research Staff**

Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education

Western University



Dear Participant,

#### 1. Introduction

My name is Natalie Killick, and I am a PhD student in the Faculty of Education at Western University. You are being invited to participate in research about the media literacy activities of international Chinese students and domestic Canadian students in Canadian universities because you are a domestic Canadian student at a Canadian university.

#### 2.1 Background Information

Video media like film and television are often produced in and include information from foreign cultural contexts which may not be familiar to second/foreign (L2/FL) language students. As film and television are part of L2/FL education, it is important to examine how culturally specific film messaging may influence comprehension.

#### 2.2 Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to identify the ways in which the social and cultural context of film and the cultural background of viewers can influence film interpretation and comprehension. The aim of this project is to better respond to the media literacy needs of international Chinese students at Canadian universities by informing instructors and developing policies and practices that reflect students' cultural backgrounds.

#### 3.1 Study Length

It is expected that the online interview will take 20-40 minutes.

#### 4. What will happen during this study?

You provided your email address at the end of the online survey, suggesting you are opting to participate in an interview. I will obtain your signed consent prior to your participation in the interview. To provide signed consent, you must sign the consent form at the end of this Letter of Information. In the case where I cannot get your signed consent, I will obtain your verbal consent prior to the online interview.

The interview will be conducted at a time convenient to you via online web-conferencing (Zoom). In order to participate you must agree to be audio-recorded, to have your interview transcribed, and to allow the use of unidentifiable quotes in the dissemination of the results. Pseudonyms will be provided. The audio-recording will be used to transcribe the interview for data analysis. Transcripts will be shared with you using a secure link through OWL, Western's online platform, to review their accuracy. You can send any amendments or corrections to the transcript back to me in the same secure online manner. If you choose, you also have the option of being video recorded. If you agree to this option, you can check the box at the bottom of this consent form.

If you are one of the 10 participants selected to participate in the interview, you can be entered into a draw to win one \$25 cash prize. If you win the draw, you will be notified by email and will be given your prize by e-transfer.

#### 5. Can participants choose to leave the study?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time with no effect on you personally, academically or professionally. If you decide to withdraw from the study and completed an interview, you have the right to request the withdrawal of your interview data. If you wish to have your information removed, please let me know.

#### 6. How will participants' information be kept confidential?

The information collected will be used for research purposes only, and neither your name nor any information which could identify you will be used in any publication or presentation of the study. If you agree to be interviewed, you will be given a pseudonym prior to the interview so your name will not be heard on tape or appear on the transcript. Only I will transcribe the audio. Please be advised that I will take every precaution to maintain confidentiality of the data.

The interview will be conducted using Western Zoom's audio/video recording feature. You can choose to turn your video on or keep it off. The video will only be used during the interview itself and will be deleted from Zoom 7 days after the interview. The audio recordings will be moved from Zoom and stored on Western's Office 365 server in a One

Drive folder in order to be transcribed for analysis. Finally, your interview transcript will be uploaded to OWL, Western's online platform, and shared with you using a secure link. You can use OWL to review the accuracy of the transcripts and request any amendments or changing.

To further protect confidentiality, all information collected for the study will be kept in a locked, secure location. Only the research team will have access to audio files, notes, and transcripts. I will keep a list linking your pseudonym with your name in a secure place, separate from your study file. All collected data will be destroyed after 7 years, as per Western University policy.

Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Non-Medical Research Ethics Board may require access to your study related records to monitor the conduct of the research, and you do not waive any legal rights by participating in this research. While we do our best to protect your information there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. If data is collected during the project which I may be required to report by law, I have a duty to report.

There are no known risks to participating in this study. There may be no direct benefits through your insights may help school systems best support second/foreign language students develop media literacy skills to successfully participate academically in Canadian universities.

I am happy to answer your questions about the research. Please do not hesitate to contact me. The following is my contact information. Dr. Shelley Taylor, email:

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this

study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics

This office oversees the ethics conduct of research studies and is not part of the study team. Everything that you discuss will be kept confidential.

#### This letter is yours to keep for future reference

Sincerely,
Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,
Faculty of Education, Western University

# Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

Letter of Information and Signed Consent – Canadian Student Interview

Principal Investigator Dr. Shelley K. Taylor, Faculty of Education, Western University
Additional Research Staff Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education Western University
CONSENT
I have read the Letter of Information, have had the nature of the study explained to me and I agree to participate. All questions have been answered to my satisfaction.
Once you have signed this form please scan it and email it back to In the case where I cannot get your signed consent, I will obtain your verbal consent prior to the interview. You may withdraw your consent at any time without any consequences to you personally or professionally.
I agree to be video recorded in this research.
☐ YES. ☐ NO

I agree to the use of unidentified quote	s obtained during the study	in the dissemination of this research.
☐ YES. ☐ NO		
Print Name of Participant	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)
My signature means that I have ex	splained the study to the	participant named above. I have
answered all questions.		
Print Name of Person		
Obtaining Consent	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)



Letter of Information and Signed Consent – Chinese Student Interview

## Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

#### **Principal Investigator**

Dr. Shelley K. Taylor, Faculty of Education, Western University



#### **Additional Research Staff**

Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education Western University



Dear Participant,

#### 1. Introduction

My name is Natalie Killick, and I am a PhD student in the Faculty of Education at Western University. You are being invited to participate in research about the media literacy activities of international Chinese students in Canadian universities because you are an international Chinese student at a Canadian university.

#### 2.1 Background Information

Video media like film and television are often produced in and include information from foreign cultural contexts which may not be familiar to second/foreign (L2/FL) language students. As film and television are part of L2/FL education, it is important to examine how culturally specific film messaging may influence comprehension.

#### 2.2 Study Purpose

The purpose of this study is to identify the ways in which the social and cultural context of film and the cultural background of viewers can influence film interpretation and comprehension. The aim of this project is to better respond to the media literacy needs of international Chinese students at Canadian universities by informing instructors and developing policies and practices that reflect students' cultural backgrounds.

Version Date: 17-March-21

#### 3.1 Study Length

It is expected that the online interview will take 20-40 minutes.

#### 4. What will happen during this study?

You provided your email address at the end of the online survey, suggesting you are opting to participate in an interview. I will obtain your signed consent prior to your participation in the interview. To provide signed consent, you must sign the consent form at the end of this Letter of Information. In the case where I cannot get your signed consent, I will obtain your verbal consent prior to the online interview.

The interview will be conducted at a time convenient to you via online web-conferencing (Zoom). In order to participate you must agree to be audio-recorded, to have your interview transcribed, and to allow the use of unidentifiable quotes in the dissemination of the results. Pseudonyms will be provided. The audio-recording will be used to transcribe the interview for data analysis. Transcripts will be shared with you using a secure link through OWL, Western's online platform, to review their accuracy. You can send any amendments or corrections to the transcript back to me in the same secure online manner. If you choose, you also have the option of being video recorded. If you agree to this option, you can check the box at the bottom of this consent form.

If you are one of the 10 participants selected to participate in the interview, you can be entered into a draw to win one \$25 cash prize. If you win the draw, you will be notified by email and will be given your prize by e-transfer.

#### 5. Can participants choose to leave the study?

Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to answer any questions or withdraw from the study at any time with no effect on you personally, academically or professionally. If you decide to withdraw from the study and completed an interview, you have the right to request the withdrawal of your interview data. If you wish to have your information removed, please let me know.

#### 6. How will participants' information be kept confidential?

The information collected will be used for research purposes only, and neither your name nor any information which could identify you will be used in any publication or presentation of the study. If you agree to be interviewed, you will be given a pseudonym prior to the interview so your name will not be heard on tape or appear on the transcript. Only I will transcribe the audio. Please be advised that I will take every precaution to maintain confidentiality of the data.

The interview will be conducted using Western Zoom's audio/video recording feature. You can choose to turn your video on or keep it off. The video will only be used during the interview itself and will be deleted from Zoom 7 days after the interview. The audio recordings will be moved from Zoom and stored on Western's Office 365 server in a One Drive folder in order to be transcribed for analysis. Finally, your interview transcript will be uploaded to OWL, Western's online platform, and shared with you using a secure link. You can use OWL to review the accuracy of the transcripts and request any amendments or changing.

To further protect confidentiality, all information collected for the study will be kept in a locked, secure location. Only the research team will have access to audio files, notes, and transcripts. I will keep a list linking your pseudonym with your name in a secure place, separate from your study file. All collected data will be destroyed after 7 years, as per Western University policy.

Representatives of The University of Western Ontario Non-Medical Research Ethics Board may require access to your study related records to monitor the conduct of the research, and you do not waive any legal rights by participating in this research. While we do our best to protect your information there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. If data is collected during the project which I may be required to report by law, I have a duty to report.

There are no known risks to participating in this study. There may be no direct benefits through your insights may help school systems best support second/foreign language students develop media literacy skills to successfully participate academically in Canadian universities

I am happy to answer your questions about the research. Please do not hesitate to contact me. The following is my contact information. Dr. Shelley Taylor, email:

If you have any questions about your rights as a research participant or the conduct of this
study, you may contact The Office of Human Research Ethics
email: This office oversees the ethics conduct of research studies and
is not part of the study team. Everything that you discuss will be kept confidential.

#### This letter is yours to keep for future reference

Sincerely, Dr. Shelley K. Taylor, Faculty of Education, Western University



# Second/Foreign Language Learning and Narrative Film Comprehension: An Intercultural Reception Study

Letter of Information and Signed Consent – Chinese Student Interview

Principal Investigator Dr. Shelley K. Taylor,
Faculty of Education, Western University
Additional Research Staff Natalie Killick, Faculty of Education Western University
CONSENT
I have read the Letter of Information, have had the nature of the study explained to me and I agree to participate. All questions have been answered to my satisfaction.
Once you have signed this form please scan it and email it back to the interview. You may withdraw your consent at any time without any consequences to you personally or professionally.
I agree to be video recorded in this research.
☐ YES. ☐ NO

I agree to the use of unidentified quotes obtained during the study in the dissemination of this research.				
☐ YES. ☐ NO				
Print Name of Participant	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)		
, ,	e explained the study to the	e participant named above. I have		
answered all questions.				
Print Name of Person				
Obtaining Consent	Signature	Date (DD-MM-YYYY)		

#### **Appendix M: Online Study Materials**

#### **URLs for Online Study Materials (survey YouTube videos)**

#### **Qualtrics Surveys**

International Chinese Student Survey: https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV 0cDKeCvMuIKZoMe

Canadian Student Survey: <a href="https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV">https://uwo.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV</a> 7QK6Tya0AJ9hB8q

#### **Shaolin Soccer**

Scene 1: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OpN9nR-oIIQ&feature=youtu.be

Scene 2: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ETeqW8Lne78&feature=youtu.be

Scene 3: <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VyL5Kle8854&feature=emb\_logo">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VyL5Kle8854&feature=emb\_logo</a> (note: end time: 2:52)

Scene 4: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3-xVglD dkk&feature=emb logo

#### **Dodgeball**

Scene 1: <a href="https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sT47KfDlwI8&feature=youtu.be">https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sT47KfDlwI8&feature=youtu.be</a> (note: start time: 0:40)

Scene 2: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=epvmNF-uaus&feature=youtu.be

Scene 3: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DUFXWoAiI3c

Scene 4: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2NdDgG7cWBU&feature=youtu.be

### Curriculum Vitae

Name: Natalie Killick

Post-secondary Education and Degrees: University of Toronto Toronto, Ontario, Canada 1999-2004 B.A.

The University of Toronto Ontario

Toronto, Ontario, Canada

2008-2009 M.A.

The University of Western Ontario

London, Ontario, Canada 2018-present Ph.D.

Related Work Experience

English Language Instructor

Western English Language Centre

Summer 2020

**English Language Instructor** 

Conestoga College

2017-2018, Summer 2019

French Immersion – Grade 1

Bedford P.S. 2016-2017

**English Language Instructor** 

Sheridan College

2014-2016

English Language Instructor Soon Chun Hyang University 2012-2014